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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.

PARSONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share information)
 

      March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
      (Unaudited)        
Assets            
Current assets:            
  Cash and cash equivalents (including $84,810 and $128,761 Cash of consolidated joint ventures)   $ 423,120     $ 272,943  
  Accounts receivable, net (including $332,308 and $274,846 Accounts receivable of consolidated joint ventures, net)     1,023,463       915,638  
  Contract assets (including $8,521 and $11,096 Contract assets of consolidated joint ventures)     768,007       757,515  
  Prepaid expenses and other current assets (including $15,808 and $11,929 Prepaid expenses and other current 

assets of consolidated joint ventures)
 

  212,664       191,430  
  Total current assets     2,427,254       2,137,526  
               
  Property and equipment, net (including $3,565 and $3,274 Property and equipment of consolidated joint ventures, 

net)
 

  98,499       98,957  
  Right of use assets, operating leases (including $8,656 and $9,885 Right of use assets, operating leases of 

consolidated joint ventures)
 

  145,803       159,211  
  Goodwill     1,791,443       1,792,665  
  Investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures     145,043       128,204  
  Intangible assets, net     261,856       275,566  
  Deferred tax assets     157,547       140,162  
  Other noncurrent assets     70,998       71,770  
  Total assets   $ 5,098,443     $ 4,804,061  
               
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity            
Current liabilities:            
  Accounts payable (including $33,339 and $49,234 Accounts payable of consolidated joint ventures)   $ 274,140     $ 242,821  
  Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (including $165,434 and $145,040 Accrued expenses and other 

current liabilities of consolidated joint ventures)
 

  739,211       801,423  
  Contract liabilities (including $60,374 and $61,234 Contract liabilities of consolidated joint ventures)     282,962       301,107  
  Short-term lease liabilities, operating leases (including $4,445 and $4,753 Short-term lease liabilities, operating 

leases of consolidated joint ventures)
 

  55,024       58,556  
  Income taxes payable     2,366       6,977  
  Total current liabilities     1,353,703       1,410,884  
               
  Long-term employee incentives     24,447       22,924  
  Long-term debt     1,246,443       745,963  
  Long-term lease liabilities, operating leases (including $4,211 and $5,132 Long-term lease liabilities, operating 

leases of consolidated joint ventures)
 

  106,692       117,505  
  Deferred tax liabilities     9,763       9,775  
  Other long-term liabilities     114,238       120,295  
  Total liabilities     2,855,286       2,427,346  
Contingencies (Note 12)            
Shareholders' equity:            

 
Common stock, $1 par value; authorized 1,000,000,000 shares; 146,717,387 and 146,341,363 shares issued; 
48,205,185 and 45,960,122 public shares outstanding; 57,998,295 and 59,879,857 ESOP shares outstanding

 
  146,717       146,341  

  Treasury stock, 40,501,385 shares at cost     (827,311 )     (827,311 )
 Additional paid-in capital     2,759,867       2,779,365  
 Retained earnings     87,261       203,724  
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (16,866 )     (14,908 )
 Total Parsons Corporation shareholders' equity     2,149,668       2,287,211  
 Noncontrolling interests     93,489       89,504  
 Total shareholders' equity     2,243,157       2,376,715  
  Total liabilities and shareholders' equity     5,098,443       4,804,061  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PARSONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss)
(In thousands, except per share information)

(Unaudited)
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

Revenue   $ 1,535,676     $ 1,173,466  
Direct cost of contracts     1,210,827       917,188  
Equity in losses of unconsolidated joint ventures     (2,060 )     (5,840 )
Selling, general and administrative expenses     220,945       199,308  
Operating income     101,844       51,130  
Interest income     1,152       793  
Interest expense     (12,998 )     (6,458 )
Loss on extinguishment of debt     (211,018 )     -  
Other income (expense), net     (3,326 )     1,314  
Total other income (expense)     (226,190 )     (4,351 )
(Loss) income before income tax expense     (124,346 )     46,779  
Income tax benefit (expense)     32,234       (11,503 )
Net (loss) income including noncontrolling interests     (92,112 )     35,276  
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests     (15,243 )     (9,723 )
Net (loss) income attributable to Parsons Corporation   $ (107,355 )   $ 25,553  
(Loss) earnings per share:            

Basic   $ (1.01 )   $ 0.24  
Diluted   $ (1.01 )   $ 0.23  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PARSONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

Net (loss) income including noncontrolling interests   $ (92,112 )   $ 35,276  
Other comprehensive income, net of tax            

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax     (1,927 )     (177 )
Pension adjustments, net of tax     (31 )     1  

Comprehensive (loss) income including noncontrolling interests, net of tax     (94,070 )     35,100  
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests, net of tax     (15,243 )     (9,723 )
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to Parsons Corporation, net of tax   $ (109,313 )   $ 25,377  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PARSONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
 

      For the Three Months Ended  
      March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

Cash flows from operating activities:            
  Net (loss) income including noncontrolling interests   $ (92,112 )   $ 35,276  
  Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used in operating activities            
  Depreciation and amortization     24,531       28,359  
  Amortization of debt issue costs     4,099       657  
  Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment     198       (3 )
  Loss on extinguishment of debt     211,018       -  
  Deferred taxes     4,796       (2,586 )
  Foreign currency transaction gains and losses     2,311       (290 )
  Equity in losses of unconsolidated joint ventures     2,060       5,840  
  Return on investments in unconsolidated joint ventures     16,106       7,793  
  Stock-based compensation     10,523       6,992  
  Contributions of treasury stock     15,030       14,435  
  Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions and consolidated

   joint ventures:            
  Accounts receivable     (110,066 )     (47,482 )
  Contract assets     (11,715 )     (49,098 )
  Prepaid expenses and other assets     (21,602 )     (27,948 )
  Accounts payable     31,685       8,009  
  Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (77,591 )     (10,898 )
  Contract liabilities     (17,090 )     16,113  
  Income taxes     (51,080 )     6,408  
  Other long-term liabilities     (4,521 )     (567 )
  Net cash used in operating activities     (63,420 )     (8,990 )
Cash flows from investing activities:            
  Capital expenditures     (9,436 )     (8,146 )
  Proceeds from sale of property and equipment     2       19  
  Investments in unconsolidated joint ventures     (36,076 )     (13,016 )
  Proceeds from sales of investments in unconsolidated joint ventures     -       381  
  Net cash used in investing activities     (45,510 )     (20,762 )
Cash flows from financing activities:            
  Proceeds from borrowings under credit agreement     153,200       5,700  
  Repayments of borrowings under credit agreement     (153,200 )     (5,700 )
  Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes due 2029     800,000       -  
  Repurchases of convertible notes due 2025     (495,575 )     -  
  Payments for debt issuance costs     (18,941 )     -  
 Contributions by noncontrolling interests     -       200  
 Distributions to noncontrolling interests     (11,258 )     (638 )
 Repurchases of common stock     -       (6,000 )
 Taxes paid on vested stock     (16,914 )     (6,064 )
  Capped call transactions     (88,400 )     -  
  Bond hedge termination     195,549       -  
  Redemption of warrants     (104,952 )     -  
 Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities     259,509       (12,502 )
 Effect of exchange rate changes     (402 )     154  
 Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash     150,177       (42,100 )
 Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:            
 Beginning of year     272,943       262,539  
  End of period   $ 423,120     $ 220,439  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PARSONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

   
Common

Stock    
Treasury

Stock    

Additional
Paid-in
Capital    

Retained
Earnings    

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)    

Total
Parsons
Equity    

Noncontrolling
Interests     Total  

Balance at December 31, 
2023   $ 146,341     $ (827,311 )   $ 2,779,365     $ 203,724     $ (14,908 )   $ 2,287,211     $ 89,504     $ 2,376,715  
Comprehensive income                                                

Net income     -       -       -       (107,355 )     -       (107,355 )     15,243       (92,112 )
Foreign currency 
translation
   gain, net     -       -       -       -       (1,927 )     (1,927 )     -       (1,927 )
Pension adjustments, net     -       -       -       -       (31 )     (31 )     -       (31 )

Distributions     -       -       -       -       -       -       (11,258 )     (11,258 )
Capped call transactions     -       -       (66,121 )     -       -       (66,121 )     -       (66,121 )
Repurchase of warrants     -       -       (104,952 )     -       -       (104,952 )     -       (104,952 )
Bond hedge termination     -       -       149,308       -       -       149,308       -       149,308  
Issuance of equity securities,
   net of retirements     376       -       (8,256 )     (9,108 )     -       (16,988 )     -       (16,988 )
Stock-based compensation     -       -       10,523       -       -       10,523       -       10,523  

Balance at March 31, 2024   $ 146,717     $ (827,311 )   $ 2,759,867     $ 87,261     $ (16,866 )   $ 2,149,668     $ 93,489     $ 2,243,157  
                                                 
                                                 
Balance at December 31, 
2022   $ 146,132     $ (844,936 )   $ 2,717,134     $ 43,089     $ (17,849 )   $ 2,043,570     $ 52,365     $ 2,095,935  
Comprehensive income                                                

Net income     -       -       -       25,553       -       25,553       9,723       35,276  
Foreign currency 
translation
   loss, net     -       -       -       -       (177 )     (177 )     -       (177 )
Pension adjustments, net     -       -       -       -       1       1       -       1  

Contributions     -       -       -       -       -       -       201       201  
Distributions     -       -       -       -       -       -       (638 )     (638 )
Issuance of equity securities,
   net of retirements     251       -       (6,098 )     (213 )     -       (6,060 )     -       (6,060 )
Repurchases of common 
stock     (139 )     -       (5,861 )     -       -       (6,000 )     -       (6,000 )
Stock-based compensation     -       -       6,992       -       -       6,992       -       6,992  
Balance at March 31, 2023   $ 146,244     $ (844,936 )   $ 2,712,167     $ 68,429     $ (18,025 )   $ 2,063,879     $ 61,651     $ 2,125,530  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 
 

5



 
Parsons Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
 

1. Description of Operations

Organization

Parsons Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) provide sophisticated design, 
engineering and technical services, and smart and agile software to the United States federal government and Critical Infrastructure 
customers worldwide. The Company performs work in various foreign countries through local subsidiaries, joint ventures and foreign offices 
maintained to carry out specific projects.  

2. Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes of the Company have been prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("GAAP") and pursuant to the interim period 
reporting requirements of Form 10-Q. They do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial 
statements and, therefore, should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

In the opinion of management, the consolidated financial statements reflect all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair 
statement of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented. The results of operations and cash 
flows for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of results for the full year or for future years. 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes the accounts of Parsons Corporation and its subsidiaries and affiliates which it controls. 
Interests in joint ventures that are controlled by the Company, or for which the Company is otherwise deemed to be the primary beneficiary, 
are consolidated. For joint ventures in which the Company does not have a controlling interest, but exerts a significant influence, the 
Company applies the equity method of accounting (see “Note 14 – Investments in and Advances to Joint Ventures" for further discussion). 
Intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Certain amounts may not foot due to rounding.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates. The Company’s most significant 
estimates and judgments involve revenue recognition with respect to the determination of the costs to complete contracts and transaction 
price; determination of self-insurance reserves; useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets; valuation of deferred income tax 
assets and uncertain tax positions, among others. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” and “Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the notes to our 
consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, for a discussion of the 
significant estimates and assumptions affecting our consolidated financial statements. Estimates of costs to complete contracts are 
continually evaluated as work progresses and are revised when necessary. When a change in estimate is determined to have an impact on 
contract profit, the Company records a positive or negative adjustment to the consolidated statement of income. 

3. New Accounting Pronouncements

In the fourth quarter of 2023, The Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-
09, "Income Taxes (Topic 740)" ("ASU 2023-09"). ASU 2023-09 enhances the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax 
disclosures. The amendments in ASU 2023-09 addresses investor requests for more transparency about income tax information through 
improvements to income tax disclosures primarily related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. ASU 2023-09 also 
includes certain other amendments to improve the effectiveness of income tax disclosures. ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2024. 
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Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this ASU will not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In the fourth quarter of 2023, the FASB Issued ASU 2023-07, "Segment Reporting (Topic 280)". ASU 2023-07 introduces enhanced 
disclosures about significant segment expenses along with other enhanced segment disclosures. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. 
The adoption of this ASU will not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

During July 2023, the FASB Issued ASU 2023-03. ASU 2023-03 incorporates, into certain accounting standards, amendments to SEC 
paragraphs pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 120, SEC Staff Announcement at the March 24, 2022 EITF meeting, and Staff 
Accounting Bulletin Topic 6.B, Accounting Series Release 280—General Revisions of Regulation S-X: Income or Loss Applicable to Common 
Stock. These rules are effective immediately. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated 
financial statements.

 

4. Acquisitions  

I.S. Engineers, LLC 
On October 31, 2023, the Company entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement to acquired a 100% ownership interest 

in I.S. Engineers, LLC (“I.S. Engineers”), a privately-owned company, for $12.2 million in cash. Headquartered in Texas, I.S. Engineers 
provides full service consulting specializing in transportation engineering, including roads and highways, and program management. The 
acquisition was entirely funded by cash on-hand. In connection with this acquisition, the Company recognized $0.3 million of acquisition 
related “Selling, general and administrative expense” in the consolidated statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2023, 
including legal fees, consulting fees, and other miscellaneous direct expenses associated with the acquisition. The Company allocated the 
purchase price to the appropriate classes of tangible assets and liabilities and assigned the excess of $11.9 million entirely to goodwill. The 
entire value of goodwill was assigned to the Critical Infrastructure reporting unit and represents synergies expected to be realized from this 
business combination. No goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes.

Sealing Technologies, Inc.
On August 23, 2023, the Company acquired a 100% ownership interest in Sealing Technologies, Inc (“SealingTech”), a privately-

owned company, for $179.3 million in cash and up to an additional $25 million in the event an earn out revenue target is exceeded. The 
Company borrowed $175 million under the Credit Agreement to fund the acquisition. Headquartered in Maryland, SealingTech expands 
Parsons’ customer base across the Department of Defense and Intelligence Community, and further enhances the company’s capabilities in 
defensive cyber operations; integrated mission-solutions powered by artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning (ML); edge computing 
and edge access modernization; critical infrastructure protection; and secure data management. In connection with this acquisition, the 
Company recognized $3.3 million of acquisition-related expenses in “Selling, general and administrative expense” in the consolidated 
statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2023, including legal fees, consulting fees, and other miscellaneous direct expenses 
associated with the acquisition.

The Company has agreed to pay the selling shareholders up to an additional $25 million in the event an earn out revenue target of 
$110 million is exceeded during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. The earn out payment due and payable by the Company to the 
selling shareholders shall be equal to (i) five-tenths (0.5), multiplied by (ii) the difference of (A) the actual earn out revenue minus (B) the earn 
out revenue target; provided, however, that in no event shall the earn out payment exceed $25 million. In the event that the earn out revenue 
is less than or equal to the earn out revenue target, the earn out payment shall be zero. The earn out payment, if any, shall be paid by the 
Company to the selling shareholders within 15 days following the date the earn out statement becomes final and binding on both parties. The 
fair value of the earn out (contingent consideration in the table below) was calculated using a Black-Scholes model. See “Note 2—Summary 
of Significant Accounting Policies” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 for further information on how the fair value of contingent consideration is determined.
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The following table summarizes the acquisition date fair value of the purchase consideration transferred (in thousands):

 
    Amount  

Cash paid at closing   $ 179,259  
Fair value of contingent consideration to be achieved     3,231  
Total purchase price   $ 182,490  

The estimated fair value of the SealingTech contingent consideration as of March 31, 2024 was $4.1 million, a $1.8 million increase 
from the estimated fair value as of December 31, 2023. The change in the estimated fair value was recorded to "other income (expense), 
net" in the consolidated financial statements.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the preliminary 
purchase price allocation as of the date of acquisition (in thousands):

 
    Amount  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 8,133  
Accounts receivable     17,889  
Contract assets     2,946  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     1,379  
Property and equipment     2,025  
Right of use assets, operating leases     1,836  
Deferred tax assets     357  
Goodwill     90,593  
Intangible assets     75,000  
Accounts payable     (15,987 )
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (2,408 )
Contract liabilities     (668 )
Short-term lease liabilities, operating leases     (418 )
Long-term lease liabilities, operating leases     (1,418 )

Net assets acquired   $ 179,259  

 

Of the total purchase price, the following values were assigned to intangible assets (in thousands, except for years):

 

   

Gross
Carrying
Amount    

Amortization
Period

          (in years)
Customer relationships   $ 40,000     14
Backlog     26,000     3
Developed technologies     8,000     3
Other   $ 1,000     1

 

Amortization expense of $3.3 million related to these intangible assets was recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2024. The 
entire value of goodwill was assigned to the Federal Solutions reporting unit and represents synergies expected to be realized from this 
business combination. The entire value of goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. 

The amount of revenue generated by SealingTech and included within consolidated revenue is $16.9 million for the three months 
ended March 31, 2024. The Company has determined that the presentation of net income from the date of acquisition is impracticable due to 
the integration of general corporate functions upon acquisition. 

Supplemental Pro Forma Information (Unaudited) 
Supplemental information of unaudited pro forma operating results assuming the SealingTech acquisition had been consummated as 

of the beginning of fiscal year 2022 (in thousands) is as follows:
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    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

Pro forma Revenue   $ 1,535,676     $ 1,190,481  
Pro forma Net Income including noncontrolling interests     (90,779 )     34,195  

IPKeys Power Partners

On April 13, 2023, the Company entered into a merger agreement to acquire a 100% ownership interest in IPKeys Power Partners 
(“IPKeys”), a privately-owned company, for $43.0 million in cash. The merger brings IPKeys' established customer base, expanding Parsons' 
presence in two rapidly growing end markets: grid modernization and cyber resiliency for critical infrastructure. Headquartered in Tinton Falls, 
New Jersey, IPKeys is a trusted provider of enterprise software platform solutions that is actively delivering cyber and operational security to 
hundreds of electric, water, and gas utilities across North America. The acquisition was entirely funded by cash on-hand. In connection with 
this acquisition, the Company recognized $0.6 million of acquisition-related expenses in “Selling, general and administrative expense” in the 
consolidated statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2023, respectively, including legal fees, consulting fees, and other 
miscellaneous direct expenses associated with the acquisition.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the preliminary 
purchase price allocation as of the date of acquisition (in thousands):

 
    Amount  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 126  
Accounts receivable     3,937  
Contract assets     834  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     455  
Property and equipment     86  
Right of use assets, operating leases     1,105  
Other noncurrent assets     152  
Goodwill     22,407  
Intangible assets     23,000  
Accounts payable     (541 )
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     (1,768 )
Contract liabilities     (1,936 )
Short-term lease liabilities, operating leases     (343 )
Deferred tax liabilities     (3,713 )
Long-term lease liabilities, operating leases     (762 )

Net assets acquired   $ 43,039  

Of the total purchase price, the following values were assigned to intangible assets (in thousands, except for years):

 

   

Gross
Carrying
Amount    

Amortization
Period

          (in years)
Customer relationships (1)   $ 15,900     16
Developed technologies     7,000     11
Other   $ 100     1

(1) The acquired business is a SaaS commercial business. Backlog for this type of business is included as customer relationships.

Amortization expense of $0.4 million related to these intangible assets was recorded for the three months ended March 31, 2024. The 
entire value of goodwill was assigned to the Critical Infrastructure reporting unit and represents synergies expected to be realized from this 
business combination. $0.9 million of goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

The amount of revenue generated by IPKeys and included within consolidated revenue is $3.5 million for the three months ended 
March 31, 2024. The Company has determined that the presentation of net income from the date of acquisition is impracticable due to the 
integration of general corporate functions upon acquisition.
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Supplemental Pro Forma Information (Unaudited)

Supplemental information of unaudited pro forma operating results assuming the IPKeys acquisition had been consummated as of the 
beginning of fiscal year 2022 (in thousands) is as follows:

 
    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

Pro forma Revenue   $ 1,535,676     $ 1,176,321  
Pro forma Net Income including noncontrolling interests     (91,953 )     35,362  
 
5. Contracts with Customers 

Disaggregation of Revenue 

The Company’s contracts contain both fixed-price and cost reimbursable components. Contract types are based on the component 
that represents the majority of the contract. The following table presents revenue disaggregated by contract type (in thousands): 

 
    Three Months Ended  

    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Fixed-price   $ 631,219     $ 341,012  
Time-and-Materials     350,651       318,315  
Cost-plus     553,806       514,139  

Total   $ 1,535,676     $ 1,173,466  
 
See “Note 18 – Segments Information” for the Company’s revenues by business lines. 

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities 

Contract assets and contract liabilities balances at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands): 
 

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Contract assets   $ 768,007     $ 757,515  
Contract liabilities     282,962       301,107  
Net contract assets (liabilities) (1)   $ 485,045     $ 456,408  
 
(1) Total contract retentions included in net contract assets (liabilities) were $71.7 million as of March 31, 2024, of which $31.8 million 

are not expected to be paid in the next 12 months. Total contract retentions included in net contract assets (liabilities) were $73.8 
million as of December 31, 2023. Contract assets at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 include $101.5 million and $109.5 
million, respectively, related to net claim recoveries. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, there were no 
material losses recognized related to the collectability of claims, unapproved change orders, and requests for equitable adjustment. 

During the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the Company recognized revenue of $138.3 million and $78.1 
million, respectively, that was included in the corresponding contract liability balances at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, 
respectively. 
 

 There was no significant impairment of contract assets recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 
2023. 

There have been no revisions in estimates, such as changes in estimated claims or incentives, related to performance obligations 
partially satisfied in previous periods that individually had an impact of $5 million or more on revenue.
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Accounts Receivable, net

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands): 

 
    2024     2023  

Billed   $ 674,861     $ 646,375  
Unbilled     352,542       273,215  
   Total accounts receivable, gross     1,027,403       919,590  
Allowance for doubtful accounts     (3,940 )     (3,952 )
   Total accounts receivable, net   $ 1,023,463     $ 915,638  

 
Billed accounts receivable represents amounts billed to clients that have not been collected. Unbilled accounts receivable represents 

amounts where the Company has a present contractual right to bill but an invoice has not been issued to the customer at the period-end 
date. Receivables from contracts with the U.S. federal government and its agencies were 22% and 18% as of March 31, 2024 and December 
31, 2023, respectively.

The allowance for doubtful accounts was determined based on consideration of trends in actual and forecasted credit quality of 
clients, including delinquency and payment history, type of client, such as a government agency or commercial sector client, and general 
economic conditions and particular industry conditions that may affect a client’s ability to pay. 

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Unsatisfied Performance Obligations 

The Company’s remaining unsatisfied performance obligations (“RUPO”) as of March 31, 2024 represent a measure of the total 
dollar value of work to be performed on contracts awarded and in-progress. The Company had $6.3 billion in RUPO as of March 31, 2024. 

RUPO will increase with awards of new contracts and decrease as the Company performs work and recognizes revenue on existing 
contracts. Projects are included within RUPO at such time the project is awarded and agreement on contract terms has been reached. The 
difference between RUPO and backlog relates to unexercised option years that are included within backlog and the value of Indefinite 
Delivery/Indefinite Quantity (“IDIQ”) contracts included in backlog for which delivery orders have not been issued. 

RUPO is comprised of: (a) original transaction price, (b) change orders for which written confirmations from our customers have been 
received, (c) pending change orders for which the Company expects to receive confirmations in the ordinary course of business, and (d) 
claim amounts that the Company has made against customers for which it has determined that it has a legal basis under existing contractual 
arrangements and a significant reversal of revenue is not probable, less revenue recognized to-date. 

The Company expects to satisfy its RUPO as of March 31, 2024 over the following periods (in thousands): 
 

 Period RUPO Will Be Satisfied   Within One Year    
Within One to

Two Years     Thereafter  
 Federal Solutions   $ 1,762,653     $ 350,568     $ 159,288  
 Critical Infrastructure     2,010,225       975,277       992,388  
    Total   $ 3,772,878     $ 1,325,845     $ 1,151,676  
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6. Leases

 The Company has operating and finance leases for corporate and project office spaces, vehicles, heavy machinery and office 
equipment. Our leases have remaining lease terms of one year to eight years, some of which may include options to extend the leases for up 
to five years, and some of which may include options to terminate the leases after the third year.

The components of lease costs for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

Operating lease cost   $ 16,677    $ 16,625  
Short-term lease cost     3,652      3,663  
Amortization of right-of-use assets     777      516  
Interest on lease liabilities     94      33  
Sublease income     (1,119 )    (1,124 )

Total lease cost   $ 20,081     $ 19,713  
 

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 is as follows 
(in thousands): 

 
    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

Operating cash flows for operating leases   $ 17,525     $ 17,785  
Operating cash flows for finance leases     94       33  
Financing cash flows from finance leases     740       516  
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities     1,994       4,707  
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities   $ 1,380     $ 1,228  

 
Supplemental balance sheet and other information related to leases as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are as follows (in 

thousands):
 

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Operating Leases:            
Right-of-use assets   $ 145,803     $ 159,211  
Lease liabilities:            

Current     55,024       58,556  
Long-term     106,692       117,505  

Total operating lease liabilities   $ 161,716     $ 176,061  
Finance Leases:            
Other noncurrent assets   $ 8,467     $ 7,779  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   $ 2,973     $ 2,682  
Other long-term liabilities   $ 5,563     $ 5,129  
             
Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term:            
Operating leases   3.8 years     3.9 years  
Finance leases   3.1 years     3.1 years  
Weighted Average Discount Rate:            
Operating leases     4.2 %    4.2 %
Finance leases     4.7 %    4.6 %

 
As of March 31, 2024, the Company has no operating leases that have not yet commenced. 
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A maturity analysis of the future undiscounted cash flows associated with the Company’s operating and finance lease liabilities as of 

March 31, 2024 is as follows (in thousands):
 

    Operating Leases     Finance Leases  
2024 (remaining)   $ 47,189     $ 2,505  
2025     48,831       2,922  
2026     32,581       2,281  
2027     19,215       1,110  
2028     14,472       359  
Thereafter     12,950       -  
Total lease payments     175,238       9,177  
Less: imputed interest     (13,522 )     (641 )
Total present value of lease liabilities   $ 161,716     $ 8,536  
 

7. Goodwill
The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying value of goodwill by reporting segment from December 31, 2023 to 

March 31, 2024 (in thousands): 
 

    December 31, 2023     Acquisitions    
Foreign 

Exchange     March 31, 2024  
Federal Solutions   $ 1,686,901     $ -     $ -     $ 1,686,901  
Critical Infrastructure     105,764       -       (1,222 )     104,542  
Total   $ 1,792,665     $ -     $ (1,222 )   $ 1,791,443  
 

The Company performed a qualitative triggering analysis and determined there was no triggering event indicating a potential 
impairment to the carrying value of its goodwill at March 31, 2024 and concluded there has not been an impairment.

8. Intangible Assets
The gross amount and accumulated amortization of intangible assets with finite useful lives included in “Intangible assets, net” on the 

consolidated balance sheets are as follows (in thousands except for years): 
 

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023    
Weighted
Average  

   

Gross
Carrying
Amount    

Accumulated
Amortization    

Net
Carrying
Amount    

Gross
Carrying
Amount    

Accumulated
Amortization    

Net
Carrying
Amount    

Amortization
Period

(in years)  
Backlog   $ 130,000     $ (53,444 )   $ 76,556     $ 130,000     $ (45,964 )   $ 84,036       4.0  
Customer relationships     297,120       (128,679 )     168,441       297,120       (124,194 )     172,926       9.5  
Leases     120       (112 )     8       120       (106 )     14       1.0  
Developed technology     31,600       (17,221 )     14,379       31,600       (15,823 )     15,777       4.6  
Trade name     1,000       (667 )     333       1,000       (417 )     583       1.1  
Non-compete agreements     1,500       (1,222 )     278       1,500       (1,097 )     403       3.3  
In process research and development     1,800       -       1,800       1,800       -       1,800     n/a  
Other intangibles     275       (214 )     61       375       (348 )     27       9.9  

Total intangible assets   $ 463,415     $ (201,559 )   $ 261,856     $ 463,515     $ (187,949 )   $ 275,566        
  
The aggregate amortization expense of intangible assets for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 was $13.7 

million and $18.0 million, respectively. 
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Estimated amortization expense for the remainder of the current fiscal year and in each of the next four years and beyond is as 
follows (in thousands): 
 

    March 31, 2024  
2024   $ 36,096  
2025     43,448  
2026     37,024  
2027     32,542  
2028     24,329  
Thereafter     86,617  
Total   $ 260,056  

 
9. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consisted of the following at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands): 
 

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023    
Useful life

(years)
Buildings and leasehold improvements   $ 102,041     $ 102,372     1-15
Furniture and equipment     84,417       84,244     3-10
Computer systems and equipment     174,950       168,926     3-10
Construction equipment     6,463       6,173     5-7
Construction in progress     21,536       21,030      
      389,407       382,745      
Accumulated depreciation     (290,908 )     (283,788 )    

Property and equipment, net   $ 98,499     $ 98,957      
 

Depreciation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 was $9.4 million and $9.4 million, 
respectively.

10. Debt and Credit Facilities 
Debt consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 
    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Long-Term Debt:            

Delayed draw term loan   $ 350,000     $ 350,000  
Convertible senior notes due 2025     115,443       400,000  
Convertible senior notes due 2029     800,000       -  
Revolving credit facility     -       -  
Debt issuance costs     (19,000 )     (4,037 )

Total   $ 1,246,443     $ 745,963  

Delayed Draw Term Loan

In September 2022, the Company entered into a $350 million unsecured Delayed Draw Term Loan with an increase option of up to 
$150 million (the “2022 Delayed Draw Term Loan”). Proceeds of the 2022 Delayed Draw Term Loan Agreement may be used (a) to pay off in 
full, or partially payoff, the Company’s existing Senior Notes, (b) to prepay revolving loans outstanding under the Revolving Credit Agreement 
(as defined below), or (c) for working capital, capital expenditures and other lawful corporate purposes. The Company drew $350.0 million 
from the 2022 Delayed Draw Term Loan in November 2022. The Company incurred $0.9 million of debt issuance costs in connection with the 
delayed draw term loan. These costs are presented as a direct deduction from long-term debt on the face of the balance sheet. Interest 
expense related to the Delayed Draw Term Loan for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 were $6.0 million and $5.1 
million, respectively. The amortization of debt issuance costs and interest expense is recorded in “Interest expense” on the consolidated 
statements of income. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there was $350.0 million outstanding under the Delayed Draw Term 
Loan. 
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The 2022 Delayed Draw Term Loan has a three-year maturity and permits the Company to borrow in U.S. dollars. The 2022 Delayed 
Draw Term Loan does not require any amortization payments by the Company. Depending on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio (or 
debt rating after such time as the Company has such rating), borrowings under the 2022 Delayed Draw Term Loan Agreement will bear 
interest at either an adjusted Term SOFR benchmark rate plus a margin between 0.875% and 1.500% or a base rate plus a margin of 
between 0% and 0.500% and will initially bear interest at the middle of this range. The Company will pay a ticking fee on unused term loan 
commitments at a rate of 0.175% commencing with the date that is ninety (90) days after the Closing Date. Amounts outstanding under the 
2022 Delayed Draw Term Loan Agreement may be prepaid at the option of the Company without premium or penalty, subject to customary 
breakage fees in connection with the prepayment of benchmark rate loans. The interest rates on March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 
were 6.4% and 6.6%, respectively.

Convertible Senior Notes due 2025

In August 2020, the Company issued an aggregate $400.0 million of 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025, including the 
exercise of a $50.0 million initial purchasers’ option. The Company received proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Convertible Senior 
Notes of $389.7 million, net of $10.3 million of transaction fees and other third-party offering expenses. The Convertible Senior Notes accrue 
interest at a rate of 0.25% per annum, payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year beginning on February 15, 2021, 
and will mature on August 15, 2025, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted.

The Convertible Senior Notes are the Company’s senior unsecured obligations and will rank senior in right of payment to any of the 
Company’s indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes; equal in right of payment to any of the Company’s 
unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated; effectively junior in right of payment to any of the Company’s secured indebtedness, to 
the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and structurally junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities (including 
trade payables) of the Company’s subsidiaries

Each $1,000 of principal of the Notes will initially be convertible into 22.2913 shares of our common stock, which is equivalent to an 
initial conversion price of $44.86 per share, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of specified events. On or after March 15, 2025 until 
the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date of the Convertible Senior Notes, holders 
may convert all or a portion of their Convertible Senior Notes, regardless of the conditions below. 

Prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding March 15, 2025, the Notes will be convertible at the option 
of the holders thereof only under the following circumstances:

• during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on December 31, 2021, if the last reported sale 
price of the Company’s common stock for at least 20 trading days, whether or not consecutive, during a period of 30 
consecutive trading days ending on, and including the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter, is 
greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day;

• during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period in which, for each trading day of that 
period, the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Senior Notes for such trading day was less than 98% of 
the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading 
day;

• if the Company calls such Convertible Senior Notes for redemption; or

• upon the occurrence of specified corporate events described in the Indenture. 
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The Company may redeem all or any portion of the Convertible Senior Notes for cash, at its option, on or after August 21, 2023 and 
before the 51st scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of 
the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, but only if the last reported sale price per share of the Company’s common 
stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price for a specified period of time. In addition, calling any Convertible Senior Note for redemption will 
constitute a Make-Whole Fundamental Change with respect to that Convertible Senior Note, in which case the conversion rate applicable to 
the conversion of that Convertible Senior Note will be increased in certain circumstances if it is converted after it is called for redemption.

Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change prior to the maturity date of the Convertible Senior Notes, holders of the Convertible 
Senior Notes may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of the Convertible Senior Notes for cash at a price equal to 100% of the 
principal amount of the Convertible Senior Notes to be repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental 
change repurchase date.

Upon conversion, the Company may settle the Convertible Senior Notes for cash, shares of the Company’s common stock, or a 
combination thereof, at the Company’s option. If the Company satisfies its conversion obligation solely in cash or through payment and 
delivery of a combination of cash and shares of the Company’s common stock, the amount of cash and shares of common stock due upon 
conversion will be based on a daily conversion value calculated on a proportionate basis for each trading day in a 50-trading day observation 
period.

The Company recognized interest expense of $3.7 million and $0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 
31, 2023, respectively. The net, carrying value of the Convertible Senior Notes were $115.4 million and $396.5 million as of March 31, 2024 
and December 31, 2023, respectively.

See the discussion of the partial repurchase of Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 and the unwind of the related note hedge and 
warrants below.

Note Hedge and Warrant - Convertible Senior Notes due 2025

In connection with the sale of the Convertible Senior Notes, the Company purchased a bond hedge designed to mitigate the potential 
dilution from the conversion of the Convertible Senior Notes. Under the five-year term of the bond hedge, upon a conversion of the bonds, 
the Company will receive the number of shares of common stock equal to the remaining common stock deliverable upon conversion of the 
Convertible Senior Notes if the conversion value exceeds the principal amount of the Notes. The aggregate number of shares that the 
Company could be obligated to issue upon conversion of the Convertible Senior Notes is approximately 8.9 million shares. The cost of the 
convertible note hedge transactions was $55.0 million.

The cost of the convertible note hedge was partially offset by the Company’s sale of warrants to acquire approximately 8.9 million 
shares of the Company’s common stock. The warrants were initially exercisable at a price of at least $66.46 per share and are subject to 
customary adjustments upon the occurrence of certain events, such as the payment of dividends. The Company received $13.8 million in 
cash proceeds from the sales of these warrants.

The bond hedge and warrant transactions effectively increased the conversion price associated with the Convertible Senior Notes 
during the term of these transactions from 35%, or $44.86, to 100%, or $66.46, at their issuance, thereby reducing the dilutive economic 
effect to shareholders upon actual conversion. 

The bond hedges and warrants are indexed to, and potentially settled in, shares of the Company’s common stock. The net cost of 
$41.2 million for the purchase of the bond hedges and sale of the warrants was recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital in the 
consolidated balance sheets.

At issuance, the Company recorded a deferred tax liability of $16.2 million related to the Convertible Senior Notes debt discount and 
the capitalized debt issuance costs. The Company also recorded a deferred tax asset of $16.5 million related to the convertible note hedge 
transactions and the tax basis of the capitalized debt issuance costs through additional paid-in capital. The deferred tax liability and deferred 
tax asset were included net in “Deferred tax assets” on the consolidated balance sheets. Upon adoption of ASU 2020-06, the Company 
reversed the deferred tax liability of $13.9 million that the Company had recorded at issuance related to the Convertible Senior Note debt 
discount and recorded an additional deferred tax liability of $0.4 million related to the capitalized debt issuance costs. In addition, the 
Company recorded a $0.9 million adjustment to the deferred tax asset through retained earnings related to the tax effect of book accretion 
recorded in 2020 and reversed upon adoption.
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Convertible Senior Notes due 2029

In February 2024, the Company issued an aggregate $800.0 million of 2.625% Convertible Senior Notes due 2029 (the “2029 
Convertible Notes”), including the exercise of a $100.0 million initial purchasers’ option in full. The Company received proceeds from the 
issuance and sale of the 2029 Convertible Notes of $781.1 million, net of $18.9 million of transaction fees and other third-party offering 
expenses. The 2029 Convertible Notes accrue interest at a rate of 2.625% per annum, payable semi-annually on March 1 and September 1 
of each year beginning on September 1, 2024, and will mature on March 1, 2029, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted. 

The 2029 Convertible Notes are the Company’s senior unsecured obligations and will rank senior in right of payment to any of the 
Company’s indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the 2029 Convertible Notes; equal in right of payment to any of 
the Company’s unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated; effectively junior in right of payment to any of the Company’s secured 
indebtedness, including borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facility and delayed draw term loan credit facility, to the extent of 
the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and structurally junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) 
of the Company’s subsidiaries.

Each $1,000 of principal of the 2029 Convertible Notes will initially be convertible into 10.6256 shares of our common stock, which is 
equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $94.11 per share, subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of specified events. On 
or after October 1, 2028 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date of the 2029 
Convertible Notes, holders may convert all or a portion of their 2029 Convertible Notes, regardless of the conditions below. 

Prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding October 1, 2028, the 2029 Convertible Notes will be 
convertible at the option of the holders thereof only under the following circumstances: 

• during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on June 30, 2024, if the last reported sale price 
of the Company’s common stock for at least 20 trading days, whether or not consecutive, during a period of 30 consecutive 
trading days ending on, and including the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter, is greater than or 
equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day; 

• during the five business day period after any ten consecutive trading day period in which, for each trading day of that 
period, the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of 2029 Convertible Notes for such trading day was less than 98% of 
the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading 
day; 

• if the Company calls such 2029 Convertible Notes for redemption; or 

• upon the occurrence of specified corporate events described in the Indenture. 

The Company may redeem all or any portion of the 2029 Convertible Notes for cash, at its option, on or after March 8, 2027 and 
before the 51st scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of 
the 2029 Convertible Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, but only if the last reported sale price per share of the 
Company’s common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price for a specified period of time. In addition, calling any 2029 Convertible 
Notes for redemption will constitute a Make-Whole Fundamental Change with respect to that 2029 Convertible Note, in which case the 
conversion rate applicable to the conversion of that 2029 Convertible Notes will be increased in certain circumstances if it is converted after it 
is called for redemption.

Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change prior to the maturity date of the 2029 Convertible Notes, holders of the 2029 
Convertible Notes may require the Company to repurchase all or a portion of the 2029 Convertible Notes for cash at a price equal to 100% of 
the principal amount of the 2029 Convertible Notes to be repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the 
fundamental change repurchase date.

Upon conversion, the Company will settle the principal amount of the 2029 Convertible Notes converted in cash and will settle the 
remainder of the consideration owed upon conversion in cash, shares of the Company’s common stock, or a combination thereof, at the 
Company’s option, with such amount of cash and, if applicable, shares of common stock 
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due upon conversion based on a daily conversion value calculated on a proportionate basis for each trading day in a 50-trading day 
observation period.

The Company recognized interest expense with respect to the 2029 Convertible Notes of $2.4 million for the three months ended 
March 31, 2024. As of March 31, 2024, the net, carrying value of the 2029 Convertible Notes was $781.5 million. 

Capped Call Transactions - Convertible Senior Notes due 2029

In February 2024, in connection with the offering of the 2029 Convertible Notes, the Company entered into capped call transactions 
(the “Capped Call Transactions”) with certain financial institutions. The Capped Call Transactions are expected generally to reduce the 
potential dilution to the Company’s common stock upon any conversion of the Convertible Senior Notes due 2029 and/or offset any cash 
payments the Company is required to make in excess of the principal amount of any converted Convertible Senior Notes due 2029, as the 
case may be. If, however, the market price per share of the Company’s common stock, as measured under the terms of the Capped Call 
Transactions, exceeds the cap price of the Capped Call Transactions, there would nevertheless be dilution and/or there would not be an 
offset of such cash payments, in each case, to the extent that such market price exceeds the cap price of the Capped Call Transactions.

The cap price of the Capped Call Transactions is initially $131.7575 per share, which represents a premium of 75% over the last 
reported sale price of the Company’s common stock of $75.29 per share on the New York Stock Exchange on February 21, 2024, and is 
subject to certain adjustments under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions. The cost of $88.4 million for the Capped Call Transactions 
was recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheets.

At issuance, the Company recorded a deferred tax asset of $22.3 million related to the Capped Call Transactions costs through 
additional paid-in capital. The deferred tax asset was included in Deferred tax assets in the consolidated balance sheets. 

Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 Partial Repurchase and Note Hedge and Warrants Partial Unwind

In connection with the issuance of the Convertible Senior Notes due 2029, we used $391.8 million of the net proceeds to purchase 
approximately $228.1 million aggregate principal amount of our Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 concurrently with the offering in separate 
and individually negotiated transactions. In addition, we used $103.8 million to settle the repurchase of approximately $56.5 million aggregate 
principal amount of our Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 in a separately negotiated transaction that settled in March 2024. We also 
received approximately $90.6 million in cash from the note hedge counterparties for the partial termination of the existing bond hedge relating 
to the Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 repurchased, net of our obligations to the counterparties in connection with the partial termination 
of the related warrant transactions. The tax effect of $46.2 million from the partial unwind of the existing bond hedge was recognized as a 
reduction in additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheets. The income tax payable was included in Income taxes payable in 
the consolidated balance sheets.  

The partial repurchase resulted in a $214.2 million loss on debt extinguishment which includes a $3.2 million charge to interest 
expense for the acceleration of the amortization of debt issuance costs associated with the 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025. The 
tax effect of the debt extinguishment, excluding the interest expense, was recognized as a discrete event to the quarter giving rise to an 
increase in the effective tax rate and tax benefit of $49.9 million recognized in the income statement.

Revolving Credit Facility
 

In June 2021, the Company entered into a $650 million unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Credit Agreement”). The Company 
incurred $1.9 million of costs in connection with this Credit Agreement. The 2021 Credit Agreement replaced an existing Fifth Amended and 
Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November 15, 2017. Under the new agreement, the Company’s revolving credit facility was 
increased from $550 million to $650 million. The credit facility has a five-year maturity, which may be extended up to two times for periods 
determined by the Company and the applicable extending lenders, and permits the Company to borrow in U.S. dollars, certain specified 
foreign currencies, and each other currency that may be approved in accordance with the 2021 Facility. The borrowings under the Credit 
Agreement bear interest at either the Term SOFR rate plus a margin between 1.0% and 1.625% or a base rate (as defined in the Credit 
Agreement) plus a margin of between 0% and 0.625%. The rates on March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were 6.6% and 6.7%, 
respectively. Borrowings under this Credit Agreement are guaranteed by certain Company operating 
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subsidiaries. Letters of credit commitments outstanding under this agreement aggregated to $42.1 million and $43.8 million at March 31, 
2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, which reduced borrowing limits available to the Company. Interest expense related to the Credit 
Agreement was $0.3 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively. There were no 
loan amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement at March 31, 2024. 

The Credit Agreement includes various covenants, including restrictions on indebtedness, liens, acquisitions, investments or 
dispositions, payment of dividends and maintenance of certain financial ratios and conditions. The Company was in compliance with these 
covenants at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. 

Letters of Credit
 

The Company also has in place several secondary bank credit lines for issuing letters of credit, principally for foreign contracts, to 
support performance and completion guarantees. Letters of credit commitments outstanding under these bank lines aggregated 
approximately $281.0 million and $320.7 million at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

11. Income Taxes

In 2021 the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) announced an inclusive Framework on Base Erosion 
and Profit Shifting (BEPS) including Pillar Two Model Rules defining the global minimum tax, also known as the Global Anti-Base Erosion 
(GloBE), which aims to ensure that multinational enterprises (MNEs) pay a 15% minimum level of tax regardless of where the MNE operates.  
Subsequently, multiple sets of administrative guidance have been issued. Many non-US tax jurisdictions have either recently enacted 
legislation to adopt components of the Pillar Two Model Rules beginning in 2024 and/or have announced their plans to enact legislation in 
future years. At this time, we do not expect Pillar Two to result in any material impact to the Company’s income tax provision. We are 
continuing to evaluate the potential impact on future periods of the Pillar Two Framework, pending enactment of legislation by individual 
countries.

The Company’s effective tax rate was 25.9% and 24.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively. 
The increase in the effective tax rate was due primarily to a change in jurisdictional mix of earnings, the foreign-derived intangible income 
(FDII) deduction, and equity-based compensation, partially offset by executive compensation subject to Section 162(m). The difference 
between the effective tax rate and the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate of 21% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 primarily 
relates to a change in jurisdictional earnings partially resulting from a loss in partially unwinding Convertible Senior Notes, the FDII deduction, 
equity based compensation, and untaxed income attributable to noncontrolling interests, partially offset by rate impacts related to state 
income taxes and foreign withholding taxes.

As of March 31, 2024, the Company’s deferred tax assets were subject to a valuation allowance of $36.1 million primarily related to 
foreign net operating loss carryforwards, foreign tax credit carryforwards, and capital losses that the Company has determined are not more-
likely-than-not to be realized. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization include: the past performance of the entities, forecasts 
of future taxable income, future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, and available tax planning strategies that could be 
implemented to realize the deferred tax assets. The ability or failure to achieve the forecasted taxable income in these entities could affect 
the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets.

As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the liability for income taxes associated with uncertain tax positions was $26.7 million 
and $25.5 million, respectively. It is reasonably possible that the Company may realize a decrease in our uncertain tax positions of 
approximately $7.2 million during the next 12 months as a result of concluding various tax audits and closing tax years.

Although the Company believes its reserves for its tax positions are reasonable, the final outcome of tax audits could be materially 
different, both favorably and unfavorably. It is reasonably possible that certain audits may conclude in the next 12 months and that the 
unrecognized tax benefits the Company has recorded in relation to these tax years may change compared to the liabilities recorded for these 
periods. 
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12. Contingencies

The Company is subject to certain lawsuits, claims and assessments that arise in the ordinary course of business. Additionally, the 
Company has been named as a defendant in lawsuits alleging personal injuries as a result of contact with asbestos products at various 
project sites. Management believes that any significant costs relating to these claims will be reimbursed by applicable insurance and, 
although there can be no assurance that these matters will be resolved favorably, management believes that the ultimate resolution of any of 
these claims will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. A liability is 
recorded when it is both probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. When 
using a range of loss estimate, the Company records the liability using the low end of the range unless some amount within the range of loss 
appears at that time to be a better estimate than any other amount in the range. The Company records a corresponding receivable for costs 
covered under its insurance policies. Management judgment is required to determine the outcome and the estimated amount of a loss related
to such matters. Management believes that there are no claims or assessments outstanding which would materially affect the consolidated 
results of operations or the Company’s financial position.  

In September 2015, a former Parsons employee filed an action in the United States District Court for the Northern District of 
Alabama against us as a qui tam relator on behalf of the United States (the “Relator”) alleging violation of the False Claims Act. The plaintiff 
alleges that, as a result of these actions, the United States paid in excess of $1 million per month between February and September 2006 
that it should have paid to another contractor, plus $2.9 million to acquire vehicles for the contractor defendant to perform its security 
services. The lawsuit sought (i) that we cease and desist from violating the False Claims Act, (ii) monetary damages equal to three times the 
amount of damages that the United States has sustained because of our alleged violations, plus a civil penalty of not less than $5,500 and 
not more than $11,000 for each alleged violation of the False Claims Act, (iii) monetary damages equal to the maximum amount allowed 
pursuant to §3730(d) of the False Claims Act, and (iv) Relator’s costs for this action, including recovery of attorneys’ fees and costs incurred 
in the lawsuit. The United States government did not intervene in this matter as it is allowed to do so under the statute. The court heard 
dispositive motions in 2023, including Parsons’ motion for summary judgment. We are awaiting the court’s rulings upon such motions, which 
will determine whether a trial will be necessary for this matter in 2024. 

On November 28, 2023, a Proposed Statement of Decision was filed with the clerk of the Superior Court of the State of California In 
and For the County of San Mateo proposing an award of damages in the total amount of approximately $102.5 million in favor of Parsons 
Transportation Group, Inc. and against Alstom Signaling Operations LLC (Alstom") (including approximately $62.5 million relating to claims 
assigned to Parsons pursuant to a prior settlement with the Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board and approximately $40 million attributable 
to Parsons’ contractual and indemnification claims). This proposed award relates back to a lawsuit Parsons initially filed against the 
Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board for breach of contract and wrongful termination in February 2017 (which was settled between 
Parsons and the Joint Powers Board in 2021) and a cross-complaint filed against Alstom Signaling Operations LLC in November 2017, as 
subsequently amended, for breach of contract, negligence and intentional misrepresentation. Alstom filed objections to the Proposed 
Statement of Decision, and Parsons has filed its responses to the objections. The Court has scheduled a hearing upon the Objections and 
post-trial motions filed by Alstom in the second quarter of 2024.  

At this time, the Company is unable to determine the probability of the outcome of the litigation. 

Federal government contracts are subject to audits, which are performed for the most part by the Defense Contract Audit Agency 
(“DCAA”). Audits by the DCAA and other agencies consist of reviews of our overhead rates, operating systems and cost proposals to ensure 
that we account for such costs in accordance with the Cost Accounting Standards (“CAS”). If the DCAA determines we have not accounted 
for such costs in accordance with the CAS, the DCAA may disallow these costs. The disallowance of such costs may result in a reduction of 
revenue and additional liability for the Company. Historically, the Company has not experienced any material disallowed costs as a result of 
government audits. However, the Company can provide no assurance that the DCAA or other government audits will not result in 
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material disallowances for incurred costs in the future. All audits of costs incurred on work performed through 2018 have been closed, and 
years thereafter remain open.  

Although there can be no assurance that these matters will be resolved favorably, management believes that their ultimate resolution 
will not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

 

13. Retirement Benefit Plan
The Company’s principal retirement benefit plan is the Parsons Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”), a stock bonus plan, 

established in 1975 to cover eligible employees of the Company and certain affiliated companies. Contributions of treasury stock to the 
ESOP are made annually in amounts determined by the Company’s board of directors and are held in trust for the sole benefit of the 
participants. Shares allocated to a participant’s account are fully vested after three years of credited service, or in the event(s) of reaching 
age 65, death or disability while an active employee of the Company. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, total shares of the 
Company’s common stock outstanding were 106,203,479 and 105,839,978, respectively, of which 57,998,295 and 59,879,857, respectively, 
were held by the ESOP. 

A participant’s interest in their ESOP account is redeemable upon certain events, including retirement, death, termination due to 
permanent disability, a severe financial hardship following termination of employment, certain conflicts of interest following termination of 
employment, or the exercise of diversification rights. Distributions from the ESOP of participants’ interests are made in the Company’s 
common stock based on quoted prices of a share of the Company’s common stock on the NYSE. A participant will be able to sell such 
shares of common stock in the market, subject to any requirements of the federal securities laws.

Total ESOP contribution expense was $15.0 million and $14.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 
2023, respectively. The expense is recorded in “Direct costs of contracts” and “Selling, general and administrative expense” in the 
consolidated statements of income. The fiscal 2024 ESOP contribution has not yet been made. The amount is currently included in accrued 
liabilities.

14. Investments in and Advances to Joint Ventures 
The Company participates in joint ventures to bid, negotiate and complete specific projects. The Company is required to consolidate 

these joint ventures if it holds the majority voting interest or if the Company meets the criteria under the consolidation model, as described 
below. 

The Company performs an analysis to determine whether its variable interests give the Company a controlling financial interest in a 
Variable Interest Entity (“VIE”) for which the Company is the primary beneficiary and should, therefore, be consolidated. Such analysis 
requires the Company to assess whether it has the power to direct the activities of the VIE and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to 
receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. 

The Company analyzed all of its joint ventures and classified them into two groups: (1) joint ventures that must be consolidated 
because they are either not VIEs and the Company holds the majority voting interest, or because they are VIEs and the Company is the 
primary beneficiary; and (2) joint ventures that do not need to be consolidated because they are either not VIEs and the Company holds a 
minority voting interest, or because they are VIEs and the Company is not the primary beneficiary. 

Many of the Company’s joint venture agreements provide for capital calls to fund operations, as necessary; however, such funding is 
infrequent and is not anticipated to be material. 

Letters of credit outstanding described in “Note 10 – Debt and Credit Facilities” that relate to project ventures are $149.9 million and 
$147.7 million at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

In the table below, aggregated financial information relating to the Company’s joint ventures is provided because their nature, risk 
and reward characteristics are similar. None of the Company’s current joint ventures that meet the characteristics of a VIE are individually 
significant to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Joint Ventures 

The following represents financial information for consolidated joint ventures included in the consolidated financial statements (in 
thousands): 
 

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Current assets   $ 441,446     $ 426,633  
Noncurrent assets     13,011       14,295  

Total assets     454,457       440,928  
Current liabilities     263,690       260,286  
Noncurrent liabilities     4,211       5,132  

Total liabilities     267,901       265,418  
Total joint venture equity   $ 186,556     $ 175,510  

 
    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

Revenue   $ 202,017     $ 161,484  
Costs     171,148       141,598  
Net income   $ 30,869     $ 19,886  
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests   $ 15,243     $ 9,723  

 
The assets of the consolidated joint ventures are restricted for use only by the particular joint venture and are not available for the 

Company’s general operations. 

Unconsolidated Joint Ventures 

The Company accounts for its unconsolidated joint ventures using the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the Company 
recognizes its proportionate share of the net earnings of these joint ventures as “Equity in (losses) earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures” 
in the consolidated statements of income. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its investments in unconsolidated joint 
ventures is typically limited to the aggregate of the carrying value of the investment and future funding commitments. 

The following represents the financial information of the Company’s unconsolidated joint ventures as presented in their unaudited 
financial statements (in thousands): 
 

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Current assets   $ 1,620,565     $ 1,607,953  
Noncurrent assets     475,188       483,693  

Total assets     2,095,753       2,091,646  
Current liabilities     1,040,231       1,057,113  
Noncurrent liabilities     509,299       518,647  

Total liabilities     1,549,530       1,575,760  
Total joint venture equity   $ 546,223     $ 515,886  

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures   $ 145,043     $ 128,204  
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

Revenue   $ 473,532     $ 349,157  
Costs     476,750       359,395  
Net income (loss)   $ (3,218 )   $ (10,238 )
Equity in losses of unconsolidated joint ventures   $ (2,060 )   $ (5,840 )

 
The Company had net contributions to its unconsolidated joint ventures for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 

2023 of $20.0 million and of $4.8 million, respectively.
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The following table presents certain financial statement impacts from changes in estimates on unconsolidated joint ventures in the 
Critical Infrastructure segment.

 
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  

Operating loss   $ (8,361 )   $ (6,840 )
Net loss     (6,258 )     (5,121 )
Diluted loss per share   $ (0.06 )   $ (0.04 )
 

15. Related Party Transactions
The Company often provides services to unconsolidated joint ventures and revenues include amounts related to recovering costs for 

these services. Revenues related to services the Company provided to unconsolidated joint ventures for the three months ended March 31, 
2024 and March 31, 2023 were $46.8 million and $50.9 million, respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 
2023, the Company incurred $35.4 million and $39.2 million, respectively, of reimbursable costs. The revenue and reimbursable cost prior 
period amounts have been updated to reflect all joint ventures for the comparable period. Amounts included in the consolidated balance 
sheets related to services the Company provided to unconsolidated joint ventures are as follows (in thousands): 
 

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Accounts receivable   $ 41,237     $ 38,898  
Contract assets     13,432       38,009  
Contract liabilities     15,111       15,287  

 

16. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The authoritative guidance on fair value measurement defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (referred to as an “exit price”). At March 31, 
2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company’s financial instruments include cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, 
and other liabilities. The fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values due to their short-term maturities.

Investments measured at fair value are based on one or more of the following three valuation techniques: 

• Market approach—Prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable 
assets or liabilities; 

• Cost approach—Amount that would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset (i.e., replacement cost); and 

• Income approach—Techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount based on market expectations (including 
present value techniques, option-pricing models and lattice models). 

In addition, the guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair 
value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities (Level 1 
measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

Level 1	 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2	 Pricing inputs that include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and inputs that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the instrument; and

Level 3	 Prices or valuations that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurements and unobservable.

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of 
future fair values. Furthermore, while the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate 
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and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain 
financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. 

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a quarterly basis are as follows:

Fair value as of March 31, 2024 (in thousands):

    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  
Contingent consideration                        

Earnout liability   $ -     $ -     $ 4,142     $ 4,142  
Total liabilities at fair value   $ -     $ -     $ 4,142     $ 4,142  

Fair value as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  
Contingent consideration                        

Earnout liability   $ -     $ -     $ 2,300     $ 2,300  
Total liabilities at fair value   $ -     $ -     $ 2,300     $ 2,300  

Refer to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 
for a more complete discussion of the various items within the consolidated financial statements measured at fair value and the methods 
used to determine fair value.

The carrying values and estimated fair values of our financial instruments that are not required to be recorded at fair value in our 
consolidated balance sheets, on the basis of Level 2 inputs, were as follows (in thousands):

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
    Carrying Value     Fair Value     Carrying Value     Fair Value  

Liabilities:                        
Convertible senior notes due 2025   $ 115,443     $ 211,261     $ 400,000     $ 568,000  
Convertible senior notes due 2029     800,000       872,080       -       -  
Delayed draw term loan     350,000       350,000       350,000       350,000  
Total   $ 1,265,443     $ 1,433,341     $ 750,000     $ 918,000  
 

17. Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period and 

income available to shareholders. Diluted EPS includes additional common shares that would have been outstanding if potential common 
shares with a dilutive effect had been issued using the if-converted method for Convertible Debt and the treasury stock method for all other 
instruments. 

Under the treasury stock method, the weighted average number of shares outstanding is adjusted to reflect the dilutive effects of 
stock-based awards.

Under the if-converted method:

1. Convertible Senior Notes due 2025:

a. Income available to shareholders is adjusted to add back interest expense, after tax (unless antidilutive).

b. Weighted average number of shares outstanding is adjusted to include the shares underlying the convertible debt (unless 
antidilutive).

c. Shares underlying the bond hedge (unless antidilutive).

d. Shares underlying the warrants (unless antidilutive).

2. Convertible Senior Notes due 2029:

a. Interest has been excluded from the numerator and no shares have been included in the denominator of diluted EPS, as 
the principal amount of convertible debt will be settled in cash with any excess conversion value settled in cash or shares 
of common stock.

b. Excludes shares underlying the capped call as the shares are antidilutive.
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The following tables reconcile the denominator and numerator used to compute basic EPS to the denominator and numerator used 
to compute diluted EPS for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 (in thousands): 

 
    Three Months Ended  

    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Numerator for Basic and Diluted EPS:            
Net income attributable to Parsons Corporation - basic   $ (107,355 )   $ 25,553  
Convertible senior notes if-converted method interest adjustment     -       551  
Net income attributable to Parsons Corporation - diluted   $ (107,355 )   $ 26,104  
             
Denominator for Basic and Diluted EPS:            
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding     106,037       104,805  
Dilutive effect of stock-based awards     -       1,032  
Dilutive effect of convertible senior notes due 2025     -       8,917  
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding     106,037       114,754  
             
Earnings per share:            
Basic   $ (1.01 )   $ 0.24  
Diluted   $ (1.01 )   $ 0.23  

Due to the loss for the three months ended March 31, 2024, stock based awards of 1.5 million shares, the potential dilution from 
convertible senior notes due 2025 of 6.8 million shares and convertible senior notes due 2025 interest expense of $2.8 million have been 
excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share, as their inclusion would have been antidilutive.

Anti-dilutive stock-based awards excluded from the calculation of earnings per share for the three months ended  March 31, 2023 
were 8,831.

Share Repurchases

On August 9, 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the Company to acquire a number of shares of Common Stock 
having an aggregate market value of not greater than $100 million from time to time, commencing on August 12, 2021. The Board further 
amended this authorization in August 2022 to remove the prior expiration date and grant executive leadership the discretion to determine the 
price for such share repurchases. The Board further amended this authorization in February 2024 to restore the repurchase capacity to $100 
million and removed the $25 million quarterly cap on such repurchases. 

At the time of the February 2024 authorization, the Company had repurchased shares with an aggregated market value (including 
fees) of $54.7 million. As of March 31, 2024, the Company has $100 million remaining under the stock repurchase program. The aggregate 
market value of shares of Common Stock the Company is authorized to acquire is now not greater than $154.7 million.

Repurchased shares of common stock are retired and included in “Repurchases of common stock” in cash flows from financing 
activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The primary purpose of the Company’s share repurchase program is to reduce the 
dilutive effect of shares issued under the Company’s ESOP and other stock benefit plans. The timing, amount and manner of share 
repurchases may depend upon market conditions and economic circumstances, availability of investment opportunities, the availability and 
costs of financing, the market price of the Company's common stock, other uses of capital and other factors.

There were no share repurchases during the three months ended March 31, 2024.

The following table summarizes the repurchase activity under the stock repurchase program:
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Total shares repurchased     -       139,398  
Total shares retired     -       139,398  
Average price paid per share   $ -     $ 43.04  
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18. Segment Information 
The Company operates in two reportable segments: Federal Solutions and Critical Infrastructure. 

The Federal Solutions segment provides advanced technical solutions to the U.S. government, delivering timely, cost-effective 
hardware, software and services for mission-critical projects. The segment provides advanced technologies, supporting national security 
missions in cybersecurity, missile defense, and military facility modernization, logistics support, hazardous material remediation and 
engineering services. 

The Critical Infrastructure segment provides integrated engineering and management services for complex physical and digital 
infrastructure around the globe. The Critical Infrastructure segment is a technology innovator focused on next generation digital systems and 
complex structures. Industry leading capabilities in engineering and project management allow the Company to deliver significant value to 
customers by employing cutting-edge technologies, improving timelines and reducing costs. 

The Company defines its reportable segments based on the way the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), its Chief Executive 
Officer, evaluates the performance of each segment and manages the operations of the Company for purposes of allocating resources 
among the segments. The CODM evaluates segment operating performance using segment Revenue and segment Adjusted EBITDA 
attributable to Parsons Corporation. 

The following table summarizes business segment revenue for the periods presented (in thousands): 
 
    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Federal Solutions revenue   $ 909,608     $ 634,546  
Critical Infrastructure revenue     626,068       538,920  
Total revenue   $ 1,535,676     $ 1,173,466  

 
    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Equity in (losses) earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures:            

Federal Solutions   $ (469 )   $ 1,112  
Critical Infrastructure     (1,591 )     (6,952 )

Total equity in (losses) earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures   $ (2,060 )   $ (5,840 )
 
The Company defines Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation as Adjusted EBITDA excluding Adjusted EBITDA 

attributable to noncontrolling interests. The Company defines Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) attributable to Parsons Corporation, 
adjusted to include net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests and to exclude interest expense (net of interest income), 
provision for income taxes, depreciation and amortization and certain other items that are not considered in the evaluation of ongoing 
operating performance. These other items include net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, asset impairment charges, equity-
based compensation, income and expense recognized on litigation matters, expenses incurred in connection with acquisitions and other non-
recurring transaction costs and expenses related to our prior restructuring. The following table reconciles business segment 

26



 
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation to Net Income attributable to Parsons Corporation for the periods presented (in 
thousands): 
 
    Three Months Ended  
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
     Federal Solutions   $ 92,541     $ 56,148  
     Critical Infrastructure     32,963       24,357  
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation     125,504       80,505  
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interests     15,589       9,886  
Depreciation and amortization     (24,531 )     (28,359 )
Interest expense, net     (11,846 )     (5,665 )
Income tax benefit (expense)     32,234       (11,503 )
Equity-based compensation expense     (12,656 )     (6,703 )
Loss on extinguishment of debt     (211,018 )     -  
Transaction-related costs (a)     (2,886 )     (1,618 )
Restructuring expense (b)     -       (546 )
Other (c)     (2,502 )     (721 )
Net (loss) income including noncontrolling interests     (92,112 )     35,276  
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests     15,243       9,723  
Net (loss) income attributable to Parsons Corporation   $ (107,355 )   $ 25,553  
 

(a) Reflects costs incurred in connection with acquisitions and other non-recurring transaction costs, primarily fees paid for professional 
services and employee retention. 

(b) Reflects costs associated with corporate restructuring initiatives.
(c) Includes a combination of gain/loss related to sale of fixed assets, software implementation costs, and other individually insignificant 

items that are non-recurring in nature.

Asset information by segment is not a key measure of performance used by the CODM. 

The following tables present revenues and property and equipment, net by geographic area (in thousands): 
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Revenue            

North America   $ 1,272,250     $ 948,715  
Middle East     258,921       217,398  
Rest of World     4,505       7,353  

Total Revenue   $ 1,535,676     $ 1,173,466  

The geographic location of revenue is determined by the location of the customer.
 

    March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023  
Property and Equipment, Net            

North America   $ 90,189     $ 91,766  
Middle East     8,310       7,191  

Total Property and Equipment, Net   $ 98,499     $ 98,957  

North America includes revenue in the United States for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 of $1.2 billion 
and $882.3 million, respectively. North America property and equipment, net includes $82.5 million and $83.9 million of property and 
equipment, net in the United States at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.
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The following table presents revenues by business units (in thousands): 
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Revenue            

Defense and Intelligence   $ 408,388     $ 364,360  
Engineered Systems     501,220       270,186  

Federal Solutions revenues     909,608       634,546  
Infrastructure – North America     365,282       319,559  
Infrastructure – Europe, Middle East and Africa    260,786       219,361  

Critical Infrastructure revenues     626,068       538,920  
Total Revenue   $ 1,535,676     $ 1,173,466  

Effective October 1, 2023, the Company reorganized its Critical Infrastructure business units from Mobility Solutions and Connected 
Communities to Infrastructure – North America and Infrastructure – Europe, Middle East and Africa. The prior year information in the table 
above has been reclassified to conform to the business unit changes.

19. Subsequent Events
None
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis is intended to help investors understand our business, financial condition, results of 
operations, liquidity and capital resources. You should read this discussion together with our consolidated financial statements and related 
notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-Q and in conjunction with the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2023. Certain amounts may not foot due to rounding.

The statements in this discussion regarding industry outlook, our expectations regarding our future performance, liquidity and capital 
resources and other non-historical statements in this discussion are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are 
subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the risks and uncertainties described in “Risk Factors” and “Special 
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. We undertake no 
obligation to revise publicly any forward-looking statements. Actual results may differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking 
statements. 

 

 
PARSONS CORPORATION Enabling a safer, smarter, and more interconnected world. Engineered solutions for complex physical and digital infrastructure challenges SEGMENTS KEY FACTS AND FIGURES Technology-driven solutions for defense and intelligence customers FINANCIAL SNAPSHOT $4B Total Revenue Trailing 12-Months (Q2 2020) $4B Contract Awards Trailing 12-Months (Q2 2020) 75+ Years Of History Federal Solutions 49% Critical Infrastructure 51% Federal Solutions 58% Critical Infrastructure 42% Federal Solutions Critical Infrastructure ~16K Employees 6% Revenue Growth Trailing 12-Months (Q2 2020) 1.0X Book-To-Bill Ratio Trailing 12-Months (Q2 2020) $7.7B Backlog As Of 6/30/2020 PARSONS CORPORATION.

Overview

We are a leading provider of the integrated solutions and services required in today’s complex security environment and a world of 
digital transformation. We deliver innovative technology-driven solutions to customers worldwide. We have developed significant expertise 
and differentiated capabilities in key areas of cybersecurity, intelligence, missile defense, C5ISR, space, transportation, water/wastewater 
and environmental remediation. By combining our talented team of professionals and advanced technology, we solve complex technical 
challenges to enable a safer, smarter, more secure and more connected world. 

We operate in two reporting segments, Federal Solutions and Critical Infrastructure. Our Federal Solutions business provides 
advanced technical solutions to the U.S. government. Our Critical Infrastructure business provides integrated engineering and management 
services for complex physical and digital infrastructure to state and local governments and large companies. 

Our employees provide services pursuant to contracts that we are awarded by the customer and specific task orders relating to such 
contracts. These contracts are often multi-year, which provides us backlog and visibility on our revenues for future periods. Many of our 
contracts and task orders are subject to renewal and rebidding at the end of their term, and some are subject to the exercise of contract 
options and issuance of task orders by the applicable government 
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entity. In addition to focusing on increasing our revenues through increased contract awards and backlog, we focus our financial performance 
on margin expansion and cash flow. 

Key Metrics 

We manage and assess the performance of our business by evaluating a variety of metrics. The following table sets forth selected 
key metrics (in thousands, except Book-to-Bill):
 

    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Awards (year to date)   $ 2,082,309     $ 1,382,229  
Backlog (1)   $ 9,028,843     $ 8,365,242  
Book-to-Bill (year to date)     1.4       1.2  

 

(1) Difference between our backlog of $9.0 billion and our remaining unsatisfied performance obligations, or RUPO, of $6.3 billion, each 
as of March 31, 2024, is due to (i) unissued task orders and unexercised option years, to the extent their issuance or exercise is 
probable, as well as (ii) contract awards, to the extent we believe contract execution and funding is probable. 

Awards 

Awards generally represent the amount of revenue expected to be earned in the future from funded and unfunded contract awards 
received during the period. Contract awards include both new and re-compete contracts and task orders. Given that new contract awards 
generate growth, we closely track our new awards each year. 

The following table summarizes the year to-date value of new awards for the periods presented below (in thousands): 
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Federal Solutions   $ 1,282,640     $ 695,644  
Critical Infrastructure     799,669       686,585  
Total Awards   $ 2,082,309     $ 1,382,229  

 
The change in new awards from year to year is primarily due to ordinary course fluctuations in our business. The volume of contract 

awards can fluctuate in any given period due to win rate and the timing and size of the awards issued by our customers. The increase in 
awards for the three months ended March 31, 2024 when compared to the corresponding period last year was primarily driven by significant 
option period awards from a customer in our Federal Solutions segment.

Backlog 

We define backlog to include the following two components: 

• Funded—Funded backlog represents future revenue anticipated from orders for services under existing contracts for which 
funding is appropriated or otherwise authorized. 

• Unfunded—Unfunded backlog represents future revenue anticipated from orders for services under existing contracts for which 
funding has not been appropriated or otherwise authorized. 

Backlog includes (i) unissued task orders and unexercised option years, to the extent their issuance or exercise is probable, as well 
as (ii) contract awards, to the extent we believe contract execution and funding is probable. 
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The following table summarizes the value of our backlog at the respective dates presented below (in thousands): 
 

    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Federal Solutions:            

Funded   $ 1,804,251     $ 1,694,740  
Unfunded     3,450,328       3,175,568  

Total Federal Solutions     5,254,579       4,870,308  
Critical Infrastructure:            

Funded     3,706,435       3,445,068  
Unfunded     67,829       49,866  

Total Critical Infrastructure     3,774,264       3,494,934  
Total Backlog (1)   $ 9,028,843     $ 8,365,242  

 

(1) Difference between our backlog of $9.0 billion and our RUPO of $6.3 billion, each as of March 31, 2024, is due to (i) unissued 
task orders and unexercised option years, to the extent their issuance or exercise is probable, as well as (ii) contract awards, to 
the extent we believe contract execution and funding is probable.

Our backlog includes orders under contracts that in some cases extend for several years. For example, the U.S. Congress generally 
appropriates funds for our U.S. federal government customers on a yearly basis, even though their contracts with us may call for 
performance that is expected to take a number of years to complete. As a result, our federal contracts typically are only partially funded at 
any point during their term. All or some of the work to be performed under the contracts may remain unfunded unless and until the U.S. 
Congress makes subsequent appropriations and the procuring agency allocates funding to the contract. 

We expect to recognize $3.8 billion of our funded backlog at March 31, 2024 as revenues in the following twelve months. However, 
our U.S. federal government customers may cancel their contracts with us at any time through a termination for convenience or may elect to 
not exercise option periods under such contracts. In the case of a termination for convenience, we would not receive anticipated future 
revenues, but would generally be permitted to recover all or a portion of our incurred costs and fees for work performed. See “Risk Factors—
Risk Relating to Our Business—We may not realize the full value of our backlog, which may result in lower than expected revenue” in the 
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

The changes in backlog in both the Federal Solutions and Critical Infrastructure segments were primarily from ordinary course 
fluctuations in our business and the impacts related to the Company’s awards discussed above. 

Book-to-Bill 

Book-to-bill is the ratio of total awards to total revenue recorded in the same period. Our management believes our book-to-bill ratio 
is a useful indicator of our potential future revenue growth in that it measures the rate at which we are generating new awards compared to 
the Company’s current revenue. To drive future revenue growth, our goal is for the level of awards in a given period to exceed the revenue 
booked. A book-to-bill ratio greater than 1.0 indicates that awards generated in a given period exceeded the revenue recognized in the same 
period, while a book-to-bill ratio of less than 1.0 indicates that awards generated in such period were less than the revenue recognized in 
such period. The following table sets forth the book-to-bill ratio for the periods presented below: 
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Federal Solutions     1.4       1.1  
Critical Infrastructure     1.3       1.3  
Overall     1.4       1.2  

 
Factors and Trends Affecting Our Results of Operations 

We believe that the financial performance of our business and our future success are dependent upon many factors, including those 
highlighted in this section. Our operating performance will depend upon many variables, including the success of our growth strategies and 
the timing and size of investments and expenditures that we choose to undertake, as well as market growth and other factors that are not 
within our control. 

31



 

Government Spending 

Changes in the relative mix of government spending and areas of spending growth, with shifts in priorities on homeland security, 
intelligence, defense-related programs, infrastructure and urbanization, and continued increased spending on technology and innovation, 
including cybersecurity, artificial intelligence, connected communities and physical infrastructure, could impact our business and results of 
operations. Cost-cutting and efficiency initiatives, current and future budget restrictions, spending cuts and other efforts to reduce 
government spending could cause our government customers to reduce or delay funding or invest appropriated funds on a less consistent 
basis or not at all, and demand for our solutions or services could diminish. Furthermore, any disruption in the functioning of government 
agencies, including as a result of government closures and shutdowns, could have a negative impact on our operations and cause us to lose 
revenue or incur additional costs due to, among other things, our inability to deploy our staff to customer locations or facilities as a result of 
such disruptions. 

Federal Budget Uncertainty 

There is uncertainty around the timing, extent, nature and effect of Congressional and other U.S. government actions to address 
budgetary constraints, caps on the discretionary budget for defense and non-defense departments and agencies, and the ability of Congress 
to determine how to allocate the available budget authority and pass appropriations bills to fund both U.S. government departments and 
agencies that are, and those that are not, subject to the caps. Additionally, budget deficits and the growing U.S. national debt increase 
pressure on the U.S. government to reduce federal spending across all federal agencies, with uncertainty about the size and timing of those 
reductions. Furthermore, delays in the completion of future U.S. government budgets could in the future delay procurement of the federal 
government services we provide. A reduction in the amount of, or delays, or cancellations of funding for, services that we are contracted to 
provide to the U.S. government as a result of any of these impacts or related initiatives, legislation or otherwise could have a material 
adverse effect on our business and results of operations. 

Regulations 

Increased audit, review, investigation and general scrutiny by government agencies of performance under government contracts and 
compliance with the terms of those contracts and applicable laws could affect our operating results. Negative publicity and increased scrutiny 
of government contractors in general, including us, relating to government expenditures for contractor services and incidents involving the 
mishandling of sensitive or classified information, as well as the increasingly complex requirements of the U.S. Department of Defense and 
the U.S. Intelligence Community, including those related to cybersecurity, could impact our ability to perform in the markets we serve. 

Competitive Markets 

The industries we operate in consist of a large number of enterprises ranging from small, niche-oriented companies to multi-billion-
dollar corporations that serve many government and commercial customers. We compete on the basis of our technical expertise, 
technological innovation, our ability to deliver cost-effective multi-faceted services in a timely manner, our reputation and relationships with 
our customers, qualified and/or security-clearance personnel, and pricing. We believe that we are uniquely positioned to take advantage of 
the markets in which we operate because of our proven track record, long-term customer relationships, technology innovation, scalable and 
agile business offerings and world class talent. Our ability to effectively deliver on project engagements and successfully assist our 
customers affects our ability to win new contracts and drives our financial performance. 

Acquired Operations 

I.S. Engineers, LLC

On October 31, 2023, the Company entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement to acquire a 100% ownership interest 
in I.S. Engineers, LLC, a privately-owned company, for $12.2 million, subject to certain adjustments. Headquartered in Texas, I.S. Engineers, 
LLC provides full-service consulting specializing in transportation engineering, including roads and highways, and program management. The
financial results of I.S. Engineers have been included in our consolidated results of operations from October 31, 2023 onward. 

Sealing Technologies, Inc.
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On August 23, 2023, the Company acquired a 100% ownership interest in Sealing Technologies, Inc (“SealingTech”), a privately-
owned company, for $179.3 million and up to an additional $25 million in the event an earn out revenue target is exceeded. Headquartered in 
Maryland, SealingTech expands Parsons’ customer base across the Department of Defense and Intelligence Community, and further 
enhances the company’s capabilities in defensive cyber operations; integrated mission-solutions powered by artificial intelligence (AI) and 
machine learning (ML); edge computing and edge access modernization; critical infrastructure protection; and secure data management. The 
financial results of SealingTech have been included in our consolidated results of operations from August 23, 2023 onward. 

IPKeys Power Partners

On April 13, 2023, the Company entered into a merger agreement to acquire a 100% ownership interest in IPKeys Power Partners 
(“IPKeys”), a privately-owned company, for $43.0 million. The merger brings IPKeys' established customer base, expanding Parsons' 
presence in two rapidly growing end markets: grid modernization and cyber resiliency for critical infrastructure. Headquartered in Tinton Falls, 
New Jersey, IPKeys is a trusted provider of enterprise software platform solutions that is actively delivering cyber and operational security to 
hundreds of electric, water, and gas utilities across North America. The financial results of IPKeys have been included in our consolidated 
results of operations from April 13, 2023 onward.

Seasonality 

Our results may be affected by variances as a result of weather conditions and contract award seasonality impacts that we 
experience across our businesses. The latter issue is typically driven by the U.S. federal government fiscal year-end, September 30. While 
not certain, it is not uncommon for U.S. government agencies to award task orders or complete other contract actions in the weeks before the 
end of the U.S. federal government fiscal year in order to avoid the loss of unexpended U.S. federal government fiscal year funds. In 
addition, we have also historically experienced higher bid and proposal costs in the months leading up to the U.S. federal government fiscal 
year-end as we pursue new contract opportunities expected to be awarded early in the following U.S. federal government fiscal year as a 
result of funding appropriated for that U.S. federal government fiscal year. Furthermore, many U.S. state governments with fiscal years 
ending on June 30 tend to accelerate spending during their first quarter, when new funding becomes available. We may continue to 
experience this seasonality in future periods, and our results of operations may be affected by it. 

Results of Operations 

Revenue 

Our revenue consists of both services provided by our employees and pass-through fees from subcontractors and other direct costs. 
Our Federal Solutions segment derives revenue primarily from the U.S. federal government and our Critical Infrastructure segment derives 
revenue primarily from government and commercial customers. 

We enter into the following types of contracts with our customers:

• Under cost-plus contracts, we are reimbursed for allowable or otherwise defined costs incurred, plus a fee. The contracts 
may also include incentives for various performance criteria, including quality, timeliness, safety and cost-effectiveness. In 
addition, costs are generally subject to review by clients and regulatory audit agencies, and such reviews could result in 
costs being disputed as non-reimbursable under the terms of the contract.

• Under time-and-materials contracts, hourly billing rates are negotiated and charged to clients based on the actual time 
spent on a project. In addition, clients reimburse actual out-of-pocket costs for other direct costs and expenses that are 
incurred in connection with the performance under the contract.

• Under fixed-price contracts, clients pay an agreed fixed-amount negotiated in advance for a specified scope of work.

Refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and 
Estimates” and “Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in the 
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 for a description of our policies on revenue recognition. 
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The table below presents the percentage of total revenue for each type of contract. 
 

    Three Months Ended
    March 31, 2024   March 31, 2023
Fixed-price   41.1%   29.1%
Time-and-materials   22.8%   27.1%
Cost-plus   36.1%   43.8%

 
The amount of risk and potential reward varies under each type of contract. Under cost-plus contracts, there is limited financial risk, 

because we are reimbursed for all allowable costs up to a ceiling. However, profit margins on this type of contract tend to be lower than on 
time-and-materials and fixed-price contracts. Under time-and-materials contracts, we are reimbursed for the hours worked using the 
predetermined hourly rates for each labor category. In addition, we are typically reimbursed for other direct contract costs and expenses at 
cost. We assume financial risk on time-and-materials contracts because our labor costs may exceed the negotiated billing rates. Profit 
margins on well-managed time-and-materials contracts tend to be higher than profit margins on cost-plus contracts as long as we are able to 
staff those contracts with people who have an appropriate skill set. Under fixed-price contracts, we are required to deliver the objectives 
under the contract for a pre-determined price. Compared to time-and-materials and cost-plus contracts, fixed-price contracts generally offer 
higher profit margin opportunities because we receive the full benefit of any cost savings, but they also generally involve greater financial risk 
because we bear the risk of any cost overruns. In the aggregate, the contract type mix in our revenue for any given period will affect that 
period’s profitability. Over time, we have generally experienced a relatively stable contract mix.

The significant change in the contract mix for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the corresponding period last 
year relates to increased business volume from a significant fixed price contract in our Federal Solutions segment.

Our recognition of profit on long-term contracts requires the use of assumptions related to transaction price and total cost of 
completion. Estimates are continually evaluated as work progresses and are revised when necessary. When a change in estimated cost or 
transaction price is determined to have an impact on contract profit, we record a positive or negative adjustment to revenue.

 

Joint Ventures 

We conduct a portion of our business through joint ventures or similar partnership arrangements. For the joint ventures we control, 
we consolidate all the revenues and expenses in our consolidated statements of income (including revenues and expenses attributable to 
noncontrolling interests). For the joint ventures we do not control, we recognize equity in (losses) earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures. 
Our revenues included amounts related to services we provided to our unconsolidated joint ventures for the three months ended March 31, 
2024 and March 31, 2023 of $46.8 million and $50.9 million, respectively. 

Operating costs and expenses 

Operating costs and expenses primarily include direct costs of contracts and selling, general and administrative expenses. Costs 
associated with compensation-related expenses for our people and facilities, which includes ESOP contribution expenses, are the most 
significant component of our operating expenses. Total ESOP contribution expense for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 
31, 2023 was $15.0 million and $14.4 million, respectively, and is recorded in “Direct cost of contracts” and “Selling, general and 
administrative expenses.”

Direct costs of contracts consist of direct labor and associated fringe benefits, indirect overhead, subcontractor and materials (“pass-
through costs”), travel expenses and other expenses incurred to perform on contracts. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) include salaries and wages and fringe benefits of our employees not 
performing work directly for customers, facility costs and other costs related to these indirect functions. 

Other income and expenses 

Other income and expenses primarily consist of interest income, interest expense and other income, net. 

Interest income primarily consists of interest earned on U.S. government money market funds. 
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Interest expense consists of interest expense incurred under our Senior Notes, Convertible Senior Notes, and Credit Agreement. 

Other income, net primarily consists of gain or loss on sale of assets, sublease income and transaction gain or loss related to 
movements in foreign currency exchange rates. 

Adjusted EBITDA 

The following table sets forth Adjusted EBITDA, Net Income Margin, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin for the three months ended March 
31, 2024 and March 31, 2023. 
 

    Three Months Ended  
(U.S. dollars in thousands)   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Adjusted EBITDA (1)   $ 141,093     $ 90,391  
Net Income Margin (2)     -6.0 %    3.0 %
Adjusted EBITDA Margin (3)     9.2 %    7.7 %

 

(1) A reconciliation of net income attributable to Parsons Corporation to Adjusted EBITDA is set forth below (in thousands). 
(2) Net Income Margin is calculated as net income (loss) including noncontrolling interest divided by revenue in the applicable 

period

(3) Adjusted EBITDA Margin is calculated as Adjusted EBITDA divided by revenue in the applicable period.
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Net (loss) income attributable to Parsons Corporation   $ (107,355 )   $ 25,553  

Interest expense, net     11,846       5,665  
Income tax benefit (expense)     (32,234 )     11,503  
Depreciation and amortization     24,531       28,359  
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests     15,243       9,723  
Equity-based compensation     12,656       6,703  
Loss on extinguishment of debt     211,018       -  
Transaction-related costs (a)     2,886       1,618  
Restructuring (b)     -       546  
Other (c)     2,502       721  
Adjusted EBITDA   $ 141,093     $ 90,391  

 

(a) Reflects costs incurred in connection with acquisitions and other non-recurring transaction costs, primarily fees paid for professional 
services and employee retention.

(b) Reflects costs associated with our corporate restructuring initiatives.
(c) Includes a combination of gain/loss related to sale of fixed assets, software implementation costs, and other individually insignificant 

items that are non-recurring in nature.

Adjusted EBITDA is a supplemental measure of our operating performance used by management and our board of directors to 
assess our financial performance both on a segment and on a consolidated basis. We discuss Adjusted EBITDA because our management 
uses this measure for business planning purposes, including to manage the business against internal projected results of operations and 
measure the performance of the business generally. Adjusted EBITDA is frequently used by analysts, investors and other interested parties 
to evaluate companies in our industry. 

Adjusted EBITDA is not a GAAP measure of our financial performance or liquidity and should not be considered as an alternative to 
net income as a measure of financial performance or cash flows from operations as measures of liquidity, or any other performance measure 
derived in accordance with GAAP. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) attributable to Parsons Corporation, adjusted to include 
net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests and to exclude interest expense (net of interest income), provision for income taxes, 
depreciation and amortization and certain other items that we do not consider in our evaluation of ongoing operating performance. These 
other items include, among other things, impairment of goodwill, intangible and other assets, interest and other expenses recognized on 
litigation matters, expenses incurred in connection with acquisitions and other non-recurring transaction costs and expenses related to our 
corporate restructuring initiatives. Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that 
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our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. Additionally, Adjusted EBITDA is not intended to be a measure of free 
cash flow for management’s discretionary use, as it does not reflect tax payments, debt service requirements, capital expenditures and 
certain other cash costs that may recur in the future, including, among other things, cash requirements for working capital needs and cash 
costs to replace assets being depreciated and amortized. Management compensates for these limitations by relying on our GAAP results in 
addition to using Adjusted EBITDA supplementally. Our measure of Adjusted EBITDA is not necessarily comparable to similarly titled 
captions of other companies due to different methods of calculation. 

The following table shows Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation for each of our reportable segments and Adjusted 
EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interests (in thousands): 
 
    Three Months Ended     Variance  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023     Dollar     Percent  
Federal Solutions Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons 
Corporation   $ 92,541     $ 56,148     $ 36,393       64.8 %
Critical Infrastructure Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons 
Corporation     32,963       24,357       8,606       35.3 %
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interests     15,589       9,886       5,703       57.7 %
Total Adjusted EBITDA   $ 141,093     $ 90,391     $ 50,702       56.1 %
 

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 as a 
percentage of revenue. 
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Revenues     100 %    100 %
Direct costs of contracts     78.8 %    78.2 %
Equity in losses of unconsolidated joint ventures     -0.1 %    -0.5 %
Selling, general and administrative expenses     14.4 %    17.0 %

Operating income     6.6 %    4.4 %
Interest income     0.1 %    0.1 %
Interest expense     -0.8 %    -0.6 %
Loss on extinguishment of debt     -13.7 %    0.0 %
Other income, net     -0.2 %    0.1 %

Total other income (expense)     -14.7 %    -0.4 %
Income before income tax expense     -8.1 %    4.0 %

Income tax benefit (expense)     2.1 %    -1.0 %
Net (loss) income including noncontrolling interests     -6.0 %    3.0 %

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests     -1.0 %    -0.8 %
Net (loss) income attributable to Parsons Corporation     -7.0 %    2.2 %

 
Revenue 

 
    Three Months Ended     Variance  

(U.S. dollars in thousands)   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023     Dollar     Percent  
Revenue   $ 1,535,676     $ 1,173,466     $ 362,210       30.9 %

 
Revenue increased $362.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 when compared to the corresponding period last year, 

due to increases in revenue in both our Federal Solutions and Critical Infrastructure segments of $275.1 million and $87.1 million, 
respectively. See “Segment Results” below for a further discussion of the changes in the Company's revenue.

36



 

Direct costs of contracts 

 
    Three Months Ended     Variance  

(U.S. dollars in thousands)   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023     Dollar     Percent  
Direct costs of contracts   $ 1,210,827     $ 917,188     $ 293,639       32.0 %

 

Direct cost of contracts increased $293.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 when compared to the corresponding 
period last year, primarily due to an increase of $227.7 million in our Federal Solutions segment and $66.0 million in our Critical Infrastructure 
segment. The increase in direct costs of contracts is primarily related to increased business volume from a significant contract in the Federal 
Solutions segment. Changes in direct cost of contracts in the Critical Infrastructure segment are primarily related to increased volume from 
new and existing contracts.

Equity in (losses) earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures 

 
    Three Months Ended     Variance  

(U.S. dollars in thousands)   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023     Dollar     Percent  
Equity in losses of unconsolidated joint ventures   $ (2,060 )   $ (5,840 )   $ 3,780       64.7 %

 
Equity in (losses) earnings of unconsolidated joint ventures improved $3.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 

compared to the corresponding period last year. Impacting equity in losses of unconsolidated joint ventures was a write-down of $8.4 million 
related to Parsons' participation in a design build joint venture. This write-down was offset by improved results in certain other joint ventures 
compared to the corresponding period last year.

Selling, general and administrative expenses 

 
    Three Months Ended     Variance  

(U.S. dollars in thousands)   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023     Dollar     Percent  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   $ 220,945     $ 199,308     $ 21,637       10.9 %

The increase in SG&A of $21.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 when compared to the corresponding period last 
year was primarily due to $10.2 million increase related to employee incentive programs, a $9.0 million increase in other SG&A costs, and 
$5.2 million from business acquisitions. These increases were offset in part by a $4.3 million decrease in intangible asset amortization. As a 
percentage of revenue, our SG&A decreased by 2.6% to 14.4% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to 17.0% for the 
corresponding period last year. 

Total other income (expense) 

 
    Three Months Ended     Variance  

(U.S. dollars in thousands)   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023     Dollar     Percent  
Interest income   $ 1,152     $ 793     $ 359       45.3 %
Interest expense     (12,998 )     (6,458 )     (6,540 )     101.3 %
Loss on extinguishment of debt     (211,018 )     -       (211,018 )     -  
Other income (expense), net     (3,326 )     1,314       (4,640 )     -353.1 %
Total other income (expense)   $ (226,190 )   $ (4,351 )   $ (221,839 )     -  

During the three months ended March 31, 2024, we paid $495.6 million in cash to repurchase $284.6 million aggregate principal 
amount of our Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 (the "Repurchase Transaction") concurrently with the offering of 2.625% Convertible 
Senior Notes due 2029. As a result of the Repurchase Transaction, we incurred a $211.0 million loss on debt extinguishment. The 
Repurchase Transaction is a partial repurchase of our Convertible Senior Notes due 2025. See “Note 10 – Debt and Credit Facilities,” for a 
further discussion of this transaction.

Interest income is related to interest earned on investments in government money funds. 
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Interest expense is primarily due to debt related to our Delayed Draw Term Loan and Convertible Senior Notes. The increase in 
interest expense during the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the corresponding period last year is primarily related to an 
increase in debt balances, increase in interest rates, the issuance of Convertible Senior Notes due 2029, and a $3.2 million charge for the 
acceleration of the amortization of debt issuance costs associated with the partial repurchase of the 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 
2025 discussed above.

The amounts in other income (expense), net are primarily related to transaction gains and losses on foreign currency transactions, 
sublease income and changes in the estimated fair value of contingent consideration.

Income tax (benefit) expense

 
    Three Months Ended     Variance  

(U.S. dollars in thousands)   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023     Dollar     Percent  
Income tax (benefit) expense   $ (32,234 )   $ 11,503     $ (43,737 )     -380.2 %

The Company’s effective tax rate was 25.9% and 24.6% and income tax benefit was $32.2 million and income tax expense was 
$11.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively. The most significant items contributing to the 
increase in the effective tax rate relates to a change in jurisdictional mix of earnings, the foreign-derived intangible income (FDII) deduction, 
and equity-based compensation, partially offset by executive compensation subject to Section 162(m). The difference between the statutory 
U.S. federal income tax rate of 21.0% and the effective tax rate for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 primarily relates to a change in 
jurisdictional mix of earnings partially resulting from a loss in partially unwinding Convertible Senior Notes, the FDII deduction, equity based 
compensation, and untaxed income attributable to noncontrolling interests, partially offset by rate impacts related to state income taxes and 
foreign withholding taxes.

Segment Results 

We evaluate segment operating performance using segment revenue and segment Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons 
Corporation. Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation is Adjusted EBITDA excluding Adjusted EBITDA attributable to 
noncontrolling interests. Presented above, in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, 
is a discussion of our definition of Adjusted EBITDA, how we use this metric, why we present this metric and the material limitations on the 
usefulness of this metric. See “Note 18—Segments Information” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-Q for 
further discussion regarding our segment Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation. 

The following table shows Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation for each of our reportable segments and Adjusted 
EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interests: 
 

    Three Months Ended  
(U.S. dollars in thousands)   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Federal Solutions Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation   $ 92,541     $ 56,148  
Critical Infrastructure Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation     32,963       24,357  
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interests     15,589       9,886  

Total Adjusted EBITDA   $ 141,093     $ 90,391  

Federal Solutions 
    Three Months Ended     Variance  

(U.S. dollars in thousands)   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023     Dollar     Percent  
Revenue   $ 909,608     $ 634,546     $ 275,062       43.3 %
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation   $ 92,541     $ 56,148     $ 36,393       64.8 %

The increase in Federal Solutions revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the corresponding period last 
year was primarily related to organic growth of 41% and $16.9 million from business acquisitions. Organic growth was due to the ramp up of 
new awards on a significant contract along with the ramp up of 
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other new awards. Partially offsetting these increases is the timing of task order awards for additional follow-on phases of work on certain 
existing contracts.

The increase in Federal Solutions Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation for the three months ended March 31, 2024 
compared to the corresponding period last year was primarily due to organic growth described above.

Critical Infrastructure 
    Three Months Ended     Variance  

(U.S. dollars in thousands)   March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023     Dollar     Percent  
Revenue   $ 626,068     $ 538,920     $ 87,148       16.2 %
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation   $ 32,963     $ 24,357     $ 8,606       35.3 %

 
The increase in Critical Infrastructure revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the corresponding periods 

last year was primarily related to organic growth of 15% and $6.2 million from business acquisitions. Organic growth was primarily due to an 
increase in business volume from existing contracts and ramping up of recent awards.

The increase in Critical Infrastructure Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Parsons Corporation for the three months ended March 31, 
2024 compared to the corresponding period last year was primarily due to the revenue impacts discussed above and improvement in equity 
in losses from unconsolidated joint ventures.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We currently finance our operations and capital expenditures through a combination of internally generated cash from operations, our 
Convertible Senior Notes, Delayed Draw Term Loan and periodic borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. 

Generally, cash provided by operating activities has been adequate to fund our operations. Due to fluctuations in our cash flows and 
growth in our operations, it may be necessary from time to time in the future to borrow under our Credit Agreement to meet cash demands. 
Our management regularly monitors certain liquidity measures to monitor performance. We calculate our available liquidity as a sum of cash 
and cash equivalents from our consolidated balance sheet plus the amount available and unutilized on our Credit Agreement.

As of March 31, 2024, we believe we have adequate liquidity and capital resources to fund our operations, support our debt service 
and our ongoing acquisition strategy for at least the next twelve months based on the liquidity from cash provided by our operating activities, 
cash and cash equivalents on-hand and our borrowing capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility. Management continually monitors debt 
maturities to strategically execute optimal terms and ensure appropriate levels of working capital liquidity are maintained for the company.

Cash Flows 

Cash received from customers, either from the payment of invoices for work performed or for advances in excess of revenue 
recognized, is our primary source of cash. We generally do not begin work on contracts until funding is appropriated by the customers. Billing 
timetables and payment terms on our contracts vary based on a number of factors, including whether the contract type is cost-plus, time-and-
materials, or fixed-price. We generally bill and collect cash more frequently under cost-plus and time-and-materials contracts, as we are 
authorized to bill as the costs are incurred or work is performed. In contrast, we may be limited to bill certain fixed-price contracts only when 
specified milestones, including deliveries, are achieved. A number of our contracts may provide for performance-based payments, which 
allow us to bill and collect cash prior to completing the work. 

Billed accounts receivable represents amounts billed to clients that have not been collected. Unbilled accounts receivable represents 
amounts where the Company has a present contractual right to bill but an invoice has not been issued to the customer at the period-end 
date.

Accounts receivable is the principal component of our working capital and includes billed and unbilled amounts. The total amount of 
our accounts receivable can vary significantly over time but is generally sensitive to revenue levels. We experience delays in collections from 
time to time from Middle East customers. Net days sales outstanding, which we refer to as Net DSO, is calculated by dividing (i) (accounts 
receivable plus contract assets) less (contract liabilities plus 
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accounts payable) by (ii) average revenue per day (calculated by dividing trailing twelve months revenue by the number of days in that 
period). We focus on collecting outstanding receivables to reduce Net DSO and working capital. Net DSO was 63 days at March 31, 2024 
down from 69 days at March 31, 2023. Our working capital (current assets less current liabilities) was $1.1 billion at March 31, 2024 and 
$726.6 million at December 31, 2023. 

Our cash and cash equivalents increased by $150.2 million to $423.1 million at March 31, 2024 from $272.9 million at December 31, 
2023. 

The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash over the periods presented (in thousands): 
 

    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2024     March 31, 2023  
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (63,420 )   $ (8,990 )
Net cash used in investing activities     (45,510 )     (20,762 )
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     259,509       (12,502 )
Effect of exchange rate changes     (402 )     154  
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   $ 150,177     $ (42,100 )

 
Operating Activities 

Net cash used in operating activities consists primarily of net income adjusted for noncash items, such as: equity in losses (earnings) 
of unconsolidated joint ventures, contributions of treasury stock, depreciation and amortization of property and equipment and intangible 
assets, and provisions for doubtful accounts. The timing between the conversion of our billed and unbilled receivables into cash from our 
customers and disbursements to our employees and vendors is the primary driver of changes in our working capital. Our operating cash 
flows are primarily affected by our ability to invoice and collect from our clients in a timely manner, our ability to manage our vendor payments 
and the overall profitability of our contracts. 

Net cash used in operating activities increased $54.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the three 
months ended March 31, 2023. The primary driver of the increase in cash flows used in operating activities was an $152.6 million increase in 
cash outflows from our working capital accounts (primarily from accounts receivable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities, contract 
liabilities, and income taxes partially offset by contract assets and accounts payable) this increase in cash flows used in operating activities 
was offset, in part by $102.1 million in net income after adjusting for non-cash items and debt extinguishment.

Investing Activities 

Net cash used in investing activities consists primarily of cash flows associated with capital expenditures, joint ventures and business 
acquisitions. 

Net cash used in investing activities increased $24.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024, when compared to the three 
months ended March 31, 2023. This change was primarily driven by a $23.1 million increase in investments in unconsolidated joint ventures. 

 Financing Activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities is primarily associated with proceeds from debt, the repayment thereof, and distributions to 
noncontrolling interests. 

Net cash used in financing activities increased $272.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the three 
months ended March 31, 2023. The change in cash flows from financing activities is primarily driven by net cash inflows from our convertible 
bond transactions which generated $287.7 million in cash. See “Note 10 – Debt and Credit Facilities,” for a further discussion of these 
transactions.

Letters of Credit 

We have in place several secondary bank credit lines for issuing letters of credit, principally for foreign contracts, to support 
performance and completion guarantees. Letters of credit commitments outstanding under these bank lines aggregated to $281.1 million as 
of March 31, 2024. Letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Agreement total $42.1 million as of March 31, 2024. 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

See the information set forth in “Note 3—New Accounting Pronouncements” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements 
included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of March 31, 2024, we have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or 
future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenue or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital 
expenditures or capital resources. 

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Interest Rate Risk 

We are exposed to interest rate risks related to the Company’s Revolving Credit Facility and Delayed Draw
Term Loan.

As of March 31, 2024, there were no amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility. Borrowings under the new Credit 
Facility effective June 2021 bear interest at either the Term SOFR rate plus a margin between 1.0% and 1.625%, or a base rate (as defined 
in the Credit Agreement) plus a margin of between 0% and 0.625%, both based on the leverage ratio of the Company at the end of each 
quarter. The rates on March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were 6.6% and 6.7%, respectively.

 As of March 31, 2024, there was $350.0 million outstanding under the Delayed Draw Term Loan.
Borrowings under the 2022 Delayed Draw Term Loan Agreement will bear interest at either an adjusted Term
SOFR benchmark rate plus a margin between 0.875% and 1.500% or a base rate plus a margin of between 0%
and 0.500% and will initially bear interest at the middle of this range. The Company will pay a ticking fee on
unused term loan commitments at a rate of 0.175% commencing with the date that is ninety (90) days after the
Closing Date. The interest rate at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were 6.4% and 6.6%, respectively.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk 

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk resulting from our operations outside of the U.S. We limit exposure to foreign 
currency fluctuations in most of our contracts through provisions that require client payments in currencies corresponding to the currency in 
which costs are incurred. As a result of this natural hedge, we generally do not need to hedge foreign currency cash flows for contract work 
performed. 

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Control and Procedures
Our management carried out, as of March 31, 2024, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial 

Officer, an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer concluded that, as of March 31, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable 
assurance that material information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms and that information required to be disclosed by us in 
the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
During the first quarter of 2024, there were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or 

are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
The information required by this Item 1 is included in “Note 12 – Contingencies” included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial 

Statements appearing under Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-Q which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
There have been no material changes to our Risk Factors disclosed in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 

2023.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

On August 9, 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the Company to acquire a number of shares of Common Stock 
having an aggregate market value of not greater than $100 million from time to time, commencing on August 12, 2021. The Board further 
amended this authorization in August 2022 to remove the prior expiration date and grant executive leadership the discretion to determine the 
price for such share repurchases. The Board further amended this authorization in February 2024 to restore the repurchase capacity to $100 
million and removed the $25 million quarterly cap on such repurchases. 

At the time of the February 2024 authorization, the Company had repurchased shares with an aggregated market value (including 
fees) of $54.7 million. As of March 31, 2024, the Company has $100 million remaining under the stock repurchase program. The aggregate 
market value of shares of Common Stock the Company is authorized to acquire is now not greater than $154.7 million.

Repurchased shares of common stock are retired and included in “Repurchases of common stock” in cash flows from financing 
activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The primary purpose of the Company’s share repurchase program is to reduce the 
dilutive effect of shares issued under the Company’s ESOP and other stock benefit plans. The timing, amount and manner of share 
repurchases may depend upon market conditions and economic circumstances, availability of investment opportunities, the availability and 
costs of financing, the market price of the Company's common stock, other uses of capital and other factors.

As of March 31, 2024, the Company has spent $54.7 million (which includes commissions paid of $29 thousand)
repurchasing 1,426,476 shares of Common Stock (all of which have been retired) at an average price of $38.35 per share.

There were no share repurchases during the three months ended March 31, 2024.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not Applicable

Item 5. Other Information.
Insider Trading Relationships and Policies
In conformance with updated SEC regulations, the Company has adopted amended insider trading policies and procedures 

governing the purchase, sale and/or other dispositions of the Company's securities by directors, officers and employees, or the Company 
itself, that are reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and New York Stock Exchange 
standards.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
 

Exhibit
Number  Description

     

4.1*   Indenture, dated as of February 26, 2024, between Parsons Corporation and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association.
     

4.2*   Form of 2.625% Convertible Senior Note due 2029 (included in Exhibit 4.1).
     

10.1*   Form of Confirmations of Base and Additional Call Option Transactions, between Parsons Corporation and the Option 
Counterparties.

     

31.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     

31.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     

32.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     

32.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

     

101  The following financial statements from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2024, 
formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Earnings, (iii) Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements 
of Cash Flows and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text and including detailed tags.

     

104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained in Exhibits 
101).

 

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
 Parsons Corporation
   
Date: May 1, 2024 By: /s/ Matthew M. Ofilos
  Matthew M. Ofilos
  Chief Financial Officer
    (Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 4.1

INDENTURE dated as of February 26, 2024 between PARSONS CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation, as issuer 
(the “Company,” as more fully set forth in Section 1.01) and U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a 
national banking association, as trustee (the “Trustee,” as more fully set forth in Section 1.01).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, for its lawful corporate purposes, the Company has duly authorized the issuance of its 2.625% Convertible 
Senior Notes due 2029 (the “Notes”), initially in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $800,000,000, and in order to 
provide the terms and conditions upon which the Notes are to be authenticated, issued and delivered, the Company has duly 
authorized the execution and delivery of this Indenture; and

WHEREAS, the Form of Note, the certificate of authentication to be borne by each Note, the Form of Notice of 
Conversion, the Form of Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice and the Form of Assignment and Transfer to be borne by the 
Notes are to be substantially in the forms hereinafter provided; and

WHEREAS, all acts and things necessary to make the Notes, when executed by the Company and authenticated and 
delivered by the Trustee or a duly authorized authenticating agent, as in this Indenture provided, the valid, binding and legal 
obligations of the Company, and this Indenture a valid agreement according to its terms, have been done and performed, and the 
execution of this Indenture and the issuance hereunder of the Notes have in all respects been duly authorized.

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH:

That in order to declare the terms and conditions upon which the Notes are, and are to be, authenticated, issued and 
delivered, and in consideration of the premises and of the purchase and acceptance of the Notes by the Holders thereof, the 
Company covenants and agrees with the Trustee for the equal and proportionate benefit of the respective Holders from time to 
time of the Notes (except as otherwise provided below), as follows:

ARTICLE 1
Definitions

Section 1.01.  Definitions.  The terms defined in this Section 1.01 (except as herein otherwise expressly provided or 
unless the context otherwise requires) for all purposes of this Indenture and of any indenture supplemental hereto shall have the 
respective meanings specified in this Section 1.01.  The words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and words of similar import refer 
to this Indenture as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other subdivision.  The terms defined in this Article 
include the plural as well as the singular.

“1% Exception” means the provisions set forth in Section 14.04(k).
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 “Additional Interest” means all amounts, if any, payable pursuant to Section 4.06(d), Section 4.06(e) and Section 6.03, 
as applicable.

“Additional Shares” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.03(a).

“Affiliate” of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under 
direct or indirect common control with such specified Person.  For the purposes of this definition, “control,” when used with 
respect to any specified Person means the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, 
directly or indirectly, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; and the terms “controlling” 
and “controlled” have meanings correlative to the foregoing.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the determination 
of whether one Person is an “Affiliate” of another Person for purposes of this Indenture shall be made based on the facts at the 
time such determination is made or required to be made, as the case may be, hereunder.

“Agent” means any Bid Solicitation Agent, Custodian, Conversion Agent, Note Registrar, Paying Agent or co-Note 
registrar.

“Authorized Denomination” shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.03(a).

“Bid Solicitation Agent” means the Company or the Person appointed by the Company to solicit bids for the Trading 
Price of the Notes in accordance with Section 14.01(b)(i).  The Company shall initially act as the Bid Solicitation Agent.  The 
Company may, however, appoint another Person to act as Bid Solicitation Agent at any time without prior notice to Holders.  

“Board of Directors” means the board of directors of the Company or a committee of such board duly authorized to act 
for it hereunder.

“Board Resolution” means a copy of a resolution certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Company to 
have been duly adopted by the Board of Directors, and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification, and 
delivered to the Trustee.

“Business Combination Event” shall have the meaning specified in Section 11.01(a).

“Business Day” means, with respect to any Note, any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Federal 
Reserve Bank of New York is authorized or required by law or executive order to close or be closed.  

“Capital Stock” means, for any entity, any and all shares, interests, rights to purchase, warrants, options, participations 
or other equivalents of or interests in (however designated) stock issued by that entity; provided that debt securities that are 
convertible into or exchangeable for Capital Stock shall not constitute Capital Stock prior to their conversion or exchange, as the 
case may be.

“Cash Settlement” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.02(a).
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“Clause A Distribution” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.04(c).

“Clause B Distribution” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.04(c).

“Clause C Distribution” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.04(c).

“close of business” means 5:00 p.m. (New York City time).

“Combination Settlement” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.02(a).

“Commission” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Common Equity” of any Person means Capital Stock of such Person that is generally entitled (a) to vote on the 
election of directors of such Person or (b) if such Person is not a corporation, to vote or otherwise participate in the selection of 
the governing body, partners, managers or others that will control the management or policies of such Person.

“Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company, par value $1.00 per share, at the date of this Indenture, 
subject to Section 14.07.

“Company” shall have the meaning specified in the first paragraph of this Indenture, and subject to the provisions of 
Article 11, shall include its successors and assigns.

“Company Order” means a written order of the Company, signed by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Accounting Officer, Chief Financial Officer, President, Executive or Senior Vice President or any Vice President (whether or not 
designated by a number or numbers or word or words added before or after the title “Vice President”), Treasurer or Assistant 
Treasurer or Secretary or any Assistant Secretary, and delivered to the Trustee.

“Conversion Agent” shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.02.

“Conversion Date” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.02(c).

“Conversion Obligation” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.01(a).

“Conversion Price” means as of any time, $1,000, divided by the Conversion Rate as of such time.

“Conversion Rate” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.01(a).

“Corporate Event” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.01(b)(iii).

“Corporate Trust Office” means the principal office of the Trustee at which at any time this Indenture shall be 
administered, which office at the date hereof is located at 633 West Fifth Street, 24th Floor, Los Angeles, California 90071, 
Attention: Bradley E. Scarbrough (Parsons Corporation), or such other address as the Trustee may designate from time to time by 
notice to the Holders and the Company, or the principal corporate trust office of any successor trustee (or 
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such other address as such successor trustee may designate from time to time by notice to the Holders and the Company).

“Custodian” means the Trustee, as custodian for The Depository Trust Company, with respect to the Global Notes, or 
any successor entity thereto.

“Daily Conversion Value” means, for each of the 50 consecutive Trading Days during the Observation Period, one-
fiftieth (1/50th) of the product of (a) the Conversion Rate in effect immediately after the close business on such Trading Day and 
(b) the Daily VWAP for such Trading Day.

“Daily Measurement Value” means the Specified Dollar Amount (if any) (which Specified Dollar Amount shall be no 
less than $1,000 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes), divided by 50.

“Daily Settlement Amount,” for each of the 50 consecutive Trading Days during the Observation Period, shall consist 
of:

(a)	 cash in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the Daily Measurement Value and (ii) the Daily Conversion 
Value on such Trading Day; and

(b)	 if the Daily Conversion Value exceeds the Daily Measurement Value, a number of shares of Common 
Stock equal to (i) the difference between the Daily Conversion Value and the Daily Measurement Value, divided by (ii) 
the Daily VWAP for such Trading Day.

“Daily VWAP” means, for each of the 50 consecutive Trading Days during the relevant Observation Period, the per 
share volume-weighted average price as displayed under the heading “Bloomberg VWAP” on Bloomberg page “PSN <equity> 
AQR” (or its equivalent successor if such page is not available) in respect of the period from the scheduled open of trading until 
the scheduled close of trading of the primary trading session on such Trading Day (or if such volume-weighted average price is 
unavailable, the market value of one share of the Common Stock on such Trading Day determined, using a volume-weighted 
average method, by a nationally recognized independent investment banking firm retained for this purpose by the Company).  
The “Daily VWAP” shall be determined without regard to after-hours trading or any other trading outside of the regular trading 
session trading hours.

“De-Legending Deadline Date” means, with respect to any Note, the 15th day after the Free Trade Date of such Note; 
provided that if such 15th day is after a Regular Record Date and on or before the fifth Business Day immediately after the next 
Interest Payment Date, then the De-Legending Deadline Date for such Note will instead be the fifth Business Day immediately 
after such Interest Payment Date.

“Default” means any event that is, or after notice or passage of time, or both, would be, an Event of Default.
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“Default Settlement Method” will initially be Combination Settlement with a Specified Dollar Amount of $1,000 per 
$1,000 principal amount of Notes; provided, however, that the Company shall have the right to change, from time to time, the 
Default Settlement Method as provided in Section 14.02.

“Defaulted Amounts” means any amounts on any Note (including, without limitation, the Redemption Price, the 
Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, principal and interest) that are payable but are not punctually paid or duly provided for.

“Depositary” means, with respect to each Global Note, the Person specified in Section 2.05(c) as the Depositary with 
respect to such Notes, until a successor shall have been appointed and become such pursuant to the applicable provisions of this 
Indenture, and thereafter, “Depositary” means or include such successor.

“Distributed Property” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.04(c).

“Effective Date” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.03(c), except that, as used in Section 14.04 and Section 
14.05, “Effective Date” means the first date on which shares of the Common Stock trade on the applicable exchange or in the 
applicable market, regular way, reflecting the relevant share split or share combination, as applicable.

“Event of Default” shall have the meaning specified in Section 6.01.

“Ex-Dividend Date” means the first date on which shares of the Common Stock trade on the applicable exchange or in 
the applicable market, regular way, without the right to receive the issuance, dividend or distribution in question, from the 
Company or, if applicable, from the seller of Common Stock on such exchange or market (in the form of due bills or otherwise) 
as determined by such exchange or market.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated 
thereunder.

“Exchange in Lieu of Conversion” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.12(a).

“Exempted Fundamental Change” shall have the meaning specified in Section 15.02(g).

“Form of Assignment and Transfer” means the “Form of Assignment and Transfer” attached as Attachment 3 to the 
Form of Note attached hereto as Exhibit A.

“Form of Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice” means the “Form of Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice” 
attached as Attachment 2 to the Form of Note attached hereto as Exhibit A.

“Form of Note” means the “Form of Note” attached hereto as Exhibit A.
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“Form of Notice of Conversion” means the “Form of Notice of Conversion” attached as Attachment 1 to the Form of 
Note attached hereto as Exhibit A.

“Free Trade Date” means, with respect to any Note, the date that is one year after the Last Original Issue Date of such 
Note.

“Fundamental Change” shall be deemed to have occurred at the time after the Notes are originally issued if any of the 
following occurs:

(a)	 (A) a “person” or “group” within the meaning of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act, other than the 
Company, its Wholly Owned Subsidiaries and the employee benefit plans of the Company and its Wholly Owned 
Subsidiaries, files a Schedule TO or any schedule, form or report under the Exchange Act disclosing that such person or 
group has become the direct or indirect “beneficial owner,” as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, of the 
Common Stock representing more than 50% of the voting power of the Common Stock; or (B) any employee benefit 
plans of the Company or its Wholly Owned Subsidiaries files a Schedule TO or any schedule, form or report under the 
Exchange Act disclosing that such employee benefit plan has become the direct or indirect “beneficial owner,” as 
defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, of the Common Stock representing more than 70% of the voting power 
of the Common Stock; provided that for purposes of clause (B), in calculating the beneficial ownership percentage of the 
Common Stock held by any such employee benefit plan, any Common Stock issued or issuable by the Company to any 
such employee benefit plan after the date of this Indenture, including pursuant to rights attached to, or a dividend or 
other distribution on, any such Common Stock or other securities so owned on the date of this Indenture (or any 
Common Stock into which they may convert or be exchanged or exercised), shall be excluded from both the numerator 
and denominator in calculating such percentage;

(b)	 the consummation of (A) any recapitalization, reclassification or change of the Common Stock (other than 
changes resulting from a subdivision or combination) as a result of which the Common Stock would be converted into, 
or exchanged for, stock, other securities, other property or assets; (B) any share exchange, consolidation or merger of the 
Company pursuant to which the Common Stock will be converted into cash, securities or other property or assets; or (C) 
any sale, lease or other transfer in one transaction or a series of transactions of all or substantially all of the consolidated 
assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, to any Person other than one of the Company’s Wholly 
Owned Subsidiaries; provided, however, that a transaction described in clause (A) or (B) in which the holders of all 
classes of the Company’s Common Equity immediately prior to such transaction own, directly or indirectly, more than 
50% of all classes of Common Equity of the continuing or surviving corporation or transferee or the parent thereof 
immediately after such transaction in substantially the same proportions (relative to each other) as such ownership 
immediately prior to such transaction shall not be a Fundamental Change pursuant to this clause (b);
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(c)	 the stockholders of the Company approve any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the 
Company; or

(d)	 the Common Stock (or other common stock underlying the Notes) ceases to be listed or quoted on any of 
The New York Stock Exchange, The Nasdaq Global Select Market or The Nasdaq Global Market (or any of their 
respective successors);

provided, however, that a transaction or transactions described in clause (a) or clause (b) above shall not constitute a Fundamental 
Change, if at least 90% of the consideration received or to be received by the common stockholders of the Company, excluding 
cash payments for fractional shares and cash payments made pursuant to dissenters’ appraisal rights, in connection with such 
transaction or transactions consists of shares of common stock that are listed or quoted on any of The New York Stock Exchange, 
The Nasdaq Global Select Market or The Nasdaq Global Market (or any of their respective successors) or will be so listed or 
quoted when issued or exchanged in connection with such transaction or transactions and as a result of such transaction or 
transactions the Notes become convertible into such consideration, excluding cash payments for fractional shares and cash 
payments made pursuant to dissenters’ appraisal rights (subject to the provisions of Section 14.02(a)).  If any transaction in which 
the Common Stock is replaced by the securities of another entity occurs, following completion of any related Make-Whole 
Fundamental Change Period (or, in the case of a transaction that would have been a Fundamental Change or a Make-Whole 
Fundamental Change but for the proviso immediately following clause (d) of this definition, following the effective date of such 
transaction) references to the Company in this definition shall instead be references to such other entity.

	 Solely for the purposes of this definition (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not for purposes of the definition of Make-Whole 
Fundamental Change), (x) any transaction or event described in both clause (a) and in clause (b)(A) or (B) above (without regard 
to the proviso in clause (b)) shall be deemed to occur solely pursuant to clause (b) above (subject to such proviso).

“Fundamental Change Company Notice” shall have the meaning specified in Section 15.02(c).

“Fundamental Change Repurchase Date” shall have the meaning specified in Section 15.02(a).

“Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice” shall have the meaning specified in Section 15.02(b)(i).

“Fundamental Change Repurchase Price” shall have the meaning specified in Section 15.02(a).

“given,” with respect to any notice to be given to a Holder pursuant to this Indenture, shall mean notice (x) given to the 
Depositary (or its designee) pursuant to the standing instructions from the Depositary or its designee, including by electronic mail 
in accordance with accepted practices or procedures at the Depositary (in the case of a Global Note) or (x) mailed to such Holder 
by first class mail, postage prepaid, at its address as it appears on the Note Register 
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(in the case of a Physical Note), in each case, in accordance with Section 17.03. Notice so “given” shall be deemed to include any 
notice to be “mailed” or “delivered,” as applicable, under this Indenture.  

“Global Note” shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.05(b).

“Holder,” as applied to any Note, or other similar terms (but excluding the term “beneficial holder”), means any Person 
in whose name at the time a particular Note is registered on the Note Register.

“Indenture” means this instrument as originally executed or, if amended or supplemented as herein provided, as so 
amended or supplemented.

“Initial Purchasers” means BofA Securities, Inc., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Barclays 
Capital Inc., BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, Scotia Capital (USA) Inc., Truist Securities, Inc. and 
U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc..

“Interest Payment Date” means each March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginning on September 1, 2024.

“Last Original Issue Date” means (a) with respect to any Notes issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and any 
Notes issued in exchange therefor or in substitution thereof, the date of this Indenture; and (b) with respect to any Notes issued 
pursuant to ‎Section 2.10, and any Notes issued in exchange therefor or in substitution thereof, either (i) the later of (x) the date 
such Notes are originally issued and (y) the last date any such Notes are originally issued as part of the same offering pursuant to 
the exercise of an option granted to the initial purchaser(s) of such Notes to purchase additional Notes; or (ii) such other date as is 
specified in an Officer’s Certificate delivered to the Trustee before the original issuance of such Notes.

 “Last Reported Sale Price” of the Common Stock (or other security for which a closing sale price must be determined) 
on any date means the closing sale price (or if no closing sale price is reported, the average of the bid and ask prices or, if more 
than one in either case, the average of the average bid and the average ask prices) per share of Common Stock on that date as 
reported in composite transactions for the principal U.S. national or regional securities exchange on which the Common Stock (or 
such other security) is traded.  If the Common Stock (or such other security) is not listed for trading on a U.S. national or regional 
securities exchange on the relevant date, the “Last Reported Sale Price” shall be the last quoted bid price per share of Common 
Stock (or such other security) in the over-the-counter market on the relevant date as reported by OTC Markets Group Inc. or a 
similar organization.  If the Common Stock (or such other security) is not so quoted, the “Last Reported Sale Price” shall be the 
mid-point of the last bid and ask prices per share of Common Stock (or such other security) on the relevant date from a nationally 
recognized independent investment banking firm selected by the Company for this purpose.  The “Last Reported Sale Price” 
shall be determined without regard to after-hours trading or any other trading outside of the regular trading session trading hours.  
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“Make-Whole Fundamental Change” means any transaction or event that constitutes a “Fundamental Change” as 
defined above and determined after giving effect to any exceptions to or exclusions from such definition, but without regard to 
the proviso in clause (b) of the definition thereof.

“Make-Whole Fundamental Change Period” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.03(a).

“Market Disruption Event” means (a) a failure by the primary U.S. national or regional securities exchange or market 
on which the Common Stock is listed or admitted for trading to open for trading during its regular trading session or (b) the 
occurrence or existence prior to 1:00 p.m., New York City time, on any Scheduled Trading Day for the Common Stock for more 
than one half-hour period in the aggregate during regular trading hours of any suspension or limitation imposed on trading (by 
reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant stock exchange or otherwise) in the Common Stock or in 
any options contracts or futures contracts relating to the Common Stock.

“Material Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary of the Company that, when consolidated with the Subsidiaries, if any, of 
such Subsidiary, either (i) generated 10% or more of the consolidated revenues of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a 
whole or (ii) owns 10% or more of the consolidated total assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in each 
case as measured pursuant to the Company’s financial statements for the most recently ended fiscal quarter or fiscal year included 
in the reports filed (or deemed filed) with the Trustee pursuant to Section 4.06(b).

“Maturity Date” means March 1, 2029.

“Measurement Period” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.01(b)(i).

“Note” or “Notes” shall have the meaning specified in the first paragraph of the recitals of this Indenture.

“Note Register” shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.05(a).

“Note Registrar” shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.05(a).

“Notice of Conversion” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.02(b).

“Observation Period” with respect to any Note surrendered for conversion means: (i) subject to clause (ii) below, if the 
relevant Conversion Date occurs prior to October 1, 2028, the 50 consecutive Trading Day period beginning on, and including, 
the second Trading Day immediately succeeding such Conversion Date; (ii) with respect to any Notes called for redemption (or 
deemed called for redemption pursuant to Section 14.01(b)(v)), if the relevant Conversion Date occurs during a Redemption 
Period with respect to such Notes, the 50 consecutive Trading Days beginning on, and including, the 51st Scheduled Trading Day 
immediately preceding the related Redemption Date; and (iii) subject to clause (ii) above, if the 
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relevant Conversion Date occurs on or after October 1, 2028, the 50 consecutive Trading Days beginning on, and including, the 
51st Scheduled Trading Day immediately preceding the Maturity Date.

“Offering Memorandum” means the preliminary offering memorandum dated February 21, 2024, as supplemented by 
the related pricing term sheet dated February 21, 2024, relating to the offering and sale of the Notes.

“Officer” means, with respect to the Company, the President, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, 
the Chief Accounting Officer, the Treasurer, the Secretary, any assistant Treasurer, any assistant Secretary, any Executive or 
Senior Vice President or any Vice President (whether or not designated by a number or numbers or word or words added before 
or after the title “Vice President”).

“Officer’s Certificate,” when used with respect to the Company, means a certificate that is delivered to the Trustee and 
that is signed on behalf of the Company by an Officer of the Company.  Each such certificate shall include the statements 
provided for in Section 17.05 if and to the extent required by the provisions of such Section.  

“open of business” means 9:00 a.m. (New York City time).

“Opinion of Counsel” means an opinion in writing signed by legal counsel, who may be an employee of or counsel to 
the Company, who is reasonably acceptable to the Trustee that is delivered to the Trustee.  Each such opinion shall include the 
statements provided for in Section 17.05 if and to the extent required by the provisions of such Section 17.05.

“Optional Redemption” shall have the meaning specified in Section 16.01.

“outstanding,” when used with reference to Notes, shall, subject to the provisions of Section 8.04, mean, as of any 
particular time, all Notes authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under this Indenture, except:

(a)	 Notes theretofore canceled by the Trustee or accepted by the Trustee for cancellation;

(b)	 Notes, or portions thereof, that have become due and payable and in respect of which monies in the 
necessary amount shall have been deposited in trust with the Trustee or with any Paying Agent (other than the Company) 
or shall have been set aside and segregated in trust by the Company (if the Company shall act as its own Paying Agent);

(c)	 Notes that have been paid pursuant to Section 2.06 or Notes in lieu of which, or in substitution for which, 
other Notes shall have been authenticated and delivered pursuant to the terms of Section 2.06 unless proof satisfactory to 
the Trustee is presented that any such Notes are held by protected purchasers in due course; 
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(d)	 Notes converted pursuant to Article 14 and required to be cancelled pursuant to Section 2.08;  

(e)	 Notes redeemed pursuant to Article 16; and

(f)	 Notes repurchased by the Company pursuant to the penultimate sentence of Section 2.10 to the extent the 
Company surrenders such Notes to the Trustee for cancellation in accordance with Section 2.08.

“Partial Redemption Limitation” shall have the meaning specified in Section 16.02(d).

“Paying Agent” shall have the meaning specified in Section 4.02.

“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a limited liability company, an association, a partnership, a joint venture, a 
joint stock company, a trust, an unincorporated organization or a government or an agency or a political subdivision thereof.

“Physical Notes” means permanent certificated Notes in registered form issued in Authorized Denominations.

“Predecessor Note” of any particular Note means every previous Note evidencing all or a portion of the same debt as 
that evidenced by such particular Note; and, for the purposes of this definition, any Note authenticated and delivered under 
Section 2.06 in lieu of or in exchange for a mutilated, lost, destroyed or stolen Note shall be deemed to evidence the same debt as 
the mutilated, lost, destroyed or stolen Note that it replaces.

“Purchase Agreement” means that certain Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2024, among the Company 
and the Initial Purchasers. 

“Qualified Successor Entity” means, with respect to a Business Combination Event, a corporation; provided, however, 
that a limited liability company, limited partnership or other similar entity shall also constitute a Qualified Successor Entity with 
respect to such Business Combination Event if either (a) such Business Combination Event is an Exempted Fundamental Change; 
or (b) both of the following conditions are satisfied: (i) either (x) such limited liability company, limited partnership or other 
similar entity, as applicable, is treated as a corporation or is a direct or indirect, Wholly Owned Subsidiary of, and disregarded as 
an entity separate from, a corporation, in each case for U.S. federal income tax purposes; or (y) the Company has received an 
opinion of a nationally recognized tax counsel to the effect that such Business Combination Event shall not be treated as an 
exchange under Section 1001 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, for Holders or beneficial owners of the Notes; 
and (ii) such Business Combination Event constitutes a Share Exchange Event whose Reference Property consists solely of any 
combination of cash in U.S. dollars and shares of common stock or other corporate Common Equity interests of an entity that is 
(x) treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (y) duly organized and existing under the laws of the United 
States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia, and (z) a direct or indirect parent of such limited liability company, limited 
partnership or similar entity.
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“Record Date” means, with respect to any dividend, distribution or other transaction or event in which the holders of 
Common Stock (or other applicable security) have the right to receive any cash, securities or other property or in which the 
Common Stock (or such other security) is exchanged for or converted into any combination of cash, securities or other property, 
the date fixed for determination of holders of the Common Stock (or such other security) entitled to receive such cash, securities 
or other property (whether such date is fixed by the Board of Directors, by statute, by contract or otherwise).

“Redemption Date” shall have the meaning specified in Section 16.02(a).

“Redemption Notice” shall have the meaning specified in Section 16.02(a).

“Redemption Period” means, with respect to any Optional Redemption, the period from, and including, the date the 
Company delivers the Redemption Notice for such Optional Redemption until the close of business on the Scheduled Trading 
Day immediately preceding the related Redemption Date. 

“Redemption Price” means, for any Notes to be redeemed pursuant to Section 16.01, 100% of the principal amount of 
such Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the applicable Redemption Date (unless such Redemption 
Date falls after a Regular Record Date but on or prior to the immediately succeeding Interest Payment Date, in which case 
interest accrued on such Notes to the Interest Payment Date will be paid to Holders of record of such Notes as of the close of 
business on such Regular Record Date, and the Redemption Price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of such Notes).

“Reference Property” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.07(a).

“Regular Record Date,” with respect to any Interest Payment Date, means the February 15 or August 15 (whether or 
not such day is a Business Day) immediately preceding the applicable March 1 or September 1 Interest Payment Date, 
respectively.

“Resale Restriction Termination Date” shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.05(c).

“Responsible Officer” means, when used with respect to the Trustee, any officer within the corporate trust department 
of the Trustee, including any vice president, assistant vice president, assistant secretary, assistant treasurer, trust officer or any 
other officer of the Trustee who customarily performs functions similar to those performed by the Persons who at the time shall 
be such officers, respectively, or to whom any corporate trust matter relating to this Indenture is referred because of such person's 
knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject and, in each case, who shall have direct responsibility for the 
administration of this Indenture.

“Restricted Securities” shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.05(c).

“Rule 144” means Rule 144 as promulgated under the Securities Act.
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“Rule 144A” means Rule 144A as promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Scheduled Trading Day” means a day that is scheduled to be a Trading Day on the principal U.S. national or regional 
securities exchange or market on which the Common Stock is listed or admitted for trading.  If the Common Stock is not so listed 
or admitted for trading, “Scheduled Trading Day” means a Business Day.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Settlement Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 14.02(a)(iv).

“Settlement Method” means, with respect to any conversion of Notes, Cash Settlement or Combination Settlement.

“Settlement Notice” has the meaning specified in Section 14.02(a)(iii).

“Share Exchange Event” has the meaning specified in Section 14.07(a).

“Specified Dollar Amount” means, in respect of the conversion of any Note, the maximum cash amount (excluding 
cash in lieu of any fractional share) per $1,000 principal amount of such Notes to be received upon conversion as specified in the 
Settlement Notice related to any converted Notes (or as the Company is otherwise deemed to have elected), which shall be no 
less than $1,000 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes being converted.

“Spin-Off” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.04(c).

“Stock Price” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.03(c).

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, association, partnership or other business entity of 
which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Capital Stock or other interests (including partnership interests) 
entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers, general partners or 
trustees thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by (i) such Person; (ii) such Person and one or more 
Subsidiaries of such Person; or (iii) one or more Subsidiaries of such Person.

“Successor Entity” shall have the meaning specified in Section 11.01(a).

“Trading Day” means a day on which (i) trading in the Common Stock (or other security for which a closing sale price 
must be determined) generally occurs on The New York Stock Exchange or, if the Common Stock (or such other security) is not 
then listed on The New York Stock Exchange, on the principal other U.S. national or regional securities exchange on which the 
Common Stock (or such other security) is then listed or, if the Common Stock (or such other security) is not then listed on a U.S. 
national or regional securities exchange, on the principal other market on which the Common Stock (or such other security) is 
then traded and (ii) a Last 
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Reported Sale Price for the Common Stock (or such other security) is available on such securities exchange or market; provided 
that if the Common Stock (or such other security) is not so listed or traded, “Trading Day” means a Business Day; and provided, 
further, that for purposes of determining amounts due upon conversion of a Note only, “Trading Day” means a day on which (x) 
there is no Market Disruption Event and (y) trading in the Common Stock generally occurs on The New York Stock Exchange or, 
if the Common Stock is not then listed on The New York Stock Exchange, on the principal other U.S. national or regional 
securities exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed or, if the Common Stock is not then listed on a U.S. national or 
regional securities exchange, on the principal other market on which the Common Stock is then listed or admitted for trading, 
except that if the Common Stock is not so listed or admitted for trading, “Trading Day” means a Business Day.

“Trading Price” of the Notes on any date of determination means the average of the secondary market bid quotations 
obtained by the Bid Solicitation Agent for $5,000,000 principal amount of Notes at approximately 3:30 p.m., New York City 
time, on such determination date from three independent nationally recognized securities dealers the Company selects for this 
purpose; provided that if three such bids cannot reasonably be obtained by the Bid Solicitation Agent but two such bids are 
obtained, then the average of the two bids shall be used as the Trading Price, and if only one such bid can reasonably be obtained 
by the Bid Solicitation Agent, that one bid shall be used as the Trading Price. If the Bid Solicitation Agent cannot reasonably 
obtain at least one bid for $5,000,000 principal amount of Notes from a nationally recognized securities dealer on any 
determination date, then the Trading Price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes on such determination date shall be deemed to 
be less than 98% of the product of the Last Reported Sale Price of the Common Stock and the Conversion Rate on such date of 
determination.

“transfer” shall have the meaning specified in Section 2.05(c).

“Trigger Event” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.04(c).

“Trust Indenture Act” means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

“Trustee” means the Person named as the “Trustee” in the first paragraph of this Indenture until a successor trustee shall 
have become such pursuant to the applicable provisions of this Indenture, and thereafter “Trustee” shall mean or include each 
Person who is then a Trustee hereunder.

“unit of Reference Property” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.07(a).

“Valuation Period” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14.04(c).

“Wholly Owned Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any Subsidiary of such Person, except that, solely for 
purposes of this definition, the reference to “more than 50%” in the definition of “Subsidiary” shall be deemed replaced by a 
reference to “100%”.
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Section 1.02.  References to Interest.  Unless the context otherwise requires, any reference to interest on, or in respect of, 
any Note in this Indenture shall be deemed to include Additional Interest if, in such context, Additional Interest is, was or would 
be payable pursuant to any of Section 4.06(d), Section 4.06(e) and Section 6.03. Unless the context otherwise requires, any 
express mention of Additional Interest in any provision hereof shall not be construed as excluding Additional Interest in those 
provisions hereof where such express mention is not made.

ARTICLE 2
Issue, Description, Execution, Registration and Exchange of Notes

Section 2.01.  Designation and Amount.  The Notes shall be designated as the 2.625% Convertible Senior Notes due 
2029.” The aggregate principal amount of Notes that may be authenticated and delivered under this Indenture is initially limited 
to $800,000,000, subject to Section 2.10 and except for Notes authenticated and delivered upon registration or transfer of, or in 
exchange for, or in lieu of other Notes to the extent expressly permitted hereunder.

Section 2.02.  Form of Notes.  The Notes and the Trustee’s certificate of authentication to be borne by such Notes shall 
be substantially in the respective forms set forth in Exhibit A, the terms and provisions of which shall constitute, and are hereby 
expressly incorporated in and made a part of this Indenture.  To the extent applicable, the Company and the Trustee, by their 
execution and delivery of this Indenture, expressly agree to such terms and provisions and to be bound thereby. In the case of any 
conflict between this Indenture and a Note, the provisions of this Indenture shall govern and control to the extent of such conflict.

Any Global Note may be endorsed with or have incorporated in the text thereof such legends or recitals or changes not 
inconsistent with the provisions of this Indenture as may be required by the Custodian or the Depositary, or as may be required to 
comply with any applicable law or any regulation thereunder or with the rules and regulations of any securities exchange or 
automated quotation system upon which the Notes may be listed or traded or designated for issuance or to conform with any 
usage with respect thereto, or to indicate any special limitations or restrictions to which any particular Notes are subject.

Any of the Notes may have such letters, numbers or other marks of identification and such notations, legends or 
endorsements as the Officer executing the same may approve (execution thereof to be conclusive evidence of such approval) and 
as are not inconsistent with the provisions of this Indenture, or as may be required to comply with any law or with any rule or 
regulation made pursuant thereto or with any rule or regulation of any securities exchange or automated quotation system on 
which the Notes may be listed or designated for issuance, or to conform to usage or to indicate any special limitations or 
restrictions to which any particular Notes are subject.

Each Global Note shall represent such principal amount of the outstanding Notes as shall be specified therein and shall 
provide that it shall represent the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes from time to time endorsed thereon and that 
the aggregate principal amount of 
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outstanding Notes represented thereby may from time to time be increased or reduced to reflect redemptions, repurchases, 
cancellations, conversions, transfers or exchanges permitted hereby.  Any endorsement of a Global Note to reflect the amount of 
any increase or decrease in the amount of outstanding Notes represented thereby shall be made by the Trustee or the Custodian, at 
the direction of the Trustee, in such manner and upon instructions given by the Holder of such Notes in accordance with this 
Indenture.  Payment of principal (including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) 
of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, a Global Note shall be made to the Holder of such Note on the date of payment, unless a 
record date or other means of determining Holders eligible to receive payment is provided for herein.

Section 2.03.  Date and Denomination of Notes; Payments of Interest and Defaulted Amounts.  (a) The Notes shall be 
issuable in registered form without coupons in denominations of $1,000 principal amount and in integral multiples of $1,000 in 
excess thereof (an “Authorized Denomination”).  Each Note shall be dated the date of its authentication and shall bear interest 
from the date specified on the face of such Note.  Accrued interest on the Notes shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year 
composed of twelve 30-day months and, for partial months, on the basis of the number of days actually elapsed in a 30-day 
month.

(b)	 The Person in whose name any Note (or its Predecessor Note) is registered on the Note Register at the close of 
business on any Regular Record Date with respect to any Interest Payment Date shall be entitled to receive the interest payable 
on such Interest Payment Date.  The principal amount of any Note (x) in the case of any Physical Note, shall be payable at the 
office or agency of the Company maintained by the Company for such purposes in the continental United States, which shall 
initially be the Corporate Trust Office and (y) in the case of any Global Note, shall be payable by wire transfer of immediately 
available funds to the account of the Depositary or its nominee.  The Company shall pay or cause the Paying Agent to pay 
interest (i) on any Physical Notes (A) to Holders holding Physical Notes having an aggregate principal amount of $5,000,000 or 
less, by check mailed to the Holders of these Notes at their address as it appears in the Note Register and (B) to Holders holding 
Physical Notes having an aggregate principal amount of more than $5,000,000, either by check mailed to each Holder or, upon 
application by such a Holder to the Note Registrar not later than the relevant Regular Record Date, by wire transfer in 
immediately available funds to that Holder’s account within the United States if such Holder has provided the Company, the 
Trustee or the Paying Agent with the requisite information necessary to make such wire transfer, which application shall remain 
in effect until the Holder notifies, in writing, the Note Registrar to the contrary or (ii) on any Global Note by wire transfer of 
immediately available funds to the account of the Depositary or its nominee.  

(c)	 Any Defaulted Amounts shall forthwith cease to be payable to the Holder on the relevant payment date but shall 
accrue interest per annum at the rate borne by the Notes, subject to the enforceability thereof under applicable law, from, and 
including, such relevant payment date, and such Defaulted Amounts together with such interest thereon shall be paid by the 
Company, at its election in each case, as provided in clause (i) or (ii) below:
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(i)	 The Company may elect to make payment of any Defaulted Amounts to the Persons in whose names 
the Notes (or their respective Predecessor Notes) are registered at the close of business on a special record date for the 
payment of such Defaulted Amounts, which shall be fixed in the manner set forth in the remainder of this Section 
2.03(c)(i).  The Company shall notify the Trustee in writing of the amount of the Defaulted Amounts proposed to be paid 
on each Note and the date of the proposed payment (which shall be not less than 25 days after the receipt by the Trustee 
of such notice, unless the Trustee shall consent to an earlier date), and at the same time the Company shall deposit with 
the Trustee an amount of money equal to the aggregate amount to be paid in respect of such Defaulted Amounts or shall 
make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for such deposit on or prior to the date of the proposed payment, such 
money when deposited to be held in trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled to such Defaulted Amounts pursuant to 
this Section 2.03(c)(i).  Thereupon the Company shall fix a special record date for the payment of such Defaulted 
Amounts which shall be not more than 15 days and not less than 10 days prior to the date of the proposed payment, and 
not less than 10 days after the receipt by the Trustee of the notice of the proposed payment (unless the Trustee shall 
consent to an earlier date).  The Company shall promptly notify the Trustee in writing of such special record date and the 
Company, or the Trustee at the request of and in the name and at the expense of the Company, shall cause notice of the 
proposed payment of such Defaulted Amounts and the special record date therefor to be delivered to each Holder not 
less than 10 days prior to such special record date.  Notice of the proposed payment of such Defaulted Amounts and the 
special record date therefor having been so delivered, such Defaulted Amounts shall be paid to the Persons in whose 
names the Notes (or their respective Predecessor Notes) are registered at the close of business on such special record 
date and shall no longer be payable pursuant to the following clause (ii) of this Section 2.03(c). The Trustee shall have 
no responsibility whatsoever for the calculation of the Defaulted Amounts.

(ii)	 The Company may make payment of any Defaulted Amounts in any other lawful manner not 
inconsistent with the requirements of any securities exchange or automated quotation system on which the Notes may be 
listed or designated for issuance, and upon such notice as may be required by such exchange or automated quotation 
system, if, after notice given by the Company to the Trustee of the proposed payment pursuant to this clause, in such 
manner of payment as it may be deemed practicable by the Trustee.

Section 2.04.  Execution, Authentication and Delivery of Notes.  The Notes shall be signed in the name and on behalf of 
the Company by the manual, facsimile or other electronic signature of its Chief Executive Officer, President, Chief Financial 
Officer, Chief Accounting Officer, Treasurer, Secretary, any assistant Secretary or any of its Executive or Senior Vice Presidents.

At any time and from time to time after the execution and delivery of this Indenture, the Company may deliver Notes 
executed by the Company to the Trustee for authentication, together 
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with a Company Order for the authentication and delivery of such Notes, and the Trustee in accordance with such Company 
Order shall authenticate and deliver such Notes, without any further action by the Company hereunder; provided that the Trustee 
shall be entitled to receive an Officer’s Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel of the Company with respect to the issuance, 
authentication and delivery of such Notes.

Only such Notes as shall bear thereon a certificate of authentication substantially in the form set forth on the Form of 
Note attached as Exhibit A hereto, executed manually by an authorized officer of the Trustee (or an authenticating agent 
appointed by the Trustee as provided by Section 17.10), shall be entitled to the benefits of this Indenture or be valid or obligatory 
for any purpose.  Such certificate by the Trustee (or such an authenticating agent) upon any Note executed by the Company shall 
be conclusive evidence that the Note so authenticated has been duly authenticated and delivered hereunder and that the Holder is 
entitled to the benefits of this Indenture.

In case any Officer of the Company who shall have signed any of the Notes shall cease to be such Officer before the 
Notes so signed shall have been authenticated and delivered by the Trustee, or disposed of by the Company, such Notes 
nevertheless may be authenticated and delivered or disposed of as though the person who signed such Notes had not ceased to be 
such Officer of the Company; and any Note may be signed on behalf of the Company by such persons as, at the actual date of the 
execution of such Note, shall be the Officers of the Company, although at the date of the execution of this Indenture any such 
person was not such an Officer.

Section 2.05.  Exchange and Registration of Transfer of Notes; Restrictions on Transfer; Depositary.  (a) The Company 
shall cause to be kept at the Corporate Trust Office a register (the register maintained in such office or in any other office or 
agency of the Company designated pursuant to Section 4.02, the “Note Register”) in which, subject to such reasonable 
regulations as it may prescribe, the Company shall provide for the registration of Notes and of transfers of Notes.  Such register 
shall be in written form or in any form capable of being converted into written form within a reasonable period of time.  The 
Trustee is hereby initially appointed the “Note Registrar” for the purpose of registering Notes and transfers of Notes as herein 
provided.  The Company may appoint one or more co-Note Registrars in accordance with Section 4.02.

Upon surrender for registration of transfer of any Note to the Note Registrar or any co-Note Registrar, and satisfaction of 
the requirements for such transfer set forth in this Section 2.05, the Company shall execute, and the Trustee shall authenticate and 
deliver, in the name of the designated transferee or transferees, one or more new Notes of any Authorized Denominations and of 
a like aggregate principal amount and bearing such restrictive legends as may be required by this Indenture.

Notes may be exchanged for other Notes of any Authorized Denominations and of a like aggregate principal amount, 
upon surrender of the Notes to be exchanged at any such office or agency maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 4.02.  
Whenever any Notes are so surrendered for exchange, the Company shall execute, and the Trustee shall authenticate and 
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deliver, the Notes that the Holder making the exchange is entitled to receive, bearing registration numbers not contemporaneously 
outstanding.

All Notes presented or surrendered for registration of transfer or for exchange, repurchase or conversion shall (if so 
required by the Company, the Trustee, the Note Registrar or any co-Note Registrar) be duly endorsed, or be accompanied by a 
written instrument or instruments of transfer in form satisfactory to the Company and duly executed, by the Holder thereof or its 
attorney-in-fact duly authorized in writing.

No service charge shall be imposed by the Company, the Trustee, the Note Registrar, any co-Note Registrar or the 
Paying Agent for any exchange or registration of transfer of Notes, but the Company may require a Holder to pay a sum 
sufficient to cover any documentary, stamp or similar issue or transfer tax required in connection therewith as a result of the name 
of the Holder of new Notes issued upon such exchange or registration of transfer being different from the name of the Holder of 
the old Notes surrendered for exchange or registration of transfer.

None of the Company, the Trustee, the Note Registrar or any co-Note Registrar shall be required to exchange or register 
a transfer of (i) any Notes surrendered for conversion or, if a portion of any Note is surrendered for conversion, such portion 
thereof surrendered for conversion, (ii) any Notes, or a portion of any Note, surrendered for repurchase (and not withdrawn) in 
accordance with Article 15 or (iii) any Notes selected for redemption in accordance with Article 16, except the unredeemed 
portion of any Note being redeemed in part.  

All Notes issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange of Notes in accordance with this Indenture shall be the 
valid obligations of the Company, evidencing the same debt, and entitled to the same benefits under this Indenture as the Notes 
surrendered upon such registration of transfer or exchange.

The Trustee shall have no obligation or duty to monitor, determine or inquire as to compliance with any restrictions on 
transfer imposed under this Indenture or under applicable law with respect to any transfer of any interest in any Note other than to 
require delivery of such certificates and other documentation or evidence as are expressly required by, and to do so if and when 
expressly required by the terms of, this Indenture, and to examine the same to determine substantial compliance as to form with 
the express requirements hereof.

(b)	 So long as the Notes are eligible for book-entry settlement with the Depositary, unless otherwise required by law, 
subject to the fourth paragraph from the end of Section 2.05(c) all Notes shall be represented by one or more Notes in global form 
(each, a “Global Note”) registered in the name of the Depositary or the nominee of the Depositary.  The transfer and exchange of 
beneficial interests in a Global Note that does not involve the issuance of a Physical Note shall be effected through the Depositary 
(but not the Trustee or the Custodian) in accordance with this Indenture (including the restrictions on transfer set forth herein) 
and the procedures of the Depositary therefor.

(c)	 Every Note that bears or is required under this Section 2.05(c) to bear the legend set forth in this Section 2.05(c) 
(together with any Common Stock issued upon conversion of the 
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Notes that is required to bear the legend set forth in Section 2.05(d), collectively, the “Restricted Securities”) shall be subject to 
the restrictions on transfer set forth in this Section 2.05(c) (including the legend set forth below), unless such restrictions on 
transfer shall be eliminated or otherwise waived by written consent of the Company, and the Holder of each such Restricted 
Security, by such Holder’s acceptance thereof, agrees to be bound by all such restrictions on transfer.  As used in this Section 
2.05(c) and Section 2.05(d), the term “transfer” encompasses any sale, pledge, transfer or other disposition whatsoever of any 
Restricted Security (or any voting or economic rights thereto or any beneficial interest therein).

Until the date (the “Resale Restriction Termination Date”) that is the later of (1) the date that is one year after the Last 
Original Issue Date of the Notes, or such shorter period of time as permitted by Rule 144 or any successor provision thereto, and 
(2) such later date, if any, as may be required by applicable law, any certificate evidencing such Note (and all securities issued in 
exchange therefor or substitution thereof, other than Common Stock, if any, issued upon conversion thereof, which shall bear the 
legend set forth in Section 2.05(d), if applicable) shall bear a legend in substantially the following form (unless such Notes have 
been transferred pursuant to a registration statement that has become or been declared effective under the Securities Act and that 
continues to be effective at the time of such transfer, or sold pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Rule 144 or 
any similar provision then in force under the Securities Act, or unless otherwise agreed by the Company in writing, with written 
notice thereof to the Trustee):

THIS SECURITY AND THE COMMON STOCK, IF ANY, ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS SECURITY 
HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), 
AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE. BY ITS ACQUISITION HEREOF OR OF A BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN, THE 
ACQUIRER:

(1)	 REPRESENTS THAT IT AND ANY ACCOUNT FOR WHICH IT IS ACTING IS A “QUALIFIED 
INSTITUTIONAL BUYER” (WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) AND 
THAT IT EXERCISES SOLE INVESTMENT DISCRETION WITH RESPECT TO EACH SUCH ACCOUNT, AND

(2)	 AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF PARSONS CORPORATION (THE “COMPANY”) THAT IT WILL 
NOT OFFER, SELL, PLEDGE OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER THIS SECURITY OR ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST 
HEREIN PRIOR TO THE DATE THAT IS THE LATER OF (X) ONE YEAR AFTER THE LAST ORIGINAL ISSUE 
DATE HEREOF OR SUCH SHORTER PERIOD OF TIME AS PERMITTED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE 
SECURITIES ACT OR ANY SUCCESSOR PROVISION THERETO AND (Y) SUCH LATER DATE, IF ANY, AS 
MAY BE REQUIRED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EXCEPT:

(A)	 TO THE COMPANY OR ANY SUBSIDIARY THEREOF, OR
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(B)	 PURSUANT TO A REGISTRATION STATEMENT THAT HAS BECOME EFFECTIVE 
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR

(C)	 TO A PERSON REASONABLY BELIEVED TO BE A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER 
IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR

(D)	 PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR ANY OTHER AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE 
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

PRIOR TO THE REGISTRATION OF ANY TRANSFER IN ACCORDANCE WITH CLAUSE (2)(D) ABOVE, THE 
COMPANY AND THE TRUSTEE RESERVE THE RIGHT TO REQUIRE THE DELIVERY OF SUCH LEGAL OPINIONS, 
CERTIFICATIONS OR OTHER EVIDENCE AS MAY REASONABLY BE REQUIRED IN ORDER FOR THE COMPANY 
TO DETERMINE THAT THE PROPOSED TRANSFER IS BEING MADE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT 
AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF ANY 
EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

No transfer of any Note prior to the Resale Restriction Termination Date will be registered by the Note Registrar unless 
the applicable box on the Form of Assignment and Transfer has been checked.

Any Note (or security issued in exchange or substitution therefor) (i) as to which such restrictions on transfer shall have 
expired in accordance with their terms, (ii) that has been transferred pursuant to a registration statement that has become effective 
or been declared effective under the Securities Act and that continues to be effective at the time of such transfer or (iii) that has 
been sold pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Rule 144 or any similar provision then in force under the 
Securities Act, may, upon surrender of such Note for exchange to the Note Registrar in accordance with the provisions of this 
Section 2.05, be exchanged for a new Note or Notes, of like tenor and aggregate principal amount, which shall not bear the 
restrictive legend required by this Section 2.05(c) and shall not be assigned a restricted CUSIP number. The Company shall be 
entitled to instruct the Custodian in writing to so surrender any Global Note as to which any of the conditions set forth in clause 
(i) through (iii) of the immediately preceding sentence have been satisfied, and, upon such instruction, the Custodian shall so 
surrender such Global Note for exchange; and any new Global Note so exchanged therefor shall not bear the restrictive legend 
specified in this Section 2.05(c) and shall not be assigned a restricted CUSIP number. 

Without limiting the generality of any other provision of this Indenture, the restrictive legend required by this Section 
2.05(c) affixed to any Note will be deemed, pursuant to this Section 2.05(c) and the footnote to such legend in such Note, to be 
removed therefrom upon the Company’s delivery to the Trustee of notice, signed on behalf of the Company by one (1) of its 
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Officers, to such effect (and, for the avoidance of doubt, such notice need not be accompanied by an Officer’s Certificate or an 
Opinion of Counsel in order to be effective to cause such legend to be deemed to be removed from such Note).  If such Note 
bears a “restricted” CUSIP or ISIN number at the time of such delivery, then, upon such delivery, such Note will be deemed, 
pursuant to this Section 2.05(c) and the footnotes to the CUSIP and ISIN numbers set forth on the face of the certificate 
representing such Note, to thereafter bear the “unrestricted” CUSIP and ISIN numbers identified in such footnotes; provided, 
however, that if such Note is a Global Note and the Depositary thereof requires a mandatory exchange or other procedure to 
cause such Global Note to be identified by “unrestricted” CUSIP and ISIN numbers in the facilities of such Depositary, then (i) 
the Company will effect such exchange or procedure as soon as reasonably practicable; and (ii) for purposes of Section 4.06, such 
Global Note will not be deemed to be identified by unrestricted CUSIP and ISIN numbers until such time as such exchange or 
procedure is effected.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Indenture (other than the provisions set forth in this Section 2.05(c)), a 
Global Note may not be transferred as a whole or in part except (i) by the Depositary to a nominee of the Depositary or by a 
nominee of the Depositary to the Depositary or another nominee of the Depositary or by the Depositary or any such nominee to a 
successor Depositary or a nominee of such successor Depositary and (ii) for exchange of a Global Note or a portion thereof for 
one or more Physical Notes in accordance with the second immediately succeeding paragraph.

The Depositary shall be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act.  The Company initially appoints The 
Depository Trust Company to act as Depositary with respect to each Global Note.  Initially, each Global Note shall be issued to 
the Depositary, registered in the name of Cede & Co., as the nominee of the Depositary, and deposited with the Trustee as 
custodian for Cede & Co.

If (i) the Depositary notifies the Company at any time that the Depositary is unwilling or unable to continue as 
depositary for the Global Notes and a successor depositary is not appointed within 90 days, (ii) the Depositary ceases to be 
registered as a clearing agency under the Exchange Act and a successor depositary is not appointed within 90 days or (iii) an 
Event of Default with respect to the Notes has occurred and is continuing and a beneficial owner of any Note requests that its 
beneficial interest therein be issued as a Physical Note, the Company shall execute, and the Trustee, upon receipt of an Officer’s 
Certificate, an Opinion of Counsel and a Company Order for the authentication and delivery of Notes, shall authenticate and 
deliver (x) in the case of clause (iii), a Physical Note to such beneficial owner in a principal amount equal to the principal amount 
of such Note corresponding to such beneficial owner’s beneficial interest and (y) in the case of clause (i) or (ii), Physical Notes to 
each beneficial owner of the related Global Notes (or a portion thereof) in an aggregate principal amount equal to the aggregate 
principal amount of such Global Notes in exchange for such Global Notes, and upon delivery of the interests in the Global Notes 
to the Trustee such interests in the Global Notes shall be canceled.
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Physical Notes issued in exchange for all or a part of the Global Note pursuant to this Section 2.05(c) shall be registered 
in such names and in such Authorized Denominations as the Depositary, pursuant to instructions from its direct or indirect 
participants or otherwise, or, in the case of clause (iii) of the immediately preceding paragraph, the relevant beneficial owner, 
shall instruct the Trustee.  Upon execution and authentication, the Trustee shall deliver such Physical Notes to the Persons in 
whose names such Physical Notes are so registered.

At such time as all interests in a Global Note have been converted, canceled, repurchased, redeemed or transferred, such 
Global Note shall be, upon receipt thereof, canceled by the Trustee in accordance with standing procedures and existing 
instructions between the Depositary and the Custodian.  At any time prior to such cancellation, if any interest in a Global Note is 
exchanged for Physical Notes, converted, canceled, repurchased, redeemed or transferred to a transferee who receives Physical 
Notes therefor or any Physical Note is exchanged or transferred for part of such Global Note, the principal amount of such Global 
Note shall, in accordance with the standing procedures and instructions existing between the Depositary and the Custodian, be 
appropriately reduced or increased, as the case may be, and an endorsement shall be made on such Global Note, by the Trustee or 
the Custodian, at the direction of the Trustee, to reflect such reduction or increase.

None of the Company, the Trustee (including in its capacity as Paying Agent) or any agent of the Company or the 
Trustee shall have any responsibility or liability for the payment of amounts to owners of a beneficial interest in a Global Note, 
for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests of a Global Note or 
maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

	 Neither the Company nor the Trustee shall have any responsibility or liability for any act or omission of the Depositary. All 
notices and communications to be given to the Holders and all payments to be made to Holders in respect of the Notes shall be 
given or made only to, or upon the order of, the registered Holder(s) (which shall be the Depositary or its nominee in the case of a 
Global Note).

	 The rights of beneficial owners in any Global Note shall be exercised only through the Depositary subject to the applicable 
procedures of the Depositary. The Trustee may rely and shall be fully protected in relying upon information furnished by the 
Depositary with respect to its members, participants and any beneficial owners.

(d)	 Until the Resale Restriction Termination Date, any stock certificate representing Common Stock issued upon 
conversion of a Note shall bear a legend in substantially the following form (unless such Common Stock has been transferred 
pursuant to a registration statement that has become or been declared effective under the Securities Act and that continues to be 
effective at the time of such transfer, or pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Rule 144 or any similar 
provision then in force under the Securities Act, or such Common Stock has been issued upon conversion of a Note that has been 
transferred pursuant to a registration statement that has become or been declared effective under the Securities Act and that 
continues to be effective at the time of such transfer, or pursuant to the exemption from 
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registration provided by Rule 144 or any similar provision then in force under the Securities Act, or unless otherwise agreed by 
the Company with written notice thereof to the Trustee and any transfer agent for the Common Stock):

THIS SECURITY HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE 
“SECURITIES ACT”), AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE. BY ITS ACQUISITION HEREOF OR OF A BENEFICIAL 
INTEREST HEREIN, THE ACQUIRER:

(1)	 REPRESENTS THAT IT AND ANY ACCOUNT FOR WHICH IT IS ACTING IS A “QUALIFIED 
INSTITUTIONAL BUYER” (WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) AND 
THAT IT EXERCISES SOLE INVESTMENT DISCRETION WITH RESPECT TO EACH SUCH ACCOUNT, AND 

(2)	 AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF PARSONS CORPORATION (THE “COMPANY”) THAT IT WILL 
NOT OFFER, SELL, PLEDGE OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER THIS SECURITY OR ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST 
HEREIN PRIOR TO THE DATE THAT IS THE LATER OF (X) ONE YEAR AFTER THE LAST ORIGINAL ISSUE 
DATE OF THE SERIES OF NOTES UPON THE CONVERSION OF WHICH THIS SECURITY WAS ISSUED OR 
SUCH SHORTER PERIOD OF TIME AS PERMITTED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR ANY 
SUCCESSOR PROVISION THERETO AND (Y) SUCH LATER DATE, IF ANY, AS MAY BE REQUIRED BY 
APPLICABLE LAW, EXCEPT:

(A)	 TO THE COMPANY OR ANY SUBSIDIARY THEREOF, OR

(B)	 PURSUANT TO A REGISTRATION STATEMENT THAT HAS BECOME EFFECTIVE 
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR

(C)	 TO A PERSON REASONABLY BELIEVED TO BE A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER 
IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR

(D)	 PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR ANY OTHER AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE 
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

PRIOR TO THE REGISTRATION OF ANY TRANSFER IN ACCORDANCE WITH CLAUSE (2)(D) ABOVE, THE 
COMPANY AND THE TRANSFER AGENT FOR THE COMPANY’S COMMON STOCK RESERVE THE RIGHT TO 
REQUIRE THE DELIVERY OF SUCH LEGAL OPINIONS, CERTIFICATIONS OR OTHER EVIDENCE AS MAY 
REASONABLY BE REQUIRED IN ORDER FOR THE COMPANY TO DETERMINE THAT THE PROPOSED TRANSFER 
IS BEING MADE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. NO 
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REPRESENTATION IS MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF ANY EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

Any such Common Stock (i) as to which such restrictions on transfer shall have expired in accordance with their terms, 
(ii) that has been transferred pursuant to a registration statement that has become or been declared effective under the Securities 
Act and that continues to be effective at the time of such transfer or (iii) that has been sold pursuant to the exemption from 
registration provided by Rule 144 or any similar provision then in force under the Securities Act, may, upon surrender of the 
certificates representing such shares of Common Stock for exchange in accordance with the procedures of the transfer agent for 
the Common Stock, be exchanged for a new certificate or certificates for a like aggregate number of shares of Common Stock, 
which shall not bear the restrictive legend required by this Section 2.05(d).

(e)	 Any Note or Common Stock issued upon the conversion or exchange of a Note that is repurchased or owned by 
any Affiliate of the Company (or any Person who was an Affiliate of the Company at any time during the three months 
immediately preceding) may not be resold by such Affiliate (or such Person, as the case may be) unless registered under the 
Securities Act or resold pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in a transaction that 
results in such Note or Common Stock, as the case may be, no longer being a “restricted security” (as defined under Rule 144).  

(f)	 Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, neither the Trustee nor the Note Registrar shall be 
responsible for ascertaining whether any transfer complies with the registration provisions of, or exemptions from, the Securities 
Act, applicable state securities laws or other applicable law.

(g)	 Neither the Trustee nor any agent shall have any responsibility or liability for any actions taken or not taken by 
the Depositary, and may assume performance absent written notice to the contrary.  

Section 2.06.  Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost or Stolen Notes.  In case any Note shall become mutilated or be destroyed, lost 
or stolen, the Company in its discretion may execute, and upon receipt of a Company Order, the Trustee or an authenticating 
agent appointed by the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, a new Note, bearing a registration number not contemporaneously 
outstanding, in exchange and substitution for the mutilated Note, or in lieu of and in substitution for the Note so destroyed, lost or 
stolen.  In every case the applicant for a substituted Note shall furnish to the Company, to the Trustee and, if applicable, to such 
authenticating agent such security or indemnity as may be required by them to save each of them harmless from any loss, 
liability, cost or expense caused by or connected with such substitution, and, in every case of destruction, loss or theft, the 
applicant shall also furnish to the Company, to the Trustee and, if applicable, to such authenticating agent evidence to their 
satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of such Note and of the ownership thereof.

The Trustee or such authenticating agent may authenticate any such substituted Note and deliver the same upon the 
receipt of such security or indemnity as the Trustee, the Company and, 

25



Exhibit 4.1

if applicable, such authenticating agent may require.  No service charge shall be imposed by the Company, the Trustee, the Note 
Registrar, any co-Note Registrar or the Paying Agent upon the issuance of any substitute Note, but the Company may require a 
Holder to pay a sum sufficient to cover any documentary, stamp or similar issue or transfer tax required in connection therewith 
as a result of the name of the Holder of the new substitute Note being different from the name of the Holder of the old Note that 
became mutilated or was destroyed, lost or stolen.  In case any Note that has matured or is about to mature or has been 
surrendered for required repurchase or is about to be converted in accordance with Article 14 shall become mutilated or be 
destroyed, lost or stolen, the Company may, in its sole discretion, instead of issuing a substitute Note, pay or authorize the 
payment of or convert or authorize the conversion of the same (without surrender thereof except in the case of a mutilated Note), 
as the case may be, if the applicant for such payment or conversion shall furnish to the Company, to the Trustee and, if 
applicable, to such authenticating agent such security or indemnity as may be required by them to save each of them harmless for 
any loss, liability, cost or expense caused by or connected with such substitution, and, in every case of destruction, loss or theft, 
evidence satisfactory to the Company, the Trustee and, if applicable, any Paying Agent or Conversion Agent evidence of their 
satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of such Note and of the ownership thereof.

Every substitute Note issued pursuant to the provisions of this Section 2.06 by virtue of the fact that any Note is 
destroyed, lost or stolen shall constitute an additional contractual obligation of the Company, whether or not the destroyed, lost or 
stolen Note shall be found at any time, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of (but shall be subject to all the limitations set 
forth in) this Indenture equally and proportionately with any and all other Notes duly issued hereunder.  To the extent permitted 
by law, all Notes shall be held and owned upon the express condition that the foregoing provisions are exclusive with respect to 
the replacement, payment, redemption, conversion or repurchase of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Notes and shall preclude 
any and all other rights or remedies notwithstanding any law or statute existing or hereafter enacted to the contrary with respect 
to the replacement, payment, redemption, conversion or repurchase of negotiable instruments or other securities without their 
surrender.

Section 2.07.  Temporary Notes.  Pending the preparation of Physical Notes, the Company may execute and the Trustee 
or an authenticating agent appointed by the Trustee shall, upon receipt of a Company Order, authenticate and deliver temporary 
Notes (printed or lithographed).  Temporary Notes shall be issuable in any Authorized Denomination, and substantially in the 
form of the Physical Notes but with such omissions, insertions and variations as may be appropriate for temporary Notes, all as 
may be determined by the Company.  Every such temporary Note shall be executed by the Company and authenticated by the 
Trustee or such authenticating agent upon the same conditions and in substantially the same manner, and with the same effect, as 
the Physical Notes.  Without unreasonable delay, the Company shall execute and deliver to the Trustee or such authenticating 
agent Physical Notes (other than any Global Note) and thereupon any or all temporary Notes (other than any Global Note) may 
be surrendered in exchange therefor, at each office or agency maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 4.02 and the 
Trustee or such authenticating agent shall authenticate and deliver in exchange for such temporary Notes an equal aggregate 
principal amount of Physical Notes.  Such exchange shall be made by the Company at its own expense and without any charge 
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therefor.  Until so exchanged, the temporary Notes shall in all respects be entitled to the same benefits and subject to the same 
limitations under this Indenture as Physical Notes authenticated and delivered hereunder.

Section 2.08.  Cancellation of Notes Paid, Converted, Etc.  The Company shall cause all Notes surrendered for the 
purpose of payment at maturity, repurchase upon a Fundamental Change, redemption, registration of transfer or exchange (other 
than a transfer or exchange to, or for the benefit of, the Company or its Subsidiaries or other Affiliates) or conversion, if 
surrendered to the Company or any of the Company’s agents, Subsidiaries or Affiliates that the Company controls, to be 
surrendered to the Trustee for cancellation.  Concurrently with surrendering such Notes to the Trustee, the Company shall deliver 
a cancellation order to the Trustee.  All Notes delivered to the Trustee for cancellation in accordance with this Section 2.08 shall 
be canceled promptly by it in accordance with its customary procedures.  Except as expressly permitted by any of the provisions 
of this Indenture, no Notes shall be authenticated in exchange for any Notes surrendered to the Trustee for cancellation.  The 
Trustee shall dispose of canceled Notes in accordance with its customary procedures and, after such disposition, shall deliver a 
certificate of such disposition to the Company, at the Company’s written request in a Company Order.  

Section 2.09.  CUSIP Numbers.  The Company in issuing the Notes may use CUSIP numbers (if then generally in use), 
and, if so, the Company and/or the Trustee shall use CUSIP numbers in all notices issued to Holders as a convenience to such 
Holders; provided that any such notice may state that no representation is made as to the correctness of such numbers either as 
printed on the Notes or on such notice and that reliance may be placed only on the other identification numbers printed on the 
Notes.  The Company shall promptly notify the Trustee in writing of any change in the CUSIP numbers.  

Section 2.10.  Additional Notes; Repurchases.  The Company may, without the consent of the Holders and 
notwithstanding Section 2.01, reopen this Indenture and issue additional Notes hereunder with the same terms as the Notes 
initially issued hereunder (other than differences in the issue date, the issue price and interest accrued prior to the issue date of 
such additional Notes) in an unlimited aggregate principal amount; provided that if any such additional Notes are not fungible 
with the Notes initially issued hereunder for U.S. federal income tax or securities law purposes, such additional Notes shall have 
a separate CUSIP number. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture to the contrary, for 
purposes of Section 4.06(d) and Section 4.06(e), in the event additional Notes are issued pursuant to this Section 2.10, references 
to the “Last Original Issue Date” of the Notes with respect to such additional Notes shall refer only to such additional Notes. 
Prior to the issuance of any such additional Notes, the Company shall deliver to the Trustee a Company Order, an Officer’s 
Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel which such Opinion of Counsel shall state that such Notes, when authenticated and 
delivered by the Trustee and issued by the Company in the manner and subject to any conditions specified in such Opinion of 
Counsel, will constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Company, enforceable in accordance with their terms, subject 
to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization and other laws of general 
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applicability relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights and to general equity principles.

In addition, the Company may, to the extent permitted by law, and directly or indirectly (regardless of whether such 
Notes are surrendered to the Company), repurchase Notes in the open market or otherwise, whether by the Company or its 
Subsidiaries or through a private or public tender or exchange offer or through counterparties to private agreements, including by 
cash-settled swaps or other cash-settled derivatives, in each case, without prior notice to the Holders.  The Company may, at its 
option, and to the extent permitted by applicable law, reissue, resell or surrender to the Trustee for cancellation any Notes that the 
Company may repurchase; provided that if any such reissued or resold Notes are not fungible with the Notes initially issued to 
this Indenture for U.S. federal income tax or securities law purposes, such reissued or resold Notes shall have one or more 
separate CUSIP numbers. Any Notes that the Company or its Subsidiaries have purchased or otherwise acquired (other than 
Notes surrendered for cancellation pursuant to Section 2.08) shall be deemed to remain outstanding until such time as the 
Company delivers such Notes to the Trustee for cancellation in accordance with Section 2.08; provided, however, subject to the 
terms of this Indenture, Notes that the Company or any of its Affiliates own shall be deemed not to be outstanding for purposes of 
determining whether the Holders have concurred in any direction, waiver, consent or other action under this Indenture.

ARTICLE 3
Satisfaction and Discharge

Section 3.01.  Satisfaction and Discharge.  This Indenture shall upon request of the Company contained in an Officer’s 
Certificate cease to be of further effect, and the Trustee, at the expense of the Company, shall execute such instruments 
reasonably requested by the Company acknowledging satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, when (a) (i) all Notes 
theretofore authenticated and delivered (other than Notes which have been destroyed, lost or stolen and which have been 
replaced, paid or converted as provided in Section 2.06) have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation; or (ii) the Company 
has deposited with the Trustee or, in the case of shares of Common Stock, the Company has delivered to Holders, as applicable, 
after the Notes have become due and payable, whether on the Maturity Date, any Redemption Date, any Fundamental Change 
Repurchase Date, upon conversion or otherwise, cash (or cash and, if applicable, shares of Common Stock (or other Reference 
Property), solely to satisfy the Company’s Conversion Obligation) sufficient to pay all of the outstanding Notes and all other 
sums due and payable under this Indenture by the Company; and (b) the Company has delivered to the Trustee an Officer’s 
Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent herein provided for relating to the satisfaction 
and discharge of this Indenture have been complied with.  Notwithstanding the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, the 
obligations of the Company to the Trustee under Article 7 shall survive in accordance with the terms thereof.
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ARTICLE 4
Particular Covenants of the Company

Section 4.01.  Payment of Principal and Interest.  The Company covenants and agrees that it will cause to be paid the 
principal (including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) of, and accrued and 
unpaid interest on, each of the Notes at the places, at the respective times and in the manner provided herein and in the Notes.  

Section 4.02.  Maintenance of Office or Agency.  The Company will maintain in the continental United States, an office 
or agency where the Notes may be surrendered for registration of transfer or exchange or for presentation for payment or 
repurchase (“Paying Agent”) or for conversion (“Conversion Agent”) and where notices and demands to or upon the Company 
in respect of the Notes and this Indenture may be made.  The Company will give prompt written notice to the Trustee of the 
location, and any change in the location, of such office or agency.  If at any time the Company shall fail to maintain any such 
required office or agency or shall fail to furnish the Trustee with the address thereof, such presentations, surrenders, notices and 
demands may be made or served at the Corporate Trust Office or the office or agency of the Trustee in the continental United 
States.

The Company may also from time to time designate as co-Note Registrars one or more other offices or agencies where 
the Notes may be presented or surrendered for any or all such purposes and may from time to time rescind such designations; 
provided that no such designation or rescission shall in any manner relieve the Company of its obligation to maintain an office or 
agency in the continental United States, for such purposes.  The Company will give prompt written notice to the Trustee of any 
such designation or rescission and of any change in the location of any such other office or agency.  The terms “Paying Agent” 
and “Conversion Agent” include any such additional or other offices or agencies, as applicable.

The Company hereby initially designates the Trustee as the Paying Agent, Note Registrar, Custodian and Conversion 
Agent and the Corporate Trust Office as the office or agency in the continental United States, where Notes may be surrendered 
for registration of transfer or exchange or for presentation for payment or repurchase or for conversion and where notices and 
demands in respect of the Notes and this Indenture may be made; provided that the Corporate Trust Office shall not be a place for 
service of legal process on the Company.

Section 4.03.  Appointments to Fill Vacancies in Trustee’s Office.  The Company, whenever necessary to avoid or fill a 
vacancy in the office of Trustee, will appoint, in the manner provided in Section 7.09, a Trustee, so that there shall at all times be 
a Trustee hereunder.

Section 4.04.  Provisions as to Paying Agent.  (a) If the Company shall appoint a Paying Agent other than the Trustee, 
the Company will cause such Paying Agent to execute and deliver to the Trustee an instrument in which such agent shall agree 
with the Trustee, subject to the provisions of this Section 4.04:

(i)	 that it will hold all sums held by it as such agent for the payment of the principal (including the 
Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase 
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Price, if applicable) of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, the Notes in trust for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes;

(ii)	 that it will give the Trustee prompt written notice of any failure by the Company to make any payment 
of the principal (including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) of, and 
accrued and unpaid interest on, the Notes when the same shall be due and payable; and

(iii)	 that at any time during the continuance of an Event of Default, upon request of the Trustee, it will 
forthwith pay to the Trustee all sums so held in trust.

The Company shall, on or before each due date of the principal (including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental 
Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) of, or accrued and unpaid interest on, the Notes, deposit with the Paying Agent a sum in 
immediately available U.S. Dollars sufficient to pay such principal (including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change 
Repurchase Price, if applicable) or accrued and unpaid interest, and (unless such Paying Agent is the Trustee) the Company will 
promptly notify the Trustee in writing of any failure to take such action; provided that if such deposit is made on the due date, 
such deposit must be received by the Paying Agent by 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on such date.

(b)	 If the Company shall act as its own Paying Agent, it will, on or before each due date of the principal (including 
the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, the 
Notes, set aside, segregate and hold in trust for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes a sum sufficient to pay such principal 
(including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) and accrued and unpaid interest 
so becoming due and will promptly notify the Trustee in writing of any failure to take such action and of any failure by the 
Company to make any payment of the principal (including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, 
if applicable) of, or accrued and unpaid interest on, the Notes when the same shall become due and payable.

(c)	 Anything in this Section 4.04 to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company may, at any time, for the purpose of 
obtaining a satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, or for any other reason, pay, cause to be paid or deliver to the Trustee all 
sums or amounts held in trust by the Company or any Paying Agent hereunder as required by this Section 4.04, such sums or 
amounts to be held by the Trustee upon the trusts herein contained and upon such payment or delivery by the Company or any 
Paying Agent to the Trustee, the Company or such Paying Agent shall be released from all further liability but only with respect 
to such sums or amounts. Upon the occurrence of any event specified in Section 6.01(i) or Section 6.01(j), the Trustee shall 
automatically become the Paying Agent.

(d)	 Subject to applicable law, any money or property deposited with the Trustee, the Conversion Agent or any 
Paying Agent, or any money and shares of Common Stock then held by the Company, in trust for the payment of the principal 
(including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) of, accrued and unpaid interest on 
and 
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the consideration due upon conversion of any Note and remaining unclaimed for two years after such principal (including the 
Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable), interest or consideration due upon conversion 
has become due and payable shall be paid to the Company on request of the Company contained in an Officer’s Certificate, or (if 
then held by the Company) shall be discharged from such trust and the Trustee shall have no further liability with respect to such 
fund or property; and the Holder of such Note shall thereafter, as an unsecured general creditor, look only to the Company for 
payment thereof, and all liability of the Trustee, the Conversion Agent or such Paying Agent with respect to such trust money, 
and all liability of the Company as trustee thereof, shall thereupon cease; provided, however, that the Trustee, the Conversion 
Agent or such Paying Agent, before being required to make any such repayment, shall at the expense of the Company cause to be 
published once, in a newspaper published in the English language, customarily published on each Business Day and of general 
circulation in The Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, notice that such money and shares of Common Stock remains 
unclaimed and that, after a date specified therein, which shall not be less than 30 days from the date of such publication, any 
unclaimed balance of such money and shares of Common Stock then remaining will be repaid or delivered to the Company.

Section 4.05.  Existence.  Subject to Article 11, the Company shall do or cause to be done all things necessary to 
preserve and keep in full force and effect its corporate existence.

Section 4.06.  Rule 144A Information Requirement and Annual Reports.  (a)  At any time the Company is not subject to 
Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the Company shall, so long as any of the Notes or any shares of Common Stock 
issuable upon conversion thereof shall, at such time, constitute “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule 144(a)(3) under 
the Securities Act, promptly provide to the Trustee and, upon written request, any Holder, beneficial owner or prospective 
purchaser of such Notes or any shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of such Notes, the information required to be 
delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act to facilitate the resale of such Notes or shares of Common Stock 
pursuant to Rule 144A.  

(b)	 The Company shall deliver to the Trustee, within 15 days after the same are required to be filed with the 
Commission (after giving effect to any grace period provided by Rule 12b-25 under the Exchange Act), copies of any documents 
or reports that the Company is required to file with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act 
(excluding any such information, documents or reports, or portions thereof, subject to, or with respect to which the Company is 
actively seeking, confidential treatment and any correspondence with the Commission).  Any such document or report that the 
Company files with the Commission via the Commission’s EDGAR system shall be deemed to be delivered to the Trustee for 
purposes of this Section 4.06(b) at the time such documents are filed via the EDGAR system (or any successor thereto), it being 
understood that the Trustee shall not be responsible for determining whether such filings have been made.  

(c)	 Delivery of the reports and documents described in subsection (b) above to the Trustee is for informational 
purposes only, and the Trustee’s receipt of such shall not constitute 
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constructive notice of any information contained therein or determinable from information contained therein, including the 
Company’s compliance with any of its covenants hereunder (as to which the Trustee is entitled to conclusively rely on Officer’s 
Certificates). The Trustee shall have no liability or responsibility for the filing, timeliness or content of any such report or 
document.  

(d)	 If, at any time during the six-month period beginning on, and including, the date that is six months after the Last 
Original Issue Date of any Notes, the Company fails to timely file any document or report that it is required to file with the 
Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as applicable (after giving effect to all applicable grace periods 
thereunder and other than reports on Form 8-K), or such Notes are not otherwise freely tradable pursuant to Rule 144 by Holders 
other than the Company’s Affiliates or Holders that were the Company’s Affiliates at any time during the three months 
immediately preceding (as a result of restrictions pursuant to U.S. securities laws or the terms of this Indenture or such Notes 
(other than any restrictive legends on the Notes issued on the date hereof)), the Company shall pay Additional Interest on such 
Notes.  Such Additional Interest shall accrue on the Notes (i) at the rate of 0.25% per annum of the principal amount of such 
Notes outstanding for each day during the first 90 days of such period for which the Company’s failure to file has occurred and is 
continuing or such Notes are not otherwise freely tradable pursuant to Rule 144 by Holders other than the Company’s Affiliates 
(or Holders that were the Company’s Affiliates at any time during the three months immediately preceding) and (ii) at the rate of 
0.50% per annum of the principal amount of such Notes outstanding for each day after the 90th day of such period for which the 
Company’s failure to file has occurred and is continuing or such Notes are not otherwise freely tradable pursuant to Rule 144 by 
Holders other than the Company’s Affiliates (or Holders that were the Company’s Affiliates at any time during the three months 
immediately preceding).  As used in this Section 4.06(d), documents or reports that the Company is required to “file” with the 
Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act does not include documents or reports that the Company 
furnishes to the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.  

(e)	 If, and for so long as, the restrictive legend on any Notes specified in Section 2.05(c) has not been removed, such 
Notes are assigned a restricted CUSIP or such Notes are not otherwise freely tradable pursuant to Rule 144 by Holders other than 
the Company’s Affiliates or Holders that were the Company’s Affiliates at any time during the three months immediately 
preceding (without restrictions pursuant to U.S. securities laws or the terms of this Indenture or the Notes) as of the De-
Legending Deadline Date for such Notes, the Company shall pay Additional Interest on such Notes at (i) a rate equal to 0.25% 
per annum of the principal amount of such Notes for each day during the period beginning on, and including, the De-Legending 
Deadline Date and ending on the earlier of (x) the 90th day immediately following the De-Legending Deadline Date and (y) the 
date on which the restrictive legend on such Notes has been removed in accordance with Section 2.05(c), such Notes are assigned 
an unrestricted CUSIP and such Notes are freely tradable pursuant to Rule 144 by Holders other than the Company’s Affiliates 
(or Holders that were the Company’s Affiliates at any time during the three months immediately preceding) without restrictions 
pursuant to U.S. securities laws or the terms of this Indenture or the Notes and (ii) at a rate equal to 0.50% per annum of the 
principal amount of 
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such Notes outstanding for each day during the period beginning on, and including, the 91st day immediately following the De-
Legending Deadline Date and ending on the date on which the restrictive legend on such Notes has been removed in accordance 
with Section 2.05(c), such Notes are assigned an unrestricted CUSIP and such Notes are freely tradable pursuant to Rule 144 by 
Holders other than the Company’s Affiliates (or Holders that were the Company’s Affiliates at any time during the three months 
immediately preceding) without restrictions pursuant to U.S. securities laws or the terms of this Indenture or the Notes.  

(f)	 Additional Interest will be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date following accrual in the same 
manner as regular interest on the Notes.  

(g)	 The Additional Interest that is payable in accordance with Section 4.06(d) or Section 4.06(e) shall be in addition 
to, and not in lieu of, any Additional Interest that may be payable as a result of the Company’s election pursuant to Section 6.03. 
However, in no event shall any Additional Interest that may accrue as a result of the Company’s failure to timely file any 
document or report that it is required to file with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as 
applicable, after giving effect to all applicable grace periods thereunder and other than reports on Form 8-K), as described in 
Section 4.06(d), together with any Additional Interest payable at the Company’s election as the remedy for an Event of Default 
relating to the Company’s failure to comply with its obligations as set forth in Section 4.06(b), accrue at a rate in excess of 0.50% 
per annum pursuant to this Indenture, regardless of the number of events or circumstances giving rise to the requirement to pay 
such Additional Interest.

(h)	 If Additional Interest is payable by the Company pursuant to Section 4.06(d) or Section 4.06(e), the Company 
shall deliver to the Trustee, no later than five Business Days prior to the applicable payment date, an Officer’s Certificate to that 
effect stating (i) the amount of such Additional Interest that is payable and (ii) the date on which such Additional Interest is 
payable.  Unless and until a Responsible Officer of the Trustee receives at the Corporate Trust Office such a certificate, the 
Trustee may assume without inquiry that no such Additional Interest is payable, and the Trustee shall not have any duty to verify 
the Company’s calculation of Additional Interest.  If the Company has paid Additional Interest directly to the Persons entitled to 
it, the Company shall deliver to the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate setting forth the particulars of such payment.

Section 4.07.  Stay, Extension and Usury Laws.  The Company covenants (to the extent that it may lawfully do so) that it 
shall not at any time insist upon, plead, or in any manner whatsoever claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay, 
extension or usury law or other law that would prohibit or forgive the Company from paying all or any portion of the principal of 
or interest on the Notes as contemplated herein, wherever enacted, now or at any time hereafter in force, or that may affect the 
covenants or the performance of this Indenture; and the Company (to the extent it may lawfully do so) hereby expressly waives 
all benefit or advantage of any such law, and covenants that it will not, by resort to any such law, hinder, delay or impede the 
execution of any power herein granted to the Trustee, but will suffer and permit the execution of every such power as though no 
such law had been enacted.
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Section 4.08.  Compliance Certificate; Statements as to Defaults.  The Company shall deliver to the Trustee at its 
Corporate Trust Office, within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Company (beginning with the first such fiscal year 
ending after the date of this Indenture) an Officer’s Certificate stating whether the signers thereof have knowledge of any Event 
of Default or Default that occurred during the previous year and, if so, specifying each such Event of Default or Default and the 
nature thereof.

In addition, the Company shall deliver to the Trustee at its Corporate Trust Office, within 30 days after the occurrence of 
any Event of Default or Default, an Officer’s Certificate setting forth the details of such Event of Default or Default, its status and 
the action that the Company is taking or proposing to take in respect thereof.

Section 4.09.  Further Instruments and Acts.  Upon request of the Trustee, Paying Agent, or Conversion Agent, the 
Company will execute and deliver such further instruments and do such further acts as may be reasonably necessary or proper to 
carry out more effectively the purposes of this Indenture.

ARTICLE 5
Lists of Holders and Reports by the Company and the Trustee

Section 5.01.  Lists of Holders.  The Company covenants and agrees that it will furnish or cause to be furnished to the 
Trustee, semi-annually, not more than 15 days after each February 15 and August 15 in each year beginning with August 15, 
2024, and at such other times as the Trustee may request in writing, within 30 days after receipt by the Company of any such 
request (or such lesser time as the Trustee may reasonably request in order to enable it to timely provide any notice to be 
provided by it hereunder), a list in such form as the Trustee may reasonably require of the names and addresses of the Holders as 
of a date not more than 15 days (or such other date as the Trustee may reasonably request in order to so provide any such notices) 
prior to the time such information is furnished, except that no such list need be furnished so long as the Trustee is acting as Note 
Registrar.

Section 5.02.  Preservation and Disclosure of Lists.  The Trustee shall preserve, in as current a form as is reasonably 
practicable, all information as to the names and addresses of the Holders contained in the most recent list furnished to it as 
provided in Section 5.01 or maintained by the Trustee in its capacity as Note Registrar, if so acting.  The Trustee may destroy any 
list furnished to it as provided in Section 5.01 upon receipt of a new list so furnished.

ARTICLE 6
Defaults and Remedies

Section 6.01.  Events of Default.  Each of the following events shall be an “Event of Default” with respect to the Notes:

(a)	 default in any payment of interest on any Note when due and payable, and the default continues for a period of 
30 days;
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(b)	 default in the payment of principal of any Note when due and payable on the Maturity Date, upon Optional 
Redemption, upon any required repurchase, upon declaration of acceleration or otherwise;

(c)	 failure by the Company to comply with its obligation to convert the Notes in accordance with this Indenture upon 
exercise of a Holder’s conversion right and such failure continues for a period of three Business Days;

(d)	 failure by the Company to issue (i) a Fundamental Change Company Notice in accordance with Section 15.02(c) 
or notice of a specified corporate transaction in accordance with Section 14.01(b)(iii), in each case when due and such failure 
continues for a period of five Business Days or (ii) notice of a specified corporate transaction in accordance with Section 
14.01(b)(ii) when due; 

(e)	 failure by the Company to comply with its obligations under Article 11;

(f)	 failure by the Company for 60 days after written notice from the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in 
principal amount of the Notes then outstanding has been received by the Company to comply with any of its other agreements 
contained in the Notes or this Indenture;

(g)	 default by the Company or any Material Subsidiary with respect to any mortgage, agreement or other instrument 
under which there may be outstanding, or by which there may be secured or evidenced, any indebtedness for money borrowed in 
excess of $90,000,000 (or its foreign currency equivalent) in the aggregate of the Company and/or any such Material Subsidiary, 
whether such indebtedness now exists or shall hereafter be created (i) resulting in such indebtedness becoming or being declared 
due and payable or (ii) constituting a failure to pay the principal or interest of any such indebtedness when due and payable at its 
stated maturity, upon required repurchase, upon declaration of acceleration or otherwise, in each case where such default is not 
cured or waived within 30 days after notice to the Company by the Trustee or to the Company and the Trustee by Holders of at 
least 25% of the aggregate principal amount of Notes then outstanding; 

(h)	 [reserved];

(i)	 the Company or any Material Subsidiary shall commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking 
liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to the Company or any such Material Subsidiary or its debts under any 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, 
custodian or other similar official of the Company or any such Material Subsidiary or any substantial part of its property, or shall 
consent to any such relief or to the appointment of or taking possession by any such official in an involuntary case or other 
proceeding commenced against it, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail generally to pay its 
debts as they become due; or
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(j)	 an involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against the Company or any Material Subsidiary 
seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to the Company or such Material Subsidiary or its debts under any 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, 
custodian or other similar official of the Company or such Material Subsidiary or any substantial part of its property, and such 
involuntary case or other proceeding shall remain undismissed and unstayed for a period of 60 consecutive days.

Section 6.02.  Acceleration; Rescission and Annulment.  If one or more Events of Default shall have occurred and be 
continuing (whatever the reason for such Event of Default and whether it shall be voluntary or involuntary or be effected by 
operation of law or pursuant to any judgment, decree or order of any court or any order, rule or regulation of any administrative 
or governmental body), then, and in each and every such case (other than an Event of Default specified in Section 6.01(i) or 
Section 6.01(j) with respect to the Company), unless the principal of all of the Notes shall have already become due and payable, 
either the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding determined in 
accordance with Section 8.04, by notice in writing to the Company (and to the Trustee if given by Holders), may declare 100% of 
the principal of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, all the Notes to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such 
declaration the same shall become and shall automatically be immediately due and payable, anything contained in this Indenture 
or in the Notes to the contrary notwithstanding.  If an Event of Default specified in Section 6.01(i) or Section 6.01(j) with respect 
to the Company (and not involving solely one or more of its Material Subsidiaries) occurs and is continuing, 100% of the 
principal of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on, all Notes shall become and shall automatically be immediately due and 
payable.  

The immediately preceding paragraph, however, is subject to the conditions that if, at any time after the principal of the 
Notes shall have been so declared due and payable, and before any judgment or decree for the payment of the monies due shall 
have been obtained or entered as hereinafter provided, the Company shall pay or shall deposit with the Trustee a sum sufficient to 
pay installments of accrued and unpaid interest upon all Notes and the principal of any and all Notes that shall have become due 
otherwise than by acceleration (with interest on overdue installments of accrued and unpaid interest to the extent that payment of 
such interest is enforceable under applicable law, and on such principal at the rate borne by the Notes at such time) and amounts 
due to the Trustee pursuant to Section 7.06, and if (1) rescission would not conflict with any judgment or decree of a court of 
competent jurisdiction and (2) any and all existing Events of Default, other than the nonpayment of the principal of and accrued 
and unpaid interest, if any, on Notes that shall have become due solely by such acceleration, shall have been cured or waived 
pursuant to Section 6.09, then and in every such case (except as provided in the immediately succeeding sentence) the Holders of 
a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, by written notice to the Company and to the Trustee, may 
waive all Defaults or Events of Default with respect to the Notes and rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences and 
such Default shall cease to exist, and any Event of Default arising therefrom shall be deemed to have been cured for every 
purpose of this Indenture; but no such waiver or rescission and annulment shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent Default 
or 
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Event of Default, or shall impair any right consequent thereon.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no such waiver 
or rescission and annulment shall extend to or shall affect any Default or Event of Default resulting from (i) the nonpayment of 
the principal (including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) of, or accrued and 
unpaid interest on, any Notes, (ii) a failure to repurchase any Notes when required or (iii) a failure to pay or deliver, as the case 
may be, the consideration due upon conversion of the Notes.

Section 6.03.  Additional Interest.  Notwithstanding anything in this Indenture or in the Notes to the contrary, to the 
extent the Company elects, the sole remedy for an Event of Default relating to the Company’s failure to comply with its 
obligations as set forth in Section 4.06(b) shall after the occurrence of such an Event of Default consist exclusively of the right to 
receive Additional Interest on the Notes at a rate equal to: (i) 0.25% per annum of the principal amount of the Notes outstanding 
for each day during the period beginning on, and including, the date on which such Event of Default first occurs and ending on 
the earlier of (x) the date on which such Event of Default is cured or validly waived in accordance with this Article 6 and (y) the 
180th day immediately following, and including, the date on which such Event of Default first occurs and (ii) if such Event of 
Default has not been cured or validly waived prior to the 181st day immediately following, and including, the date on which such 
Event of Default first occurs, 0.50% per annum of the principal amount of Notes outstanding for each day during the period 
beginning on, and including, the 181st day immediately following, and including, the date on which such Event of Default first 
occurs and ending on the earlier of (x) the date on which the Event of Default is cured or validly waived in accordance with this 
Article 6 and (y) the 360th day immediately following, and including, the date on which such event of default first occurs.  
Additional Interest payable pursuant to this Section 6.03 shall be in addition to, not in lieu of, any Additional Interest payable 
pursuant to Section 4.06(d) or Section 4.06(e), subject to the second immediately succeeding paragraph. If the Company so 
elects, such Additional Interest shall be payable in the same manner and on the same dates as the stated interest payable on the 
Notes.  On the 361st day after such Event of Default (if the Event of Default relating to the Company’s failure to file is not cured 
or waived prior to such 361st day), the Notes shall be immediately subject to acceleration as provided in Section 6.02.  The 
provisions of this paragraph will not affect the rights of Holders of Notes in the event of the occurrence of any Event of Default 
other than the Company’s failure to comply with its obligations as set forth in ‎Section 4.06(b).  In the event the Company does 
not elect to pay Additional Interest following an Event of Default in accordance with this Section 6.03 or the Company elected to 
make such payment but does not pay the Additional Interest when due, the Notes shall be immediately subject to acceleration as 
provided in Section 6.02.

In order to elect to pay Additional Interest as the sole remedy during the first 360 days after the occurrence of any Event 
of Default described in the immediately preceding paragraph, the Company must notify all Holders of the Notes, the Trustee and 
the Paying Agent in writing of such election prior to the beginning of such 360-day period.  Upon the failure to timely give such 
notice, the Notes shall be immediately subject to acceleration as provided in Section 6.02.

In no event shall Additional Interest payable at the Company’s election as the remedy for an Event of Default relating to 
the Company’s failure to comply with its obligations as set forth 
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in Section 4.06(b), together with any Additional Interest that may accrue as a result of the Company’s failure to timely file any 
document or report that it is required to file with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as 
applicable (after giving effect to all applicable grace periods thereunder and other than reports on Form 8-K), pursuant to Section 
4.06(d), accrue at a rate in excess of 0.50% per annum pursuant to this Indenture, regardless of the number of events or 
circumstances giving rise to the requirement to pay such Additional Interest. The Trustee shall have no duty to calculate or verify 
the calculation of Additional Interest.  The Company shall send written notice to the Holder of each Note and the Trustee of the 
commencement and termination of any period on which Additional Interest accrues on such Note under any provision of this 
Indenture.

Section 6.04.  Payments of Notes on Default; Suit Therefor.  If an Event of Default described in clause (a) or (b) of 
Section 6.01 shall have occurred, the Company shall, upon demand of the Trustee, pay to the Trustee, for the benefit of the 
Holders of the Notes, the whole amount then due and payable on the Notes for principal and interest, if any, with interest on any 
overdue principal and interest, if any, at the rate borne by the Notes at such time, and, in addition thereto, such further amount as 
shall be sufficient to cover any amounts due to the Trustee under Section 7.06.  If the Company shall fail to pay such amounts 
forthwith upon such demand, the Trustee, in its own name and as trustee of an express trust, may institute a judicial proceeding 
for the collection of the sums so due and unpaid, may prosecute such proceeding to judgment or final decree and may enforce the 
same against the Company or any other obligor upon the Notes and collect the moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable in the 
manner provided by law out of the property of the Company or any other obligor upon the Notes, wherever situated.

In the event there shall be pending proceedings for the bankruptcy or for the reorganization of the Company or any other 
obligor on the Notes under Title 11 of the United States Code, or any other applicable law, or in case a receiver, assignee or 
trustee in bankruptcy or reorganization, liquidator, sequestrator or similar official shall have been appointed for or taken 
possession of the Company or such other obligor, the property of the Company or such other obligor, or in the event of any other 
judicial proceedings relative to the Company or such other obligor upon the Notes, or to the creditors or property of the Company 
or such other obligor, the Trustee, irrespective of whether the principal of the Notes shall then be due and payable as therein 
expressed or by declaration or otherwise and irrespective of whether the Trustee shall have made any demand pursuant to the 
provisions of this Section 6.04, shall be entitled and empowered, by intervention in such proceedings or otherwise, to file and 
prove a claim or claims for the whole amount of principal and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, in respect of the Notes, and, in 
case of any judicial proceedings, to file such proofs of claim and other papers or documents and to take such other actions as it 
may deem necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Trustee (including any claim for the compensation, expenses, 
disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel) and of the Holders allowed in such judicial proceedings 
relative to the Company or any other obligor on the Notes, its or their creditors, or its or their property, and to collect and receive 
any monies or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims, and to distribute the same after the deduction of any 
amounts due to the Trustee under Section 7.06; and any receiver, assignee or trustee in bankruptcy or reorganization, liquidator, 
custodian or similar official is hereby authorized by each of the 
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Holders to make such payments to the Trustee, as administrative expenses, and, in the event that the Trustee shall consent to the 
making of such payments directly to the Holders, to pay to the Trustee any amount due it for reasonable compensation, expenses, 
advances and disbursements, including reasonable agents and counsel fees, and including any other amounts due to the Trustee 
under Section 7.06, incurred by it up to the date of such distribution.  To the extent that such payment of compensation, expenses, 
advances and disbursements out of the estate in any such proceedings shall be denied for any reason, payment of the same shall 
be secured by a lien on, and shall be paid out of, any and all distributions, dividends, monies, securities and other property that 
the Holders of the Notes may be entitled to receive in such proceedings, whether in liquidation or under any plan of 
reorganization or arrangement or otherwise.

Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to authorize the Trustee to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf 
of any Holder any plan of reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition affecting such Holder or the rights of any 
Holder thereof, or to authorize the Trustee to vote in respect of the claim of any Holder in any such proceeding.

All rights of action and of asserting claims under this Indenture, or under any of the Notes, may be enforced by the 
Trustee without the possession of any of the Notes, or the production thereof at any trial or other proceeding relative thereto, and 
any such suit or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its own name as trustee of an express trust, and any 
recovery of judgment shall, after provision for the payment of the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and 
advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, be for the ratable benefit of the Holders of the Notes.

In any proceedings brought by the Trustee (and in any proceedings involving the interpretation of any provision of this 
Indenture to which the Trustee shall be a party) the Trustee shall be held to represent all the Holders of the Notes, and it shall not 
be necessary to make any Holders of the Notes parties to any such proceedings.

In case the Trustee shall have proceeded to enforce any right under this Indenture and such proceedings shall have been 
discontinued or abandoned because of any waiver pursuant to Section 6.09 or any rescission and annulment pursuant to Section 
6.02 or for any other reason or shall have been determined adversely to the Trustee, then and in every such case the Company, the 
Holders and the Trustee shall, subject to any determination in such proceeding, be restored respectively to their several positions 
and rights hereunder, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Company, the Holders and the Trustee shall continue as though 
no such proceeding had been instituted.

Section 6.05.  Application of Monies Collected by Trustee.  Any monies or property collected by the Trustee pursuant to 
this Article 6 with respect to the Notes shall be applied in the following order, at the date or dates fixed by the Trustee for the 
distribution of such monies or property, upon presentation of the several Notes, and stamping thereon the payment, if only 
partially paid, and upon surrender thereof, if fully paid:

First, to the payment of all amounts due the Trustee and the Agents hereunder;
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Second, in case the principal of the outstanding Notes shall not have become due and be unpaid, to the payment of 
interest on, and any cash due upon conversion of, the Notes in default in the order of the date due of the payments of such interest 
and cash due upon conversion, as the case may be, with interest (to the extent that such interest has been collected by the Trustee) 
upon such overdue payments at the rate borne by the Notes at such time, such payments to be made ratably to the Persons entitled 
thereto;

Third, in case the principal of the outstanding Notes shall have become due, by declaration or otherwise, and be unpaid 
to the payment of the whole amount (including, if applicable, the payment of the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change 
Repurchase Price and any cash due upon conversion) then owing and unpaid upon the Notes for principal and interest, if any, 
with interest on the overdue principal and, to the extent that such interest has been collected by the Trustee, upon overdue 
installments of interest at the rate borne by the Notes at such time, and in case such monies shall be insufficient to pay in full the 
whole amounts so due and unpaid upon the Notes, then to the payment of such principal (including, if applicable, the Redemption 
Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price and any cash due upon conversion) and interest without preference or 
priority of principal over interest, or of interest over principal or of any installment of interest over any other installment of 
interest, or of any Note over any other Note, ratably to the aggregate of such principal (including, if applicable, the Redemption 
Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price and any cash due upon conversion) and accrued and unpaid interest; and

Fourth, to the payment of the remainder, if any, to the Company.

Section 6.06.  Proceedings by Holders.  Except to enforce the right to receive payment of principal (including, if 
applicable, the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price) or interest when due, or the right to receive 
payment or delivery of the consideration due upon conversion, no Holder of any Note shall have any right by virtue of or by 
availing of any provision of this Indenture to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law upon or under or with 
respect to this Indenture, or for the appointment of a receiver, trustee, liquidator, custodian or other similar official, or for any 
other remedy hereunder, unless: 

(a)	 such Holder previously shall have given to the Trustee written notice of an Event of Default and of the 
continuance thereof, as herein provided;

(b)	 Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding shall have made written 
request upon the Trustee to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name as Trustee hereunder;

(c)	 such Holders shall have offered to the Trustee such security or indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee against any 
loss, liability or expense to be incurred therein or thereby;

(d)	 the Trustee has not complied with such request within 60 days after receipt of the request and the offer of such 
security or indemnity; and 
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(e)	 no direction that, in the opinion of the Trustee, is inconsistent with such written request shall have been given to 
the Trustee by the Holders of a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding within such 60-day 
period pursuant to Section 6.09, 

it being understood and intended, and being expressly covenanted by the taker and Holder of every Note with every other taker 
and Holder and the Trustee that no one or more Holders shall have any right in any manner whatever by virtue of or by availing 
of any provision of this Indenture to affect, disturb or prejudice the rights of any other Holder, or to obtain or seek to obtain 
priority over or preference to any other such Holder, or to enforce any right under this Indenture, except in the manner herein 
provided and for the equal, ratable and common benefit of all Holders (except as otherwise provided herein) (it being understood 
that the Trustee shall have no obligation to determine whether any such action or inaction would unduly prejudice the rights of 
another Holder).  For the protection and enforcement of this Section 6.06, each and every Holder and the Trustee shall be entitled 
to such relief as can be given either at law or in equity.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture and any provision of any Note, each Holder shall have the right to 
institute suit for the enforcement of its right to receive payment or delivery, as the case may be, of (x) the principal (including the 
Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) of, (y) accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on, 
and (z) the consideration due upon conversion of, such Note, on or after the respective due dates expressed or provided for in 
such Note or in this Indenture.

Section 6.07.  Proceedings by Trustee.  In case of an Event of Default, the Trustee may in its discretion proceed to 
protect and enforce the rights vested in it by this Indenture by such appropriate judicial proceedings as are necessary to protect 
and enforce any of such rights, either by suit in equity or by action at law or by proceeding in bankruptcy or otherwise, whether 
for the specific enforcement of any covenant or agreement contained in this Indenture or in aid of the exercise of any power 
granted in this Indenture, or to enforce any other legal or equitable right vested in the Trustee by this Indenture or by law.

Section 6.08.  Remedies Cumulative and Continuing.  Except as provided in the last paragraph of Section 2.06, all 
powers and remedies given by this Article 6 to the Trustee or to the Holders shall, to the extent permitted by law, be deemed 
cumulative and not exclusive of any thereof or of any other powers and remedies available to the Trustee or the Holders of the 
Notes, by judicial proceedings or otherwise, to enforce the performance or observance of the covenants and agreements contained 
in this Indenture, and no delay or omission of the Trustee or of any Holder of any of the Notes to exercise any right or power 
accruing upon any Default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power, or shall be construed to be a waiver of any 
such Default or Event of Default or any acquiescence therein; and, subject to the provisions of Section 6.06, every power and 
remedy given by this Article 6 or by law to the Trustee or to the Holders may be exercised from time to time, and as often as shall 
be deemed expedient, by the Trustee or by the Holders.
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Section 6.09.  Direction of Proceedings and Waiver of Defaults by Majority of Holders.  The Holders of a majority of the 
aggregate principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding determined in accordance with Section 8.04 shall have the right 
to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee or exercising any trust 
or power conferred on the Trustee with respect to the Notes; provided, however, that (a) such direction shall not be in conflict 
with any rule of law or with this Indenture, and (b) the Trustee may take any other action deemed proper by the Trustee that is not 
inconsistent with such direction.  The Trustee may refuse to follow any direction that it determines is unduly prejudicial to the 
rights of any other Holder or that would involve the Trustee in personal liability (it being understood that the Trustee shall not 
have an affirmative duty to ascertain whether or not any such direction is unduly prejudicial to any other Holder) or for which it 
has not received indemnity or security satisfactory to the Trustee against any loss, liability or expense.  The Holders of a majority 
in aggregate principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding determined in accordance with Section 8.04 may on behalf of 
the Holders of all of the Notes waive any past Default or Event of Default hereunder and its consequences except (i) a default in 
the payment of accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on, or the principal (including any Redemption Price and any Fundamental 
Change Repurchase Price) of, the Notes when due that has not been cured pursuant to the provisions of Section 6.01, (ii) a failure 
by the Company to repurchase any Notes when required or to pay or deliver, as the case may be, the consideration due upon 
conversion of the Notes or (iii) a default in respect of a covenant or provision hereof which under Article 10 cannot be modified 
or amended without the consent of each Holder of an outstanding Note affected.  Upon any such waiver the Company, the 
Trustee and the Holders of the Notes shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder; but no such waiver shall 
extend to any subsequent or other Default or Event of Default or impair any right consequent thereon.  Whenever any Default or 
Event of Default hereunder shall have been waived as permitted by this Section 6.09, said Default or Event of Default shall for all 
purposes of the Notes and this Indenture be deemed to have been cured and to be not continuing; but no such waiver shall extend 
to any subsequent or other Default or Event of Default or impair any right consequent thereon.

Section 6.10.  Notice of Defaults.  The Trustee shall, within 90 days after the Trustee has received written notice of the 
occurrence and continuance of a Default of which a Responsible Officer has actual knowledge, deliver to all Holders notice of all 
such Defaults, unless such Defaults shall have been cured or waived before the giving of such notice; provided that, except in the 
case of a Default in the payment of the principal of (including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase 
Price, if applicable), or accrued and unpaid interest on, any of the Notes or a Default in the payment or delivery of the 
consideration due upon conversion, the Trustee shall be protected in withholding such notice if and so long as the Trustee in good 
faith determines that the withholding of such notice is in the interests of the Holders.

Section 6.11.  Undertaking to Pay Costs.  All parties to this Indenture agree, and each Holder of any Note by its 
acceptance thereof shall be deemed to have agreed, that any court may, in its discretion, require, in any suit for the enforcement 
of any right or remedy under this Indenture, or in any suit against the Trustee for any action taken or omitted by it as Trustee, the 
filing by any party litigant in such suit of an undertaking to pay the costs of such suit and that 
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such court may in its discretion assess reasonable costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, against any party 
litigant in such suit, having due regard to the merits and good faith of the claims or defenses made by such party litigant; 
provided that the provisions of this Section 6.11 (to the extent permitted by law) shall not apply to any suit instituted by the 
Trustee, to any suit instituted by any Holder, or group of Holders, holding in the aggregate more than 10% in principal amount of 
the Notes at the time outstanding determined in accordance with Section 8.04, or to any suit instituted by any Holder for the 
enforcement of the payment of the principal of or accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on any Note (including, but not limited to, 
the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) on or after the due date expressed or 
provided for in such Note or to any suit for the enforcement of the right to convert any Note, or receive the consideration due 
upon conversion, in accordance with the provisions of Article 14.

ARTICLE 7
Concerning the Trustee

Section 7.01.  Duties and Responsibilities of Trustee.  The Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and 
after the curing or waiver of all Events of Default (for which a Responsible Officer of the Trustee has written notice or actual 
knowledge) that may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are specifically set forth in this 
Indenture.  In the event an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and 
powers vested in it by this Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise, as a prudent person would exercise 
or use under the circumstances in the conduct of such person’s own affairs; provided that the Trustee will be under no obligation 
to exercise any of the rights or powers under this Indenture at the request or direction of any of the Holders unless such Holders 
have offered, and, if requested, provided to the Trustee indemnity or security satisfactory to the Trustee against any loss, liability 
or expense that might be incurred by it in compliance with such request or direction.

No provision of this Indenture shall be construed to relieve the Trustee from liability for its own grossly negligent action, 
its own grossly negligent failure to act or its own willful misconduct, except that:

(a)	 prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and after the curing or waiving of all Events of Default that may 
have occurred:

(i)	 the duties and obligations of the Trustee shall be determined solely by the express provisions of this 
Indenture, and the Trustee shall not be liable except for the performance of such duties and obligations as are specifically 
set forth in this Indenture and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee; 
and

(ii)	 in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Trustee, the Trustee may 
conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon any 
certificates or opinions furnished 
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to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements of this Indenture; but, in the case of any such certificates or opinions 
that by any provisions hereof are specifically required to be furnished to the Trustee, the Trustee shall be under a duty to 
examine the same to determine whether or not they conform to the requirements of this Indenture (but need not confirm 
or investigate the accuracy of any mathematical calculations or other facts stated therein);

(b)	 the Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Responsible Officer or Officers 
of the Trustee, unless it shall be proved that the Trustee was grossly negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts;

(c)	 the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith in 
accordance with the direction of the Holders of not less than a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes at the time 
outstanding determined as provided in Section 8.04 relating to the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any 
remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee, under this Indenture;

(d)	 whether or not therein provided, every provision of this Indenture relating to the conduct or affecting the liability 
of, or affording protection to, the Trustee shall be subject to the provisions of this Section;

(e)	 the Trustee shall not be liable in respect of any payment (as to the correctness of amount, entitlement to receive 
or any other matters relating to payment) or notice effected by the Company or any Paying Agent or any records maintained by 
any co-Note Registrar with respect to the Notes;

(f)	 if any party fails to deliver a notice relating to an event the fact of which, pursuant to this Indenture, requires 
notice to be sent to the Trustee, the Trustee may conclusively rely on its failure to receive such notice as reason to act as if no 
such event occurred, unless a Responsible Officer of the Trustee had actual knowledge of such event;

(g)	 all cash received by the Trustee shall be held in cash and the Trustee shall have no obligation to invest any 
amounts held hereunder;

(h)	 in the event that the Trustee is also acting as Custodian, Note Registrar, Paying Agent, Conversion Agent, Bid 
Solicitation Agent or transfer agent hereunder, the rights and protections afforded to the Trustee pursuant to this Article 7 shall 
also be afforded to such Custodian, Note Registrar, Paying Agent, Conversion Agent, Bid Solicitation Agent or transfer agent; 
and

(i)	 under no circumstances shall the Trustee be liable in its individual capacity for the obligations evidenced by the 
Notes.
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None of the provisions contained in this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise 
incur personal financial liability in the performance of any of its duties or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers.

Section 7.02.  Reliance on Documents, Opinions, Etc.  Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.01:

(a)	 the Trustee and Agents may conclusively rely and shall be fully protected in acting or refraining from acting 
upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, direction, consent, judgment, order, bond, 
note, coupon, debenture or other paper or document (whether in its original or facsimile form) believed by it in good faith to be 
genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties;

(b)	 any request, direction, order or demand of the Company mentioned herein shall be sufficiently evidenced by an 
Officer’s Certificate or an Opinion of Counsel (or both) (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein specifically 
prescribed); and any Board Resolution may be evidenced to the Trustee by a copy thereof certified by the Secretary or an 
Assistant Secretary of the Company. Before the Trustee acts or refrains from acting, it may require an Officer’s Certificate or an 
Opinion of Counsel or both. The Trustee will not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith reliance on such 
Officer’s Certificate or Opinion of Counsel;

(c)	 the Trustee may consult with counsel and require an Opinion of Counsel and any advice of such counsel or 
Opinion of Counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection from liability in respect of any action taken or omitted 
by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with such advice or Opinion of Counsel;

(d)	 the Trustee shall not be bound to make any investigation into the facts or matters stated in any resolution, 
certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, direction, consent, judgment, order, bond, note, coupon, 
debenture or other paper or document, but the Trustee, in its discretion, may make such further inquiry or investigation into such 
facts or matters as it may see fit, and, if the Trustee shall determine to make such further inquiry or investigation, it shall be 
entitled to examine the books, records and premises of the Company, personally or by agent or attorney at the expense of the 
Company and shall incur no liability of any kind by reason of such inquiry or investigation; 

(e)	 the Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or perform any duties hereunder either directly or 
by or through agents, custodians, nominees or attorneys and the Trustee shall not be responsible for any misconduct or negligence 
on the part of any agent, custodian, nominee or attorney appointed by it with due care hereunder;

(f)	 the rights, privileges, protections, immunities and benefits given to the Trustee, including, without limitation, its 
right to be indemnified, are extended to, and shall be enforceable by, the Trustee in each of its capacities hereunder, and each 
agent (including the Agents), Custodian and other Person employed to act hereunder;
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(g)	 the Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the performance of its powers and duties 
hereunder;

(h)	 the permissive rights of the Trustee or an Agent enumerated herein shall not be construed as duties and, with 
respect to such permissive rights, neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall be answerable for other than its gross negligence or 
willful misconduct;

(i)	 The Trustee may request that the Company deliver an Officer’s Certificate setting forth the names of individuals 
and/or titles of officers authorized at such time to take specified actions pursuant to this Indenture, which Officer’s Certificate 
may be signed by any Person authorized to sign an Officer’s Certificate, including any Person specified as so authorized in any 
such certificate previously delivered and not superseded;

(j)	 The Trustee shall be not be deemed to have notice of any Default or Event of Default (except in the case of a 
Default or Event of Default in payment of scheduled principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, any Note) unless a Responsible 
Officer of the Trustee has actual knowledge thereof or unless written notice of any event which is in fact such a Default or Event 
of Default (and stating the occurrence of a Default or Event of Default) is received by the Trustee at the Corporate Trust Office of 
the Trustee, and such notice references the Notes and this Indenture;

(k)	 The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith which it 
reasonably believes to be authorized or within its rights or powers;

(l)	 The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any action taken or omitted by it in good faith at the direction of 
the holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Notes as to the time, method and place of conducting any 
proceedings for any remedy available to the Trustee or the exercising of any power conferred by this Indenture;

(m)	 Neither the Trustee nor any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or affiliates shall be responsible for nor 
have any duty to monitor the performance or any action of the Company, or any of their respective directors, members, officers, 
agents, affiliates or employee, nor shall it have any liability in connection with the malfeasance or nonfeasance by such party. The 
Trustee shall not be responsible for any inaccuracy in the information obtained from the Company or for any inaccuracy or 
omission in the records which may result from such information or any failure by the Trustee to perform its duties as set forth 
herein as a result of any inaccuracy or incompleteness; and

(n)	 In no event shall the Trustee be liable for any punitive, indirect, incidental, special or consequential loss or 
damage of any kind whatsoever (including but not limited to lost profits), even if the Trustee has been advised of the likelihood 
of such loss or damage and regardless of the form of action.  The Trustee shall not be charged with knowledge of any Default or 
Event of Default with respect to the Notes, unless either (1) a Responsible Officer shall have actual knowledge of such Default or 
Event of Default or (2) written notice of such Default or Event of Default shall have been given to a Responsible Officer of the 
Trustee at its 
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Corporate Trust Office by the Company or by any Holder of the Notes, and such notice references the Notes and this Indenture.

Section 7.03.  No Responsibility for Recitals, Etc.  The recitals contained herein and in the Notes (except in the Trustee’s 
certificate of authentication) shall be taken as the statements of the Company, and the Trustee assumes no responsibility for the 
correctness of the same.  The Trustee makes no representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this Indenture or of the Notes.  
The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use or application by the Company of any Notes or the proceeds of any Notes 
authenticated and delivered by the Trustee in conformity with the provisions of this Indenture or any money paid to the Company 
or upon the Company’s direction under any provision of the Indenture.  The Trustee shall have no responsibility or liability with 
respect to any information, statement or recital in the Offering Memorandum or other disclosure material prepared or distributed 
with respect to the issuance of the Notes.

Section 7.04.  Trustee, Paying Agents, Conversion Agents, Bid Solicitation Agent or Note Registrar May Own Notes.  
The Trustee, any Paying Agent, any Conversion Agent, Bid Solicitation Agent (if other than the Company or any Affiliate 
thereof) or Note Registrar, in its individual or any other capacity, may become the owner or pledgee of Notes with the same rights 
it would have if it were not the Trustee, Paying Agent, Conversion Agent, Bid Solicitation Agent or Note Registrar. The rights 
protections and indemnities afforded the Trustee hereunder shall apply to the Agents and each agent of the Trustee acting 
hereunder.

Section 7.05.  Monies to Be Held in Trust.  All monies received by the Trustee shall, until used or applied as herein 
provided, be held in trust for the purposes for which they were received.  Money held by the Trustee in trust hereunder need not 
be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.  The Trustee shall be under no liability for interest on any 
money received by it hereunder except as may be agreed from time to time by the Company and the Trustee.

Section 7.06.  Compensation and Expenses of Trustee.  The Company covenants and agrees to pay to the Trustee in any 
capacity under this Indenture, from time to time, and the Trustee shall be entitled to, compensation for all services rendered by it 
hereunder in any capacity (which shall not be limited by any provision of law in regard to the compensation of a trustee of an 
express trust) as mutually agreed to in writing between the Trustee and the Company, and the Company will pay or reimburse the 
Trustee upon its request for all reasonable expenses, disbursements and advances reasonably incurred or made by the Trustee in 
accordance with any of the provisions of this Indenture in any capacity thereunder (including the compensation and the 
reasonable expenses and disbursements of its agents and counsel and of all Persons not regularly in its employ) except any such 
expense, disbursement or advance as shall have been caused by its gross negligence or willful misconduct.  The Company also 
covenants to indemnify the Trustee in any capacity under this Indenture and any other document or transaction entered into in 
connection herewith and its agents and any authenticating agent for, and to hold them harmless against, any loss, claim, damage, 
liability or expense incurred without gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Trustee, its officers, directors, 
agents or employees, or such agent or authenticating agent, as the case may be, and arising out of or in 
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connection with the acceptance or administration of this Indenture or in any other capacity hereunder, including the costs and 
expenses of defending themselves against any claim of liability.  The obligations of the Company under this Section 7.06 to 
compensate or indemnify the Trustee and to pay or reimburse the Trustee for expenses, disbursements and advances shall be 
secured by a senior lien and claim to which the Notes are hereby made subordinate on all money or property held or collected by 
the Trustee, except, subject to the effect of Section 6.05, funds held in trust herewith for the benefit of the Holders of particular 
Notes.  The Trustee’s right to receive payment of any amounts due under this Section 7.06 shall not be subordinate to any other 
liability or indebtedness of the Company.  The obligation of the Company under this Article 7 shall survive the satisfaction and 
discharge of this Indenture and the earlier resignation or removal of the Trustee.  The Company need not pay for any settlement 
made without its consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  The indemnification provided in this Section 7.06 
shall extend to the officers, directors, agents and employees of the Trustee.

Without prejudice to any other rights available to the Trustee under applicable law, when the Trustee and its agents and 
any authenticating agent incur expenses or render services after an Event of Default specified in Section 6.01(i) or Section 6.01(j) 
occurs, the expenses and the compensation for the services are intended to constitute expenses of administration under any 
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws.

Section 7.07.  Officer’s Certificate and Opinion of Counsel as Evidence.  Except as otherwise provided in Section 7.01, 
whenever in the administration of the provisions of this Indenture the Trustee shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be 
proved or established prior to taking or omitting any action hereunder, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be 
herein specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by an Officer’s Certificate and Opinion 
of Counsel delivered to the Trustee, and such Officer’s Certificate and Opinion of Counsel shall be full warrant to the Trustee for 
any action taken or omitted by it under the provisions of this Indenture upon the faith thereof.

Section 7.08.  Eligibility of Trustee.  There shall at all times be a Trustee hereunder which shall be a Person that is 
eligible pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act (as if the Trust Indenture Act were applicable hereto) to act as such and has a 
combined capital and surplus of at least $50,000,000.  If such Person publishes reports of condition at least annually, pursuant to 
law or to the requirements of any supervising or examining authority, then for the purposes of this Section, the combined capital 
and surplus of such Person shall be deemed to be its combined capital and surplus as set forth in its most recent report of 
condition so published.  If at any time the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of this Section, it 
shall resign immediately in the manner and with the effect hereinafter specified in this Article.

Section 7.09.  Resignation or Removal of Trustee.  (a) The Trustee may at any time resign by giving 30 days’ written 
notice of such resignation to the Company and by delivering notice thereof to the Holders.  Upon receiving such notice of 
resignation, the Company shall promptly appoint a successor trustee by written instrument, in duplicate, executed by order of the 
Board of Directors, one copy of which instrument shall be delivered to the resigning Trustee and one copy to the successor 
trustee.  If no successor trustee shall have been so appointed and have accepted 
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appointment within 30 days after the giving of such notice of resignation to the Holders, the resigning Trustee may, upon ten 
Business Days’ notice to the Company and the Holders, petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a 
successor trustee, or any Holder who has been a bona fide holder of a Note or Notes for at least six months (or since the date of 
this Indenture) may, subject to the provisions of Section 6.11, on behalf of himself or herself and all others similarly situated, 
petition any such court for the appointment of a successor trustee at the cost of the Company.  Such court may thereupon, after 
such notice, if any, as it may deem proper and prescribe, appoint a successor trustee.

(b)	 In case at any time any of the following shall occur:

(i)	 the Trustee shall cease to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of Section 7.08 and shall fail to 
resign after written request therefor by the Company or by any such Holder, or

(ii)	 the Trustee shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or a 
receiver of the Trustee or of its property shall be appointed, or any public officer shall take charge or control of the 
Trustee or of its property or affairs for the purpose of rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation,

then, in either case, the Company may, upon 30 days’ written notice to the Trustee, by a Board Resolution, remove the Trustee 
and appoint a successor trustee by written instrument, in duplicate, executed by order of the Board of Directors, one copy of 
which instrument shall be delivered to the Trustee so removed and one copy to the successor trustee, or, subject to the provisions 
of Section 6.11, any Holder who has been a bona fide holder of a Note or Notes for at least six months (or since the date of this 
Indenture) may, on behalf of himself or herself and all others similarly situated, petition any court of competent jurisdiction for 
the removal of the Trustee and the appointment of a successor trustee.  Such court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as it 
may deem proper and prescribe, remove the Trustee and appoint a successor trustee.

(c)	 The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding, as determined in 
accordance with Section 8.04, may, upon 30 days’ written notice to the Trustee,  remove the Trustee and nominate a successor 
trustee that shall be deemed appointed as successor trustee unless within ten days after notice to the Company of such nomination 
the Company objects thereto (and no Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing), in which case the Trustee so 
removed or any Holder, upon the terms and conditions and otherwise as in Section 7.09(a) provided, may petition any court of 
competent jurisdiction for an appointment of a successor trustee at the cost of the Company.

(d)	 Any resignation or removal of the Trustee and appointment of a successor trustee pursuant to any of the 
provisions of this Section 7.09 shall become effective upon acceptance of appointment by the successor trustee as provided in 
Section 7.10.

Section 7.10.  Acceptance by Successor Trustee.  Any successor trustee appointed as provided in Section 7.09 shall 
execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Company and to its predecessor trustee an instrument accepting such appointment 
hereunder, and thereupon the 
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resignation or removal of the predecessor trustee shall become effective and such successor trustee, without any further act, deed 
or conveyance, shall become vested with all the rights, powers, duties and obligations of its predecessor hereunder, with like 
effect as if originally named as Trustee herein; but, nevertheless, on the written request of the Company or of the successor 
trustee, the trustee ceasing to act shall, upon payment of any amounts then due it pursuant to the provisions of Section 7.06, 
execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor trustee all the rights and powers of the trustee so ceasing to act.  
Upon request of any such successor trustee, the Company shall execute any and all instruments in writing for more fully and 
certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor trustee all such rights and powers.  Any trustee ceasing to act shall, 
nevertheless, retain a senior lien and claim to which the Notes are hereby made subordinate on all money or property held or 
collected by such trustee as such, except for funds held in trust for the benefit of Holders of particular Notes, to secure any 
amounts then due it pursuant to the provisions of Section 7.06.

No successor trustee shall accept appointment as provided in this Section 7.10 unless at the time of such acceptance such 
successor trustee shall be eligible under the provisions of Section 7.08.

Upon acceptance of appointment by a successor trustee as provided in this Section 7.10, each of the Company and the 
successor trustee, at the written direction and at the expense of the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered notice of the 
succession of such trustee hereunder to the Holders.  If the Company fails to deliver such notice within ten days after acceptance 
of appointment by the successor trustee, the successor trustee shall cause such notice to be delivered at the expense of the 
Company.

Section 7.11.  Succession by Merger, Etc.  Any corporation or other entity into which the Trustee may be merged or 
converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation or other entity resulting from any merger, conversion or 
consolidation to which the Trustee shall be a party, or any corporation or other entity succeeding to all or substantially all of the 
corporate trust business of the Trustee (including the administration of this Indenture), shall be the successor to the Trustee 
hereunder without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto; provided that in 
the case of any corporation or other entity succeeding to all or substantially all of the corporate trust business of the Trustee such 
corporation or other entity shall be eligible under the provisions of Section 7.08.

In case at the time such successor to the Trustee shall succeed to the trusts created by this Indenture, any of the Notes 
shall have been authenticated but not delivered, any such successor to the Trustee may adopt the certificate of authentication of 
any predecessor trustee or authenticating agent appointed by such predecessor trustee, and deliver such Notes so authenticated; 
and in case at that time any of the Notes shall not have been authenticated, any successor to the Trustee or an authenticating agent 
appointed by such successor trustee may authenticate such Notes either in the name of any predecessor trustee hereunder or in the 
name of the successor trustee; and in all such cases such certificates shall have the full force which it is anywhere in the Notes or 
in this Indenture provided that the certificate of the Trustee shall have; provided, however, that the right to adopt the certificate of 
authentication of any predecessor 
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trustee or to authenticate Notes in the name of any predecessor trustee shall apply only to its successor or successors by merger, 
conversion or consolidation.

Section 7.12.  Trustee’s Application for Instructions from the Company.  Any application by the Trustee for written 
instructions from the Company (other than with regard to any action proposed to be taken or omitted to be taken by the Trustee 
that affects the rights of the Holders of the Notes under this Indenture) may, at the option of the Trustee, set forth in writing any 
action proposed to be taken or omitted by the Trustee under this Indenture and the date on and/or after which such action shall be 
taken or such omission shall be effective.  The Trustee shall not be liable to the Company for any action taken by, or omission of, 
the Trustee in accordance with a proposal included in such application on or after the date specified in such application (which 
date shall not be less than three Business Days after notice that the Company has been deemed to have been given pursuant to 
Section 17.03, unless any such officer shall have consented in writing to any earlier date), unless, prior to taking any such action 
(or the effective date in the case of any omission), the Trustee shall have received written instructions in accordance with this 
Indenture in response to such application specifying the action to be taken or omitted.

ARTICLE 8
Concerning the Holders

Section 8.01.  Action by Holders.  Whenever in this Indenture it is provided that the Holders of a specified percentage of 
the aggregate principal amount of the Notes may take any action (including the making of any demand or request, the giving of 
any notice, consent or waiver or the taking of any other action), the fact that at the time of taking any such action, the Holders of 
such specified percentage have joined therein may be evidenced (a) by any instrument or any number of instruments of similar 
tenor executed by Holders in person or by agent or proxy appointed in writing, or (b) by the record of the Holders voting in favor 
thereof at any meeting of Holders duly called and held in accordance with the provisions of Article 9, or (c) by a combination of 
such instrument or instruments and any such record of such a meeting of Holders.  Whenever the Company or the Trustee solicits 
the taking of any action by the Holders of the Notes, the Company or the Trustee may, but shall not be required to, fix in advance 
of such solicitation, a date as the record date for determining Holders entitled to take such action.  The record date if one is 
selected shall be not more than fifteen days prior to the date of commencement of solicitation of such action.

Section 8.02.  Proof of Execution by Holders.  Subject to the provisions of Section 7.01, Section 7.02 and Section 9.05, 
proof of the execution of any instrument by a Holder or its agent or proxy shall be sufficient if made in accordance with such 
reasonable rules and regulations as may be prescribed by the Trustee or in such manner as shall be satisfactory to the Trustee.  
The holding of Notes shall be proved by the Note Register or by a certificate of the Note Registrar.  The record of any Holders’ 
meeting shall be proved in the manner provided in Section 9.06.

Section 8.03.  Who Are Deemed Absolute Owners.  The Company, the Trustee, any authenticating agent, any Paying 
Agent, any Conversion Agent and any Note Registrar may deem the Person in whose name a Note shall be registered upon the 
Note Register to be, and may 
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treat it as, the absolute owner of such Note (whether or not such Note shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notation of 
ownership or other writing thereon made by any Person other than the Company or any Note Registrar) for the purpose of 
receiving payment of or on account of the principal (including any Redemption Price and any Fundamental Change Repurchase 
Price) of and (subject to Section 2.03) accrued and unpaid interest on such Note, for conversion of such Note and for all other 
purposes; and neither the Company nor the Trustee nor any Paying Agent nor any Conversion Agent nor any Note Registrar shall 
be affected by any notice to the contrary.  The sole registered holder of a Global Note shall be the Depositary or its nominee.  All 
such payments or deliveries so made to any Holder for the time being, or upon its order, shall be valid, and, to the extent of the 
sums or shares of Common Stock so paid or delivered, effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability for monies payable or shares 
deliverable upon any such Note.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Indenture or the Notes following an Event of 
Default, any holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note may directly enforce against the Company, without the consent, 
solicitation, proxy, authorization or any other action of the Depositary or any other Person, such holder’s right to exchange such 
beneficial interest for a Note in certificated form in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture.

Section 8.04.  Company-Owned Notes Disregarded.  In determining whether the Holders of the requisite aggregate 
principal amount of Notes have concurred in any direction, consent, waiver or other action under this Indenture, Notes that are 
owned by the Company, by any Subsidiary thereof or by any Affiliate of the Company or any Subsidiary thereof shall be 
disregarded and deemed not to be outstanding for the purpose of any such determination; provided that for the purposes of 
determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying on any such direction, consent, waiver or other action only Notes 
that a Responsible Officer knows are so owned shall be so disregarded.  Notes so owned that have been pledged in good faith 
may be regarded as outstanding for the purposes of this Section 8.04 if the pledgee shall establish to the satisfaction of the 
Trustee the pledgee’s right to so act with respect to such Notes and that the pledgee is not the Company, a Subsidiary thereof or 
an Affiliate of the Company or a Subsidiary thereof.  In the case of a dispute as to such right, any decision by the Trustee taken 
upon the advice of counsel shall be full protection to the Trustee.  Upon request of the Trustee, the Company shall furnish to the 
Trustee promptly an Officer’s Certificate listing and identifying all Notes, if any, known by the Company to be owned or held by 
or for the account of any of the above described Persons; and, subject to Section 7.01, the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such 
Officer’s Certificate as conclusive evidence of the facts therein set forth and of the fact that all Notes not listed therein are 
outstanding for the purpose of any such determination.

Section 8.05.  Revocation of Consents; Future Holders Bound.  At any time prior to (but not after) the evidencing to the 
Trustee, as provided in Section 8.01, of the taking of any action by the Holders of the percentage of the aggregate principal 
amount of the Notes specified in this Indenture in connection with such action, any Holder of a Note that is shown by the 
evidence to be included in the Notes the Holders of which have consented to such action may, by filing written notice with the 
Trustee at its Corporate Trust Office and upon proof of holding as provided in Section 8.02, revoke such action so far as concerns 
such Note.  Except as aforesaid, any such action taken by the Holder of any Note shall be conclusive and binding upon such 
Holder and upon all future Holders and owners of such Note and of any Notes issued in 
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exchange or substitution therefor or upon registration of transfer thereof, irrespective of whether any notation in regard thereto is 
made upon such Note or any Note issued in exchange or substitution therefor or upon registration of transfer thereof.

ARTICLE 9
Holders’ Meetings

Section 9.01.  Purpose of Meetings.  A meeting of Holders may be called at any time and from time to time pursuant to 
the provisions of this Article 9 for any of the following purposes:

(a)	 to give any notice to the Company or to the Trustee or to give any directions to the Trustee permitted under this 
Indenture, or to consent to the waiving of any Default or Event of Default hereunder (in each case, as permitted under this 
Indenture) and its consequences, or to take any other action authorized to be taken by Holders pursuant to any of the provisions 
of Article 6;

(b)	 to remove the Trustee and nominate a successor trustee pursuant to the provisions of Article 7;

(c)	 to consent to the execution of an indenture or indentures supplemental hereto pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 10.02; or

(d)	 to take any other action authorized to be taken by or on behalf of the Holders of any specified aggregate principal 
amount of the Notes under any other provision of this Indenture or under applicable law.

Section 9.02.  Call of Meetings by Trustee.  The Trustee may at any time call a meeting of Holders to take any action 
specified in Section 9.01, to be held at such time and at such place as the Trustee shall determine.  Notice of every meeting of the 
Holders, setting forth the time and the place of such meeting and in general terms the action proposed to be taken at such meeting 
and the establishment of any record date pursuant to Section 8.01, shall be delivered to Holders of such Notes.  Such notice shall 
also be delivered to the Company.  Such notices shall be delivered not less than 20 nor more than 90 days prior to the date fixed 
for the meeting.

Any meeting of Holders shall be valid without notice if the Holders of all Notes then outstanding are present in person or 
by proxy or if notice is waived before or after the meeting by the Holders of all Notes then outstanding, and if the Company and 
the Trustee are either present by duly authorized representatives or have, before or after the meeting, waived notice.

Section 9.03.  Call of Meetings by Company or Holders.  In case at any time the Company, pursuant to a Board 
Resolution, or the Holders of at least 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, shall have requested 
the Trustee to call a meeting of Holders, by written request setting forth in reasonable detail the action proposed to be taken at the 
meeting, and the Trustee shall not have delivered the notice of such meeting within 20 days after receipt of such request, then the 
Company or such Holders may determine the time 
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and the place for such meeting and may call such meeting to take any action authorized in Section 9.01, by delivering notice 
thereof as provided in Section 9.02.

Section 9.04.  Qualifications for Voting.  To be entitled to vote at any meeting of Holders a Person shall (a) be a Holder 
of one or more Notes on the record date pertaining to such meeting or (b) be a Person appointed by an instrument in writing as 
proxy by a Holder of one or more Notes on the record date pertaining to such meeting.  The only Persons who shall be entitled to 
be present or to speak at any meeting of Holders shall be the Persons entitled to vote at such meeting and their counsel and any 
representatives of the Trustee and its counsel and any representatives of the Company and its counsel.

Section 9.05.  Regulations.  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Indenture, the Trustee may make such 
reasonable regulations as it may deem advisable for any meeting of Holders, in regard to proof of the holding of Notes and of the 
appointment of proxies, and in regard to the appointment and duties of inspectors of votes, the submission and examination of 
proxies, certificates and other evidence of the right to vote, and such other matters concerning the conduct of the meeting as it 
shall think fit.

The Trustee shall, by an instrument in writing, appoint a temporary chairman of the meeting, unless the meeting shall 
have been called by the Company or by Holders as provided in Section 9.03, in which case the Company or the Holders calling 
the meeting, as the case may be, shall in like manner appoint a temporary chairman.  A permanent chairman and a permanent 
secretary of the meeting shall be elected by vote of the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes 
represented at the meeting and entitled to vote at the meeting.

Subject to the provisions of Section 8.04, at any meeting of Holders each Holder or proxyholder shall be entitled to one 
vote for each $1,000 principal amount of Notes held or represented by him, her or it; provided, however, that no vote shall be cast 
or counted at any meeting in respect of any Note challenged as not outstanding and ruled by the chairman of the meeting to be 
not outstanding.  The chairman of the meeting shall have no right to vote other than by virtue of Notes held by him, her or it or 
instruments in writing as aforesaid duly designating him, her or it as the proxy to vote on behalf of other Holders.  Any meeting 
of Holders duly called pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.02 or Section 9.03 may be adjourned from time to time by the 
Holders of a majority of the aggregate principal amount of Notes represented at the meeting, whether or not constituting a 
quorum, and the meeting may be held as so adjourned without further notice.

Section 9.06.  Voting.  The vote upon any resolution submitted to any meeting of Holders shall be by written ballot on 
which shall be subscribed the signatures of the Holders or of their representatives by proxy and the outstanding aggregate 
principal amount of the Notes held or represented by them.  The permanent chairman of the meeting shall appoint two inspectors 
of votes who shall count all votes cast at the meeting for or against any resolution and who shall make and file with the secretary 
of the meeting their verified written reports in duplicate of all votes cast at the meeting.  A record in duplicate of the proceedings 
of each meeting of Holders shall be prepared by the secretary of the meeting and there shall be attached to said record the 
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original reports of the inspectors of votes on any vote by ballot taken thereat and affidavits by one or more Persons having 
knowledge of the facts setting forth a copy of the notice of the meeting and showing that said notice was delivered as provided in 
Section 9.02.  The record shall show the aggregate principal amount of the Notes voting in favor of or against any resolution.  
The record shall be signed and verified by the affidavits of the permanent chairman and secretary of the meeting and one of the 
duplicates shall be delivered to the Company and the other to the Trustee to be preserved by the Trustee, the latter to have 
attached thereto the ballots voted at the meeting.

Any record so signed and verified shall be conclusive evidence of the matters therein stated.

Section 9.07.  No Delay of Rights by Meeting.  Nothing contained in this Article 9 shall be deemed or construed to 
authorize or permit, by reason of any call of a meeting of Holders or any rights expressly or impliedly conferred hereunder to 
make such call, any hindrance or delay in the exercise of any right or rights conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee or to the 
Holders under any of the provisions of this Indenture or of the Notes.

ARTICLE 10
Supplemental Indentures

Section 10.01.  Supplemental Indentures Without Consent of Holders.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 
Section 10.02, the Company, when authorized by the resolutions of the Board of Directors, and the Trustee, at the Company’s 
expense, may from time to time and at any time enter into an indenture or indentures supplemental hereto for one or more of the 
following purposes:

(a)	 to cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency;

(b)	 to provide for the assumption by a Successor Entity of the obligations of the Company under this Indenture 
pursuant to Article 11;

(c)	 to add guarantees with respect to the Notes;

(d)	 to secure the Notes;

(e)	 to add to the covenants or Events of Default of the Company for the benefit of the Holders or surrender any right 
or power conferred upon the Company;

(f)	 to make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any Holder;

(g)	 to irrevocably elect a Settlement Method and/or Specified Dollar Amount (or a minimum Specified Dollar 
Amount) or eliminate the Company’s right to elect a Settlement Method; provided, however, that (i) no such election or 
elimination shall affect any Settlement Method theretofore elected (or deemed to be elected) with respect to any Note pursuant to 
Section 14.02 and (ii) such irrevocable election or elimination can in no event result in a 
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Specified Dollar Amount of less than $1,000 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes applying to the conversion of any Note; 

(h)	 in connection with any Share Exchange Event, to provide that the Notes are convertible into units of Reference 
Property, subject to the provisions of Section 14.02, and make such related changes to the terms of the Notes to the extent 
expressly required by Section 14.07; 

(i)	 to conform the provisions of this Indenture or the Notes to the “Description of Notes” section of the Offering 
Memorandum; or

(j)	 to comply with the rules of the Depositary. 

Upon the written request of the Company, the Trustee is hereby authorized to join with the Company in the execution of 
any such supplemental indenture, but the Trustee shall not be obligated to, but may in its discretion, enter into any supplemental 
indenture that affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise.

Any supplemental indenture authorized by the provisions of this Section 10.01 may be executed by the Company and the 
Trustee without the consent of the Holders of any of the Notes at the time outstanding, notwithstanding any of the provisions of 
Section 10.02.

Section 10.02.  Supplemental Indentures with Consent of Holders.  With the consent (evidenced as provided in Article 8) 
of the Holders of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding (determined in accordance 
with Article 8 and including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a repurchase of, or tender or exchange 
offer for, Notes), the Company, when authorized by the resolutions of the Board of Directors and the Trustee, at the Company’s 
expense, may from time to time and at any time enter into an indenture or indentures supplemental hereto for the purpose of 
adding any provisions to or changing in any manner or eliminating any of the provisions of this Indenture or any supplemental 
indenture or of modifying in any manner the rights of the Holders; provided, however, that, without the consent of each Holder of 
an outstanding Note affected, no such supplemental indenture shall:

(a)	 reduce the amount of Notes whose Holders must consent to an amendment;

(b)	 reduce the rate of or extend the stated time for payment of interest on any Note;

(c)	 reduce the principal of or extend the Maturity Date of any Note;

(d)	 make any change that adversely affects the conversion rights of any Notes;

(e)	 reduce the Redemption Price or the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price of any Note or amend or modify in 
any manner adverse to the Holders the Company’s obligation to make such payments, or the Company’s right to redeem the 
Notes, whether through an amendment or waiver of provisions in the covenants, definitions or otherwise;
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(f)	 make any Note payable in a currency, or at a place of payment, other than that stated in the Note;

(g)	 change the ranking of the Notes; 

(h)	 impair the right of any Holder to receive payment of principal and interest on such Holder’s Notes on or after the 
due dates therefor or to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or with respect to such Holder’s Notes; or

(i)	 make any change in this Article 10 that requires each Holder’s consent or in the waiver provisions in Section 
6.02 or Section 6.09.

Upon the written request of the Company, and upon the filing with the Trustee of evidence of the consent of Holders as 
aforesaid and subject to Section 10.05, the Trustee shall join with the Company in the execution of such supplemental indenture 
unless such supplemental indenture affects the Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise, in 
which case the Trustee may in its discretion, but shall not be obligated to, enter into such supplemental indenture.

Holders do not need under this Section 10.02 to approve the particular form of any proposed supplemental indenture.  It 
shall be sufficient if such Holders approve the substance thereof.  After any such supplemental indenture becomes effective, the 
Company shall give to the Holders (with a copy to the Trustee) a notice briefly describing such supplemental indenture. However, 
the failure to give such notice to all the Holders, or any defect in the notice, will not impair or affect the validity of the 
supplemental indenture.

Section 10.03.  Effect of Supplemental Indentures.  Upon the execution of any supplemental indenture pursuant to the 
provisions of this Article 10, this Indenture shall be and be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance therewith and the 
respective rights, limitation of rights, obligations, duties and immunities under this Indenture of the Trustee, the Company and the 
Holders shall thereafter be determined, exercised and enforced hereunder subject in all respects to such modifications and 
amendments and all the terms and conditions of any such supplemental indenture shall be and be deemed to be part of the terms 
and conditions of this Indenture for any and all purposes.

Section 10.04.  Notation on Notes.  Notes authenticated and delivered after the execution of any supplemental indenture 
pursuant to the provisions of this Article 10 may, at the Company’s expense, bear a notation in form reasonably acceptable to the 
Company and the Trustee as to any matter provided for in such supplemental indenture.  If the Company or the Trustee shall so 
determine, new Notes so modified as to conform, in the opinion of the Trustee and the Board of Directors, to any modification of 
this Indenture contained in any such supplemental indenture may, at the Company’s expense, be prepared and executed by the 
Company, authenticated, upon receipt of a Company Order, by the Trustee (or an authenticating agent duly appointed by the 
Trustee pursuant to Section 17.10) and delivered in exchange for the Notes then outstanding, upon surrender of such Notes then 
outstanding.
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Section 10.05.  Evidence of Compliance of Supplemental Indenture to Be Furnished Trustee.  In addition to the 
documents required by Section 17.05, the Trustee shall receive an Officer’s Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel as conclusive 
evidence that any supplemental indenture executed pursuant hereto complies with the requirements of this Article 10 and is 
permitted or authorized by this Indenture, and an Opinion of Counsel stating that such supplemental indenture is a valid and 
binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company and any guarantors, as applicable, in accordance with its 
terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization and other laws of general applicability relating to or affecting the 
enforcement of creditors’ rights and to general equity principles.

ARTICLE 11
Consolidation, Merger, Sale, Conveyance and Lease

Section 11.01.  Company May Consolidate, Etc. on Certain Terms.  Subject to the provisions of Section 11.02, the 
Company shall not consolidate with, merge with or into, or sell, convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of its properties 
and assets to another Person (a “Business Combination Event”), unless:

(a)	 the resulting, surviving or transferee Person (the “Successor Entity”), if not the Company, shall be a Qualified 
Successor Entity organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, any State thereof or the District of 
Columbia, and the Qualified Successor Entity (if not the Company) shall expressly assume, by supplemental indenture all of the 
obligations of the Company under the Notes and this Indenture; and

(b)	 immediately after giving effect to such Business Combination Event, no Default or Event of Default shall have 
occurred and be continuing under this Indenture.

For purposes of this Section 11.01, the sale, conveyance, transfer or lease of all or substantially all of the properties and 
assets of one or more Subsidiaries of the Company to another Person, which properties and assets, if held by the Company 
instead of such Subsidiaries, would constitute all or substantially all of the properties and assets of the Company on a 
consolidated basis, shall be deemed to be the sale, conveyance, transfer or lease of all or substantially all of the properties and 
assets of the Company to another Person.

Section 11.02.  Successor Entity to Be Substituted.  In case of any such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer 
or lease and upon the assumption by the Successor Entity, by supplemental indenture, executed and delivered to the Trustee, of 
the due and punctual payment of the principal of and accrued and unpaid interest on all of the Notes, the due and punctual 
delivery or payment, as the case may be, of any consideration due upon conversion of the Notes and the due and punctual 
performance of all of the covenants and conditions of this Indenture to be performed by the Company, such Successor Entity (if 
not the Company) shall succeed to and, except in the case of a lease of all or substantially all of the Company’s properties and 
assets, shall be substituted for the Company, with the same effect as if it had been named herein as the party of the first part.  
Such Successor Entity thereupon may cause to be signed, and may issue either in its own name or in the name of the Company 
any or all of the Notes issuable hereunder 
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which theretofore shall not have been signed by the Company and delivered to the Trustee; and, upon the order of such Successor 
Entity instead of the Company and subject to all the terms, conditions and limitations in this Indenture prescribed, the Trustee 
shall authenticate and shall deliver, or cause to be authenticated and delivered, any Notes that previously shall have been signed 
and delivered by the Officers of the Company to the Trustee for authentication, and any Notes that such Successor Entity 
thereafter shall cause to be signed and delivered to the Trustee for that purpose.  All the Notes so issued shall in all respects have 
the same legal rank and benefit under this Indenture as the Notes theretofore or thereafter issued in accordance with the terms of 
this Indenture as though all of such Notes had been issued at the date of the execution hereof.  In the event of any such 
consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance or transfer (but not in the case of a lease), upon compliance with this Article 11 the 
Person named as the “Company” in the first paragraph of this Indenture (or any successor that shall thereafter have become such 
in the manner prescribed in this Article 11) may be dissolved, wound up and liquidated at any time thereafter and, except in the 
case of a lease, such Person shall be released from its liabilities as obligor and maker of the Notes and from its obligations under 
this Indenture and the Notes.

In case of any such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or lease, such changes in phraseology and form (but 
not in substance) may be made in the Notes thereafter to be issued as may be appropriate.

Section 11.03.  Officer’s Certificate and Opinion of Counsel to Be Given to Trustee.  If such Successor  Company is not 
the Company, no such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, transfer or lease shall be effective unless the Trustee shall receive 
an Officer’s Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel as conclusive evidence that any such consolidation, merger, sale, conveyance, 
transfer or lease and any such assumption and, if a supplemental indenture is required in connection with such transaction, such 
supplemental indenture, complies with the provisions of this Article 11.

ARTICLE 12
Immunity of Incorporators, Stockholders, Officers and Directors

Section 12.01.  Indenture and Notes Solely Corporate Obligations.  No recourse for the payment of the principal of or 
accrued and unpaid interest on, or the payment or delivery of any Common Stock or cash due upon conversion of, any Note, nor 
for any claim based thereon or otherwise in respect thereof, and no recourse under or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement 
of the Company in this Indenture or in any supplemental indenture or in any Note, nor because of the creation of any 
indebtedness represented thereby, shall be had against any incorporator, stockholder, employee, agent, Officer or director or 
Subsidiary, as such, past, present or future, of the Company or of any successor corporation, either directly or through the 
Company or any successor corporation, whether by virtue of any constitution, statute or rule of law, or by the enforcement of any 
assessment or penalty or otherwise; it being expressly understood that all such liability is hereby expressly waived and released 
as a condition of, and as a consideration for, the execution of this Indenture and the issue of the Notes.
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ARTICLE 13
[Intentionally Omitted]

ARTICLE 14
Conversion of Notes

Section 14.01.  Conversion Privilege.  (a) Subject to and upon compliance with the provisions of this Article 14, each 
Holder of a Note shall have the right, at such Holder’s option, to convert all or any portion (if the portion to be converted is a 
minimum of $1,000 principal amount or an integral multiple thereof) of such Note (i) subject to satisfaction of the conditions 
described in Section 14.01(b), at any time prior to the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding October 1, 
2028 under the circumstances and during the periods set forth in Section 14.01(b), and (ii) regardless of the conditions described 
in Section 14.01(b), on or after October 1, 2028 and prior to the close of business on the second Scheduled Trading Day 
immediately preceding the Maturity Date, in each case, based on an initial conversion rate of 10.6256 shares of Common Stock 
(subject to adjustment as provided in this Article 14, the “Conversion Rate”) per $1,000 principal amount of Notes (subject to, 
and in accordance with, the settlement provisions of Section 14.02, the “Conversion Obligation”).

(b)	 (i) Prior to the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding October 1, 2028, a Holder may 
surrender all or any portion of its Notes for conversion at any time during the five Business Day period immediately after any ten 
consecutive Trading Day period (the “Measurement Period”) in which the Trading Price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes, 
as determined following a request by a Holder of Notes in accordance with this subsection (b)(i), for each Trading Day of the 
Measurement Period was less than 98% of the product of the Last Reported Sale Price of the Common Stock and the Conversion 
Rate on each such Trading Day.  The Trading Prices shall be determined by the Bid Solicitation Agent pursuant to this subsection 
(b)(i) and the definition of Trading Price set forth in Section 1.01.  At such time as the Company directs the Bid Solicitation 
Agent (if other than the Company) in writing to solicit bid quotations, the Company shall provide written notice to the Bid 
Solicitation Agent (if other than the Company) of the three independent nationally recognized securities dealers selected by the 
Company pursuant to the definition of Trading Price, along with appropriate contact information for each, and the Company shall 
direct those securities dealers to provide bids to the Bid Solicitation Agent in accordance with the definition of Trading Price.  
The Bid Solicitation Agent (if other than the Company) shall have no obligation to determine the Trading Price per $1,000 
principal amount of Notes unless the Company has requested such determination in writing, and the Company shall have no 
obligation to make such request (or, if the Company is acting as Bid Solicitation Agent, the Company shall have no obligation to 
determine the Trading Price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes) unless a Holder or Holders of at least $2.0 million in 
aggregate principal amount of the Notes provides the Company with reasonable evidence that the Trading Price per $1,000 
principal amount of Notes on any Trading Day would be less than 98% of the product of the Last Reported Sale Price of the 
Common Stock on such Trading Day and the Conversion Rate on such Trading Day, at which time the Company shall instruct the 
Bid Solicitation Agent (if other than the Company) to determine, or if the Company is acting as Bid Solicitation Agent, the 
Company shall determine, the Trading Price per $1,000 principal amount 
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of Notes beginning on the next Trading Day and on each successive Trading Day until the Trading Price per $1,000 principal 
amount of Notes is greater than or equal to 98% of the product of the Last Reported Sale Price of the Common Stock and the 
Conversion Rate.  If (x) the Company is not acting as Bid Solicitation Agent, and the Company does not instruct the Bid 
Solicitation Agent in writing to determine the Trading Price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes when obligated as provided in 
the preceding sentence, or if the Company instructs the Bid Solicitation Agent in writing to obtain bids and the Bid Solicitation 
Agent fails to make such determination, or (y) the Company is acting as Bid Solicitation Agent and the Company fails to make 
such determination when obligated as provided in the preceding sentence, then, in either case, the Trading Price per $1,000 
principal amount of Notes shall be deemed to be less than 98% of the product of the Last Reported Sale Price of the Common 
Stock and the Conversion Rate on each Trading Day of such failure.  If the Trading Price condition set forth above has been met, 
the Company shall so notify the Holders, the Trustee and the Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee) in writing. If, at any 
time after the Trading Price condition set forth above has been met, the Trading Price per $1,000 principal amount of Notes is 
greater than or equal to 98% of the product of the Last Reported Sale Price of the Common Stock and the Conversion Rate for 
such date, the Company shall so notify the Holders of the Notes, the Trustee and the Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee) 
in writing.  

(ii)	 If, prior to the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding October 1, 2028, the 
Company elects to:

(A)	 issue to all or substantially all holders of the Common Stock any rights, options or warrants 
(other than in connection with a stockholder rights plan prior to separation of such rights from the Common 
Stock) entitling them, for a period of not more than 45 calendar days after the announcement date of such 
issuance, to subscribe for or purchase shares of the Common Stock at a price per share that is less than the 
average of the Last Reported Sale Prices of the Common Stock for the 10 consecutive Trading Day period 
ending on, and including, the Trading Day immediately preceding the date of announcement of such issuance; 
or

(B)	 distribute to all or substantially all holders of the Common Stock the Company’s assets, 
securities or rights to purchase securities of the Company, which distribution has a per share value, as 
determined by the Company in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, exceeding 10% of the 
Last Reported Sale Price of the Common Stock on the Trading Day immediately preceding the date of 
announcement for such distribution,

then, in either case, the Company shall notify all Holders of the Notes, the Trustee and the Conversion Agent (if other than the 
Trustee) in writing at least 55 Scheduled Trading Days prior to the Ex-Dividend Date for such issuance or distribution (or, if later 
in the case of any separation of rights issued pursuant to a stockholder rights plan, as soon as reasonably practicable after the 
Company becomes aware that such separation has occurred or will occur).  Once the Company has given such notice, a Holder 
may surrender all or any portion of its Notes 
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for conversion at any time until the earlier of (1) the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding the Ex-
Dividend Date for such issuance or distribution and (2) the Company’s announcement that such issuance or distribution will not 
take place, in each case, even if the Notes are not otherwise convertible at such time.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Notes shall not become convertible on account of such issuance or distribution 
pursuant to this Section 14.01(b)(ii) (provided that the Company shall still be required to send notice of such issuance or 
distribution as described in the preceding paragraph) if each Holder participates, at the same time and on the same terms as 
holders of the Common Stock, and solely by virtue of being a Holder of a Note, in such issuance or distribution without having to 
convert such Notes held by such Holder as if such Holder held a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the product of (i) 
the Conversion Rate in effect on the Record Date for such issuance or distribution and (ii) the aggregate principal amount 
(expressed in thousands) of Notes held by such Holder on such date. 

(iii)	 If a transaction or event that constitutes a Fundamental Change or a Make-Whole Fundamental Change 
occurs prior to the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding October 1, 2028, regardless of whether 
a Holder has the right to require the Company to repurchase the Notes pursuant to Section 15.02, or if the Company is a 
party to a Share Exchange Event that occurs prior to the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding 
October 1, 2028 (each such Fundamental Change, Make-Whole Fundamental Change or Share Exchange Event, a 
“Corporate Event”), then, in each case, all or any portion of a Holder’s Notes may be surrendered for conversion at any 
time from or after the effective date of such Corporate Event until the 35th Trading Day after such effective date or, if 
such Corporate Event also constitutes a Fundamental Change (other than an Exempted Fundamental Change), until the 
related Fundamental Change Repurchase Date.  The Company shall notify Holders, the Trustee and the Conversion 
Agent (if other than the Trustee) of such Corporate Event and the related conversion right within two Business Days 
following the effective date of such Corporate Event. If the Company does not provide such notice by the second 
Business Day after such effective date, then the last day on which the Notes are convertible pursuant to this Section 
14.01(b)(iii) as a result of such Corporate Event shall be extended by the number of Business Days from, and including, 
the second Business Day after such effective date to, but excluding, the date on which the Company provides the notice. 

(iv)	 Prior to the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding October 1, 2028, a Holder 
may surrender all or any portion of its Notes for conversion at any time during any calendar quarter commencing after 
the calendar quarter ending on June 30, 2024 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the Last Reported Sale Price of 
the Common Stock for at least 20 Trading Days (whether or not consecutive) during the period of 30 consecutive 
Trading Days ending on, and including, the last Trading Day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater 
than or equal to 130% of the Conversion Price on each applicable Trading Day.  Neither the Trustee nor the Conversion 
Agent shall have any duty to determine or verify the Company’s 
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determination of whether the conditions to conversion set forth in this Section 14.01(b)(iv) have been met.  

(v)	 If the Company calls any or all of the Notes for redemption pursuant to Article 16, Holders may 
surrender for conversion Notes that have been so called (or deemed called in accordance with the last sentence of this 
clause (v)) for redemption at any time prior to the close of business on the Scheduled Trading Day immediately prior to 
the Redemption Date, even if such Notes are not otherwise convertible at such time. After that time, the right to convert 
such Notes on account of such Redemption Notice shall expire, unless the Company defaults in the payment of the 
Redemption Price, in which case a Holder of Notes called (or deemed called in accordance with the last sentence of this 
clause (v)) for redemption may convert all or any portion of such Notes called (or deemed called in accordance with the 
last sentence of this clause (v)) for redemption until the Redemption Price has been paid or duly provided for. If the 
Company elects to redeem less than all of the outstanding Notes pursuant to Article 16, and the Holder of any Note (or 
any owner of a beneficial interest in any Global Note) is reasonably not able to determine, before the close of business 
on the 52nd Scheduled Trading Day immediately before the relevant Redemption Date, whether such Note or beneficial 
interest, as applicable, is to be redeemed pursuant to such redemption, then, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in 
this Indenture or the Notes, such Holder or owner, as applicable, shall be entitled to convert such Note or beneficial 
interest, as applicable, at any time before the close of business on the Scheduled Trading Day immediately prior to such 
Redemption Date, unless the Company defaults in the payment of the Redemption Price, in which case such Holder or 
owner, as applicable, shall be entitled to convert such Note or beneficial interest, as applicable, until the Redemption 
Price has been paid or duly provided for, and in each case each such conversion shall be deemed to be of a Note called 
for redemption (including, without limitation, for purposes of Section 14.03). 

Section 14.02.  Conversion Procedure; Settlement Upon Conversion.  

(a)	 Subject to this Section 14.02, Section 14.03(b) and Section 14.07(a), upon conversion of any Note, the Company 
shall pay or deliver, as the case may be, to the converting Holder, in respect of each $1,000 principal amount of Notes being 
converted, solely cash (“Cash Settlement”), or a combination of cash and shares of Common Stock, together with cash, if 
applicable, in lieu of delivering  any fractional share of Common Stock in accordance with subsection (j) of this Section 14.02 
(“Combination Settlement”), at its election, as set forth in this Section 14.02.

(i)	 All conversions of Notes called for redemption (or deemed called for redemption pursuant to Section 
14.01(b)(v)) for which the relevant Conversion Date occurs during the related Redemption Period, and all conversions 
for which the relevant Conversion Date occurs on or after October 1, 2028, shall be settled using the same Settlement 
Method.  
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(ii)	 Except for any conversions referred to in Section 14.02(a)(i) for which the relevant Conversion Date 
occurs during a Redemption Period, and any conversions for which the relevant Conversion Date occurs on or after 
October 1, 2028, the Company shall use the same Settlement Method for all conversions with the same Conversion Date, 
but the Company shall not have any obligation to use the same Settlement Method with respect to conversions with 
different Conversion Dates.

(iii)	 If, in respect of any Conversion Date (or the period described in the fourth immediately succeeding set 
of parentheses, as the case may be), the Company elects to deliver a notice (the “Settlement Notice”) of the relevant 
Settlement Method in respect of such Conversion Date (or such period, as the case may be), the Company shall deliver 
such Settlement Notice in writing to converting Holders (with a written copy to the Trustee and the Conversion Agent (if 
other than the Trustee)) no later than the close of business on the Trading Day immediately following the relevant 
Conversion Date (or, in the case of (x) any conversions of Notes called for redemption (or deemed called for redemption 
pursuant to Section 14.01(b)(v)) for which the relevant Conversion Date occurs during a related Redemption Period, in 
the relevant Redemption Notice, or (y) any conversions of Notes for which the relevant Conversion Date occurs on or 
after October 1, 2028, no later than October 1, 2028).  If the Company calls all or any Notes for redemption and the 
related Redemption Date is on or after October 1, 2028, then the Settlement Method that the Company elects to apply for 
conversions pursuant to Section 14.01(b)(v) with a Conversion Date occurring during the related Redemption Period 
must be the same Settlement Method that applies to all conversions with a Conversion Date that occurs on or after 
October 1, 2028. If the Company does not elect a Settlement Method with respect to a conversion prior to the deadline 
set forth in the second immediately preceding sentence, then the Company shall no longer have the right to elect a 
Settlement Method for such conversion and the Company shall be deemed to have elected the Default Settlement 
Method in respect of its Conversion Obligation.  Such Settlement Notice shall specify the relevant Settlement Method 
and in the case of an election of Combination Settlement, the relevant Settlement Notice shall indicate the Specified 
Dollar Amount per $1,000 principal amount of Notes.  If the Company delivers a Settlement Notice to Holders (with a 
written copy to the Trustee and the Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee)) electing Combination Settlement in 
respect of its Conversion Obligation but does not indicate a Specified Dollar Amount per $1,000 principal amount of 
Notes in such Settlement Notice, the Specified Dollar Amount per $1,000 principal amount of Notes shall be deemed to 
be $1,000.

The Company shall have the right, from time to time prior to October 1, 2028, to change the Default Settlement 
Method to any Settlement Method that the Company is then permitted to elect, by sending notice to the Holders of the 
new Default Settlement Method (and, in such case, the Company will simultaneously send a copy of such notice to the 
Trustee and the Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee)). In addition, by notice to Holders of the Notes, the Trustee 
and the Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee), the Company may, prior to October 1, 2028, at its option, elect to 
(1) irrevocably fix the Settlement Method or (2) irrevocably eliminate any one or more (but 
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not all) Settlement Methods (including eliminating Combination Settlement Method with a particular Specified Dollar 
Amount or range of Specified Dollar Amounts); provided the Company is then otherwise permitted to elect the 
applicable Settlement Method(s) so irrevocably elected or the Settlement Method(s) remaining after such irrevocable 
elimination, as applicable, and provided further, that in no event may the Company elect (whether directly or by 
eliminating all other Settlement Methods) Combination Settlement with a Specified Dollar Amount that is less than 
$1,000 per $1,000 principal amount of Notes. If the Company makes such an irrevocable election, then such election 
will apply to all conversions of Notes with a Conversion Date that is on or after the date the Company sends such notice 
and the Company shall, if needed, simultaneously change the Default Settlement Method to a Settlement Method that is 
consistent with such irrevocable election. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such irrevocable election or change of 
Default Settlement Method, as applicable, shall affect any Settlement Method theretofore elected (or deemed to be 
elected) with respect to any Note pursuant to this Section 14.02. For the avoidance of doubt, such an irrevocable 
election, if made, shall be effective without the need to amend this Indenture or the Notes, including pursuant to Section 
10.01(g). However, the Company may nonetheless choose to execute such an amendment at the Company’s option.

If the Company changes the Default Settlement Method or makes an irrevocable election, as applicable, 
pursuant to the immediately preceding paragraph, then, promptly, but in any event within two Business Days, the 
Company shall either post the Default Settlement Method or such irrevocable election, as applicable, on its website or 
disclose the same in a current report on Form 8-K (or any successor form) that is filed with, or furnished to, the 
Commission. 

(iv)	 The cash or combination of cash and shares of Common Stock, if any, in respect of any conversion of 
Notes (the “Settlement Amount”) shall be computed as follows:

(A)	 if the Company elects to satisfy its Conversion Obligation in respect of such conversion by 
Cash Settlement, the Company shall pay to the converting Holder in respect of each $1,000 principal amount of 
Notes being converted cash in an amount equal to the sum of the Daily Conversion Values for each of the 50 
consecutive Trading Days during the related Observation Period; and

(B)	 if the Company elects (or is deemed to have elected) to satisfy its Conversion Obligation in 
respect of such conversion by Combination Settlement, the Company shall pay or deliver, as the case may be, 
in respect of each $1,000 principal amount of Notes being converted, a Settlement Amount equal to the sum of 
the Daily Settlement Amounts for each of the 50 consecutive Trading Days during the related Observation 
Period.  
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(v)	 The Daily Settlement Amounts (if applicable) and the Daily Conversion Values (if applicable) shall be 
determined by the Company as soon as reasonably practicable following the last day of the Observation Period.  
Following such determination of the Daily Settlement Amounts or the Daily Conversion Values, as the case may be, and 
the amount of cash payable in lieu of delivering any fractional share of Common Stock, the Company shall notify the 
Trustee and the Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee) of the Daily Settlement Amounts or the Daily Conversion 
Values, as the case may be, and the amount of cash payable in lieu of delivering fractional shares of Common Stock.  
The Trustee and the Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee) shall have no responsibility for any such determination.

(b)	 Subject to Section 14.02(e), before any Holder of a Note shall be entitled to convert a Note as set forth above, 
such Holder shall (i) in the case of a Global Note, comply with the procedures of the Depositary in effect at that time and, if 
required, pay to the Company funds equal to interest payable on the next Interest Payment Date as set forth in Section 14.02(h) 
and (ii) in the case of a Physical Note (1) complete, manually sign and deliver a medallion-stamped guaranteed irrevocable notice 
to the Conversion Agent as set forth in the Form of Notice of Conversion (a “Notice of Conversion”) at the office of the 
Conversion Agent and state in writing therein the principal amount of Notes to be converted and the name or names (with 
addresses) in which such Holder wishes the certificate or certificates for any shares of Common Stock to be delivered upon 
settlement of the Conversion Obligation to be registered, (2) surrender such Notes, duly endorsed to the Company or in blank 
(and accompanied by appropriate endorsement and transfer documents), at the office of the Conversion Agent, (3) if required, 
furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents and (4) if required, pay to the Company funds equal to interest payable 
on the next Interest Payment Date as set forth in Section 14.02(h).  The Trustee (and if different, the Conversion Agent) shall 
notify the Company of any conversion pursuant to this Article 14 on the Conversion Date for such conversion.  No Notice of 
Conversion with respect to any Notes may be surrendered by a Holder thereof if such Holder has also delivered a Fundamental 
Change Repurchase Notice to the Company in respect of such Notes and has not validly withdrawn such Fundamental Change 
Repurchase Notice in accordance with Section 15.03.

Subject to any procedures or requirements of the applicable Depositary in the case of any Global Note, if more than one 
Note shall be surrendered for conversion at one time by the same Holder, the Conversion Obligation with respect to such Notes 
shall be computed on the basis of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes (or specified portions thereof to the extent 
permitted thereby) so surrendered.

(c)	 A Note shall be deemed to have been converted immediately prior to the close of business on the date (the 
“Conversion Date”) that the Holder has complied with the requirements set forth in subsection (b) above.  Except as set forth in 
‎Section 14.03(b) and Section 14.07(a), the Company shall pay or deliver, as the case may be, the consideration due in respect of 
the Conversion Obligation on the second Business Day immediately following the last Trading Day of the relevant Observation 
Period.  If any shares of Common Stock are due to a converting Holder, the Company shall issue and deliver (or otherwise cause 
to be issued and 

66



Exhibit 4.1

delivered) to such Holder, or such Holder’s nominee or nominees, the full number of shares of Common Stock to which such 
Holder shall be entitled, in book-entry format through the Depositary, in satisfaction of the Company’s Conversion Obligation.

(d)	 In case any Note shall be surrendered for partial conversion, the Company shall execute and the Trustee shall 
authenticate and deliver to or upon the written order of the Holder of the Note so surrendered a new Note or Notes in Authorized 
Denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to the unconverted portion of the surrendered Note, without payment of 
any service charge by the converting Holder but, if required by the Company or Trustee, with payment of a sum sufficient to 
cover any documentary, stamp or similar issue or transfer tax or similar governmental charge required by law or that may be 
imposed in connection therewith as a result of the name of the Holder of the new Notes issued upon such conversion being 
different from the name of the Holder of the old Notes surrendered for such conversion.

(e)	 If a Holder submits a Note for conversion, the Company shall pay any documentary, stamp or similar issue or 
transfer tax due on the issue or delivery of any shares of Common Stock upon conversion, unless the tax is due because the 
Holder requests such shares to be issued in a name other than the Holder’s name, in which case the Holder shall pay that tax.  The 
Company may refuse to deliver the certificates (or book-entry evidence) representing the shares of Common Stock being issued 
in a name other than the Holder’s name until the Company receives a sum sufficient to pay any tax that is due by such Holder in 
accordance with the immediately preceding sentence.  

(f)	 Except as provided in Section 14.04, no adjustment shall be made for dividends on any shares of Common Stock 
issued upon the conversion of any Note as provided in this Article 14.

(g)	 Upon the conversion of an interest in a Global Note, the Trustee, or the Custodian at the direction of the Trustee, 
shall make a notation on such Global Note as to the reduction in the principal amount represented thereby.  The Company shall 
notify the Trustee in writing of any conversion of Notes effected through any Conversion Agent other than the Trustee.

(h)	 Upon conversion, a Holder shall not receive any separate cash payment for accrued and unpaid interest, if any, 
except as set forth below.  The Company’s settlement of the full Conversion Obligation shall be deemed to satisfy in full its 
obligation to pay the principal amount of the Note and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the relevant 
Conversion Date. As a result, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the relevant Conversion Date shall be 
deemed to be paid in full rather than cancelled, extinguished or forfeited.  Upon a conversion of Notes into a combination of cash 
and shares of Common Stock, accrued and unpaid interest will be deemed to be paid first out of the cash paid upon such 
conversion.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Notes are converted after the close of business on a Regular Record Date, Holders 
of such Notes as of the close of business on such Regular Record Date will receive the full amount of interest payable on such 
Notes on the corresponding Interest Payment Date notwithstanding the conversion.  Notes surrendered for conversion during the 
period from the close of business on any Regular Record Date to the open of business on the 
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immediately following Interest Payment Date must be accompanied by funds equal to the amount of interest payable on the 
Notes so converted; provided, however, that no such payment shall be required (1) for conversions following the Regular Record 
Date immediately preceding the Maturity Date; (2) if the Company has specified a Redemption Date that is after a Regular 
Record Date and on or prior to the Business Day immediately following the corresponding Interest Payment Date; (3) if the 
Company has specified a Fundamental Change Repurchase Date that is after a Regular Record Date and on or prior to the 
Business Day immediately following the corresponding Interest Payment Date; or (4) to the extent of any Defaulted Amounts, if 
any Defaulted Amounts exists at the time of conversion with respect to such Note.  Therefore, for the avoidance of doubt, all 
Holders of record as of the close of business on the Regular Record Date immediately preceding the Maturity Date shall receive 
the full interest payment due on the Maturity Date in cash regardless of whether their Notes have been converted following such 
Regular Record Date, and the converting Holder shall not be required to make a corresponding payment.

(i)	 The Person in whose name any shares of Common Stock shall be issuable upon conversion shall be treated as a 
stockholder of record of such shares as of the close of business on the last Trading Day of the relevant Observation Period.  Upon 
a conversion of Notes, such Person shall no longer be a Holder of such Notes surrendered for conversion.

(j)	 The Company shall not issue any fractional share of Common Stock upon conversion of the Notes and shall 
instead pay cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share of Common Stock issuable upon conversion based on the Daily VWAP 
for the last Trading Day of the relevant Observation Period. Subject to any procedures or requirements of the applicable 
Depositary in the case of any Global Note, for each Note surrendered for conversion, if the Company has elected Combination 
Settlement, the full number of shares that shall be issued upon conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis of the aggregate 
Daily Settlement Amounts for the relevant Observation Period and any fractional shares remaining after such computation shall 
be paid in cash.

Section 14.03.  Increased Conversion Rate Applicable to Certain Notes Surrendered in Connection with Make-Whole 
Fundamental Changes or Redemption Notice.  (a)  If (x) the Effective Date of a Make-Whole Fundamental Change occurs prior 
to the Maturity Date or (y) the Company gives a Redemption Notice with respect to any or all of the Notes in accordance with 
Section 16.02 and, in each case, a Holder elects to convert any Note in connection with such Make-Whole Fundamental Change 
or Redemption Notice, as the case may be, then the Company shall, under the circumstances set forth below, increase the 
Conversion Rate for the Notes so surrendered for conversion by a number of additional shares of Common Stock (the 
“Additional Shares”), as set forth below.  A conversion of Notes shall be deemed for these purposes to be “in connection with” 
such Make-Whole Fundamental Change if the relevant Notice of Conversion is received by the Conversion Agent from, and 
including, the Effective Date of such Make-Whole Fundamental Change up to, and including, the Business Day immediately 
prior to the related Fundamental Change Repurchase Date (or, in the case of an Exempted Fundamental Change or a Make-Whole 
Fundamental Change that would have been a Fundamental Change but for the proviso in clause (b) of the definition thereof, the 
35th Trading Day immediately following the 
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Effective Date of such Make-Whole Fundamental Change) (such period, the “Make-Whole Fundamental Change Period”).  A 
conversion of Notes called for redemption (or deemed called for redemption pursuant to Section 14.01(b)(v)) shall be deemed for 
these purposes to be “in connection with” a Redemption Notice if the relevant Conversion Date occurs during the related 
Redemption Period. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company shall increase the Conversion Rate in connection with a 
Redemption Notice only with respect to conversions of Notes called (or deemed called) for redemption, and not for Notes not 
called (or deemed called) for redemption. Accordingly, if the Company elects to redeem less than all of the outstanding Notes 
pursuant to Article 16, Holders of the Notes not called for redemption shall not be entitled to convert such Notes on account of 
the Redemption Notice and shall not be entitled to an increased Conversion Rate for conversions of such Notes on account of the 
Redemption Notice during the related Redemption Period if such Notes are otherwise convertible, except in the limited 
circumstances set forth under Section 14.01(b)(v).

(b)	 Upon surrender of Notes for conversion in connection with a Make-Whole Fundamental Change or Redemption 
Notice, the Company shall, at its option, satisfy the related Conversion Obligation by Cash Settlement or Combination Settlement 
in accordance with Section 14.02; provided, however, that if, at the effective time of a Make-Whole Fundamental Change 
described in clause (b) of the definition of Fundamental Change that constitutes a Share Exchange Event, the Reference Property 
of which is composed entirely of cash, for any conversion of Notes following the Effective Date of such Make-Whole 
Fundamental Change, the Conversion Obligation shall be calculated based solely on the Stock Price for the transaction and shall 
be deemed to be an amount of cash per $1,000 principal amount of converted Notes equal to the Conversion Rate (including any 
adjustment for Additional Shares), multiplied by such Stock Price.  In such event, the Conversion Obligation shall be paid to 
Holders in cash on the second Business Day following the Conversion Date.  The Company shall notify the Holders, the Trustee 
and the Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee) in writing of the Effective Date of any Make-Whole Fundamental Change 
no later than five Business Days after such Effective Date.

(c)	 The number of Additional Shares, if any, by which the Conversion Rate shall be increased shall be determined by 
reference to the table below, based on the date on which the Make-Whole Fundamental Change occurs or becomes effective or 
the date of the Redemption Notice, as the case may be (in each case, the “Effective Date”), and the price (the “Stock Price”) 
paid (or deemed to be paid) per share of the Common Stock in the Make-Whole Fundamental Change or with respect to the 
Optional Redemption, as the case may be.  If the holders of the Common Stock receive in exchange for their Common Stock only 
cash in a Make-Whole Fundamental Change described in clause (b) of the definition of Fundamental Change, the Stock Price 
shall be the cash amount paid per share.  Otherwise, the Stock Price shall be the average of the Last Reported Sale Prices of the 
Common Stock over the five Trading Day period ending on, and including, the Trading Day immediately preceding the Effective 
Date of the Make-Whole Fundamental Change or the date the Company sends the Redemption Notice, as the case may be.  The 
Company shall make appropriate adjustments to the Stock Price, in its good faith determination and in a commercially reasonable 
manner, to account for any adjustment to the Conversion Rate that becomes effective, or any event requiring an adjustment to the 
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Conversion Rate where the Ex-Dividend Date, Effective Date (as such term is used in Section 14.04) or expiration date of the 
event occurs during such five consecutive Trading Day period.

(d)	 The Stock Prices set forth in the column headings of the table below shall be adjusted as of any date on which the 
Conversion Rate of the Notes is otherwise adjusted.  The adjusted Stock Prices shall equal the Stock Prices applicable 
immediately prior to such adjustment, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the Conversion Rate immediately prior 
to such adjustment giving rise to the Stock Price adjustment and the denominator of which is the Conversion Rate as so adjusted.  
The number of Additional Shares set forth in the table below shall be adjusted in the same manner and at the same time as the 
Conversion Rate as set forth in Section 14.04.

(e)	 The following table sets forth the number of Additional Shares of Common Stock by which the Conversion Rate 
shall be increased per $1,000 principal amount of Notes pursuant to this Section 14.03 for each Stock Price and Effective Date set 
forth below:

 
  Stock Price
Effective Date $75.29 $80.00 $90.00 $94.11 $110.00 $122.35 $150.00 $200.00 $250.00 $300.00 $400.00 $550.00
February 26, 2024... 2.6563 2.2514 1.6148 1.4195 0.9008 0.6644 0.3878 0.2036 0.1251 0.0784 0.0264 0.0000
March 1, 2025……. 2.6563 2.2321 1.5371 1.3258 0.7755 0.5365 0.2826 0.1436 0.0900 0.0574 0.0198 0.0000
March 1, 2026......... 2.6563 2.1529 1.4043 1.1783 0.5975 0.3589 0.1482 0.0738 0.0476 0.0308 0.0106 0.0000
March 1, 2027......... 2.6563 2.0453 1.2481 1.0141 0.4127 0.1286 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
March 1, 2028......... 2.6563 1.9046 1.0062 0.7656 0.2546 0.0747 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
March 1, 2029......... 2.6563 1.8744 0.4855 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

 

The exact Stock Price and Effective Date may not be set forth in the table above, in which case:

(i)	 if the Stock Price is between two Stock Prices in the table above or the Effective Date is between two 
Effective Dates in the table, the number of Additional Shares by which the Conversion Rate will be increased shall be 
determined by a straight-line interpolation between the number of Additional Shares set forth for the higher and lower 
Stock Prices and the earlier and later Effective Dates, as applicable, based on a 365-day year;

(ii)	 if the Stock Price is greater than $550.00 per share (subject to adjustment in the same manner as the 
Stock Prices set forth in the column headings of the table above pursuant to subsection (d) above), no Additional Shares 
shall be added to the Conversion Rate; and 

(iii)	 if the Stock Price is less than $75.29 per share (subject to adjustment in the same manner as the Stock 
Prices set forth in the column headings of the table above pursuant to subsection (d) above), no Additional Shares shall 
be added to the Conversion Rate.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Conversion Rate per $1,000 principal amount of Notes exceed 13.2819 
shares of Common Stock, subject to adjustment in the same manner as the Conversion Rate pursuant to Section 14.04.

(f)	 Nothing in this Section 14.03 shall prevent an adjustment to the Conversion Rate pursuant to Section 14.04 in 
respect of a Make-Whole Fundamental Change.

Section 14.04.  Adjustment of Conversion Rate.  The Conversion Rate shall be adjusted from time to time by the 
Company if any of the following events occurs, except that the Company shall not make any adjustments to the Conversion Rate 
if each Holder of the Notes participates (other than in the case of (x) a share split or share combination or (y) a tender or 
exchange offer), at the same time and upon the same terms as holders of the Common Stock and solely as a result of holding the 
Notes, in any of the transactions described in this Section 14.04, without having to convert such Holder’s Notes, as if such Holder 
held a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the Conversion Rate, multiplied by the principal amount (expressed in 
thousands) of Notes held by such Holder. 

(a)	 If the Company exclusively issues shares of Common Stock as a dividend or distribution on all or substantially 
all outstanding shares of the Common Stock, or if the Company effects a share split or share combination, the Conversion Rate 
shall be adjusted based on the following formula:

 

where,

CR0	=	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately prior to the open of business on the Ex-Dividend Date of such dividend or 
distribution, or immediately prior to the open of business on the Effective Date of such share split or share 
combination, as applicable;

CR'	 =	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately after the open of business on such Ex-Dividend Date or Effective Date;

OS0	 =	 the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the open of business on such Ex-Dividend 
Date or Effective Date (before giving effect to such dividend, distribution, split or combination); and

OS'	 =	 the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such dividend, distribution, 
share split or share combination.

Any adjustment made under this Section 14.04(a) shall become effective immediately after the open of business on the Ex-
Dividend Date for such dividend or distribution, or immediately after the open of business on the Effective Date for such share 
split or share combination, as 
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applicable.  If any dividend or distribution of the type described in this Section 14.04(a) is declared but not so paid or made, the 
Conversion Rate shall be immediately readjusted, effective as of the date the Board of Directors determines not to pay such 
dividend or distribution, to the Conversion Rate that would then be in effect if such dividend or distribution had not been 
declared.

(b)	 If the Company issues to all or substantially all holders of the Common Stock any rights, options or warrants 
(other than in connection with a stockholders’ rights plan) entitling them, for a period of not more than 45 calendar days after the 
announcement date of such issuance, to subscribe for or purchase shares of the Common Stock at a price per share that is less 
than the average of the Last Reported Sale Prices of the Common Stock for the 10 consecutive Trading Day period ending on, 
and including, the Trading Day immediately preceding the date of announcement of such issuance, the Conversion Rate shall be 
increased based on the following formula:

 

where,

CR0	=	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately prior to the open of business on the Ex-Dividend Date for such issuance;

CR'	 =	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately after the open of business on such Ex-Dividend Date;

OS0	 =	 the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the open of business on such Ex-Dividend 
Date;

X	 =	 the total number of shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to such rights, options or warrants; and

Y	 =	 the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the aggregate price payable to exercise such rights, options or 
warrants, divided by the average of the Last Reported Sale Prices of the Common Stock over the 10 consecutive 
Trading Day period ending on, and including, the Trading Day immediately preceding the date of announcement 
of the issuance of such rights, options or warrants.

Any increase made under this Section 14.04(b) shall be made successively whenever any such rights, options or warrants are 
issued and shall become effective immediately after the open of business on the Ex-Dividend Date for such issuance.  To the 
extent that shares of the Common Stock are not delivered after the expiration of such rights, options or warrants, the Conversion 
Rate shall be decreased to the Conversion Rate that would then be in effect had the increase with respect to the issuance of such 
rights, options or warrants been made on the basis of delivery of only the number of shares of Common Stock actually delivered.  
If such rights, options or 
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warrants are not so issued, the Conversion Rate shall be decreased to the Conversion Rate that would then be in effect if such Ex-
Dividend Date for such issuance had not occurred.

For purposes of this Section 14.04(b) and for the purpose of Section 14.01(b)(ii)(A), in determining whether any rights, 
options or warrants entitle the holders to subscribe for or purchase shares of the Common Stock at less than such average of the 
Last Reported Sale Prices of the Common Stock for the 10 consecutive Trading Day period ending on, and including, the Trading 
Day immediately preceding the date of announcement for such issuance, and in determining the aggregate offering price of such 
shares of Common Stock, there shall be taken into account any consideration received by the Company for such rights, options or 
warrants and any amount payable on exercise or conversion thereof, the value of such consideration, if other than cash, to be 
determined by the Company in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.  

(c)	 If the Company distributes shares of its Capital Stock, evidences of its indebtedness, other assets or property of 
the Company or rights, options or warrants to acquire its Capital Stock or other securities, to all or substantially all holders of the 
Common Stock, excluding (i) dividends, distributions or issuances as to which an adjustment was effected (or would have been 
effected but for the 1% Exception) pursuant to Section 14.04(a) or Section 14.04(b), (ii) dividends or distributions paid 
exclusively in cash as to which the provisions set forth in Section 14.04(d) shall apply, (iii) rights issued pursuant to a rights plan, 
except to the extent set forth in Section 14.11, (iv) any distributions of Reference Property in exchange for the Common Stock in 
connection with a Share Exchange Event, (v) tender offers and exchange offers as to which an adjustment is effected (or would 
have been effected but for the 1% Exception) pursuant to Section 14.04(e), and (vi) Spin-Offs as to which the provisions set forth 
below in this Section 14.04(c) shall apply (any of such shares of Capital Stock, evidences of indebtedness, other assets or 
property or rights, options or warrants to acquire Capital Stock or other securities, the “Distributed Property”), then the 
Conversion Rate shall be increased based on the following formula:

 

where,

CR0	=	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately prior to the open of business on the Ex-Dividend Date for such distribution;

CR'	 =	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately after the open of business on such Ex-Dividend Date;

SP0	 =	 the average of the Last Reported Sale Prices of the Common Stock over the 10 consecutive Trading Day period ending 
on, and including, the Trading Day immediately preceding the Ex-Dividend Date for such distribution; and
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FMV	 =	 the fair market value (as determined by the Company in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) of 
the Distributed Property with respect to each outstanding share of the Common Stock on the Ex-Dividend Date 
for such distribution.

Any increase made under the portion of this Section 14.04(c) above shall become effective immediately after the open of 
business on the Ex-Dividend Date for such distribution.  If such distribution is not so paid or made, the Conversion Rate shall be 
decreased to the Conversion Rate that would then be in effect if such distribution had not been declared.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, if “FMV” (as defined above) is equal to or greater than “SP0” (as defined above), in lieu of the foregoing increase, 
each Holder of a Note shall receive, in respect of each $1,000 principal amount thereof, at the same time and upon the same terms 
as holders of the Common Stock receive the Distributed Property, the amount and kind of Distributed Property such Holder 
would have received if such Holder owned a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the Conversion Rate in effect on the 
Ex-Dividend Date for the distribution.  If the Company determines the “FMV” (as defined above) of any distribution for purposes 
of this Section 14.04(c) by reference to the actual or when-issued trading market for any securities, it shall in doing so consider 
the prices in such market over the same period used in computing the Last Reported Sale Prices of the Common Stock over the 
10 consecutive Trading Day period ending on, and including, the Trading Day immediately preceding the Ex-Dividend Date for 
such distribution.  

With respect to an adjustment pursuant to this Section 14.04(c) where there has been a payment of a dividend or other 
distribution on the Common Stock of shares of Capital Stock of any class or series, or similar equity interest, of or relating to a 
Subsidiary or other business unit of the Company, that are, or, when issued, will be, listed or admitted for trading on a U.S. 
national securities exchange (a “Spin-Off”), the Conversion Rate shall be increased based on the following formula:

 

where,

CR0	=	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately prior to the end of the Valuation Period;

CR'	 =	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately after the end of the Valuation Period;

FMV0	 =	 the average of the Last Reported Sale Prices of the Capital Stock or similar equity interest distributed to holders of 
the Common Stock applicable to one share of the Common Stock (determined by reference to the definitions of 
Last Reported Sale Price, Trading Day and Market Disruption Event as set forth in Section 1.01 as if references 
therein to Common Stock were to such Capital Stock 
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or similar equity interest) over the first 10 consecutive Trading Day period after, and including, the Ex-Dividend 
Date of the Spin-Off (the “Valuation Period”); and

MP0	=	 the average of the Last Reported Sale Prices of the Common Stock over the Valuation Period.

The increase to the Conversion Rate under the preceding paragraph shall occur at the close of business on the last 
Trading Day of the Valuation Period; provided that, in respect of any conversion of Notes, for any Trading Day that falls within 
the relevant Observation Period for such conversion and within the Valuation Period, references to “10” in the preceding 
paragraph shall be deemed to be replaced with such lesser number of Trading Days as have elapsed between the Ex-Dividend 
Date of such Spin-Off and such Trading Day in determining the Conversion Rate as of such Trading Day.  In addition, if the Ex-
Dividend Date of the Spin-Off is after the 10th Trading Day immediately preceding, and including, the end of any Observation 
Period in respect of a conversion of Notes, references to “10” or “10th” in the preceding paragraph and this paragraph shall be 
deemed to be replaced, solely in respect of that conversion of Notes, with such lesser number of Trading Days as have elapsed 
from, and including, the Ex-Dividend Date for the Spin-Off to, and including, the last Trading Day of such Observation Period.

For purposes of this Section 14.04(c) (and subject in all respect to Section 14.10), rights, options or warrants distributed 
by the Company to all holders of the Common Stock entitling them to subscribe for or purchase shares of the Company’s Capital 
Stock, including Common Stock (either initially or under certain circumstances), which rights, options or warrants, until the 
occurrence of a specified event or events (“Trigger Event”): (i) are deemed to be transferred with such shares of the Common 
Stock; (ii) are not exercisable; and (iii) are also issued in respect of future issuances of the Common Stock, shall be deemed not to 
have been distributed for purposes of this Section 14.04(c) (and no adjustment to the Conversion Rate under this Section 14.04(c) 
will be required) until the occurrence of the earliest Trigger Event, whereupon such rights, options or warrants shall be deemed to 
have been distributed and an appropriate adjustment (if any is required) to the Conversion Rate shall be made under this Section 
14.04(c).  If any such right, option or warrant, including any such existing rights, options or warrants distributed prior to the date 
of this Indenture, are subject to events, upon the occurrence of which such rights, options or warrants become exercisable to 
purchase different securities, evidences of indebtedness or other assets, then the date of the occurrence of any and each such 
event shall be deemed to be the date of distribution and Ex-Dividend Date with respect to new rights, options or warrants with 
such rights (in which case the existing rights, options or warrants shall be deemed to terminate and expire on such date without 
exercise by any of the holders thereof).  In addition, in the event of any distribution (or deemed distribution) of rights, options or 
warrants, or any Trigger Event or other event (of the type described in the immediately preceding sentence) with respect thereto 
that was counted for purposes of calculating a distribution amount for which an adjustment to the Conversion Rate under this 
Section 14.04(c) was made, (1) in the case of any such rights, options or warrants that shall all have been redeemed or purchased 
without exercise by any holders thereof, upon such final redemption or purchase (x) the 
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Conversion Rate shall be readjusted as if such rights, options or warrants had not been issued and (y) the Conversion Rate shall 
then again be readjusted to give effect to such distribution, deemed distribution or Trigger Event, as the case may be, as though it 
were a cash distribution, equal to the per share redemption or purchase price received by a holder or holders of Common Stock 
with respect to such rights, options or warrants (assuming such holder had retained such rights, options or warrants), made to all 
holders of Common Stock as of the date of such redemption or purchase, and (2) in the case of such rights, options or warrants 
that shall have expired or been terminated without exercise by any holders thereof, the Conversion Rate shall be readjusted as if 
such rights, options and warrants had not been issued.

For purposes of Section 14.04(a), Section 14.04(b) and this Section 14.04(c), if any dividend or distribution to which this 
Section 14.04(c) is applicable also includes one or both of: 

(A)	 a dividend or distribution of shares of Common Stock to which Section 14.04(a) is applicable (the “Clause A 
Distribution”); or

(B)	 a dividend or distribution of rights, options or warrants to which Section 14.04(b) is applicable (the “Clause B 
Distribution”),

then, in either case, (1) such dividend or distribution, other than the Clause A Distribution and the Clause B Distribution, shall be 
deemed to be a dividend or distribution to which this Section 14.04(c) is applicable (the “Clause C Distribution”) and any 
Conversion Rate adjustment required by this Section 14.04(c) with respect to such Clause C Distribution shall then be made, and 
(2) the Clause A Distribution and Clause B Distribution shall be deemed to immediately follow the Clause C Distribution and any 
Conversion Rate adjustment required by Section 14.04(a) and Section 14.04(b) with respect thereto shall then be made, except 
that, if determined by the Company (I) the “Ex-Dividend Date” of the Clause A Distribution and the Clause B Distribution shall 
be deemed to be the Ex-Dividend Date of the Clause C Distribution and (II) any shares of Common Stock included in the Clause 
A Distribution or Clause B Distribution shall be deemed not to be “outstanding immediately prior to the open of business on such 
Ex-Dividend Date or Effective Date” within the meaning of Section 14.04(a) or “outstanding immediately prior to the open of 
business on such Ex-Dividend Date” within the meaning of Section 14.04(b).

(d)	 If any cash dividend or distribution is made to all or substantially all holders of the Common Stock, the 
Conversion Rate shall be adjusted based on the following formula:

 

where,

CR0	=	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately prior to the open of business on the Ex-Dividend Date for such dividend or 
distribution;
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CR'	 =	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately after the open of business on the Ex-Dividend Date for such dividend or 
distribution;

SP0	 =	 the Last Reported Sale Price of the Common Stock on the Trading Day immediately preceding the Ex-Dividend Date 
for such dividend or distribution; and

C	 =	 the amount in cash per share the Company distributes to all or substantially all holders of the Common Stock.

Any increase pursuant to this Section 14.04(d) shall become effective immediately after the open of business on the Ex-Dividend 
Date for such dividend or distribution.  If such dividend or distribution is not so paid, the Conversion Rate shall be decreased, 
effective as of the date the Board of Directors determines not to make or pay such dividend or distribution, to be the Conversion 
Rate that would then be in effect if such dividend or distribution had not been declared.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if “C” 
(as defined above) is equal to or greater than “SP0” (as defined above), then, in lieu of the foregoing increase, each Holder of a 
Note shall receive, for each $1,000 principal amount of Notes, at the same time and upon the same terms as holders of shares of 
the Common Stock, the amount of cash that such Holder would have received if such Holder owned a number of shares of 
Common Stock equal to the Conversion Rate on the Ex-Dividend Date for such cash dividend or distribution.  

(e)	 If the Company or any of its Subsidiaries makes a payment in respect of a tender or exchange offer for the 
Common Stock (other than an odd-lot tender offer pursuant to Rule 13e-4(h)(5) under the Exchange Act or any successor rule), to 
the extent that the cash and value (determined as of the date of such tender or exchange offer expires by the Company in good 
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) of any other consideration included in the payment per share of the Common 
Stock exceeds the average of the Last Reported Sale Prices of the Common Stock over the 10 consecutive Trading Day period 
commencing on, and including, the Trading Day next succeeding the last date on which tenders or exchanges may be made 
pursuant to such tender or exchange offer, the Conversion Rate shall be increased based on the following formula:

 

where,

CR0	=	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately prior to the close of business on the 10th Trading Day immediately 
following, and including, the Trading Day next succeeding the date such tender or exchange offer expires;

CR'	 =	 the Conversion Rate in effect immediately after the close of business on the 10th Trading Day immediately following, 
and including, the Trading Day next succeeding the date such tender or exchange offer expires;
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AC	 =	 the aggregate value of all cash and any other consideration (determined as of the date such tender or exchange offer 
expires by the Company in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) paid or payable for shares of 
Common Stock purchased in such tender or exchange offer;

OS0	 =	 the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the date such tender or exchange offer expires 
(prior to giving effect to the purchase of all shares of Common Stock accepted for purchase or exchange in such 
tender or exchange offer);

OS'	 =	 the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after the date such tender or exchange offer expires 
(after giving effect to the purchase of all shares of Common Stock accepted for purchase or exchange in such 
tender or exchange offer); and

SP'	 =	 the average of the Last Reported Sale Prices of the Common Stock over the 10 consecutive Trading Day period 
commencing on, and including, the Trading Day next succeeding the date such tender or exchange offer expires.

The increase to the Conversion Rate under this Section 14.04(e) shall occur at the close of business on the 10th Trading 
Day immediately following, and including, the Trading Day next succeeding the date such tender or exchange offer expires; 
provided that, in respect of any conversion of Notes, for any Trading Day that falls within the relevant Observation Period for 
such conversion and within the 10 Trading Days immediately following, and including, the Trading Day next succeeding the 
expiration date of any tender or exchange offer, references to “10” or “10th” in the preceding paragraph shall be deemed replaced 
with such lesser number of Trading Days as have elapsed between the expiration date of such tender or exchange offer and such 
Trading Day in determining the Conversion Rate as of such Trading Day. In addition, if the Trading Day next succeeding the date 
such tender or exchange offer expires is after the 10th Trading Day immediately preceding, and including, the end of any 
Observation Period in respect of a conversion of Notes, references to “10” or “10th” in the preceding paragraph and this 
paragraph shall be deemed to be replaced, solely in respect of that conversion of Notes, with such lesser number of Trading Days 
as have elapsed from, and including, the Trading Day next succeeding the date such tender or exchange offer expires to, and 
including, the last Trading Day of such Observation Period.

(f)	 Notwithstanding this Section 14.04 or any other provision of this Indenture or the Notes, if (i) a Conversion Rate 
adjustment for any dividend or distribution becomes effective on any Ex-Dividend Date pursuant to the provisions in this Section 
14.04, (ii) a Note is to be converted pursuant to Combination Settlement, (iii) any Trading Day in the Observation Period for such 
conversion occurs on or after such Ex-Dividend Date and on or before the related Record Date, (iv) the consideration due in 
respect of such Trading Day includes any whole or fractional shares of Common Stock based on a Conversion Rate that is 
adjusted for such dividend or distribution, and (v) such shares of Common Stock would otherwise be entitled to participate in 
such dividend or distribution, then the Conversion Rate adjustment relating to such 
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Ex-Dividend Date shall be made for such conversion in respect of such Trading Day, provided that the shares of Common Stock 
issuable with respect to such Trading Day based on such adjusted Conversion Rate shall not be entitled to participate in such 
dividend or distribution.

(g)	 Except as stated herein, the Company shall not adjust the Conversion Rate for the issuance of shares of the 
Common Stock or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of the Common Stock or the right to purchase shares 
of the Common Stock or such convertible or exchangeable securities.

(h)	 In addition to those adjustments required by clauses (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this Section 14.04, and to the 
extent permitted by applicable law and subject to the applicable rules of any exchange on which any of the Company’s securities 
are then listed, the Company from time to time may increase the Conversion Rate by any amount for a period of at least 20 
Business Days if the Board of Directors determines that such increase would be in the Company’s best interest.  In addition, to 
the extent permitted by applicable law and subject to the applicable rules of any exchange on which any of the Company’s 
securities are then listed, the Company may (but is not required to) increase the Conversion Rate to avoid or diminish any income 
tax to holders of Common Stock or rights to purchase Common Stock in connection with a dividend or distribution of shares of 
Common Stock (or rights to acquire shares of Common Stock) or similar event.  Whenever the Conversion Rate is increased 
pursuant to either of the preceding two sentences, the Company shall deliver to the Holder of each Note a notice of the increase at 
least 15 days prior to the date the increased Conversion Rate takes effect, and such notice shall state the increased Conversion 
Rate and the period during which it will be in effect.

(i)	 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article 14, the Conversion Rate shall not be adjusted:

(i)	 upon the issuance of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to any present or future plan providing for 
the reinvestment of dividends or interest payable on the Company’s securities and the investment of additional optional 
amounts in shares of Common Stock under any plan;

(ii)	 upon the issuance of any shares of Common Stock or options or rights to purchase those shares 
pursuant to any present or future employee, director or consultant benefit plan or program of or assumed by the 
Company or any of the Company’s Subsidiaries;

(iii)	 upon the issuance of any shares of the Common Stock pursuant to any option, warrant, right or 
exercisable, exchangeable or convertible security not described in clause (ii) of this subsection and outstanding as of the 
date the Notes were first issued;

(iv)	 upon the repurchase of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to an open market share repurchase 
program or other buy-back transaction that is not a tender offer or exchange offer of the nature described under Section 
14.04(e);

(v)	 solely for a change in the par value of the Common Stock; or
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(vi)	 for accrued and unpaid interest, if any.

(j)	 All calculations and other determinations under this Article 14 shall be made by the Company and shall be made 
to the nearest one-ten thousandth (1/10,000th) of a share.

(k)	 The Company shall not be required to make an adjustment to the Conversion Rate unless the adjustment would 
require a change of at least 1% in the Conversion Rate; provided that the Company shall carry forward any adjustments that are 
less than 1% of the Conversion Rate and make such carried-forward adjustments, regardless of whether the aggregate adjustment 
is at least 1%, (i) on the effective date for any Make-Whole Fundamental Change and/or Fundamental Change, (ii) prior to the 
close of business on the Conversion Date for any Note in respect of any conversion following a replacement of the Common 
Stock by Reference Property consisting solely of cash, (iii) prior to the open of business on each Trading Day of any Observation 
Period in respect of the conversion of any Note, (iv) on the date the Company sends a Redemption Notice for all or any Notes; 
(v) on the date on which all such deferred adjustments would result in an aggregate change to the Conversion Rate of at least 1% 
and (vi) on October 1, 2028.  

(l)	 Whenever the Conversion Rate is adjusted as herein provided, the Company shall promptly file with the Trustee 
(and the Conversion Agent if not the Trustee) an Officer’s Certificate setting forth the Conversion Rate after such adjustment and 
setting forth a brief statement of the facts requiring such adjustment.  Unless and until a Responsible Officer of the Trustee shall 
have received such Officer’s Certificate, the Trustee shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any adjustment of the Conversion 
Rate and may assume without inquiry that the last Conversion Rate of which it has knowledge is still in effect.  Promptly after 
delivery of such certificate, the Company shall prepare a notice of such adjustment of the Conversion Rate setting forth the 
adjusted Conversion Rate and the date on which each adjustment becomes effective and shall deliver such notice of such 
adjustment of the Conversion Rate to each Holder.  Failure to deliver such notice shall not affect the legality or validity of any 
such adjustment.

(m)	 For purposes of this Section 14.04, the number of shares of Common Stock at any time outstanding shall not 
include shares of Common Stock held in the treasury of the Company so long as the Company does not pay any dividend or 
make any distribution on shares of Common Stock held in the treasury of the Company, but shall include shares of Common 
Stock issuable in respect of scrip certificates issued in lieu of fractions of shares of Common Stock.

Section 14.05. Adjustments of Prices.  Whenever any provision of this Indenture requires the Company to calculate the 
Last Reported Sale Prices, the Daily VWAPs, the Daily Conversion Values or the Daily Settlement Amounts over a span of 
multiple days (including, without limitation, an Observation Period and the period for determining the Stock Price for purposes of 
a Make-Whole Fundamental Change or Optional Redemption), the Company shall make appropriate adjustments to each in good 
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner to account for any adjustment to the Conversion Rate that becomes effective, or 
any event requiring an adjustment to the Conversion Rate where the Ex-Dividend Date, Effective Date or expiration date, as the 
case may be, of the event occurs, at any time during the period when the Last 
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Reported Sale Prices, the Daily VWAPs, the Daily Conversion Values or the Daily Settlement Amounts are to be calculated.  

Section 14.06.  Shares to Be Fully Paid.  The Company shall at all times reserve, free from preemptive rights, out of its 
authorized but unissued shares or shares held in treasury, a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the product of (i) the 
aggregate principal amount (expressed in thousands) of all then-outstanding Notes, divided by $1,000; and (ii) the Conversion 
Rate then in effect (assuming, for these purposes, that the Conversion Rate is increased by the maximum amount which the 
Conversion Rate may be increased pursuant to Section 14.03) to provide for conversion of the Notes from time to time as such 
Notes are presented for conversion.  

Section 14.07.  Effect of Recapitalizations, Reclassifications and Changes of the Common Stock.  

(a)	 In the case of:

(i)	 any recapitalization, reclassification or change of the Common Stock (other than changes resulting 
from a subdivision or combination), 

(ii)	 any consolidation, merger, combination or similar transaction involving the Company, 

(iii)	 any sale, lease or other transfer to a third party of the consolidated assets of the Company and the 
Company’s Subsidiaries substantially as an entirety or 

(iv)	 any statutory share exchange, 

in each case, as a result of which the Common Stock would be converted into, or exchanged for, stock, other securities, other 
property or assets (including cash or any combination thereof) (any such event, a “Share Exchange Event”), then, at and after 
the effective time of such Share Exchange Event, the right to convert each $1,000 principal amount of Notes shall be changed 
into a right to convert such principal amount of Notes into the kind and amount of shares of stock, other securities or other 
property or assets (including cash or any combination thereof) that a holder of a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the 
Conversion Rate immediately prior to such Share Exchange Event would have owned or been entitled to receive (the “Reference 
Property,” with each “unit of Reference Property” meaning the kind and amount of Reference Property that a holder of one 
share of Common Stock is entitled to receive) upon such Share Exchange Event and, prior to or at the effective time of such 
Share Exchange Event, the Company or the successor or purchasing Person, as the case may be, shall execute with the Trustee a 
supplemental indenture permitted under Section 10.01(g) providing for such change in the right to convert each $1,000 principal 
amount of Notes; provided, however, that at and after the effective time of the Share Exchange Event (A) the Company shall 
continue to have the right to determine the form of consideration to be paid or delivered, as the case may be, upon conversion of 
Notes in accordance with Section 14.02 and (B) (I) any amount payable in cash upon conversion of the Notes in accordance with 
Section 14.02 shall continue to be payable in 
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cash, (II) any shares of Common Stock that the Company would have been required to deliver upon conversion of the Notes in 
accordance with Section 14.02 shall instead be deliverable in the amount and type of Reference Property that a holder of that 
number of shares of Common Stock would have been entitled to receive in such Share Exchange Event and (III) the Daily VWAP 
and the Last Reported Sale Price (including, without limitation, for purposes of Article 16) shall be calculated based on the value 
(as determined by, or in the manner proscribed by, the Board of Directors) of a unit of Reference Property.

	 If the Share Exchange Event causes the Common Stock to be converted into, or exchanged for, the right to receive more 
than a single type of consideration (determined based in part upon any form of stockholder election), then (i) the Reference 
Property into which the Notes will be convertible shall be deemed to be the types and amounts of consideration actually received 
by the holders of Common Stock, and (ii) the unit of Reference Property for purposes of the immediately preceding paragraph 
shall refer to the weighted average of the consideration referred to in clause (i) attributable to one share of Common Stock.  If the 
holders of the Common Stock receive only cash in such Share Exchange Event, then for all conversions for which the relevant 
Conversion Date occurs after the effective date of such Share Exchange Event (A) the consideration due upon conversion of each 
$1,000 principal amount of Notes shall be solely cash in an amount equal to the Conversion Rate in effect on the Conversion 
Date (as may be increased by any Additional Shares pursuant to Section 14.03), multiplied by the price paid per share of 
Common Stock in such Share Exchange Event and (B) the Company shall satisfy the Conversion Obligation by paying cash to 
converting Holders on the second Business Day immediately following the relevant Conversion Date.  The Company shall notify 
Holders, the Trustee and the Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee) of such weighted average as soon as practicable after 
such determination is made.

	 Such supplemental indenture described in the second immediately preceding paragraph shall provide for anti-dilution and 
other adjustments that shall be as nearly equivalent as is possible to the adjustments provided for in this Article 14.  If, in the case 
of any Share Exchange Event, the Reference Property includes shares of stock, securities or other property or assets (including 
cash or any combination thereof) of a Person other than the Company or the successor or purchasing entity, as the case may be, in 
such Share Exchange Event, then such supplemental indenture shall also be executed by such other Person, if an affiliate of the 
Company or the successor or purchasing entity, and shall contain such additional provisions to protect the interests of the Holders 
of the Notes as the Board of Directors shall consider in good faith necessary by reason of the foregoing, including the provisions 
providing for the purchase rights set forth in Article 15.

(b)	 When the Company executes a supplemental indenture pursuant to subsection (a) of this Section 14.07, the 
Company shall promptly file with the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate briefly stating the reasons therefor, the kind or amount of 
cash, securities or property or asset that will comprise a unit of Reference Property after any such Share Exchange Event, any 
adjustment to be made with respect thereto and that all conditions precedent have been complied with, and shall promptly deliver 
notice thereof to all Holders.  The Company shall cause notice of the execution of such supplemental indenture to be delivered to 
each Holder within 20 days after 

82



Exhibit 4.1

execution thereof.  Failure to deliver such notice shall not affect the legality or validity of such supplemental indenture.

(c)	 The Company shall not become a party to any Share Exchange Event unless its terms are consistent with this 
Section 14.07.  None of the foregoing provisions shall affect the right of a holder of Notes to convert its Notes, as set forth in 
Section 14.01 and Section 14.02 prior to the effective date of such Share Exchange Event.

(d)	 The above provisions of this Section shall similarly apply to successive Share Exchange Events.

Section 14.08.  Certain Covenants.  (a) The Company covenants that all shares of Common Stock issued upon 
conversion of Notes will be fully paid and non-assessable by the Company and free from all taxes, liens and charges with respect 
to the issue thereof.

(b)	 The Company further covenants that, if any shares of Common Stock to be provided for the purpose of 
conversion of Notes hereunder require registration with or approval of any governmental authority under any federal or state law 
before such shares of Common Stock may be validly issued upon conversion, the Company will, to the extent then permitted by 
the rules and interpretations of the Commission, secure such registration or approval, as the case may be.

(c)	 The Company further covenants that if at any time the Common Stock shall be listed on any national securities 
exchange or automated quotation system the Company will use its reasonable best efforts to list and keep listed, so long as the 
Common Stock shall be so listed on such exchange or automated quotation system, any Common Stock issuable upon conversion 
of the Notes.

Section 14.09.  Responsibility of Trustee.  The Trustee and any other Conversion Agent shall not at any time be under 
any duty or responsibility to any Holder to determine the Conversion Rate (or any adjustment thereto) or whether any facts exist 
that may require any adjustment (including any increase) of the Conversion Rate, or with respect to the nature or extent or 
calculation of any such adjustment when made, or with respect to the method employed, or herein or in any supplemental 
indenture provided to be employed, in making the same.  The Trustee and any other Conversion Agent shall not be accountable 
with respect to the validity or value (or the kind or amount) of any shares of Common Stock, or of any securities, property or cash 
that may at any time be issued or delivered upon the conversion of any Note; and the Trustee and any other Conversion Agent 
make no representations with respect thereto.  Neither the Trustee nor any Conversion Agent shall be responsible for any failure 
of the Company to issue, transfer or deliver any shares of Common Stock or stock certificates or other securities or property or 
cash upon the surrender of any Note for the purpose of conversion or to comply with any of the duties, responsibilities or 
covenants of the Company contained in this Article.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, neither the Trustee nor any 
Conversion Agent shall be under any responsibility to determine the correctness of any provisions contained in any supplemental 
indenture entered into pursuant to Section 14.07 relating either to the kind or 

83



Exhibit 4.1

amount of shares of stock or securities or property (including cash) receivable by Holders upon the conversion of their Notes 
after any event referred to in such Section 14.07 or to any adjustment to be made with respect thereto, but, subject to the 
provisions of Section 7.01, may accept (without any independent investigation) as conclusive evidence of the correctness of any 
such provisions, and shall be protected in relying upon, the Officer’s Certificate (which the Company shall be obligated to file 
with the Trustee prior to the execution of any such supplemental indenture) with respect thereto.  Neither the Trustee nor the 
Conversion Agent shall be responsible for determining whether any event contemplated by Section 14.01(b) has occurred that 
makes the Notes eligible for conversion or no longer eligible therefor until the Company has delivered to the Trustee and the 
Conversion Agent the notices referred to in Section 14.01(b) with respect to the commencement or termination of such 
conversion rights, on which notices the Trustee and the Conversion Agent may conclusively rely, and the Company agrees to 
deliver such notices to the Trustee and the Conversion Agent immediately after the occurrence of any such event or at such other 
times as shall be provided for in Section 14.01(b). Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, neither the Trustee nor any 
other agent acting under this Indenture (other than the Company, if acting in such capacity) shall have any obligation to make any 
calculation or to determine whether the Notes may be surrendered for conversion pursuant to this Indenture, or to notify the 
Company or the Depositary or any of the Holders if the Notes have become convertible pursuant to the terms of this Indenture.

Section 14.10.  [Reserved].  

Section 14.11.  Stockholder Rights Plans.  If the Company has a stockholder rights plan in effect upon conversion of the 
Notes, each share of Common Stock, if any, issued upon such conversion shall be entitled to receive the appropriate number of 
rights, if any, and the certificates representing the Common Stock issued upon such conversion shall bear such legends, if any, in 
each case as may be provided by the terms of any such stockholder rights plan, as the same may be amended from time to time. 
However, if, prior to any conversion of Notes, the rights have separated from the shares of Common Stock in accordance with the 
provisions of the applicable stockholder rights plan, the Conversion Rate shall be adjusted at the time of separation as if the 
Company distributed to all or substantially all holders of the Common Stock Distributed Property as provided in Section 
14.04(c), subject to readjustment in the event of the expiration, termination or redemption of such rights.

Section 14.12.  Exchange in Lieu of Conversion.  (a) When a Holder surrenders Notes for conversion, the Company may, 
at its election, direct the Conversion Agent to surrender, on or prior to the Scheduled Trading Day immediately preceding the first 
Trading Day of the applicable Observation Period, such Notes to a financial institution designated by the Company for exchange 
in lieu of conversion (each, an “Exchange in Lieu of Conversion”). The Conversion Agent shall be entitled to conclusively rely 
upon the Company’s instruction in connection with effecting such exchange election and shall have no liability in respect of such 
exchange election. In order to accept any Notes surrendered for conversion, the designated financial institution must agree to pay 
and, if applicable, deliver, in exchange for such Notes, all of the cash and shares of Common Stock, if any, due upon conversion, 
all in accordance with Section 14.02. By the close of business on the Scheduled Trading Day immediately preceding 
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the first Trading Day of the applicable Observation Period, the Company shall notify the Holder surrendering Notes for 
conversion, the Trustee and the Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee) in writing that the Company has directed the 
designated financial institution to make an Exchange in Lieu of Conversion.  

(b)	 If the designated financial institution accepts any such Notes, it shall pay and, if applicable, deliver, the cash and 
shares of Common Stock, if any, due upon conversion to such Holder on the second Business Day immediately following the last 
Trading Day of the applicable Observation Period. Any Notes exchanged by the designated institution shall remain outstanding.  
If the designated financial institution agrees to accept any Notes for exchange but does not timely pay and, if applicable, deliver 
the related cash and shares of Common Stock if any, or if such designated financial institution does not accept the Notes for 
exchange, the Company shall convert the Notes and pay and, if applicable, deliver, the cash and shares of Common Stock, if any, 
due upon conversion on the second Business Day immediately following the last Trading Day of the applicable Observation 
Period in accordance with Section 14.02.  

(c)	 The Company’s designation of a financial institution to which the Notes may be submitted for exchange does not 
require the financial institution to accept any Notes (unless the financial institution has separately made an agreement with the 
Company). The Company may, but shall not be obligated to, enter into a separate agreement with any designated financial 
institution that would compensate the Company for any such transaction.

ARTICLE 15
Repurchase of Notes at Option of Holders

Section 15.01.  [Intentionally Omitted].  

Section 15.02.  Repurchase at Option of Holders Upon a Fundamental Change.  (a)  If a Fundamental Change (other 
than an Exempted Fundamental Change) occurs at any time, each Holder shall have the right, at such Holder’s option, to require 
the Company to repurchase for cash all of such Holder’s Notes, or any portion thereof that is equal to $1,000 or an integral 
multiple of $1,000, on the date (the “Fundamental Change Repurchase Date”) specified by the Company that is not less than 
20 calendar days or more than 35 calendar days following the date of the Fundamental Change Company Notice at a repurchase 
price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to, but excluding, the Fundamental 
Change Repurchase Date (the “Fundamental Change Repurchase Price”), unless the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date 
falls after a Regular Record Date but on or prior to the Interest Payment Date to which such Regular Record Date relates, in 
which case the Company shall instead pay the full amount of accrued and unpaid interest to Holders of record as of such Regular 
Record Date, and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price shall be equal to 100% of the principal amount of Notes to be 
repurchased pursuant to this Article 15.  The Fundamental Change Repurchase Date shall be subject to postponement in order to 
allow the Company to comply with applicable law.
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(b)	 Repurchases of Notes under this Section 15.02 shall be made, at the option of the Holder thereof, upon:

(i)	 delivery to the applicable Paying Agent by a Holder of a duly completed notice (the “Fundamental 
Change Repurchase Notice”) in the form set forth in Attachment 2 to the Form of Note attached hereto as Exhibit A, if 
the Notes are Physical Notes, or in compliance with the Depositary’s procedures for surrendering interests in Global 
Notes, if the Notes are Global Notes, in each case on or before the close of business on the Business Day immediately 
preceding the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date; and

(ii)	 delivery of the Notes, if the Notes are Physical Notes, to the applicable Paying Agent at any time after 
delivery of the Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice (together with all necessary endorsements for transfer) at the 
Corporate Trust Office of the applicable Paying Agent, or book-entry transfer of the Notes, if the Notes are Global 
Notes, in compliance with the procedures of the Depositary, in each case such delivery being a condition to receipt by 
the Holder of the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price therefor.

The Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice in respect of any Notes to be repurchased shall state:

(i)	 in the case of Physical Notes, the certificate numbers of the Notes to be delivered for repurchase;

(ii)	 the portion of the principal amount of Notes to be repurchased, which must be in an Authorized 
Denomination; and

(iii)	 that the Notes are to be repurchased by the Company pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Notes 
and this Indenture;

provided, however, that if the Notes are Global Notes, the Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice must comply with appropriate 
Depositary procedures.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any Holder delivering to the applicable Paying Agent the Fundamental 
Change Repurchase Notice contemplated by this Section 15.02 shall have the right to withdraw, in whole or in part, such 
Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice at any time prior to the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding 
the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date by delivery of a written notice of withdrawal to the applicable  Paying Agent in 
accordance with Section 15.03.

The applicable Paying Agent shall promptly notify the Company of the receipt by it of any Fundamental Change 
Repurchase Notice or written notice of withdrawal thereof.

(c)	 On or before the 20th calendar day after the occurrence of the effective date of a Fundamental Change, the 
Company shall provide to all Holders of Notes, the Trustee, the 
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Conversion Agent (if other than the Trustee) and the applicable Paying Agent (in the case of a Paying Agent other than the 
Trustee or the Paying Agent for the Notes as defined in Section 4.02) a written notice (the “Fundamental Change Company 
Notice”) of the occurrence of the effective date of the Fundamental Change and of the repurchase right at the option of the 
Holders arising as a result thereof.  In the case of Physical Notes, such notice shall be by first class mail, or, in the case of Global 
Notes, such notice shall be delivered in accordance with the applicable procedures of the Depositary.  Each Fundamental Change 
Company Notice shall specify:

(i)	 the events causing the Fundamental Change;

(ii)	 the date of the Fundamental Change;

(iii)	 the last date on which a Holder may exercise the repurchase right pursuant to this Article 15;

(iv)	 the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price;

(v)	 the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date;

(vi)	 the name and address of the Paying Agent and the Conversion Agent, if applicable;

(vii)	if applicable, the Conversion Rate and any adjustments to the Conversion Rate;

(viii)	 that the Notes with respect to which a Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice has been 
delivered by a Holder may be converted only if the Holder withdraws the Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice in 
accordance with the terms of this Indenture; and

(ix)	 the procedures that Holders must follow to require the Company to repurchase their Notes.

No failure of the Company to give the foregoing notices and no defect therein shall limit the Holders’ repurchase rights 
or affect the validity of the proceedings for the repurchase of the Notes pursuant to this Section 15.02. 

At the Company’s request, given at least five days prior to the date the Fundamental Change Company Notice is to be 
sent to the Holders (or such shorter period as agreed by the Paying Agent), the Paying Agent shall give such notice in the 
Company’s name and at the Company’s expense; provided, however, that, in all cases, the text of such Fundamental Change 
Company Notice shall be prepared by the Company.

(d)	 Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Notes may be repurchased by the Company on any date at the option of the 
Holders upon a Fundamental Change if the principal amount of the Notes has been accelerated, and such acceleration has not 
been rescinded, on or prior to such 
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date (except in the case of an acceleration resulting from a Default by the Company in the payment of the Fundamental Change 
Repurchase Price with respect to such Notes). The applicable Paying Agent will promptly return to the respective Holders thereof 
any Physical Notes held by it during the acceleration of the Notes (except in the case of an acceleration resulting from a Default 
by the Company in the payment of the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price with respect to such Notes), or any instructions for 
book-entry transfer of the Notes in compliance with the procedures of the Depositary shall be deemed to have been cancelled, 
and, upon such return or cancellation, as the case may be, the Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice with respect thereto shall 
be deemed to have been withdrawn.

(e)	 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article 15, the Company shall not be required to repurchase or 
make an offer to repurchase Notes upon the occurrence of a Fundamental Change if a third party makes such an offer in the same 
manner, at the same time and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in this Article 15, and such third party 
repurchases all Notes properly surrendered and not validly withdrawn upon such offer in compliance with the requirements set 
forth in this Article 15 for repurchase upon such Fundamental Change by the Company.

(f)	 For purposes of this Article 15, the Paying Agent may be any agent, depositary, tender agent, paying agent or 
other agent appointed by the Company to accomplish the purposes set forth herein.

(g)	 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to send a Fundamental Change 
Company Notice, or offer to repurchase any Notes, as set forth in this Article 15, in connection with a Fundamental Change 
occurring pursuant to clause (b)(B) of the definition thereof (or pursuant to clause (a) that also constitutes a Fundamental Change 
occurring pursuant to clause (b)(B) of the definition thereof), if: (1) such Fundamental Change constitutes a Share Exchange 
Event whose Reference Property consists entirely of cash in U.S. dollars; (2) immediately after such Fundamental Change, the 
Notes become convertible (pursuant to the provisions described in Section 14.07 and, if applicable, Section 14.03) into solely 
such cash in an amount per $1,000 principal amount of Notes that equals or exceeds the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price 
per $1,000 principal amount of Notes (calculated assuming that the same includes accrued interest to, but excluding, the latest 
possible Fundamental Change Repurchase Date for such Fundamental Change); and (3) the Company timely sends the notice 
relating to such Fundamental Change required pursuant to Section 14.01(b)(iii). Any Fundamental Change with respect to which, 
in accordance with the provisions described in this Section 15.02(g), the Company is not required to offer to repurchase any 
Notes is referred to as herein as an “Exempted Fundamental Change.”

Section 15.03.  Withdrawal of Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice.  (a)  A Fundamental Change Repurchase Notice 
may be withdrawn (in whole or in part) by means of a written notice of withdrawal delivered to the Corporate Trust Office of the 
applicable Paying Agent in accordance with this Section 15.03 at any time prior to the close of business on the Business Day 
immediately preceding the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date, specifying:
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(i)	 the aggregate principal amount of the Notes with respect to which such notice of withdrawal is being 
submitted,

(ii)	 if Physical Notes have been issued, the certificate number of the Note in respect of which such notice 
of withdrawal is being submitted, and

(iii)	 the aggregate principal amount, if any, of such Note that remains subject to the original Fundamental 
Change Repurchase Notice, which portion must be in an Authorized Denomination;

provided, however, that if the Notes are Global Notes, the notice must comply with appropriate procedures of the Depositary.

Section 15.04.  Deposit of Fundamental Change Repurchase Price.  (a)  The Company will deposit with the Trustee (or 
other Paying Agent appointed by the Company, or if the Company is acting as its own Paying Agent, set aside, segregate and 
hold in trust as provided in Section 4.04) on or prior to 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the Fundamental Change Repurchase 
Date an amount of money sufficient to repurchase all of the Notes to be repurchased at the appropriate Fundamental Change 
Repurchase Price.  Subject to receipt of funds and/or Notes by the Trustee (or other Paying Agent appointed by the Company), 
payment for Notes surrendered for repurchase (and not withdrawn prior to the close of business on the Business Day immediately 
preceding the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date) will be made on the later of (i) the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date 
(provided the Holder has satisfied the conditions in Section 15.02) and (ii) the time of book-entry transfer or the delivery of such 
Note to the Trustee (or other Paying Agent appointed by the Company) by the Holder thereof in the manner required by Section 
15.02 by mailing checks for the amount payable to the Holders of such Notes entitled thereto as they shall appear in the Note 
Register; provided, however, that payments to the Depositary shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the 
account of the Depositary or its nominee.  The Trustee or applicable Paying Agent shall, promptly after such payment and upon 
written demand by the Company, return to the Company any funds in excess of the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price.

(b)	 If by 11:00 a.m. New York City time, on the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date, the Trustee (or other Paying 
Agent appointed by the Company) holds money sufficient to make payment on all the Notes or portions thereof that are to be 
repurchased on such Fundamental Change Repurchase Date, then, with respect to the Notes that have been properly surrendered 
for repurchase and have not been validly withdrawn, (i) such Notes will cease to be outstanding, (ii) interest will cease to accrue 
on such Notes (whether or not book-entry transfer of the Notes has been made or the Notes have been delivered to the Trustee or 
Paying Agent) and (iii) all other rights of the Holders of such Notes will terminate (other than the right to receive the 
Fundamental Change Repurchase Price and, if applicable, accrued and unpaid interest).

(c)	 Upon surrender of a Physical Note that is to be repurchased in part pursuant to Section 15.02, the Company shall 
execute, and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the 
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Holder, a new Physical Note in an Authorized Denomination equal in principal amount to the unrepurchased portion of the 
Physical Note surrendered.

Section 15.05.  Covenant to Comply with Applicable Laws Upon Repurchase of Notes.  In connection with any 
repurchase offer, the Company will, if required:

(a)	 comply with the provisions of Rule 13e-4, Rule 14e-1 and any other tender offer rules under the Exchange Act;

(b)	 file a Schedule TO or any other required schedule under the Exchange Act; and

(c)	 otherwise comply with all federal and state securities laws in connection with any offer by the Company to 
repurchase the Notes;

in each case, so as to permit the rights and obligations under this Article 15 to be exercised in the time and in the manner 
specified in this Article 15.

ARTICLE 16
Optional Redemption

Section 16.01.  Optional Redemption.  No sinking fund is provided for the Notes.  The Notes shall not be redeemable by 
the Company prior to March 8, 2027.  On or after March 8, 2027, the Company may redeem (an “Optional Redemption”) for 
cash all or any portion of the Notes (subject to the Partial Redemption Limitation), at the Redemption Price, if the Last Reported 
Sale Price of the Common Stock has been at least 130% of the Conversion Price then in effect for at least 20 Trading Days 
(whether or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive Trading Day period (including the last Trading Day of such period) 
ending on, and including, the Trading Day immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides the Redemption 
Notice in accordance with Section 16.02.  

Section 16.02.  Notice of Optional Redemption; Selection of Notes.  (a)  In case the Company exercises its Optional 
Redemption right to redeem all or, as the case may be, any part of the Notes pursuant to Section 16.01, it shall fix a date for 
redemption (each, a “Redemption Date”) and the Company (or, at the Company’s written request (with such request including 
an Officer’s Certificate requesting that the Trustee give such Redemption Notice, setting forth the information to be stated in such 
Redemption Notice as provided in Section 16.02(c), and stating that all conditions precedent to the delivery of such Redemption 
Notice have been or will be complied with) received by the Trustee at least five Business Days prior to the date of giving the 
Redemption Notice (or such shorter period of time as may be acceptable to the Trustee), the Trustee, in the name of and at the 
expense of the Company) shall deliver or cause to be delivered a written notice of such Optional Redemption (a “Redemption 
Notice”) not less than 55 nor more than 75 Scheduled Trading Days prior to the Redemption Date to the Trustee, the Conversion 
Agent (if other than the Trustee), the Paying Agent and each Holder of Notes so to be redeemed as a whole or in part.  The 
Redemption Date must be a Business Day, and the 
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Company shall not specify a Redemption Date that falls on or after the 51st Scheduled Trading Day immediately preceding the 
Maturity Date.  

(b)	 The Redemption Notice, if delivered in the manner herein provided, shall be conclusively presumed to have been 
duly given, whether or not the Holder receives such notice.  In any case, failure to duly give such Redemption Notice or any 
defect in the Redemption Notice to the Holder of any Note designated for redemption as a whole or in part shall not affect the 
validity of the proceedings for the redemption of any other Note.   

(c)	 Each Redemption Notice shall specify:

(i)	 the Redemption Date;

(ii)	 the Redemption Price;

(iii)	 that on the Redemption Date, the Redemption Price will become due and payable upon each Note to be 
redeemed, and that interest thereon, if any, shall cease to accrue on and after the Redemption Date (except as provided in 
the parenthetical of the definition of Redemption Price); 

(iv)	 the place or places where such Notes are to be surrendered for payment of the Redemption Price;

(v)	 that Holders may surrender their Notes called (or deemed called) for redemption for conversion at any 
time prior to the close of business on the Scheduled Trading Day immediately preceding the Redemption Date;

(vi)	 the procedures a converting Holder must follow to convert its Notes and the Settlement Method and 
Specified Dollar Amount, if applicable; 

(vii)	the Conversion Rate and, if applicable, the number of Additional Shares added to the Conversion Rate 
in accordance with Section 14.03; 

(viii)	 the CUSIP, ISIN or other similar numbers, if any, assigned to such Notes; and

(ix)	 in case any Physical Note is to be redeemed in part only, the portion of the principal amount thereof to 
be redeemed and on and after the Redemption Date, upon surrender of such Physical Note, a new Physical Note in 
principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof shall be issued.

Each Redemption Notice shall be irrevocable.  

(d)	 If the Company elects to redeem fewer than all of the outstanding Notes, at least $75.0 million aggregate 
principal amount of Notes must be outstanding and not subject to redemption as of the date of the relevant Redemption Notice 
(such requirement, the “Partial 
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Redemption Limitation”). If the Company decides to redeem fewer than all of the outstanding Notes and the Notes to be 
redeemed are Global Notes, the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected by the Depositary in accordance with the applicable 
procedures of the Depositary. If the Company decides to redeem fewer than all of the outstanding Notes and the Notes to be 
redeemed are not Global Notes then held by the Depositary, the Trustee shall select the Notes or portions thereof to be redeemed 
(in Authorized Denominations) by lot, on a pro rata basis or by another method the Trustee considers to be fair and appropriate.  
If any Note selected for partial redemption is submitted for conversion in part after such selection, the portion of the Note 
submitted for conversion shall be deemed (so far as may be possible) to be the portion selected for redemption.

Section 16.03.  Payment of Notes Called for Redemption.  (a)  If any Redemption Notice has been given in respect of the 
Notes in accordance with Section 16.02, the Notes shall become due and payable on the Redemption Date at the place or places 
stated in the Redemption Notice and at the applicable Redemption Price.  On presentation and surrender of the Notes at the place 
or places stated in the Redemption Notice, the Notes shall be paid and redeemed by the Company at the applicable Redemption 
Price.

(b)	 Prior to the open of business on the Redemption Date, the Company shall deposit with the Paying Agent or, if the 
Company or a Subsidiary of the Company is acting as the Paying Agent, shall segregate and hold in trust as provided in Section 
7.05 an amount of cash (in immediately available funds if deposited on the Redemption Date), sufficient to pay the Redemption 
Price of all of the Notes to be redeemed on such Redemption Date. Subject to receipt of funds by the Paying Agent, payment for 
the Notes to be redeemed shall be made on the Redemption Date for such Notes.  The Paying Agent shall, promptly after such 
payment and upon written demand by the Company, return to the Company any funds in excess of the Redemption Price.

Section 16.04.  Restrictions on Redemption.  The Company may not redeem any Notes on any date if the principal 
amount of the Notes has been accelerated in accordance with the terms of this Indenture, and such acceleration has not been 
rescinded, on or prior to the Redemption Date (except in the case of an acceleration resulting from a Default by the Company in 
the payment of the Redemption Price with respect to such Notes).

ARTICLE 17
Miscellaneous Provisions

Section 17.01.  Provisions Binding on Company’s Successors.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises and agreements 
of the Company contained in this Indenture shall bind its successors and assigns whether so expressed or not.

Section 17.02.  Official Acts by Successor Corporation.  Any act or proceeding by any provision of this Indenture 
authorized or required to be done or performed by any board, committee or Officer of the Company shall and may be done and 
performed with like force and 
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effect by the like board, committee or officer of any corporation or other entity that shall at the time be the lawful sole successor 
of the Company.

Section 17.03.  Addresses for Notices, Etc.  Any notice or demand that by any provision of this Indenture is required or 
permitted to be given or served by the Trustee or by the Holders on the Company shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given 
or made, for all purposes if given or served by being deposited postage prepaid by registered or certified mail in a post office 
letter box addressed (until another address is filed by the Company with the Trustee) to Parsons Corporation, 14291 Park 
Meadow Drive, Suite 100 Chantilly, VA, Attention: General Counsel.  Any notice, direction, request or demand hereunder to or 
upon the Trustee shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given or made, for all purposes, if given or served by being deposited 
postage prepaid by registered or certified mail in a post office letter box addressed to the Corporate Trust Office or sent 
electronically in PDF format, whether sent by mail or electronically, upon actual receipt by the Trustee

The Trustee, by notice to the Company, may designate additional or different addresses for subsequent notices or 
communications.

Any notice or communication delivered or to be delivered to a Holder of Physical Notes shall be mailed to it by first 
class mail, postage prepaid, at its address as it appears on the Note Register and shall be sufficiently given to it if so mailed 
within the time prescribed. Any notice or communication delivered or to be delivered to a Holder of Global Notes shall be 
delivered in accordance with the applicable procedures of the Depositary and shall be sufficiently given to it if so delivered 
within the time prescribed (and if given in such manner, will be deemed to have been given in writing).

Failure to mail or deliver a notice or communication to a Holder or any defect in it shall not affect its sufficiency with 
respect to other Holders.  If a notice or communication is mailed or delivered, as the case may be, in the manner provided above, 
it is duly given, whether or not the addressee receives it.

In case by reason of the suspension of regular mail service or by reason of any other cause it shall be impracticable to 
give such notice to Holders by mail, then such notification as shall be made with the approval of the Trustee shall constitute a 
sufficient notification for every purpose hereunder.

Section 17.04.  Governing Law; Jurisdiction.  THIS INDENTURE AND EACH NOTE, AND ANY CLAIM, 
CONTROVERSY OR DISPUTE ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO THIS INDENTURE AND EACH NOTE, SHALL BE 
GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

The Company irrevocably consents and agrees, for the benefit of the Holders from time to time of the Notes and the 
Trustee, that any legal action, suit or proceeding against it with respect to obligations, liabilities or any other matter arising out of 
or in connection with this Indenture or the Notes may be brought in the courts of the State of New York or the courts of the 
United States located in the Borough of Manhattan, New York City, New York and, until 
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amounts due and to become due in respect of the Notes have been paid, hereby irrevocably consents and submits to the non-
exclusive jurisdiction of each such court in personam, generally and unconditionally with respect to any action, suit or 
proceeding for itself in respect of its properties, assets and revenues.  

The Company irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which it may 
now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any of the aforesaid actions, suits or proceedings arising out of or in connection 
with this Indenture brought in the courts of the State of New York or the courts of the United States located in the Borough of 
Manhattan, New York City, New York and hereby further irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to plead or 
claim in any such court that any such action, suit or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient 
forum.

Section 17.05.  Evidence of Compliance with Conditions Precedent; Certificates and Opinions of Counsel to Trustee.  
Upon any application or demand by the Company to the Trustee to take any action under any of the provisions of this Indenture, 
the Company shall, if requested by the Trustee, furnish to the Trustee an Officer’s Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel stating 
such action is permitted by the terms of this Indenture and that all conditions precedent including any covenants, compliance with 
such which constitutes a condition precedent to such action have been complied with.

Each Officer’s Certificate and Opinion of Counsel provided for, by or on behalf of the Company in this Indenture and 
delivered to the Trustee with respect to compliance with this Indenture (other than the Officer’s Certificates provided for in 
Section 4.08) shall include (a) a statement that the person signing such certificate is familiar with the requested action and this 
Indenture; (b) a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statement contained 
in such certificate is based; (c) a statement that, in the judgment of such person, he or she has made such examination or 
investigation as is necessary to enable him or her to express an informed judgment as to whether or not such action is permitted 
by this Indenture; and (d) a statement as to whether or not, in the judgment of such person, such action is permitted by this 
Indenture and that all conditions precedent to such action have been complied with.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 17.05, if any provision in this Indenture specifically provides 
that the Trustee shall or may receive an Opinion of Counsel in connection with any action to be taken by the Trustee or the 
Company hereunder, the Trustee shall be entitled to, or entitled to request, such Opinion of Counsel.

Section 17.06.  Legal Holidays.  In any case where any Interest Payment Date, any Redemption Date, any Fundamental 
Change Repurchase Date or the Maturity Date is not a Business Day, then any action to be taken on such date need not be taken 
on such date, but may be taken on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if taken on such date, and 
no interest shall accrue in respect of the delay. For purposes of the foregoing sentence, a day on which the applicable place of 
payment is authorized or required by law or executive order to close or be closed will be deemed not to be a Business Day.
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Section 17.07.  No Security Interest Created.  Nothing in this Indenture or in the Notes, expressed or implied, shall be 
construed to constitute a security interest under the Uniform Commercial Code or similar legislation, as now or hereafter enacted 
and in effect, in any jurisdiction.

Section 17.08.  Benefits of Indenture.  Nothing in this Indenture or in the Notes, expressed or implied, shall give to any 
Person, other than the Holders, the parties hereto, any Paying Agent, any Conversion Agent, any authenticating agent, any Note 
Registrar and their successors hereunder, any benefit or any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under this Indenture.

Section 17.09.  Table of Contents, Headings, Etc.  The table of contents and the titles and headings of the articles and 
sections of this Indenture have been inserted for convenience of reference only, are not to be considered a part hereof, and shall in 
no way modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof.

Section 17.10.  Authenticating Agent.  The Trustee may appoint an authenticating agent that shall be authorized to act on 
its behalf and subject to its direction in the authentication and delivery of Notes in connection with the original issuance thereof 
and transfers and exchanges of Notes hereunder, including under Section 2.04, Section 2.05, Section 2.06, Section 2.07, Section 
10.04 and Section 15.04 as fully to all intents and purposes as though the authenticating agent had been expressly authorized by 
this Indenture and those Sections to authenticate and deliver Notes.  For all purposes of this Indenture, the authentication and 
delivery of Notes by the authenticating agent shall be deemed to be authentication and delivery of such Notes “by the Trustee” 
and a certificate of authentication executed on behalf of the Trustee by an authenticating agent shall be deemed to satisfy any 
requirement hereunder or in the Notes for the Trustee’s certificate of authentication.  Such authenticating agent shall at all times 
be a Person eligible to serve as trustee hereunder pursuant to Section 7.08.

Any corporation or other entity into which any authenticating agent may be merged or converted or with which it may be 
consolidated, or any corporation or other entity resulting from any merger, consolidation or conversion to which any 
authenticating agent shall be a party, or any corporation or other entity succeeding to the corporate trust business of any 
authenticating agent, shall be the successor of the authenticating agent hereunder, if such successor corporation or other entity is 
otherwise eligible under this Section 17.10, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of the 
parties hereto or the authenticating agent or such successor corporation or other entity.

Any authenticating agent may at any time resign by giving written notice of resignation to the Trustee and to the 
Company.  The Trustee may at any time terminate the agency of any authenticating agent by giving written notice of termination 
to such authenticating agent and to the Company.  Upon receiving such a notice of resignation or upon such a termination, or in 
case at any time any authenticating agent shall cease to be eligible under this Section, the Trustee may appoint a successor 
authenticating agent (which may be the Trustee), shall give written notice of such appointment to the Company and shall deliver 
notice of such appointment to all Holders.
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The Company agrees to pay to the authenticating agent from time to time reasonable compensation for its services 
although the Company may terminate the authenticating agent, if it determines such agent’s fees to be unreasonable.

The provisions of Section 7.02, Section 7.03, Section 7.04, Section 8.03 and this Section 17.10 shall be applicable to any 
authenticating agent.

If an authenticating agent is appointed pursuant to this Section 17.10, the Notes may have endorsed thereon, in addition 
to the Trustee’s certificate of authentication, an alternative certificate of authentication in the following form:

__________________________,
as Authenticating Agent, certifies that this is one of the Notes described
in the within-named Indenture.

By: ____________________
Authorized Officer

Section 17.11.  Execution in Counterparts.  This Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of 
which shall be an original, but such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.  The exchange of 
copies of this Indenture and of signature pages by facsimile, PDF or other electronic transmission shall constitute effective 
execution and delivery of this Indenture as to the parties hereto and may be used in lieu of the original Indenture for all purposes.  
Signatures of the parties hereto transmitted by facsimile, PDF or other electronic methods shall be deemed to be their original 
signatures for all purposes. All notices, approvals, consents, requests and any communications hereunder must be in writing 
(provided that any such communication sent to the Trustee hereunder must be in the form of a document that is signed manually 
or by way of a digital signature provided by DocuSign or other electronic signature provider that the Company plans to use (or 
such other digital signature provider as specified in writing to the Trustee by the authorized representative), in English. The 
Company agrees to assume all risks arising out of the use of using digital signatures and electronic methods to submit 
communications to Trustee, including without limitation the risk of Trustee acting on unauthorized instructions, and the risk of 
interception and misuse by third parties. Unless otherwise provided in this Indenture or in any Note, the words “execute”, 
“execution”, “signed”, and “signature” and words of similar import used in or related to any document to be signed in connection 
with this Indenture, any Note or any of the transactions contemplated hereby (including amendments, waivers, consents and other 
modifications) shall be deemed to include electronic signatures and the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall 
be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature in ink or the use of a paper-based 
recordkeeping system, as applicable, to the fullest extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal 
Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, and any 
other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act.
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Section 17.12.  Severability.  In the event any provision of this Indenture or in the Notes shall be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable, then (to the extent permitted by law) the validity, legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in 
any way be affected or impaired.

Section 17.13.  Waiver of Jury Trial.  EACH OF THE COMPANY AND THE TRUSTEE HEREBY IRREVOCABLY 
WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY 
JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS INDENTURE, THE NOTES OR THE 
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

Section 17.14.  Force Majeure.  In no event shall the Trustee be responsible or liable for any failure or delay in the 
performance of its obligations hereunder arising out of or caused by, directly or indirectly, forces beyond its control, including, 
without limitation, strikes, work stoppages, accidents, acts of war or terrorism, civil or military disturbances, nuclear or natural 
catastrophes or acts of God, epidemics, pandemics, and interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, communications or 
computer (software and hardware) services, or the unavailability of the Federal Reserve Bank wire or telex or other wire or 
communication facility; it being understood that the Trustee shall use reasonable efforts that are consistent with accepted 
practices in the banking industry to resume performance as soon as practicable under the circumstances.

Section 17.15.  Calculations.  Except as otherwise provided herein, the Company shall be responsible for making all 
calculations called for under the Indenture and the Notes.  These calculations include, but are not limited to, determinations of the 
Stock Price in connection with a Make-Whole Fundamental Change, the Last Reported Sale Prices of the Common Stock, the 
Trading Price (for purposes of determining whether the Notes are convertible under this Indenture), the Daily VWAPs, the Daily 
Conversion Values, the Daily Settlement Amounts, accrued interest payable on the Notes and the Conversion Rate of the Notes.  
The Company shall make all these calculations in good faith and, absent manifest error, the Company’s calculations shall be final 
and binding on Holders of Notes.  The Company shall provide a schedule of its calculations to each of the Trustee, Paying Agent 
and the Conversion Agent, and each of the Trustee, Paying Agent and Conversion Agent is entitled to rely conclusively upon the 
accuracy of the Company’s calculations without independent verification.  The Company will forward the Company’s 
calculations to any registered Holder of Notes upon the request of that registered Holder at the sole cost and expense of the 
Company.

Section 17.16.  USA PATRIOT Act.  The parties hereto acknowledge that in accordance with Section 326 of the USA 
PATRIOT Act, the Trustee, like all financial institutions and in order to help fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering, 
is required to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies each person or legal entity that establishes a relationship or 
opens an account with the Trustee.  The parties to this Indenture agree that they will provide the Trustee with such information as 
it may request in order for the Trustee to satisfy the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act.
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Section 17.17.  Withholding Taxes.  If a beneficial owner of a Note is deemed to have received a distribution subject to 
U.S. federal income tax as a result of an adjustment or the nonoccurrence of an adjustment to the Conversion Rate, any resulting 
applicable withholding taxes (including backup withholding) may be withheld from interest and payments upon conversion, 
repurchase or maturity of the Notes, or if any withholding taxes (including backup withholding) are paid on behalf of a Holder or 
beneficial owner of Notes, those withholding taxes may be withheld from or set off against payments of cash or Common Stock, 
if any, payable on the Notes (or any payments on the Common Stock) or sales proceeds received by or other funds or assets of the 
Holder or beneficial owner of the Note.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Indenture to be duly executed as of the date first written 
above.

PARSONS CORPORATION

By:  
Name:
Title:

 

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By:  
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT A

FORM OF NOTE

[FORM OF FACE OF NOTE]

[INCLUDE FOLLOWING LEGEND IF A GLOBAL NOTE]

[UNLESS THIS CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE 
DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, A NEW YORK CORPORATION (“DTC”), TO PARSONS CORPORATION OR ITS 
AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE, OR PAYMENT, AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS 
REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER NAME AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY PAYMENT HEREUNDER IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER 
ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR 
OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE 
REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.]

[INCLUDE FOLLOWING LEGEND IF A RESTRICTED SECURITY]

[THIS SECURITY AND THE COMMON STOCK, IF ANY, ISSUABLE UPON CONVERSION OF THIS SECURITY 
HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), 
AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE. BY ITS ACQUISITION HEREOF OR OF A BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN, THE 
ACQUIRER:

(1) REPRESENTS THAT IT AND ANY ACCOUNT FOR WHICH IT IS ACTING IS A “QUALIFIED 
INSTITUTIONAL BUYER” (WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) AND 
THAT IT EXERCISES SOLE INVESTMENT DISCRETION WITH RESPECT TO EACH SUCH ACCOUNT, AND

(2) AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF PARSONS CORPORATION (THE “COMPANY”) THAT IT WILL 
NOT OFFER, SELL, PLEDGE OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER THIS SECURITY OR ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST 
HEREIN PRIOR TO THE DATE THAT IS THE LATER OF (X) ONE YEAR AFTER THE LAST ORIGINAL ISSUE 
DATE HEREOF OR SUCH SHORTER PERIOD OF TIME AS PERMITTED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE 
SECURITIES ACT OR ANY SUCCESSOR PROVISION THERETO AND (Y) SUCH LATER DATE, IF ANY, AS 
MAY BE REQUIRED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EXCEPT:

(A) TO THE COMPANY OR ANY SUBSIDIARY THEREOF, OR
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(B) PURSUANT TO A REGISTRATION STATEMENT THAT HAS BECOME EFFECTIVE UNDER 
THE SECURITIES ACT, OR

(C) TO A PERSON REASONABLY BELIEVED TO BE A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER 
IN COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR 

(D) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR ANY OTHER AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE 
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT. 

PRIOR TO THE REGISTRATION OF ANY TRANSFER IN ACCORDANCE WITH CLAUSE (2)(D) ABOVE, THE 
COMPANY AND THE TRUSTEE RESERVE THE RIGHT TO REQUIRE THE DELIVERY OF SUCH LEGAL OPINIONS, 
CERTIFICATIONS OR OTHER EVIDENCE AS MAY REASONABLY BE REQUIRED IN ORDER FOR THE COMPANY 
TO DETERMINE THAT THE PROPOSED TRANSFER IS BEING MADE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT 
AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF ANY 
EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT.]

NO AFFILIATE (AS DEFINED IN RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) OF PARSONS CORPORATION OR 
PERSON THAT HAS BEEN AN AFFILIATE (AS DEFINED IN RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) OF PARSONS 
CORPORATION DURING THE IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING THREE MONTHS MAY PURCHASE, OTHERWISE 
ACQUIRE OR HOLD THIS SECURITY OR A BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN. 
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Parsons Corporation

2.625% Convertible Senior Note due 2029

No. [_____]	 [Initially] $[_________]

CUSIP No. [_________]

Parsons Corporation, a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the 
“Company,” which term includes any successor corporation or other entity under the Indenture referred to on the reverse hereof), 
for value received hereby promises to pay to [CEDE & CO.] [_______], or registered assigns, the principal sum [as set forth in 
the “Schedule of Exchanges of Notes” attached hereto] [of $[_______]], which amount, taken together with the principal 
amounts of all other outstanding Notes, shall not, unless permitted by the Indenture, exceed $800,000,000 in aggregate at any 
time, in accordance with the rules and procedures of the Depositary, on March 1, 2029, and interest thereon as set forth below.

This Note shall bear interest at the rate of 2.625% per year from February 26, 2024, or from the most recent date to 
which interest had been paid or provided for to, but excluding, the next scheduled Interest Payment Date until March 1, 2029.  
Accrued interest on this Note shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year composed of twelve 30-day months and, for 
partial months, on the basis of the number of days actually elapsed in a 30-day month. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears 
on each March 1 and September 1, commencing on September 1, 2024, to Holders of record at the close of business on the 
preceding February 15 and August 15 (whether or not such day is a Business Day), respectively.  Additional Interest will be 
payable as set forth in Section 4.06(d), Section 4.06(e) and Section 6.03 of the within-mentioned Indenture, and any reference to 
interest on, or in respect of, any Note therein shall be deemed to include Additional Interest if, in such context, Additional 
Interest is, was or would be payable pursuant to any of such Section 4.06(d), Section 4.06(e) or Section 6.03, and any express 
mention of the payment of Additional Interest in any provision therein shall not be construed as excluding Additional Interest in 
those provisions thereof where such express mention is not made.

Any Defaulted Amounts shall accrue interest per annum at the rate borne by the Notes, subject to the enforceability 
thereof under applicable law, from, and including, the relevant payment date to, but excluding, the date on which such Defaulted 
Amounts shall have been paid by the Company, at its election, in accordance with Section 2.03(c) of the Indenture.  

The Company shall pay or cause a Paying Agent to pay the principal of and interest on this Note, if and so long as such 
Note is a Global Note, in immediately available funds to the Depositary or its nominee, as the case may be, as the registered 
Holder of such Note.  As provided in and subject to the provisions of the Indenture, the Company shall pay or cause a Paying 
Agent to pay the principal of any Notes (other than Notes that are Global Notes) at the office or agency designated by the 
Company for that purpose.  The Company has initially designated the Trustee as its Paying Agent and Note Registrar in respect 
of the Notes and its 
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agency in the continental United States, as a place where Notes may be presented for payment or for registration of transfer and 
exchange.  

Reference is made to the further provisions of this Note set forth on the reverse hereof, including, without limitation, 
provisions giving the Holder of this Note the right to convert this Note into cash and, if applicable, shares of Common Stock, on 
the terms and subject to the limitations set forth in the Indenture.  Such further provisions shall for all purposes have the same 
effect as though fully set forth at this place.

This Note, and any claim, controversy or dispute arising under or related to this Note, shall be construed in 
accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of New York.

In the case of any conflict between this Note and the Indenture, the provisions of the Indenture shall control and govern.

This Note shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose until the certificate of authentication hereon shall have 
been signed manually by the Trustee or a duly authorized authenticating agent under the Indenture.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Note to be duly executed.

PARSONS CORPORATION

By:  
Name:
Title:

 

Dated: February 26, 2024

TRUSTEE’S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Trustee, certifies that this is one of the Notes described
in the within-named Indenture.

By:_______________________________
     Authorized Signatory
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[FORM OF REVERSE OF NOTE]

Parsons Corporation
2.625% Convertible Senior Note due 2029

This Note is one of a duly authorized issue of Notes of the Company, designated as its 2.625% Convertible Senior Notes 
due 2029 (the “Notes”), limited to the aggregate principal amount of $800,000,000, all issued or to be issued under and pursuant 
to an Indenture dated as of February 26, 2024 (the “Indenture”), between the Company and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National 
Association (the “Trustee”), to which Indenture and all indentures supplemental thereto reference is hereby made for a 
description of the rights, limitations of rights, obligations, duties and immunities thereunder of the Trustee, the Company and the 
Holders of the Notes.  Additional Notes may be issued in an unlimited aggregate principal amount, subject to certain conditions 
specified in the Indenture.  Capitalized terms used in this Note and not defined in this Note shall have the respective meanings set 
forth in the Indenture.

In case certain Events of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the principal of, and interest on, all Notes may 
be declared, by either the Trustee or Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of Notes then outstanding, and upon 
said declaration shall become, due and payable, in the manner, with the effect and subject to the conditions and certain exceptions 
set forth in the Indenture.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Indenture, the Company will make all payments and deliveries in respect of 
the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price on the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date, the Redemption Price on any 
Redemption Date and the principal amount on the Maturity Date, as the case may be, to the Holder who surrenders a Note to a 
Paying Agent to collect such payments in respect of the Note.  The Company will pay cash amounts in money of the United 
States that at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts.  

The Indenture contains provisions permitting the Company and the Trustee in certain circumstances, without the consent 
of the Holders of the Notes, and in certain other circumstances, with the consent of the Holders of not less than a majority in 
aggregate principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding, evidenced as in the Indenture provided, to execute supplemental 
indentures modifying the terms of the Indenture and the Notes as described therein.  It is also provided in the Indenture that, 
subject to certain exceptions, the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding may on 
behalf of the Holders of all of the Notes waive any past Default or Event of Default under the Indenture and its consequences.

Each Holder shall have the right to institute suit for the enforcement of its right to receive payment or delivery, as the 
case may be, of (x) the principal (including the Redemption Price and the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price, if applicable) 
of, (y) accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on, and (z) the consideration due upon conversion of, this Note at the place, at the 
respective 
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times, at the rate and in the lawful money or shares of Common Stock, as the case may be, herein prescribed.

The Notes are issuable in registered form without coupons in Authorized Denominations.  At the office or agency of the 
Company referred to on the face hereof, and in the manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Indenture, Notes may be 
exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of Notes of other authorized denominations, without payment of any service 
charge but, if required by the Company or Trustee, with payment of a sum sufficient to cover any transfer or similar tax that may 
be imposed in connection therewith as a result of the name of the Holder of the new Notes issued upon such exchange of Notes 
being different from the name of the Holder of the old Notes surrendered for such exchange.

The Notes shall be redeemable at the Company’s option on or after March 8, 2027 in accordance with the terms and 
subject to the conditions specified in the Indenture.  No sinking fund is provided for the Notes.

Upon the occurrence of a Fundamental Change, the Holder has the right, at such Holder’s option, to require the 
Company to repurchase for cash all of such Holder’s Notes or any portion thereof (in principal amounts of $1,000 or integral 
multiples thereof) on the Fundamental Change Repurchase Date at a price equal to the Fundamental Change Repurchase Price.

Subject to the provisions of the Indenture, the Holder hereof has the right, at its option, during certain periods and upon 
the occurrence of certain conditions specified in the Indenture, prior to the close of business on the second Scheduled Trading 
Day immediately preceding the Maturity Date, to convert any Notes or portion thereof that is $1,000 or an integral multiple 
thereof, into cash and, if applicable, shares of Common Stock, based on the Conversion Rate specified in the Indenture, as 
adjusted from time to time as provided in the Indenture.
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ABBREVIATIONS

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription of the face of this Note, shall be construed as though they 
were written out in full according to applicable laws or regulations:

TEN COM = as tenants in common	
 
UNIF GIFT MIN ACT = Uniform Gifts to Minors Act
 
CUST = Custodian
 
TEN ENT = as tenants by the entireties		

JT TEN  = joint tenants with right of survivorship and not as tenants in common 	
 

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list.
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SCHEDULE A

SCHEDULE OF EXCHANGES OF NOTES

Parsons Corporation
2.625% Convertible Senior Notes due 2029

The initial principal amount of this Global Note is _______ DOLLARS ($[_________]).  The following increases or 
decreases in this Global Note have been made:

Date of exchange

Amount of decrease in 
principal amount of this 

Global Note

Amount of increase in 
principal amount of this 

Global Note

Principal amount of this 
Global Note following 

such decrease or increase

Signature of authorized 
signatory of Trustee or 

Custodian
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ATTACHMENT 1

[FORM OF NOTICE OF CONVERSION]

To:  Parsons Corporation
       14291 Park Meadow Drive, Suite 100 Chantilly, VA 
       Attention: General Counsel  
 
       U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as Conversion Agent
       633 West Fifth Street, 24th Floor
       Los Angeles, California 90071
       Attention: Bradley E. Scarbrough (Parsons Corporation)
 
Re:  Parsons Corporation 2.625% Convertible Senior Notes due 2029

The undersigned registered owner of this Note hereby exercises the option to convert this Note, or the portion hereof 
(that is $1,000 principal amount or an integral multiple thereof) below designated, into cash and, if applicable, shares of Common 
Stock, in accordance with the terms of the Indenture referred to in this Note, and directs that any cash payable and any shares of 
Common Stock issuable and deliverable upon such conversion, together with any cash for any fractional share, and any Notes 
representing any unconverted principal amount hereof, be issued and delivered to the registered Holder hereof unless a different 
name has been indicated below.  If any shares of Common Stock or any portion of this Note not converted are to be issued in the 
name of a Person other than the undersigned, the undersigned will pay all documentary, stamp or similar issue or transfer taxes, if 
any in accordance with Section 14.02(d) and Section 14.02(e) of the Indenture.  Any amount required to be paid to the 
undersigned on account of interest accompanies this Note.  Capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meanings 
ascribed to such terms in the Indenture.

Dated:	 _____________________	 ________________________________

	 ________________________________
	 Signature(s)

___________________________
Signature Guarantee

Signature(s) must be guaranteed
by an eligible Guarantor Institution
(banks, stock brokers, savings and
loan associations and credit unions)
with membership in an approved
signature guarantee medallion program
pursuant to Securities and Exchange
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Commission Rule 17Ad-15 if shares
of Common Stock are to be issued, or
Notes are to be delivered, other than
to and in the name of the registered holder.

Fill in for registration of shares if
to be issued, and Notes if to
be delivered, other than to and in the
name of the registered holder:

_________________________
(Name)

_________________________
(Street Address)

_________________________
(City, State and Zip Code)
Please print name and address

Principal amount to be converted (if less than all):  $______,000

NOTICE:  The above signature(s) of the Holder(s) hereof must correspond with the 
name as written upon the face of the Note in every particular without alteration or 
enlargement or any change whatever.

_________________________
Social Security or Other Taxpayer
Identification Number
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ATTACHMENT 2

[FORM OF FUNDAMENTAL CHANGE REPURCHASE NOTICE]

To:  Parsons Corporation
       14291 Park Meadow Drive, Suite 100 Chantilly, VA 
       Attention: General Counsel  
 
       Paying Agent
 
Re: Parsons Corporation 2.625% Convertible Senior Notes due 2029

The undersigned registered owner of this Note hereby acknowledges receipt of a notice from Parsons Corporation (the 
“Company”) as to the occurrence of a Fundamental Change with respect to the Company and specifying the Fundamental 
Change Repurchase Date and requests and instructs the Company to pay to the registered holder hereof in accordance with 
Section 15.02 of the Indenture referred to in this Note (1) the entire principal amount of this Note, or the portion thereof (that is 
$1,000 principal amount or an integral multiple thereof) below designated, and (2) if such Fundamental Change Repurchase Date 
does not fall during the period after a Regular Record Date and on or prior to the corresponding Interest Payment Date, accrued 
and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to, but excluding, such Fundamental Change Repurchase Date.  Capitalized terms used herein 
but not defined shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Indenture.

In the case of Physical Notes, the certificate numbers of the Notes to be repurchased are as set forth below:

Dated:	 _____________________

	 ________________________________
	 Signature(s)
 

_________________________
Social Security or Other Taxpayer
Identification Number

Principal amount to be repaid (if less than all):  $______,000

NOTICE:  The above signature(s) of the Holder(s) hereof must correspond with the 
name as written upon the face of the Note in every particular without alteration or 
enlargement or any change whatever.
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ATTACHMENT 3

[FORM OF ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER]

Re:  Parsons Corporation 2.625% Convertible Senior Notes due 2029

For value received ____________________________ hereby sell(s), assign(s) and transfer(s) unto _________________ (Please 
insert social security or Taxpayer Identification Number of assignee) the within Note, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and 
appoints _____________________ attorney to transfer the said Note on the books of the Company, with full power of 
substitution in the premises.

In connection with any transfer of the within Note occurring prior to the Resale Restriction Termination Date, as defined in the 
Indenture governing such Note, the undersigned confirms that such Note is being transferred:

□	 To Parsons Corporation or a subsidiary thereof; or

□	 Pursuant to a registration statement that has become or been declared effective under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended; or

□	 Pursuant to and in compliance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended; or

□	 Pursuant to and in compliance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any other available 
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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Dated: ________________________

_____________________________________

_____________________________________
Signature(s)

_____________________________________
Signature Guarantee

Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an
eligible Guarantor Institution (banks, stock
brokers, savings and loan associations and
credit unions) with membership in an approved
signature guarantee medallion program pursuant
to Securities and Exchange Commission
Rule 17Ad-15 if Notes are to be delivered, other
than to and in the name of the registered holder.

NOTICE:  The signature on the assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the Note in every 
particular without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever.
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[DEALER]
February [  ], 2024

To: Parsons Corporation

       100 W. Walnut Street

       Corporate Treasury

       Pasadena, CA  91124

 

Re: [Base][Additional] Call Option Transaction

The purpose of this letter agreement (this “Confirmation”) is to confirm the terms and conditions of the call option transaction entered into 
between [DEALER] (“Dealer”) [, represented by [AGENT] (“Agent”),] and Parsons Corporation (“Counterparty”) as of the Trade Date specified below 
(the “Transaction”).  This letter agreement constitutes a “Confirmation” as referred to in the ISDA Master Agreement specified below.  Each party further 
agrees that this Confirmation together with the Agreement (as defined below) evidence a complete binding agreement between Counterparty and Dealer as 
to the subject matter and terms of the Transaction to which this Confirmation relates, and shall supersede all prior or contemporaneous written or oral 
communications with respect thereto.

The definitions and provisions contained in the 2002 ISDA Equity Derivatives Definitions (the “Equity Definitions”), as published by the 
International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA”) are incorporated into this Confirmation.  In the event of any inconsistency between the 
Equity Definitions and this Confirmation, this Confirmation shall govern.  Certain defined terms used herein are based on terms that are defined in the 
Offering Memorandum dated February [  ], 2024 (the “Offering Memorandum”) relating to the [  ]% Convertible Senior Notes due 2029 (as originally 
issued by Counterparty, the “Convertible Notes” and each USD 1,000 principal amount of Convertible Notes, a “Convertible Note”) issued by 
Counterparty in an aggregate initial principal amount of USD [700,000,000] (as increased by [up to] an aggregate principal amount of USD [100,000,000] 
[if and to the extent that][pursuant to the exercise by] the Initial Purchasers (as defined herein) [exercise][of] their option to purchase additional Convertible 
Notes pursuant to the Purchase Agreement (as defined herein)) pursuant to an Indenture [to be] dated February [  ], 2024 between Counterparty and U.S. 
Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the “Indenture”).  In the event of any inconsistency between the terms defined in the Offering 
Memorandum, the Indenture and this Confirmation, this Confirmation shall govern.  The parties acknowledge that this Confirmation is entered into on the 
date hereof with the understanding that (i) definitions set forth in the Indenture which are also defined herein by reference to the Indenture and (ii) sections 
of the Indenture that are referred to herein will conform to the descriptions thereof in the Offering Memorandum.  If any such definitions in the Indenture or 
any such sections of the Indenture differ from the descriptions thereof in the Offering Memorandum, the descriptions thereof in the Offering Memorandum 
will govern for purposes of this Confirmation.  The parties further acknowledge that the Indenture section numbers used herein are based on the [draft of 
the Indenture last reviewed by Dealer as of the date of this Confirmation, and if any such section numbers are changed in the Indenture as executed, the 
parties will amend this Confirmation in good faith to preserve the intent of the parties][Indenture as executed].  Subject to the foregoing, references to the 
Indenture herein are references to the Indenture as in effect on the date of its execution, and if the Indenture is amended or supplemented following such 
date (other than any amendment or supplement (x) pursuant to Section 10.01(i) of the Indenture that, as determined by the Calculation Agent, conforms the 
Indenture to the description of Convertible Notes in the Offering Memorandum or (y) pursuant to Section 14.07(a) of the Indenture, subject, in the case of 
this clause (y), to the second paragraph under “Method of Adjustment” in Section ‎3), any such amendment or supplement will be disregarded for purposes 
of this Confirmation unless the parties agree otherwise in writing.

Each party is hereby advised, and each such party acknowledges, that the other party has engaged in, or refrained from engaging in, substantial 
financial transactions and has taken other material actions in reliance upon the parties’ entry into the Transaction to which this Confirmation relates on the 
terms and conditions set forth below.

1. This Confirmation evidences a complete and binding agreement between Dealer and Counterparty as to the terms of the Transaction to which this 
Confirmation relates.  This Confirmation shall supplement, form a part of, and be subject to an agreement in the form of the ISDA 2002 Master Agreement 
(the “Agreement”) as if Dealer and Counterparty had executed an agreement in such form (but without any Schedule except for (i) the election of the laws 
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of the State of New York as the governing law (without reference to choice of law doctrine), (ii) in respect of Section 5(a)(vi) of the Agreement, the 

election that the “Cross-Default” provisions shall apply to Dealer with (a) a “Threshold Amount” with respect to Dealer of three percent of the 
shareholders’ equity of  [Dealer][Dealer Parent] as of the Trade Date, (b) the deletion of the phrase “, or becoming capable at such time of being declared,” 
from clause (1) and (c) the following language added to the end thereof: “Notwithstanding the foregoing, a default under subsection (2) hereof shall not 
constitute an Event of Default if (x) the default was caused solely by error or omission of an administrative or operational nature, (y) funds were available 
to enable the party to make the payment when due and (z) the payment is made within two Local Business Days of such party’s receipt of written notice of 
its failure to pay.”, (iii) the modification that the term “Specified Indebtedness” shall have the meaning specified in Section 14 of the Agreement, except 
that such term shall not include obligations in respect of deposits received in the ordinary course of a party’s banking business, and (iv) the modification 
that following the payment of the Premium, the condition precedent in Section 2(a)(iii) of the Agreement with respect to Events of Default or Potential 
Events of Default (other than an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default arising under Section 5(a)(ii), 5(a)(iv) or 5(a)(vii) of the Agreement) shall 
not apply to a payment or delivery owing by Dealer to Counterparty) on the Trade Date.  In the event of any inconsistency between provisions of the 
Agreement and this Confirmation, this Confirmation will prevail for the purpose of the Transaction to which this Confirmation relates.  The parties hereby 
agree that no transaction other than the Transaction to which this Confirmation relates shall be governed by the Agreement.

2. The terms of the particular Transaction to which this Confirmation relates are as follows:

General Terms.

Trade Date:	 February [  ], 2024

Effective Date:	 The closing date of the [initial] issuance of the Convertible Notes [issued pursuant to the option to purchase additional 
Convertible Notes exercised on the date hereof].

Option Style:	 “Modified American”, as described under “Procedures for Exercise” below.

Option Type:	 Call

Buyer:	 Counterparty

Seller:	 Dealer

Shares:	 The common stock of Counterparty, par value USD 1.00 per share (Exchange symbol “PSN”).

Number of Options:	 [  ].  For the avoidance of doubt, the Number of Options shall be reduced by any Options exercised by  
Counterparty.  In no event will the Number of Options be less than zero.

Applicable Percentage:	 [  ]%

Option Entitlement:	 A number equal to the product of the Applicable Percentage and [  ].

Strike Price:	 USD [  ]

Cap Price:	 USD [  ]

Premium: 	 USD [  ]

Premium Payment Date: 	 The Effective Date
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Exchange: 	 New York Stock Exchange

Related Exchange(s): 	 All Exchanges

Excluded Provisions:	 Section 14.03 and Section 14.04(h) of the Indenture.

Procedures for Exercise.

Conversion Date:	 With respect to any conversion of a Convertible Note, the date on which the “Holder” (as such term is defined in the  
Indenture) of such Convertible Note satisfies all of the requirements for conversion 
thereof as set forth in Section 14.02(b) of the Indenture; provided that if Counterparty 
has not delivered to Dealer a related Notice of Exercise, then in no event shall a 
Conversion Date be deemed to occur hereunder (and no Option shall be exercised or 
deemed to be exercised hereunder) with respect to any surrender of a Convertible Note 
for conversion in respect of which Counterparty has elected to designate a financial 
institution for exchange in lieu of conversion of such Convertible Note pursuant to 
Section 14.12 of the Indenture.

Early Conversion:	 (x) Any conversion of Convertible Notes with a Conversion Date occurring prior to the Free Convertibility Date or (y)
any conversion of a Convertible Note in respect of which the “Holder” (as such term is 
defined in the Indenture) of such Convertible Note would be entitled to an increase in 
the “Conversion Rate” (as such term is defined in the Indenture) pursuant to Section 
14.03 of the Indenture; provided that, in no event shall an Early Conversion be deemed 
to occur with respect to any surrender of a Convertible Note for conversion in respect of 
which Counterparty has elected to designate a financial institution for exchange in lieu 
of conversion of such Convertible Note pursuant to Section 14.12 of the Indenture.

Free Convertibility Date:	 October 1, 2028

Expiration Time: 	 The Valuation Time

Expiration Date: 	 March 1, 2029, subject to earlier exercise.

Multiple Exercise:	 Applicable, as described under “Automatic Exercise” and “Automatic Exercise of Remaining Repayment Options After 
Free Convertibility Date” below.

Automatic Exercise: 	 Notwithstanding Section 3.4 of the Equity Definitions, on each Conversion Date occurring on or after the Free 
Convertibility Date, in respect of which a “[Notice of Conversion”] (as such term is 
defined in the Indenture) that is effective as to Counterparty has been delivered in 
accordance with the Indenture by the relevant converting “Holder” (as such term is 
defined in the Indenture), a number of Options equal to [(i)] the number of Convertible 
Notes in denominations of USD 1,000 as to which such Conversion Date has occurred 
[minus (ii) the number of 
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Options that are or are deemed to be automatically exercised on such Conversion Date 
under the Base Call Option Transaction Confirmation letter agreement dated February 
21, 2024 between Dealer and Counterparty (the “Base Call Option Confirmation”),] 
shall be deemed to be automatically exercised; provided that such Options shall be 
exercised or deemed exercised only if Counterparty has provided a Notice of Exercise 
to Dealer in accordance with “Notice of Exercise” below.

	 Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the number of Options that are exercised or deemed exercised hereunder exceed the 
Number of Options.

Automatic Exercise of Remaining
Repayment Options After
Free Convertibility Date:	 Notwithstanding anything herein or in Section 3.4 of the Equity Definitions to the contrary, unless  

Counterparty notifies Dealer in writing prior to 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the 
Scheduled Valid Day immediately preceding the Expiration Date that it does not wish 
Automatic Exercise to occur, a number of Options equal to the lesser of (a) the Number 
of Options (after giving effect to the provisions opposite the caption “Automatic 
Exercise” above) as of 9:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the Expiration Date and (b) 
the Remaining Repayment Options [minus the number of “Remaining Options” (as 
defined in the Base Call Option Confirmation)] (such lesser number, the “Remaining 
Options”) will be deemed to be automatically exercised as if (i) a number of 
Convertible Notes (in denominations of USD 1,000 principal amount) equal to such 
number of Remaining Options were converted with a “Conversion Date” (as such term 
is defined in the Indenture) occurring on or after the Free Convertibility Date and (ii) 
the Settlement Method applied to such Convertible Notes; provided that no such 
automatic exercise pursuant to this paragraph will occur if the Relevant Price for each 
Valid Day during the Settlement Averaging Period is less than or equal to the Strike 
Price. “Remaining Repayment Options” shall mean the excess of (I) the aggregate 
number of Convertible Notes (in denominations of USD 1,000 principal amount) that 
were subject to Repayment Events (as defined below) during the term of the 
Transaction over (II) the aggregate number of Repayment Options (as defined below) 
that were terminated hereunder relating to Repayment Events during the term of the 
Transaction [plus the aggregate number of “Repayment Options” (as defined in the 
Base Call Option Confirmation) terminated under the Base Call Option Confirmation 
relating to “Repayment Events” (as defined therein) during the term of the 
“Transaction” under the Base Call Option Confirmation]. Counterparty shall notify 
Dealer in writing of the number of Remaining Repayment Options before 5:00 p.m. 
(New York City time) on the Scheduled Valid Day immediately preceding the 
Expiration Date.
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Notice of Exercise:	Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Equity Definitions or under “Automatic Exercise” above, but subject to 

“Automatic Exercise of Remaining Repayment Options After Free Convertibility Date” 
above, in order to exercise any Options relating to Convertible Notes with a Conversion 
Date occurring on or after the Free Convertibility Date, Counterparty must notify 
Dealer in writing (which, for the avoidance of doubt, may be by email) before 5:00 p.m. 
(New York City time) on the second Scheduled Valid Day immediately preceding the 
Expiration Date specifying the number of such Options; provided that if the Relevant 
Settlement Method for such Options is (x) Combination Settlement or (y) Cash 
Settlement, Dealer shall have received a separate notice (the “Notice of Final 
Settlement Method”) in respect of all such Convertible Notes before 5:00 p.m. (New 
York City time) on the Free Convertibility Date specifying (1) the Relevant Settlement 
Method for such Options, and (2) if the settlement method for the related Convertible 
Notes is not Settlement in Cash (as defined below), the fixed amount of cash per 
Convertible Note that Counterparty has elected to deliver to “Holders” (as such term is 
defined in the Indenture) of the related Convertible Notes (the “Specified Cash 
Amount”); provided that (a) Counterparty must make a single irrevocable election for 
all Options and (b) if Counterparty is electing Cash Settlement or Combination 
Settlement, such Settlement Method Election shall be effective only if Counterparty 
represents and warrants to Dealer in writing on the date of such Settlement Method 
Election that such election is being made in good faith and not as part of a plan or 
scheme to evade compliance with the federal securities laws. 

	 Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Counterparty acknowledges its responsibilities under applicable securities laws, and 
in particular Section 9 and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act (as defined below) and 
the rules and regulations thereunder, in respect of any election of a settlement method 
with respect to the Convertible Notes and the Relevant Settlement Method.

Valuation Time:	 At the close of trading of the regular trading session on the Exchange; provided that if the principal trading session is 
extended, the Calculation Agent shall determine the Valuation Time in its commercially 
reasonable discretion.

Market Disruption Event:	 Section 6.3(a) of the Equity Definitions is hereby replaced in its entirety by the following:

	 “‘Market Disruption Event’ means, with respect to any date (i) the failure by the primary U.S. national or regional securities exchange 
or market on which the Shares are listed or admitted for trading to open for trading 
during its regular trading session; or (ii) the occurrence or existence prior to 1:00 p.m., 
New York City time, on any Scheduled Valid Day for the Shares for more than one half-
hour period in the aggregate during regular trading hours of any 
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suspension or limitation imposed on trading (by reason of movements in price 
exceeding limits permitted by the relevant stock exchange or otherwise) in the Shares or 
in any options contracts or futures contracts relating to the Shares.”

Settlement Terms.  

Settlement Method:	 For any Option, Net Share Settlement; provided that if the Relevant Settlement Method set forth below for such 
Option is not Net Share Settlement, then the Settlement Method for such Option shall 
be such Relevant Settlement Method, but only if Counterparty shall have delivered to 
Dealer a valid Notice of Final Settlement Method as set forth above for such Option. 

Relevant Settlement Method:	In respect of any Option:

	 (i)	 if Counterparty has elected, or is deemed to have elected, to settle its conversion obligations in respect of the related Convertible 
Note in a combination of cash and Shares pursuant to Section 14.02(a) of the Indenture 
with a Specified Cash Amount equal to USD 1,000, then the Relevant Settlement 
Method for such Option shall be Net Share Settlement;

	 (ii)	 if Counterparty has elected to settle its conversion obligations in respect of the related Convertible Note in a combination of cash 
and Shares pursuant to Section 14.02(a) of the Indenture with a Specified Cash Amount 
greater than USD 1,000, then the Relevant Settlement Method for such Option shall be 
Combination Settlement; and

	 (iii)	 if Counterparty has elected to settle its conversion obligations in respect of the related Convertible Note entirely in cash pursuant 
to Section 14.02(a) of the Indenture (such settlement method, “Settlement in Cash”), 
then the Relevant Settlement Method for such Option shall be Cash Settlement.

Net Share Settlement:	 If Net Share Settlement is applicable to any Option exercised or deemed exercised hereunder, Dealer will deliver to 
Counterparty, on the relevant Settlement Date for each such Option, a number of Shares 
(the “Net Share Settlement Amount”) equal to the sum, for each Valid Day during the 
Settlement Averaging Period for each such Option, of (i) (a) the Daily Option Value for 
such Valid Day, divided by (b) the Relevant Price on such Valid Day, divided by (ii) the 
number of Valid Days in the Settlement Averaging Period; provided that in no event 
shall the Net Share Settlement Amount for any Option exceed a number of Shares equal 
to the Applicable Limit for such Option divided by the Applicable Limit Price on the 
Settlement Date for such Option.
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	 Dealer will pay cash in lieu of delivering any fractional Shares to be delivered with respect to any Net Share Settlement Amount  

valued at the Relevant Price for the last Valid Day of the Settlement Averaging Period.

Combination Settlement:	 If Combination Settlement is applicable to any Option exercised or deemed exercised hereunder, Dealer will  
pay or deliver, as the case may be, to Counterparty, on the relevant Settlement Date for 
each such Option:

(i)	 cash (the “Combination Settlement Cash Amount”) equal to the sum, for each 
Valid Day during the Settlement Averaging Period for such Option, of (A) an 
amount (the “Daily Combination Settlement Cash Amount”) equal to the 
lesser of (1) the product of (x) the Applicable Percentage and (y) the Specified 
Cash Amount minus USD 1,000 and (2) the Daily Option Value, divided by (B) 
the number of Valid Days in the Settlement Averaging Period; provided that if 
the calculation in clause (A) above results in zero or a negative number for any 
Valid Day, the Daily Combination Settlement Cash Amount for such Valid Day 
shall be deemed to be zero; and

(ii)	 Shares (the “ Combination Settlement Share Amount”) equal to the sum, for 
each Valid Day during the Settlement Averaging Period for such Option, of a 
number of Shares for such Valid Day (the “Daily Combination Settlement
Share Amount”) equal to (A) (1) the Daily Option Value on such Valid Day 
minus the Daily Combination Settlement Cash Amount for such Valid Day, 
divided by (2) the Relevant Price on such Valid Day, divided by (B) the number 
of Valid Days in the Settlement Averaging Period; provided that if the 
calculation in sub-clause (A)(1) above results in zero or a negative number for
any Valid Day, the Daily Combination Settlement Share Amount for such Valid 
Day shall be deemed to be zero;

provided that in no event shall the sum of (x) the Combination Settlement Cash Amount 
for any Option, (y) the Combination Settlement Share Amount (not including any such 
amount representing a fractional share) for such Option multiplied by the Applicable 
Limit Price on the Settlement Date for such Option and (z) the cash to be paid by Dealer 
in lieu of a fractional share, exceed the Applicable Limit for such Option.

	 Dealer will pay cash in lieu of delivering any fractional Shares to be delivered with respect to any Combination Settlement Share  
Amount valued at the Relevant Price for the last Valid Day of the Settlement Averaging 
Period.

Cash Settlement:	 If Cash Settlement is applicable to any Option exercised or deemed exercised hereunder, in lieu of Section 8.1 of the 
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Equity Definitions, Dealer will pay to Counterparty, on the relevant Settlement Date for 
each such Option, an amount of cash (the “Cash Settlement Amount”) equal to the 
sum, for each Valid Day during the Settlement Averaging Period for such Option, of (i) 
the Daily Option Value for such Valid Day, divided by (ii) the number of Valid Days in 
the Settlement Averaging Period; provided that in no event shall the Cash Settlement 
Amount for any Option exceed the Applicable Limit for such Option.  

Daily Option Value:	 For any Valid Day, an amount equal to (i) the Option Entitlement on such Valid Day, multiplied by (ii) (A) the 
lesser of the Relevant Price on such Valid Day and the Cap Price, less (B) the Strike 
Price on such Valid Day; provided that if the calculation contained in clause (ii) above 
results in a negative number, the Daily Option Value for such Valid Day shall be 
deemed to be zero.  In no event will the Daily Option Value be less than zero.

Applicable Limit:	 For any Option, an amount of cash equal to the Applicable Percentage multiplied by the excess of (i) the aggregate of 
(A) the amount of cash paid to the “Holder” (as such term is defined in the Indenture) of 
the related Convertible Note upon conversion of such Convertible Note and (B) the 
number of Shares, if any, delivered to the “Holder” (as such term is defined in the
Indenture) of the related Convertible Note upon conversion of such Convertible Note 
multiplied by the Applicable Limit Price on the Settlement Date for such Option, over 
(ii) USD 1,000.

Applicable Limit Price:	On any day, the opening price as displayed under the heading “Op” on Bloomberg page PSN<equity> (or any  
successor thereto).

Valid Day:	 Any day on which (i) trading in the Shares generally occurs on the Exchange or, if the Shares are not then listed on the  
Exchange, on the principal other U.S. national or regional securities exchange on which 
the Shares are then listed or, if the Shares are not then listed on a U.S. national or 
regional securities exchange, on the principal other market on which the Shares are then 
listed or admitted for trading; and (ii) there is no Market Disruption Event. If the Shares 
are not so listed or admitted for trading, then “Valid Day” means a Business Day.

Scheduled Valid Day:	 Any day that is scheduled to be a Valid Day on the principal U.S. national or regional securities exchange or  
market on which the Shares are then listed or admitted for trading. If the Shares are not 
so listed or traded, then “Scheduled Valid Day” means a Business Day.

Business Day:	 Any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or any day on which the Federal Reserve Bank of New York is authorized 
required by law or executive order to close or be closed.

Relevant Price:	 On any Valid Day, the per Share volume-weighted average price as displayed under the heading “Bloomberg VWAP” 
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on Bloomberg page “PSN <equity> AQR” (or its equivalent successor if such page is 
not available) in respect of the period from the scheduled open of trading until the 
scheduled close of trading of the primary trading session on such Valid Day (or if such 
volume-weighted average price is unavailable at such time, the market value of one 
Share on such Valid Day, as determined by the Calculation Agent in a commercially 
reasonable manner using, if practicable, a volume-weighted average method). The 
Relevant Price will be determined without regard to after-hours trading or any other 
trading outside of the regular trading session trading hours.

Settlement Averaging Period:	 For any Option and regardless of the Settlement Method applicable to such Option, the 50 consecutive Va 
Days commencing on, and including, the 51st Scheduled Valid Day immediately prior 
to the Expiration Date.

Settlement Date:	 For any Option, the second Business Day immediately following the final Valid Day of the Settlement Averaging Period 
for such Option.

Settlement Currency:	 USD

Other Applicable Provisions: 	 The provisions of Sections 9.1(c), 9.8, 9.9 and 9.11 of the Equity Definitions will be applicable, except  
that all references in such provisions to “Physically-settled” shall be read as references 
to “Share Settled”.  “Share Settled” in relation to any Option means that Net Share 
Settlement or Combination Settlement is applicable to that Option.

Representation and Agreement:	 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Equity Definitions (including, but not limited to, Section 
9.11 thereof), the parties acknowledge that (i) any Shares delivered to Counterparty 
shall be, upon delivery, subject to restrictions and limitations arising from 
Counterparty’s status as issuer of the Shares under applicable securities laws, (ii) Dealer 
may deliver any Shares required to be delivered hereunder in certificated form in lieu of 
delivery through the Clearance System and (iii) any Shares delivered to Counterparty 
may be “restricted securities” (as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, 
as amended (the “Securities Act”)).

3. Additional Terms applicable to the Transaction.

Adjustments applicable to the Transaction:

Potential Adjustment Events:	 Notwithstanding Section 11.2(e) of the Equity Definitions, a “Potential Adjustment Event” means a 
occurrence of any event or condition, as set forth in any Dilution Adjustment Provision, 
that would result in an adjustment under the Indenture to the [“Conversion Rate” or the 
composition of a “unit of Reference Property” or to any “Last Reported Sale Price,” 
“Daily Measurement Value,” “Daily Conversion Value,” “Daily Settlement Amount” or 
“Daily VWAP”] (each such term as defined in the 
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Indenture).  For the avoidance of doubt, Dealer shall not have any delivery or payment 
obligation hereunder, and except as set forth in Section 9(x), no adjustment shall be 
made to the terms of the Transaction, on account of (x) any distribution of cash, 
property or securities by Counterparty to “Holders” (as such term is defined in the 
Indenture) (upon conversion or otherwise) or (y) any other transaction in which 
“Holders” (as such term is defined in the Indenture) are entitled to participate, in each 
case, in lieu of an adjustment under the Indenture of the type referred to in the 
immediately preceding sentence (including, without limitation, pursuant to the fourth 
sentence of the first paragraph of Section 14.04(c) of the Indenture or the fourth 
sentence of Section 14.04(d) of the Indenture).

Method of Adjustment: 	Calculation Agent Adjustment, which means that, notwithstanding Section 11.2(c) of the Equity Definitions, upon 
any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent shall make an adjustment to any 
one or more of the Strike Price, Number of Options, Option Entitlement and any other 
variable relevant to the exercise, settlement or payment for the Transaction that 
corresponds to the adjustments to the Convertible Notes under the Indenture; provided 
that the parties agree that (x) open market Share repurchases at prevailing market prices 
and (y) Share repurchases through a dealer pursuant to accelerated share repurchases, 
forward contracts or similar transactions that are entered into at prevailing market prices 
and in accordance with customary market terms for transactions of such type to 
repurchase the Shares shall not be considered Potential Adjustment Events, in each 
case, to the extent that, after giving effect to such transactions, the aggregate number of 
Shares repurchased during the term of the Transaction pursuant to all transactions 
described in this proviso would not reduce the number of Shares outstanding to be less 
than [   ] Shares, as determined by the Calculation Agent and as adjusted by the 
Calculation Agent to account for any subdivision or combination with respect to the 
Shares.

	 Notwithstanding the foregoing and “Consequences of Merger Events / Tender Offers” below:

(i)	 if the Calculation Agent in good faith disagrees with any adjustment to the  
Convertible Notes that involves an exercise of discretion by Counterparty or 
its board of directors (including, without limitation, pursuant to Section 14.05 
of the Indenture, Section 14.07(a) of the Indenture or any supplemental 
indenture entered into thereunder or in connection with any proportional
adjustment or the determination of the fair value of any securities, property, 
rights or other assets), then in each such case, the Calculation Agent will, in 
good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner and, if applicable, 
consistent with the 
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methodology set forth in the Indenture, determine the adjustment to be made 
to any one or more of the Strike Price, Number of Options, Option 
Entitlement and any other variable relevant to the exercise, settlement or 
payment for the Transaction in a commercially reasonable manner; 

(ii)	 in connection with any Potential Adjustment Event as a result of an event or  
condition set forth in Section 14.04(b) of the Indenture or Section 14.04(c) of 
the Indenture where, in either case, the period for determining “Y” (as such 
term is used in Section 14.04(b) of the Indenture) or “SP0” (as such term is 
used in Section 14.04(c) of the Indenture), as the case may be, begins before 
Counterparty has publicly announced the event or condition giving rise to 
such Potential Adjustment Event, then the Calculation Agent shall, in good 
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, have the right to adjust any 
variable relevant to the exercise, settlement or payment for the Transaction as 
appropriate to reflect the costs (including, but not limited to, hedging 
mismatches and market losses) and expenses incurred by Dealer in 
connection with its hedging activities, with such adjustments made assuming 
that Dealer maintains commercially reasonable hedge positions, as a result of 
such event or condition not having been publicly announced prior to the 
beginning of such period; and

(iii)	 if any Potential Adjustment Event is declared and (a) the event or condition giving 
rise to such Potential Adjustment Event is subsequently amended, modified, 
cancelled or abandoned, (b) the “Conversion Rate” (as such term is defined in 
the Indenture) is otherwise not adjusted at the time or in the manner 
contemplated by the relevant Dilution Adjustment Provision based on such 
declaration or (c) the “Conversion Rate” (as such term is defined in the 
Indenture) is adjusted as a result of such Potential Adjustment Event and 
subsequently re-adjusted (each of clauses (a), (b) and (c), a “Potential 
Adjustment Event Change”) then, in each case, the Calculation Agent shall, 
in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, have the right to 
adjust any variable relevant to the exercise, settlement or payment for the 
Transaction as appropriate to reflect the costs (including, but not limited to, 
hedging mismatches and market losses) and expenses incurred by Dealer in 
connection with its hedging activities, with such adjustments made assuming 
that Dealer maintains commercially 

 

11



Exhibit 10.1
 
 

 
reasonable hedge positions, as a result of such Potential Adjustment Event 
Change.

Dilution Adjustment Provisions:	 Sections 14.04(a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) and Section 14.05 of the Indenture.

Extraordinary Events applicable to the Transaction:

Merger Events:	 Applicable; provided that notwithstanding Section 12.1(b) of the Equity Definitions, a “Merger Event” means the 
occurrence of any event or condition set forth in the definition of “Share Exchange 
Event” in Section 14.07(a) of the Indenture.

Tender Offers:	 Applicable; provided that notwithstanding Section 12.1(d) of the Equity Definitions, a “[Tender Offer]” means the 
occurrence of any event or condition set forth in Section 14.04(e) of the Indenture.  

Consequences of Merger Events/
Tender Offers:	Notwithstanding Section 12.2 and Section 12.3 of the Equity Definitions, upon the occurrence of a Merger Event or a Tender 

Offer, the Calculation Agent shall make a corresponding adjustment in respect of any 
adjustment under the Indenture to any one or more of the nature of the Shares (in the 
case of a Merger Event), Strike Price, Number of Options, Option Entitlement and any 
other variable relevant to the exercise, settlement or payment for the Transaction, 
subject to the second paragraph under “Method of Adjustment”; provided, however, that 
such adjustment shall be made without regard to any adjustment to the “Conversion 
Rate” (as such term is defined in the Indenture) pursuant to any Excluded Provision; 
provided further that if, with respect to a Merger Event or a Tender Offer, (i) the 
consideration for the Shares includes (or, at the option of a holder of Shares, may 
include) shares of an entity or person that is not a corporation or is not organized under 
the laws of the United States, any State thereof or the District of Columbia or (ii) the 
Counterparty to the Transaction following such Merger Event or Tender Offer will not 
be a corporation organized under the laws of the United States, any State thereof or the 
District of Columbia, then, in either case, Cancellation and Payment (Calculation Agent 
Determination) may apply at Dealer’s reasonable election; provided further that, for the 
avoidance of doubt, adjustments shall be made pursuant to the provisions set forth 
above regardless of whether any Merger Event or Tender Offer gives rise to an Early 
Conversion.

Consequences of Announcement Events:	 Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment as set forth in Section 12.3(d) of the Equity  
Definitions; provided that, in respect of an Announcement Event, (w) references to 
“Tender Offer” shall be replaced by references to “Announcement Event” and
references to “Tender Offer Date” shall be replaced by references to “date of such 
Announcement Event”, (x) the phrase “exercise, 
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settlement, payment or any other terms of the Transaction (including, without 
limitation, the spread)” shall be replaced with the phrase “Cap Price (provided that in no 
event shall the Cap Price be less than the Strike Price)”, (y) the phrases “whether within 
a commercially reasonable (as determined by the Calculation Agent) period of time 
prior to or after the Announcement Event,” shall be inserted prior to the word “which” 
in the seventh line, and (z) for the avoidance of doubt, the Calculation Agent shall, in 
good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determine whether the relevant 
Announcement Event has had a material economic effect on the Transaction (and, if so, 
shall adjust the Cap Price accordingly) on one or more occasions on or after the date of 
the Announcement Event up to, and including, the Expiration Date, any Early 
Termination Date and/or any other date of cancellation, it being understood that (i) any 
adjustment in respect of an Announcement Event shall take into account any earlier 
adjustment relating to the same Announcement Event and (ii) such adjustment shall be 
made without duplication of any other adjustment hereunder. An Announcement Event 
shall be an “Extraordinary Event” for purposes of the Equity Definitions, to which 
Article 12 of the Equity Definitions is applicable.

Announcement Event:	 (i) The public announcement by Issuer, any affiliate of Issuer, any agent of Issuer or any Valid Third Party Entity 
(any such person or entity, a “Relevant Party”) of (x) any transaction or event that, if 
completed, would constitute a Merger Event or Tender Offer, (y) any potential 
acquisition or disposition by Issuer and/or its subsidiaries where the aggregate 
consideration exceeds 35% of the market capitalization of Issuer as of the date of such 
announcement (an “Acquisition Transaction”) or (z) the intention to enter into a 
Merger Event or Tender Offer or an Acquisition Transaction, (ii) the public 
announcement by Issuer of an intention to solicit or enter into, or to explore strategic 
alternatives or other similar undertaking that may include, a Merger Event or Tender 
Offer or an Acquisition Transaction or (iii) any subsequent public announcement by a 
Relevant Party (in the case of a transaction or intention pursuant to clause (i)) or Issuer 
(in the case of a transaction or intention pursuant to clause (ii)) of a change to a 
transaction or intention that is the subject of an announcement of the type described in 
clause (i) or (ii) of this sentence (including, without limitation, a new announcement, 
whether or not by the same party, relating to such a transaction or intention or the 
announcement of a withdrawal from, or the abandonment or discontinuation of, such a 
transaction or intention), as determined by the Calculation Agent.  For the avoidance of 
doubt, the occurrence of an Announcement Event with respect to any transaction or 
intention shall not preclude the occurrence of a later Announcement Event with respect 
to such transaction or intention. For purposes of this definition of “Announcement 
Event,” (A) “Merger Event” shall mean 
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such term as defined under Section 12.1(b) of the Equity Definitions (but, for the 
avoidance of doubt, the remainder of the definition of “Merger Event” in Section 
12.1(b) of the Equity Definitions following the definition of “Reverse Merger” therein 
shall be disregarded) and (B) “Tender Offer” shall mean such term as defined under 
Section 12.1(d) of the Equity Definitions; provided that (1) Section 12.1(d) of the 
Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (x) replacing “10%” with “20%” in the third 
line thereof and (y) replacing the words “voting shares of the Issuer” in the fourth line 
thereof with the word “Shares” and (2) Section 12.1(e) of the Equity Definitions is 
hereby amended by replacing the words “voting shares” in the first line thereof with the 
word “Shares”.

Valid Third Party Entity:	 In respect of any transaction or event, any third party (or affiliate or agent thereof) that has a bona fide intent  
to enter into or consummate such transaction or event (it being understood and agreed 
that in determining, in a commercially reasonable manner, whether such third party has 
such a bona fide intent, the Calculation Agent shall take into consideration whether the 
relevant announcement by such party has had a material economic effect on the Shares 
and/or Options on the Shares).

Nationalization, Insolvency or Delisting:	 Cancellation and Payment (Calculation Agent Determination); provided that, in addition to the 
provisions of Section 12.6(a)(iii) of the Equity Definitions, it will also constitute a 
Delisting if the Exchange is located in the United States and the Shares are not 
immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on any of the New York Stock Exchange, 
The Nasdaq Global Select Market or The Nasdaq Global Market (or their respective 
successors); if the Shares are immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on any of the 
New York Stock Exchange, The Nasdaq Global Select Market or The Nasdaq Global 
Market (or their respective successors), such exchange or quotation system shall 
thereafter be deemed to be the Exchange.

Additional Disruption Events:

Change in Law:	 Applicable; provided that Section 12.9(a)(ii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (i) replacing the phrase 
“the interpretation” in the third line thereof with the phrase “, or public announcement 
of, the formal or informal interpretation”, (ii) replacing the word “Shares” where it 
appears in clause (X) thereof with the words “Hedge Position” and (iii) replacing the 
parenthetical beginning after the word “regulation” in the second line thereof with the 
words “(including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, (x) any tax law or 
(y) adoption, effectiveness or promulgation of new regulations authorized or mandated 
by existing statute)”.

Failure to Deliver:	 Applicable

Hedging Disruption:	 Applicable; provided that:
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(i)	 Section 12.9(a)(v) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by inserting the  

following two phrases at the end of such Section:

	 “, provided that any such inability that occurs solely due to the deterioration of the
creditworthiness of the Hedging Party shall not be deemed a Hedging 
Disruption.  For the avoidance of doubt, the term “equity price risk” shall be 
deemed to include, but shall not be limited to, stock price and volatility risk. 
And, for the further avoidance of doubt, any such transactions or assets referred 
to in phrases (A) or (B) above must be available on commercially reasonable 
pricing terms.”; and

(ii)	 Section 12.9(b)(iii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by inserting in the 
third line thereof, after the words “to terminate the Transaction”, the words “or 
a portion of the Transaction affected by such Hedging Disruption”.

Increased Cost of Hedging:	 Not Applicable

Hedging Party:	 For all applicable Additional Disruption Events, Dealer.

Determining Party:	For all applicable Extraordinary Events, Dealer. All calculations and determinations by the Determining Party shall be 
made in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.  The Determining Party 
will promptly (but in any event within five (5) Exchange Business Days), upon written 
notice from Counterparty, provide a statement displaying in reasonable detail the basis 
for such determination or calculation, as the case may be (including any quotations, 
market data or information from internal or external sources used in making such 
determination or calculation, it being understood that the Determining Party shall not be 
required to disclose any confidential information or proprietary models used by it in 
connection with such determination or calculation, as the case may be).

Non-Reliance:	Applicable

Agreements and Acknowledgments
Regarding Hedging Activities:	 Applicable

Additional Acknowledgments:	 Applicable

Hedging Adjustment:	 For the avoidance of doubt, whenever Hedging Party, Determining Party or the Calculation Agent makes an  
adjustment, calculation or determination permitted or required to be made pursuant to 
the terms of this Confirmation or the Equity Definitions to take into account the effect 
of any event (other than an adjustment, calculation or determination made by reference 
to the Indenture), the Calculation Agent, Determining Party or Hedging Party, as the 
case may be, shall make such adjustment, calculation or determination in a 
commercially 
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reasonable manner and by reference to the effect of such event on Dealer assuming that 
Dealer maintains a commercially reasonable hedge position.

4. Calculation Agent.	 Dealer; provided that all calculations and determinations by the 
Calculation Agent (other than calculations or determinations made by reference to the 
Indenture without discretion on the part of the Calculation Agent) shall be made in good 
faith and in a commercially reasonable manner and assuming for such purposes that 
Dealer is maintaining, establishing and/or unwinding, as applicable, a commercially 
reasonable hedge position; provided further that if an Event of Default of the type 
described in Section 5(a)(vii) of the Agreement with respect to which Dealer is the sole 
Defaulting Party occurs, Counterparty shall have the right to appoint a successor 
calculation agent which shall be a nationally recognized third-party dealer in over-the-
counter corporate equity derivatives.  The Calculation Agent agrees that it will promptly 
(but in any event within five (5) Exchange Business Days), upon written notice from 
Counterparty, provide a statement displaying in reasonable detail the basis for such 
determination, adjustment or calculation, as the case may be (including any quotations, 
market data or information from internal or external sources used in making such 
determination, adjustment or calculation, it being understood that the Calculation Agent 
shall not be required to disclose any confidential information or proprietary models 
used by it in connection with such determination, adjustment or calculation, as the case 
may be).

5. Account Details.

(a) Account for payments to Counterparty:

To be provided by Counterparty.

Account for delivery of Shares to Counterparty:  

To be provided by Counterparty.

(b) Account for payments to Dealer:

[Bank:]	 	 [  ] 
[SWIFT:] 	 	 [  ] 
[Bank Routing:]	 [  ] 
[Acct Name:]	 	 [  ]
[Acct No.:]	 	 [  ]
 

Account for delivery of Shares from Dealer:

[  ]
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6. Offices.

(a) The Office of Counterparty for the Transaction is:  Inapplicable, Counterparty is not a Multibranch Party.

(b) The Office of Dealer for the Transaction is: [  ] [Inapplicable; Dealer is not a Multibranch Party]

7. Notices.  

(a) Address for notices or communications to Counterparty:

	 To: Parsons Corporation

14291 Park Meadow Drive, Suite 100

Chantilly, Virginia 20151

Attn: Michael R. Kolloway, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

Telephone: +1-703-988-8500 and +1-872-202-2576

Email: Mike.Kolloway@parsons.com

 

With a copy to:

 

Paul Walker-Lanz, Vice President, Treasurer

Telephone: +1-626-314-0219

Email: paul.walker@parsons.com
 
(b) Address for notices or communications to Dealer:

[  ]
	
Attention: 	 [  ]
Telephone:	 [  ]
Email:    	[  ]
 
[With a copy to:
	
[  ]
	
Attention: 	 [  ]
Telephone:	 [  ]
Email:    	[  ]]

 

8. Representations and Warranties of Counterparty.

Each of the representations and warranties of Counterparty set forth in Section 1 of the Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) dated 
as of February [  ], 2024, between Counterparty and BofA Securities, Inc., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as 
representatives of the Initial Purchasers party thereto (the “Initial Purchasers”), are true and correct and are hereby deemed to be repeated to 
Dealer 
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as if set forth herein.  Counterparty hereby further represents and warrants to Dealer on the date hereof and on and as of the Premium Payment 
Date that:  

(a) Counterparty has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its obligations in respect of the
Transaction; such execution, delivery and performance have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on Counterparty’s 
part; and this Confirmation has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Counterparty and constitutes its valid and binding 
obligation, enforceable against Counterparty in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent
conveyance, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting creditors’ rights and remedies generally, and subject, as to 
enforceability, to general principles of equity, including principles of commercial reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing 
(regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity) and except that rights to indemnification and 
contribution hereunder may be limited by federal or state securities laws or public policy relating thereto.

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Confirmation nor the incurrence or performance of obligations of Counterparty hereunder 
will conflict with or result in a breach of the certificate of incorporation or by‑laws (or any equivalent documents) of Counterparty, or 
any applicable law or regulation, or any order, writ, injunction or decree of any court or governmental authority or agency, or any 
agreement or instrument to which Counterparty or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which Counterparty or any of its subsidiaries 
is bound or to which Counterparty or any of its subsidiaries is subject, or constitute a default under, or result in the creation of any lien 
under, any such agreement or instrument.

(c) To the knowledge of Counterparty, no consent, approval, authorization, or order of, or filing with, any governmental agency or body or 
any court is required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by Counterparty of this Confirmation, except such as 
have been obtained or made and such as may be required under the Securities Act or state securities laws; provided that Counterparty 
makes no representation or warranty regarding any such requirement that is applicable generally to the ownership of equity securities 
by Dealer or any of its affiliates solely as a result of it or any of such affiliate being financial institutions or broker-dealers.

(d) Counterparty is not and, after consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, will not be required to register as an “investment 
company” as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

(e) Counterparty is an “eligible contract participant” (as such term is defined in Section 1a(18) of the Commodity Exchange Act, as 
amended, other than a person that is an eligible contract participant under Section 1a(18)(C) of the Commodity Exchange Act).

(f) Each of it and its affiliates is not, on the date hereof, in possession of any material non-public information with respect to Counterparty 
or the Shares.

(g) No state or local (including any non-U.S. jurisdiction’s) law, rule, regulation or regulatory order applicable to the Shares would give 
rise to any reporting, consent, registration or other requirement (including without limitation a requirement to obtain prior approval 
from any person or entity) as a result of Dealer or its affiliates owning or holding (however defined) Shares.

(h) Counterparty (A) is capable of evaluating investment risks independently, both in general and with regard to all transactions and 
investment strategies involving a security or securities; (B) will exercise independent judgment in evaluating the recommendations of 
any broker-dealer or its associated persons, unless it has otherwise notified the broker-dealer in writing; and (C) has total assets of at 
least USD 50 million.

(i) The assets of Counterparty do not constitute “plan assets” within the meaning of 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101 under the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
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(j) On and immediately after the Trade Date and the Premium Payment Date, (A) the value of the total assets of Counterparty is greater 

than the sum of the total liabilities (including contingent liabilities) and the capital (as such terms are defined in Section 154 and 
Section 244 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware) of Counterparty, (B) the capital of Counterparty is adequate to 
conduct the business of Counterparty, and Counterparty’s entry into the Transaction will not impair its capital, (C) Counterparty has 
the ability to pay its debts and obligations as such debts mature and does not intend to, or does not believe that it will, incur debt 
beyond its ability to pay as such debts mature, (D) Counterparty will be able to continue as a going concern; (E) Counterparty is not 
“insolvent” (as such term is defined under Section 101(32) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (Title 11 of the United States Code) (the 
“Bankruptcy Code”)) and (F) Counterparty would be able to purchase the number of Shares with respect to the Transaction in 
compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction of Counterparty’s incorporation (including the adequate surplus and capital requirements 
of Sections 154 and 160 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware).

(k) Counterparty represents and warrants that it has not applied and has no present intention to apply, for a loan, loan guarantee, direct 
loan (as that term is defined in the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) or other investment, or to 
receive any financial assistance or relief (howsoever defined) under any program or facility that (a) is established under applicable law 
(whether in existence as of the Trade Date or subsequently enacted, adopted or amended), including without limitation the CARES Act 
and the Federal Reserve Act, as amended, and (b) requires under applicable law (or any regulation, guidance, interpretation or other 
pronouncement thereunder), as a condition of such loan, loan guarantee, direct loan (as that term is defined in the CARES Act), 
investment, financial assistance or relief, that Counterparty comply with any requirement to, or otherwise agree, attest, certify or 
warrant that it has not, as of the date specified in such condition, repurchased, or will not repurchase, any equity security of 
Counterparty; provided that Counterparty may apply for any such governmental assistance if Counterparty either (a) determines based 
on the advice of nationally recognized outside counsel that the terms of the Transaction would not cause Counterparty to fail to satisfy 
any condition for application for or receipt or retention of such governmental assistance based on the terms of the relevant program or 
facility as of the date of such advice or (b) delivers to Dealer evidence or other guidance from a governmental authority with 
jurisdiction for such program or facility that the Transaction is permitted under such program or facility (either by specific reference to 
the Transaction or by general reference to transactions with the attributes of the Transaction in all relevant respects). Counterparty 
further represents and warrants that the Premium is not being paid, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, with funds received under 
or pursuant to any program or facility, including the U.S. Small Business Administration’s “Paycheck Protection Program”, that (a) is 
established under applicable law, including without limitation the CARES Act and the Federal Reserve Act, as amended, and (b) 
requires under such applicable law (or any regulation, guidance, interpretation or other pronouncement of a governmental authority 
with jurisdiction for such program or facility) that such funds be used for specified or enumerated purposes that do not include the 
purchase of the Transaction (either by specific reference to the Transaction or by general reference to transactions with the attributes of 
the Transaction in all relevant respects).

(l) [Counterparty has received, read and understands the OTC Options Risk Disclosure Statement and a copy of the most recent disclosure 
pamphlet prepared by The Options Clearing Corporation entitled “Characteristics and Risks of Standardized Options”.]

9. Other Provisions.

(a) Opinions.  Counterparty shall deliver to Dealer an opinion of counsel, dated as of the Effective Date, with respect to the matters set 
forth in Sections 8(a) through (c) of this Confirmation.  Delivery of such opinion to Dealer shall be a condition precedent for the 
purpose of Section 2(a)(iii) of the Agreement with respect to each obligation of Dealer under Section 2(a)(i) of the Agreement.

(b) Repurchase Notices.  Counterparty shall, on any day on which Counterparty effects any repurchase of Shares, promptly give Dealer a 
written notice (which, for the avoidance of doubt may be by email) of such repurchase (a “Repurchase Notice”) on such day if 
following such repurchase, the number 
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of outstanding Shares as determined on such day is (i) less than [  ] million (in the case of the first such notice) or (ii) thereafter more 
than [  ] million less than the number of Shares included in the immediately preceding Repurchase Notice; provided that, with 
respect to any repurchase of Shares pursuant to a plan under Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act (as defined below), Counterparty 
may elect to satisfy such requirement by promptly giving Dealer written notice of entry into such plan, the maximum number of 
Shares that may be purchased thereunder and the approximate dates or periods during which such repurchases may occur (with such 
maximum number of Shares deemed repurchased on the date of such notice for purposes of this Section 9(b)).  Counterparty agrees to
indemnify and hold harmless Dealer and its affiliates and their respective officers, directors, employees, affiliates, advisors, agents and 
controlling persons (each, an “Indemnified Person”) from and against any and all commercially reasonable losses (including losses 
relating to Dealer’s commercially reasonable hedging activities as a consequence of becoming, or of the risk of becoming, a Section 16 
“insider”, including without limitation, any forbearance from hedging activities or cessation of hedging activities and any losses in 
connection therewith with respect to the Transaction), claims, damages, judgments, liabilities and reasonable and documented out-of-
pocket expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees), joint or several, which an Indemnified Person may become subject to, as a 
result of Counterparty’s failure to provide Dealer with a Repurchase Notice on the day and in the manner specified in this paragraph, 
and to reimburse, within 30 days, upon written request, each of such Indemnified Persons for any reasonable legal or other out-of-
pocket expenses incurred in connection with investigating, preparing for, providing testimony or other evidence in connection with or 
defending any of the foregoing.  If any suit, action, proceeding (including any governmental or regulatory investigation), claim or 
demand shall be brought or asserted against the Indemnified Person as a result of Counterparty’s failure to provide Dealer with a 
Repurchase Notice in accordance with this paragraph, such Indemnified Person shall promptly notify Counterparty in writing, and 
Counterparty, upon request of the Indemnified Person, shall retain counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Person to 
represent the Indemnified Person and any others Counterparty may designate in such proceeding and shall pay the reasonable fees and 
expenses of such counsel related to such proceeding.  Counterparty shall not be liable for any settlement of any proceeding 
contemplated by this paragraph that is effected without its written consent, but if settled with such consent or if there be a final 
judgment for the plaintiff, Counterparty agrees to indemnify any Indemnified Person from and against any loss or liability by reason of 
such settlement or judgment.  Counterparty shall not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Person, effect any settlement 
of any pending or threatened proceeding contemplated by this paragraph that is in respect of which any Indemnified Person is or could 
have been a party and indemnity could have been sought hereunder by such Indemnified Person, unless such settlement includes an 
unconditional release of such Indemnified Person from all liability on claims that are the subject matter of such proceeding on terms 
reasonably satisfactory to such Indemnified Person.  If the indemnification provided for in this paragraph is unavailable to an 
Indemnified Person or insufficient in respect of any commercially reasonable losses, claims, damages or liabilities referred to therein, 
then Counterparty hereunder, in lieu of indemnifying such Indemnified Person thereunder, shall contribute to the amount paid or 
payable by such Indemnified Person as a result of such losses, claims, damages or liabilities.  The remedies provided for in this 
paragraph ‎(b) are not exclusive and shall not limit any rights or remedies which may otherwise be available to any Indemnified Person 
at law or in equity.  The indemnity and contribution agreements contained in this paragraph shall remain operative and in full force and 
effect regardless of the termination of the Transaction.

(c) Regulation M.  Counterparty is not on the Trade Date engaged in a distribution, as such term is used in Regulation M under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), of any securities of Counterparty, other than a distribution 
meeting the requirements of the exception set forth in Rules 101(b)(10) and 102(b)(7) of Regulation M.  Counterparty shall not, until 
the second Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the Trade Date, engage in any such distribution.

(d) No Manipulation.  Counterparty is not entering into the Transaction to create actual or apparent trading activity in the Shares (or any 
security convertible into or exchangeable for the Shares) or to 
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raise or depress or otherwise manipulate the price of the Shares (or any security convertible into or exchangeable for the Shares) or 
otherwise in violation of the Exchange Act.

(e) Transfer or Assignment.  

(i) Counterparty shall have the right to transfer or assign its rights and obligations hereunder with respect to all, but not less 
than all, of the Options hereunder (such Options, the “Transfer Options”); provided that such transfer or assignment shall 
be subject to reasonable conditions that Dealer may impose, including but not limited, to the following conditions:

(A) With respect to any Transfer Options, Counterparty shall not be released from its notice and indemnification obligations 
pursuant to Section 9(b) or any obligations under Section 9(n) or 9(s) of this Confirmation;

(B) Any Transfer Options shall only be transferred or assigned to a third party that is a United States person (as defined in 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”));

(C) Such transfer or assignment shall be effected on terms, including any reasonable undertakings by such third party 
(including, but not limited to, an undertaking with respect to compliance with applicable securities laws in a manner that, in 
the reasonable judgment of Dealer, will not expose Dealer to material risks under applicable securities laws) and execution 
of any documentation and delivery of legal opinions with respect to securities laws and other matters by such third party and 
Counterparty, as are requested and reasonably satisfactory to Dealer;

(D) Dealer will not, as a result of such transfer and assignment, be required to pay the transferee on any payment date an 
amount under Section 2(d)(i)(4) of the Agreement greater than an amount that Dealer would have been required to pay to 
Counterparty in the absence of such transfer and assignment;

(E) Dealer will not, as a result of such transfer or assignment, receive from the transferee or assignee on any payment date 
(after accounting for amounts paid by the transferee or assignee under Section 2(d)(i)(4) of the Agreement as well as any 
withholding or deduction of Tax from the payment) an amount less than it would have been entitled to receive from 
Counterparty in the absence of such transfer or assignment;

(F) An Event of Default, Potential Event of Default or Termination Event will not occur as a result of such transfer and 
assignment;

(G) Without limiting the generality of clause (B), the transferee or assignee shall make such Payee Tax Representations and 
provide such tax documentation as may be reasonably requested by Dealer to permit Dealer to determine that results 
described in clauses (D) and (E) will not occur upon or after such transfer and assignment; and

(H) Counterparty shall be responsible for all reasonable costs and expenses, including reasonable counsel fees, incurred by 
Dealer in connection with such transfer or assignment.

(ii) Dealer may transfer or assign all or any part of its rights or obligations under the Transaction (A) without Counterparty’s 
consent (but with prompt subsequent (but in no event more than two Exchange Business Days) written notice to 
Counterparty), to any affiliate of Dealer (1) that has a long-term issuer rating that is equal to or better than Dealer’s credit 
rating at the time of such transfer or assignment, or (2) whose obligations hereunder will be guaranteed, pursuant to the 
terms of a customary guarantee in a form used by Dealer generally for similar transactions, by Dealer or Dealer’s ultimate 
parent, as applicable (provided that in connection with any assignment or transfer pursuant to clause 
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(A)(2) hereof, the guarantee of any guarantor of the relevant transferee’s obligations under the Transaction shall constitute a 
Credit Support Document under the Agreement), or (B) with Counterparty’s consent (such consent not to be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed), to any other third party financial institution that is a recognized dealer in the market for U.S. corporate 
equity derivatives and that has a long-term issuer rating equal to or better than the lesser of (1) the credit rating of Dealer at 
the time of the transfer or assignment and (2) A- by S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc., or its successor 
(“S&P”), or A3 by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. or its successor (“Moody’s”) or, if either S&P or Moody’s ceases to rate 
such debt, at least an equivalent rating or better by a substitute rating agency mutually agreed by Counterparty and Dealer; 
provided that, in the case of any transfer or assignment described in clause (A) or (B) above, (I) such a transfer or 
assignment shall not occur unless an Event of Default, Potential Event of Default or Termination Event will not occur as a 
result of such transfer and assignment; and (II) at the time of such transfer or assignment both the Dealer and transferee in 
any such transfer or assignment are “dealers in securities” within the meaning of Section 475(c)(1) of the Code or the 
transfer or assignment does not result in a deemed exchange by Counterparty within the meaning of Section 1001 of the 
Code. In addition, (A) the transferee or assignee shall agree that following such transfer or assignment, Counterparty will 
not (x) receive from the transferee or assignee on any payment date or delivery date (after accounting for amounts paid by 
the transferee or assignee under Section 2(d)(i)(4) of the Agreement as well as any withholding or deduction of Tax from the 
payment or delivery) an amount or a number of Shares, as applicable, lower than the amount or the number of Shares, as 
applicable, that Counterparty would have been entitled to receive from Dealer in the absence of such transfer or assignment, 
other than any difference arising from a change in law after the date of such transfer or assignment, or (y) be required to pay 
such assignee or transferee on any payment date an amount under Section 2(d)(i)(4) of the Agreement greater than an 
amount that Counterparty would have been required to pay to Dealer in the absence of such transfer or assignment and (B) 
the transferee or assignee shall make such Payee Tax Representations and shall provide such tax documentation as may be 
reasonably requested by Counterparty including in order to permit Counterparty to make any necessary determinations 
pursuant to clause (A) of this sentence.  If at any time at which (A) the Section 16 Percentage exceeds 8.0%, (B) the Option 
Equity Percentage exceeds 14.5%, or (C) the Share Amount exceeds the Applicable Share Limit (if any applies) (any such 
condition described in clauses (A), (B) or (C), an “Excess Ownership Position”), Dealer is unable after using its 
commercially reasonable efforts to effect a transfer or assignment of Options to a third party on pricing terms reasonably 
acceptable to Dealer and within a time period reasonably acceptable to Dealer such that no Excess Ownership Position 
exists (after giving effect to such transfer or assignment and any resulting change in Dealer’s commercially reasonable 
Hedge Positions), then Dealer may designate any Exchange Business Day as an Early Termination Date with respect to a 
portion of the Transaction (the “Terminated Portion”), such that following such partial termination no Excess Ownership 
Position exists (after giving effect to such transfer or assignment and any resulting change in Dealer’s commercially 
reasonable Hedge Positions).  In the event that Dealer so designates an Early Termination Date with respect to a portion of 
the Transaction, a payment shall be made pursuant to Section 6 of the Agreement as if (1) an Early Termination Date had 
been designated in respect of a Transaction having terms identical to the Transaction and a Number of Options equal to the 
number of Options underlying the Terminated Portion, (2) Counterparty were the sole Affected Party with respect to such 
partial termination and (3) the Terminated Portion were the sole Affected Transaction (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the 
provisions of Section ‎9(l) shall apply to any amount that is payable by Dealer to Counterparty pursuant to this sentence as if 
Counterparty was not the Affected Party).  The “Section 16 Percentage” as of any day is the fraction, expressed as a 
percentage, (A) the numerator of which is the number of Shares that Dealer and any of its affiliates or any other person 
subject to aggregation with Dealer for purposes of the “beneficial ownership” test under Section 13 of the Exchange Act, or 
any “group” (within the meaning of Section 13 of the Exchange Act) of which Dealer is or 
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may be deemed to be a part beneficially owns (within the meaning of Section 13 of the Exchange Act), without duplication, 
on such day (or, to the extent that for any reason the equivalent calculation under Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the 
rules and regulations thereunder results in a higher number, such higher number) and (B) the denominator of which is the 
number of Shares outstanding on such day.  The “Option Equity Percentage” as of any day is the fraction, expressed as a 
percentage, (A) the numerator of which is the sum of (1) the product of the Number of Options and the Option Entitlement 
and (2) the aggregate number of Shares underlying any other call option transaction sold by Dealer to Counterparty, and (B) 
the denominator of which is the number of Shares outstanding.  The “Share Amount” as of any day is the number of Shares 
that Dealer and any person whose ownership position would be aggregated with that of Dealer (Dealer or any such person, a 
“Dealer Person”) under any law, rule, regulation, regulatory order or organizational documents or contracts of Counterparty 
that are, in each case, applicable to ownership of Shares (“Applicable Restrictions”), owns, beneficially owns, 
constructively owns, controls, holds the power to vote or otherwise meets a relevant definition of ownership under any 
Applicable Restriction, as determined by Dealer in its reasonable discretion.  The “Applicable Share Limit” means a 
number of Shares equal to (A) the minimum number of Shares that could give rise to reporting or registration obligations 
(except for any filing requirements on Form 13F, Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G under the Exchange Act, in each case, as 
in effect on the Trade Date) or other requirements (including obtaining prior approval from any person or entity) of a Dealer 
Person, or could result in an adverse effect on a Dealer Person, under any Applicable Restriction, as determined by Dealer in 
its reasonable discretion, minus (B) 1% of the number of Shares outstanding. 

(iii) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Confirmation to the contrary requiring or allowing Dealer to purchase, sell, 
receive or deliver any Shares or other securities, or make or receive any payment in cash, to or from Counterparty, Dealer 
may designate any of its affiliates (each, a “Dealer Designated Affiliate”) to purchase, sell, receive or deliver such Shares 
or other securities, or to make or receive such payment in cash, and otherwise to perform Dealer’s obligations in respect of 
the Transaction and any such designee may assume such obligations; provided that such Dealer Designated Affiliate shall 
comply with the provisions of the Transaction in the same manner as Dealer would have been required to comply.  Dealer 
shall be discharged of its obligations to Counterparty to the extent of any such performance.

(f) Staggered Settlement.  If upon advice of counsel with respect to applicable legal and regulatory requirements, including any 
requirements relating to Dealer’s commercially reasonable hedging activities hereunder, Dealer reasonably determines that it would 
not be practicable or advisable to deliver, or to acquire Shares to deliver, any or all of the Shares to be delivered by Dealer on any 
Settlement Date for the Transaction, Dealer may, by notice to Counterparty on or prior to any Settlement Date (a “Nominal 
Settlement Date”), elect to deliver the Shares on two or more dates (each, a “Staggered Settlement Date”) as follows:

(i) in such notice, Dealer will specify to Counterparty the related Staggered Settlement Dates (each of which shall occur on or 
prior to such Nominal Settlement Date) and the number of Shares that it will deliver on each Staggered Settlement Date; 

(ii) the aggregate number of Shares that Dealer will deliver to Counterparty hereunder on all such Staggered Settlement Dates 
will equal the number of Shares that Dealer would otherwise be required to deliver on such Nominal Settlement Date; and

(iii) if the Net Share Settlement terms or the Combination Settlement terms set forth above were to apply on the Nominal 
Settlement Date, then the Net Share Settlement terms or the Combination Settlement terms, as the case may be, will apply 
on each Staggered Settlement Date, except that the Shares otherwise deliverable on such Nominal Settlement Date will be 
allocated among such Staggered Settlement Dates as specified by Dealer in the notice referred to in clause ‎(i) above.
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(g) [Insert any relevant agency provisions][Reserved].

(h) [Conduct Rules. Each party acknowledges and agrees to be bound by the Conduct Rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory 
Authority applicable to transactions in options, and further agrees not to violate the position and exercise limits set forth therein.]
[Reserved.]

(i) Additional Termination Events.  

(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Confirmation, upon any Early Conversion in respect of which a “Notice of 
Conversion” (as such term is defined in the Indenture) that is effective as to Counterparty has been delivered in accordance 
with the Indenture by the relevant converting “Holder” (as such term is defined in the Indenture):

(A)	 Counterparty shall, within five Scheduled Trading Days of the Conversion Date for such Early Conversion, provide 
written notice (an “Early Conversion Notice”) to Dealer specifying the number of Convertible Notes 
surrendered for conversion on such Conversion Date (such Convertible Notes, the “Affected Convertible 
Notes”), and the giving of such Early Conversion Notice shall constitute an Additional Termination Event as 
provided in this clause ‎(i); 

(B)	 upon receipt of any such Early Conversion Notice, Dealer shall designate an Exchange Business Day as an Early  
Termination Date (which Exchange Business Day shall be on or as promptly as reasonably practicable after the
related settlement date for such Affected Convertible Notes) with respect to the portion of the Transaction 
corresponding to a number of Options (the “Affected Number of Options”) equal to the lesser of (x) the number 
of Affected Convertible Notes [minus the “Affected Number of Options” (as defined in the Base Call Option 
Confirmation), if any, that relate to such Affected Convertible Notes] and (y) the Number of Options as of the 
Conversion Date for such Early Conversion;

(C)	 any payment hereunder with respect to such termination shall be calculated pursuant to Section 6 of the Agreement as 
if (x) an Early Termination Date had been designated in respect of a Transaction having terms identical to the 
Transaction and a Number of Options equal to the Affected Number of Options, (y) Counterparty were the sole 
Affected Party with respect to such Additional Termination Event and (z) the terminated portion of the 
Transaction were the sole Affected Transaction; provided that the amount payable with respect to such 
termination shall not be greater than (1) the Applicable Percentage, multiplied by (2) the Affected Number of 
Options, multiplied by (3) (x) the sum of (i) the amount of cash paid to the “Holder” (as such term is defined in 
the Indenture) of an Affected Convertible Note upon conversion of such Affected Convertible Note and (ii) the 
number of Shares delivered (if any) to the “Holder” (as such term is defined in the Indenture) of an Affected 
Convertible Note upon conversion of such Affected Convertible Note, multiplied by the Applicable Limit Price 
on the settlement date for the conversion of such Affected Convertible Note (the “Conversion Settlement 
Date”), minus (y) the Synthetic Instrument Adjusted Issue Price determined by the Calculation Agent by 
reference to the Conversion Settlement Date. “Synthetic Instrument Adjusted Issue Price” shall mean the 
amount determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to the table set forth below (the “Synthetic 
Instrument AIP Table”).  If the relevant Conversion Settlement Date is not listed in the Synthetic Instrument 
AIP Table, the amount in the preceding sentence shall be determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to the 
Synthetic Instrument AIP Table, using a linear interpolation between the lower and higher Synthetic Instrument 
Adjusted Issue Prices for the Conversion Settlement Dates immediately preceding and immediately following the 
relevant Conversion Settlement Date.
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Conversion Settlement Date Synthetic Instrument Adjusted 

Issue Price
February 26, 2024 $889.50 
September 1, 2024 $899.57 

March 1, 2025 $909.63 
September 1, 2025 $919.94 

March 1, 2026 $930.53 
September 1, 2026 $941.38 

March 1, 2027 $952.52 
September 1, 2027 $963.94 

March 1, 2028 $975.65 
September 1, 2028 $987.67 

March 1, 2029 $1,000.00 
 

(D) 	for the avoidance of doubt, in determining the amount payable in respect of such Affected Transaction pursuant to  
Section 6 of the Agreement, the Calculation Agent shall assume that (x) the relevant Early Conversion and any 
conversions, adjustments, agreements, payments, deliveries or acquisitions by or on behalf of Counterparty 
leading thereto had not occurred, (y) no adjustments to the “Conversion Rate” (as such term is defined in the 
Indenture) have occurred pursuant to any Excluded Provision and (z) the corresponding Convertible Notes remain 
outstanding as if the circumstances related to such Early Conversion had not occurred; and

(E)	 the Transaction shall remain in full force and effect, except that, as of the Conversion Date for such Early Conversion, 
the Number of Options shall be reduced by the Affected Number of Options.

(ii) Within five Scheduled Trading Days following any Repayment Event (as defined below), Counterparty may notify Dealer of 
such Repayment Event, in each case, including the number of Convertible Notes subject to such Repayment Event, or, if 
less, the number of Convertible Notes subject to such Repayment Event that Counterparty elects to be subject to the 
provisions of this Section 9(i)(ii) (any such notice, a “Repayment Notice”); provided that no such Repayment Notice shall 
be effective unless it contains the representation by Counterparty set forth in Section 8(f) hereunder as of the date of such 
Repayment Notice [; provided further that any “Repayment Notice” delivered to Dealer pursuant to the Base Call Option 
Confirmation shall be deemed to be a Repayment Notice pursuant to this Confirmation and the terms of such Repayment 
Notice shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to this Confirmation].  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Confirmation, 
the receipt by Dealer from Counterparty of any Repayment Notice shall constitute an Additional Termination Event as 
provided in this Section 9(i)(ii).  Upon receipt of any such Repayment Notice, Dealer shall promptly designate an Exchange 
Business Day following receipt of such Repayment Notice (which in no event shall be earlier than the related settlement 
date for the relevant Repayment Event) as an Early Termination Date with respect to the portion of the Transaction 
corresponding to a number of Options (the “Repayment Options”) equal to the lesser of (A) the number of such 
Convertible Notes specified in such Repayment Notice [minus the number of “Repayment Options” (as defined in the Base 
Call Option Confirmation), if any, that relate to such Convertible Notes (and for purposes of determining whether any 
Options under this Confirmation or under the Base Call Option Confirmation will be among the Repayment Options 
hereunder or under, and as defined in, the Base Call Option Confirmation, the Convertible Notes specified in such 
Repayment Notice shall be allocated first to the Base Call Option 
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Confirmation until all Options thereunder are exercised or terminated)] and (B) the Number of Options as of the date Dealer 
designates such Early Termination Date and, as of such date, the Number of Options shall be reduced by the number of 
Repayment Options.  Any payment hereunder with respect to such termination (the “Repayment Unwind Payment”) shall 
be calculated pursuant to Section 6 of the Agreement as if (1) an Early Termination Date had been designated in respect of a 
Transaction having terms identical to the Transaction and a Number of Options equal to the number of Repayment Options, 
(2) Counterparty were the sole Affected Party with respect to such Additional Termination Event, (3) the terminated portion 
of the Transaction were the sole Affected Transaction, (4) the relevant Repayment Event and any conversions, adjustments, 
agreements, payments, deliveries or acquisitions by or on behalf of Counterparty leading thereto had not occurred, (5) no 
adjustments to the “Conversion Rate” (as such term is defined in the Indenture) have occurred pursuant to any Excluded 
Provision and (6) the corresponding Convertible Notes remain outstanding as if the circumstances related to such 
Repayment Event had not occurred. “Repayment Event” means that (i) any Convertible Notes are repurchased (whether 
pursuant to Section 15.02 of the Indenture or Article 16 of the Indenture or otherwise) by Counterparty or any of its 
subsidiaries (including in connection with, or as a result of, a “Fundamental Change” (as such term is defined in the 
Indenture), a redemption, a tender offer, exchange offer or similar transaction or for any other reason), (ii) any Convertible 
Notes are delivered to Counterparty in exchange for delivery of any property or assets of Counterparty or any of its 
subsidiaries (howsoever described), (iii) any principal of any of the Convertible Notes is repaid in full prior to the final 
maturity date of the Convertible Notes (other than upon acceleration of the Convertible Notes pursuant to Section 6.02 of
the Indenture), or (iv) any Convertible Notes are exchanged by or for the benefit of the “Holders” (as such term is defined in 
the Indenture) thereof for any other securities of Counterparty or any of its affiliates (or any other property, or any 
combination thereof) pursuant to any exchange offer or similar transaction.  For the avoidance of doubt, any conversion of 
Convertible Notes (whether into cash or a combination of cash and Shares or any “Reference Property” (as such term is 
defined in the Indenture)) pursuant to the terms of the Indenture shall not constitute a Repayment Event.  Counterparty 
acknowledges and agrees that if an Additional Termination Event has occurred under this Section 9(i)(ii), then any related 
Convertible Notes subject to a Repayment Event will be deemed to be cancelled and disregarded and no longer outstanding 
for all purposes hereunder.

(iii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Confirmation, the occurrence of an event of default with respect to 
Counterparty under the terms of the Convertible Notes as set forth in Section 6.01 of the Indenture, which default has 
resulted in the Convertible Notes becoming due and payable under the terms thereof, shall constitute an Additional 
Termination Event applicable to the Transaction and, with respect to such Additional Termination Event, (A) Counterparty 
shall be deemed to be the sole Affected Party, (B) the Transaction shall be the sole Affected Transaction and (C) Dealer shall 
be the party entitled to designate an Early Termination Date pursuant to Section 6(b) of the Agreement.

(j) Amendments to Equity Definitions; Agreement.  

(i) Section 11.2(e)(vii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby replaced in its entirety with the words “any other corporate event 
involving the Issuer that has a material effect on the theoretical value of the Shares or the Options.”

(ii) Section 12.6(a)(ii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (1) inserting “(1)” immediately following the word 
“means” in the first line thereof and (2) inserting immediately prior to the semi-colon at the end of subsection (B) thereof 
the following words: “or (2) the occurrence of any of the events specified in Section 5(a)(vii)(1) through (9) of the ISDA 
Master Agreement with respect to that Issuer”.
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(iii) Section 12.9(b)(i) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (1) replacing “either party may elect” with “Dealer may 

elect” and (2) replacing “notice to the other party” with “notice to Counterparty” in the first sentence of such section.

(iv) Section 12(a) of the Agreement is hereby amended by (1) deleting the phrase “or email” in the third line thereof and (2) 
deleting the phrase “or that communication is delivered (or attempted) or received, as applicable, after the close of business 
on a Local Business Day” in the final clause thereof.

(k) No Setoff.  Each party waives any and all rights it may have to set off obligations arising under the Agreement and the Transaction 
against other obligations between the parties, whether arising under any other agreement, applicable law or otherwise.

(l) Alternative Calculations and Payment on Early Termination and on Certain Extraordinary Events.  If (a) an Early Termination Date 
(whether as a result of an Event of Default or a Termination Event) occurs or is designated with respect to the Transaction or (b) the 
Transaction is cancelled or terminated upon the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event (except as a result of (i) a Nationalization, 
Insolvency or Merger Event in which the consideration to be paid to holders of Shares consists solely of cash, (ii) an Announcement 
Event, Merger Event or Tender Offer that is within Counterparty’s control, or (iii) an Event of Default in which Counterparty is the 
Defaulting Party or a Termination Event in which Counterparty is the Affected Party other than an Event of Default of the type 
described in Section 5(a)(iii), (v), (vi), (vii) or (viii) of the Agreement or a Termination Event of the type described in Section 5(b) of 
the Agreement, in each case that resulted from an event or events outside Counterparty’s control), and if Dealer would owe any 
amount to Counterparty pursuant to Section 6(d)(ii) of the Agreement or any Cancellation Amount pursuant to Article 12 of the Equity 
Definitions (any such amount, a “Payment Obligation”), then Dealer shall satisfy the Payment Obligation by the Share Termination 
Alternative (as defined below), unless (a) Counterparty gives irrevocable telephonic notice to Dealer, confirmed in writing within one 
Scheduled Trading Day, no later than 12:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the date of the Announcement Event, Merger Date, Tender 
Offer Date, Announcement Date (in the case of a Nationalization, Insolvency or Delisting), Early Termination Date or date of 
cancellation, as applicable, of its election that the Share Termination Alternative shall not apply, (b) Counterparty remakes the 
representation set forth in Section ‎8(f) as of the date of such election and (c) Dealer agrees, in its commercially reasonable discretion, 
to such election, in which case the provisions of Section 12.7 or Section 12.9 of the Equity Definitions, or the provisions of Section 
6(d)(ii) of the Agreement, as the case may be, shall apply.  

Share Termination Alternative: 	 If applicable, Dealer shall deliver to Counterparty the Share Termination Delivery Property on, or  
within a commercially reasonable period of time after, the date when the relevant 
Payment Obligation would otherwise be due pursuant to Section 12.7 or 12.9 of 
the Equity Definitions or Section 6(d)(ii) and 6(e) of the Agreement, as applicable, 
in satisfaction of such Payment Obligation in the manner reasonably requested by 
Counterparty free of payment.

Share Termination Delivery Property: 	 A number of Share Termination Delivery Units, as calculated by the Calculation Agent, equal
to the Payment Obligation divided by the Share Termination Unit Price.  The 
Calculation Agent shall adjust the Share Termination Delivery Property by 
replacing any fractional portion of a security therein with an amount of cash equal 
to the value of such fractional security based on the values used to calculate the 
Share Termination Unit Price.  
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Share Termination Unit Price: 	 The value to Dealer of property contained in one Share Termination Delivery Unit, as determined  

by the Calculation Agent in its discretion by commercially reasonable means and 
notified by the Calculation Agent to Dealer at the time of notification of the 
Payment Obligation. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree that in 
determining the Share Termination Delivery Unit Price the Calculation Agent may 
consider the purchase price paid in connection with the purchase of Share 
Termination Delivery Property.

Share Termination Delivery Unit: 	One Share or, if the Shares have changed into cash or any other property or the right to receive cash 
or any other property as the result of a Nationalization, Insolvency or Merger 
Event (any such cash or other property, the “Exchange Property”), a unit 
consisting of the type and amount of such Exchange Property received by a holder 
of one Share (without consideration of any requirement to pay cash or other 
consideration in lieu of fractional amounts of any securities) in such 
Nationalization, Insolvency or Merger Event, as determined by the Calculation 
Agent.

Failure to Deliver: 	Applicable

Other Applicable Provisions: 	 If Share Termination Alternative is applicable, the provisions of Sections 9.8, 9.9 and 9.11 (as  
modified above) of the Equity Definitions and the provisions set forth opposite the 
caption “Representation and Agreement” in Section 2 will be applicable, except 
that all references in such provisions to “Physically-settled” shall be read as 
references to “Share Termination Settled” and all references to “Shares” shall be 
read as references to “Share Termination Delivery Units”.  “Share Termination 
Settled” in relation to the Transaction means that Share Termination Alternative is 
applicable to the Transaction.

(m) Waiver of Jury Trial.  Each party waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any right it may have to a trial by jury in 
respect of any suit, action or proceeding relating to the Transaction.  Each party (i) certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of 
either party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such other party would not, in the event of such a suit, action or proceeding, 
seek to enforce the foregoing waiver and (ii) acknowledges that it and the other party have been induced to enter into the Transaction, 
as applicable, by, among other things, the mutual waivers and certifications provided herein.

(n) Registration.  Counterparty hereby agrees that if, in the good faith reasonable judgment of Dealer, based on advice of counsel, the 
Shares  (“Hedge Shares”) acquired by Dealer for the purpose of hedging its obligations pursuant to the Transaction cannot be sold in 
the public market by Dealer without registration under the Securities Act, Counterparty shall, at its election, either (i) in order to allow 
Dealer to sell the Hedge Shares in a registered offering, make available to Dealer an effective registration statement under the 
Securities Act and enter into an agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Dealer, substantially in the form of an 
underwriting agreement for a registered secondary offering by an issuer of comparable size in the same or in a similar industry; 
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provided, however, that if Dealer, in its sole reasonable discretion, is not satisfied with access to due diligence materials, the results of 
its due diligence investigation, or the procedures and documentation for the registered offering referred to above, then clause (ii) or 
clause (iii) of this paragraph shall apply at the election of Counterparty, (ii) in order to allow Dealer to sell the Hedge Shares in a 
private placement, enter into a private placement agreement substantially similar to private placement purchase agreements customary 
for private placements of equity securities by an issuer of comparable size in the same or in a similar industry, in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to Dealer (in which case, the Calculation Agent shall make any adjustments to the terms of the Transaction that 
are necessary, in its commercially reasonable judgment, to compensate Dealer for any discount from the public market price of the 
Shares incurred on the sale of Hedge Shares in a private placement), or (iii) purchase the Hedge Shares from Dealer at the then-current 
market price on such Exchange Business Days, and in the amounts and at such time(s), requested by Dealer.

(o) Tax Disclosure.  Effective from the date of commencement of discussions concerning the Transaction, Counterparty and each of its 
employees, representatives, or other agents may disclose to any and all persons, without limitation of any kind, the tax treatment and 
tax structure of the Transaction and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided to 
Counterparty relating to such tax treatment and tax structure.

(p) Right to Extend.  Dealer may postpone or add, in whole or in part, any Valid Day or Valid Days during the Settlement Averaging 
Period or any other date of valuation, payment or delivery by Dealer, with respect to some or all of the Options hereunder, if Dealer 
reasonably determines, in its commercially reasonable judgment (in the case of clause (i) below) or based on the advice of counsel (in 
the case of clause (ii) below), that such action is reasonably necessary or appropriate (i) to preserve Dealer’s commercially reasonable 
hedging or hedge unwind activity hereunder in light of existing liquidity conditions or (ii) to enable Dealer to effect transactions with 
respect to Shares in connection with its commercially reasonable hedging, hedge unwind or settlement activity hereunder in a manner 
that would, if Dealer were Counterparty or an affiliated purchaser of Counterparty, be in compliance with applicable legal, regulatory 
or self-regulatory requirements, or with related policies and procedures applicable to Dealer; provided that such policies and 
procedures have been adopted by Dealer in good faith and are generally applicable in similar situations and applied in a non-
discriminatory manner; provided, further that no such Valid Day or any other date of valuation, payment or delivery may be postponed 
or added more than 100 Valid Days after the original Valid Day or any other date of valuation, payment or delivery, as the case may be.

(q) Status of Claims in Bankruptcy.  Dealer acknowledges and agrees that this Confirmation is not intended to convey to Dealer rights 
against Counterparty with respect to the Transaction that are senior to the claims of common stockholders of Counterparty in any 
United States bankruptcy proceedings of Counterparty; provided that nothing herein shall limit or shall be deemed to limit Dealer’s 
right to pursue remedies in the event of a breach by Counterparty of its obligations and agreements with respect to the Transaction; 
provided, further that nothing herein shall limit or shall be deemed to limit Dealer’s rights in respect of any transactions other than the 
Transaction.

(r) Securities Contract; Swap Agreement.  The parties hereto intend for (i) the Transaction to be a “securities contract” and a “swap 
agreement” as defined in the Bankruptcy Code, and the parties hereto to be entitled to the protections afforded by, among other 
Sections, Sections 362(b)(6), 362(b)(17), 546(e), 546(g), 555 and 560 of the Bankruptcy Code, (ii) a party’s right to liquidate the 
Transaction and to exercise any other remedies upon the occurrence of any Event of Default under the Agreement with respect to the 
other party to constitute a “contractual right” as described in the Bankruptcy Code, and (iii) each payment and delivery of cash, 
securities or other property hereunder to constitute a “margin payment” or “settlement payment” and a “transfer” as defined in the 
Bankruptcy Code.

(s) Notice of Certain Other Events. Counterparty covenants and agrees that:
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(i) Promptly as reasonably practicable following the public announcement of the results of any election by the holders of 

Shares with respect to the consideration due upon consummation of any Merger Event, Counterparty shall give Dealer 
written notice of the weighted average of the types and amounts of consideration received by holders of Shares upon 
consummation of such Merger Event (the date of such notification, the “Consideration Notification Date”); provided that 
in no event shall the Consideration Notification Date be later than the date on which such Merger Event is consummated; 
and 

(ii) (A) Counterparty shall give Dealer commercially reasonable advance (but in no event less than one Exchange Business 
Day) written notice of the section or sections of the Indenture and, if applicable, the formula therein, pursuant to which any 
adjustment will be made to the Convertible Notes in connection with any Potential Adjustment Event, Merger Event or 
Tender Offer and (B) promptly following any such adjustment, Counterparty shall give Dealer written notice of the details 
of such adjustment.

(t) Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act.  In connection with Section 739 of the Wall Street Transparency and Accountability 
Act of 2010 (“WSTAA”), the parties hereby agree that neither the enactment of WSTAA or any regulation under the WSTAA, nor any 
requirement under WSTAA or an amendment made by WSTAA, shall limit or otherwise impair either party’s otherwise applicable 
rights to terminate, renegotiate, modify, amend or supplement this Confirmation or the Agreement, as applicable, arising from a 
termination event, force majeure, illegality, increased costs, regulatory change or similar event under this Confirmation, the Equity 
Definitions incorporated herein, or the Agreement (including, but not limited to, rights arising from Change in Law, Hedging 
Disruption, an Excess Ownership Position, or Illegality (as defined in the Agreement)).

(u) Agreements and Acknowledgements Regarding Hedging. Counterparty understands, acknowledges and agrees that: (A) at any time on 
and prior to the Expiration Date, Dealer and its affiliates may buy or sell Shares or other securities or buy or sell options or futures 
contracts or enter into swaps or other derivative securities in order to adjust its hedge position with respect to the Transaction; (B) 
Dealer and its affiliates also may be active in the market for Shares other than in connection with hedging activities in relation to the 
Transaction; (C) Dealer shall make its own determination as to whether, when or in what manner any hedging or market activities in 
securities of Issuer shall be conducted and shall do so in a manner that it deems appropriate to hedge its price and market risk with 
respect to the Relevant Prices; and (D) any market activities of Dealer and its affiliates with respect to Shares may affect the market 
price and volatility of Shares, as well as the Relevant Prices, each in a manner that may be adverse to Counterparty.

(v) Early Unwind. In the event the sale of the [“Initial Securities”][“Option Securities”] (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) is not 
consummated with the Initial Purchasers for any reason, or Counterparty fails to deliver to Dealer opinions of counsel as required 
pursuant to Section ‎9(a), in each case by 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the Premium Payment Date, or such later date as agreed 
upon by the parties (the Premium Payment Date or such later date the “Early Unwind Date”), the Transaction shall automatically 
terminate (the “Early Unwind”), on the Early Unwind Date and (i) the Transaction and all of the respective rights and obligations of 
Dealer and Counterparty under the Transaction shall be cancelled and terminated and (ii) each party shall be released and discharged 
by the other party from and agrees not to make any claim against the other party with respect to any obligations or liabilities of the 
other party arising out of and to be performed in connection with the Transaction either prior to or after the Early Unwind Date.  Each 
of Dealer and Counterparty represents and acknowledges to the other that upon an Early Unwind, all obligations with respect to the 
Transaction shall be deemed fully and finally discharged.

(w) Payment by Counterparty. In the event that, following payment of the Premium, (i) an Early Termination Date occurs or is designated 
with respect to the Transaction as a result of a Termination Event or an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default arising under 
Section 5(a)(ii) or 5(a)(iv) of the Agreement) and, as a result, Counterparty owes to Dealer an amount calculated under Section 6(e) of 
the Agreement, or (ii) Counterparty owes to Dealer, pursuant to Section 12.7 or Section 12.9 
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of the Equity Definitions, an amount calculated under Section 12.8 of the Equity Definitions, such amount shall be deemed to be zero.

(x) Other Adjustments Pursuant to the Equity Definitions.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Confirmation, solely for the
purpose of adjusting the Cap Price, the terms “Potential Adjustment Event,” “Merger Event,” and “Tender Offer” shall each have the 
meanings assigned to such term in the Equity Definitions (in each case, as amended by Section ‎9(j)(i) or, if applicable, by the 
provision set forth in Section 3 opposite the caption “Announcement Event”), and upon the occurrence of a Merger Date, the 
occurrence of a Tender Offer Date, or declaration by Counterparty of the terms of any Potential Adjustment Event, respectively, as 
such terms are defined in the Equity Definitions, the Calculation Agent shall determine whether such occurrence or declaration, as 
applicable, has had a material economic effect on the Transaction and, if so, shall adjust the Cap Price as the Calculation Agent 
determines appropriate to account for the economic effect on the Transaction of such occurrence or declaration, as applicable; provided 
that in no event shall the Cap Price be less than the Strike Price. Solely for purposes of this Section 9(x) “Extraordinary Dividend” 
means any cash dividend on the Shares.

(y) [Insert preferred form of U.S. QFC Stay Rule language for each Dealer, if applicable.]

(z) Tax Matters.

(i) Payee Tax Representations. For the purpose of Section 3(f) of the Agreement, the parties make the following 
representations, as applicable:

(A) Counterparty is a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and is organized under the laws of the State of 
Delaware.  Counterparty is a “U.S. person” (as that term is used in Section 1.1441-4(a)(3)(ii) of United States 
Treasury Regulations) for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

(B) [Dealer is a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes created or organized in the United States or under 
the laws of the United States. It is “exempt” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation section 1.6049-4(c) from 
information reporting on U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form 1099 and backup withholding.]

(ii) Tax Forms. For the purpose of Section 4(a)(i) and 4(a)(ii) of the Agreement:

(A) Counterparty shall provide Dealer with a valid and duly executed U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form W-9, or 
any successor thereto, (i) on or before the date of execution of this Confirmation, (ii) promptly upon reasonable 
demand by Dealer and (iii) promptly upon learning that any such tax form previously provided by Counterparty 
has become obsolete or incorrect.

(B) [Dealer shall provide Counterparty with a valid and duly executed U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form [W-9], or 
any successor thereto, (i) on or before the date of execution of this Confirmation, (ii) promptly upon reasonable 
demand by Dealer and (iii) promptly upon learning that any such tax form previously provided by Counterparty 
has become obsolete or incorrect.]

(iii) Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act.  “Indemnifiable Tax”, as defined in Section 14 of the Agreement, shall not include 
any U.S. federal withholding tax imposed or collected pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any current or 
future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b) of the Code, or 
any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement entered into in 
connection with the implementation of such Sections of the Code (a “FATCA Withholding Tax”).  For the avoidance of 
doubt, a 
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FATCA Withholding Tax is a Tax the deduction or withholding of which is required by applicable law for the purposes of 
Section 2(d) of the Agreement.

(iv) Section 871(m) Protocol. Dealer and Counterparty hereby agree that the Agreement shall be treated as a Covered Master 
Agreement (as that term is defined in the 2015 Section 871(m) Protocol published by the International Swaps and 
Derivatives Association, Inc. on November 2, 2015, as may be amended or modified from time to time (the “2015 Section 
871(m) Protocol”)) and the Agreement shall be deemed to have been amended in accordance with the modifications 
specified in the Attachment to the 2015 Section 871(m) Protocol. If there is any inconsistency between this provision and a 
provision in any other agreement executed between the parties, this provision shall prevail unless such other agreement 
expressly overrides the provisions of the 871(m) Protocol.

(aa) [Insert additional Dealer boilerplate, if applicable.]

[Signature Pages Follow.]
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Please confirm that the foregoing correctly sets forth the terms of our agreement by executing this Confirmation and returning it to [Dealer].

Very truly yours,

[Dealer]

By:  
Name:
 Title:

 

[[Agent], as Agent for [Dealer]

By:  
Name:
Title:	 ]

 
 

[Signature Page to [Base][Additional] Capped Call Cofnirmation]
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Accepted and confirmed
as of the Trade Date:

PARSONS CORPORATION

By:  
Name:
Title:

 
 

[Signature Page to [Base][Additional] Capped Call Cofnirmation]
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Carey A. Smith, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Parsons Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; 
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: May 1, 2024 By: /s/ Carey A. Smith
    Carey A. Smith
    Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Matthew M. Ofilos, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Parsons Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; 
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: May 1, 2024 By: /s/ Matthew M. Ofilos
    Matthew M. Ofilos
    Chief Financial Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Parsons Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2024 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Carey A. Smith, Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of 
the Company.

 
Date: May 1, 2024  By: /s/ Carey A. Smith
   Carey A. Smith
   Chief Executive Officer
 
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the 
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Parsons Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2024 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Matthew M. Ofilos, Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of 
the Company.

 
Date: May 1, 2024  By: /s/ Matthew M. Ofilos
   Matthew M. Ofilos
   Chief Financial Officer
 
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the 
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 
 




